
Page 1 of 4 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, FEBRUARY 05, 2024 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL, 220 CLAY STREET 

 

 
 
Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular meeting of January 16, 2024. 

Agenda Revisions 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics relevant to City 

business.) 

Staff Updates 

Special Order of Business 

2. Continuation of a public hearing on the proposed amendment to the Land Use Map by changing the 
designation from Low Density Residential Use, Greenways and Floodplain Use, and Neighborhood 
Commercial & Mixed Use to Low Density Residential Use and adjust the Greenways and Floodplain 
Use of property located North of Aldrich Elementary School and South of West Greenhill Road. 
 
a) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
b) Staff comments. 
 
c) Public comments. 
 
d) Resolution approving an amendment to the Land Use Map by changing the designation from Low 
Density Residential Use, Greenways and Floodplain Use, and Neighborhood Commercial & Mixed 
Use to Low Density Residential Use and adjust the Greenways and Floodplain Use of property 
located North of Aldrich Elementary School and South of West Greenhill Road. 

3. Continuation of a public hearing on the proposed rezoning from R-1, Residential District & MU, 
Mixed Use Residential to RP, Planned Residence District of property located North of Aldrich 
Elementary School and South of West Greenhill Road. 
 
a) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
b) Staff comments. 
 
c) Public comments. 
 
d) Pass an ordinance amending the Zoning Map located North of Aldrich Elementary School and 
South of West Greenhill Road from R-1, Residential District & MU, Mixed Use Residential to RP, 
Planned Residence District, upon its first consideration. (Contingent upon approval of previous item) 

1



Page 2 of 4 

Old Business 

4. Pass Ordinance #3047, imposing the one percent local sales and services tax within the City of 
Cedar Falls and allocating the revenue derived therefrom, upon its second consideration. 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 

discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

5. Receive and file the City Council Work Session minutes of January 16, 2024 relative to the following 
items: 
a) College Hill Visioning Plan. 
b) Animal Control. 

6. Receive and file the minutes of the January 26, 2024 City Council Joint Meeting with Legislators. 

7. Receive and file the following resignations of members from Boards and Commissions: 
a) Julie Kliegl, Human Rights Commission. 

8. Receive and file communications from the Civil Service Commission relative to the following certified 
lists: 
a) Public Safety Supervisor-Captain. 
b) Public Safety Supervisor-Lieutenant. 

9. Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of December 2023. 

10. Approve a request for temporary signs at various locations for the Waterloo-Cedar Falls Annual Coin 
Show on March 23-24, 2024. 

11. Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) Hy-Vee Fast and Fresh, 6527 University Avenue, Class B retail alcohol - renewal. 
b) College Square Cinema, 6301 University Avenue, Special Class C retail alcohol - renewal. 
c) Panther Lounge, 210 East 18th Street, Class C retail alcohol - renewal. 
d) Bani's, 2128 College Street, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 
e) Happy's Wine & Spirits, 5925 University Avenue, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 
f) Thunder Ridge Ampride, 2425 Whitetail Drive, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

12. Resolution Calendar with items considered separately. 

13. Resolution approving and adopting CFD 1121: Council Policy – City Council Meeting Procedures. 

14. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Advertising Agreement with Lee Enterprises, 
Incorporated, d/b/a Courier Communications, relative to recruitment advertising. 

15. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Amendment to Lease with MercyOne 
Northeast Iowa, formerly known as Wheaton Franciscan Healthcare-Iowa, Inc., formerly known as 
Covenant Health Systems, Inc., extending the term from January 1, 2022 through December 31, 
2026. 

16. Resolution approving and authorizing a Service Agreement with TargetSolutions Learning, LLC, 
d/b/a Vector Solutions relative to a tracking software for Public Safety Services. 

17. Resolution approving and adopting the Imagine College Hill! Vision Plan. 

18. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for Asbestos Inspection/Monitoring 
Services with Iowa Environmental Services, Inc. relative to properties adjacent to the West Viking 
Road Industrial Park. 

2



Page 3 of 4 

19. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Professional Services Agreement with Richard 
Bardle relative to fiberglass TC mascots for the Panthers on Parade Project. 

20. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Iowa Tourism Grant Agreement with Iowa 
Economic Development Authority (IEDA) relative to digital advertising to promote Cedar Falls. 

21. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Travel Iowa Data Co-op Agreement with Iowa 
Economic Development Authority (IEDA) relative to Cedar Falls Tourism access to statewide and 
localized data for tourism planning and marketing. 

22. Resolution in support of a grant application to the Otto Schoitz Foundation for the Seerley Park 
Improvements Project. 

23. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Amendment to the Service/Product Agreement 
for Federally Funded Project with Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) for 
administration and technical services for activities relative to FY2023 (FFY2022) HOME Investment 
Partnership Program funding project delivery. 

24. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Second Amendment to the Service/Product 
Agreement for Federally Funded Project with Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments 
(INRCOG) for administration and technical services for activities relative to FY2023 (FFY2022) 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG). 

25. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Contract with Family & Children’s Council of 
Black Hawk County relative to Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funding for service 
agencies. 

26. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Contract with the Salvation Army relative to 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funding for service agencies. 

27. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Offer to Buy Real Estate and Acceptance for 
property located at 1218 Cottage Row Road. 

28. Resolution approving and authorizing submission of the Iowa Certified Local Government (CLG) 
2023 Annual Report of the Historic Preservation Commission to the State Historical Society of Iowa. 

29. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Offer to Buy parcels 49 & 52 with the Iowa 
Department of Transportation (IDOT) relative to the reconstruction of Highway 57/West 1st Street. 

30. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Farm Lease Agreement with Century Farms an 
Iowa General Partnership relative to agricultural land known as the Belz Farm. 

31. Resolution approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the purchase of a columbarium 
vault for the Cemetery Section of the Operations and Maintenance Division. 

32. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental Agreement No. 1 to the 
Professional Service Agreement with Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC relative to the 2024 
Bridge Inspection Project.  

33. Resolution receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting the low bid of Municipal Pipe 
Tool Company, LLC in the amount of $151,712.00, for the 2024 CDBG Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation 
Project. 

34. Resolution approving and accepting the contract and bond of Municipal Pipe Tool Company, LLC for 
the 2024 CDBG Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project. 

35. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Storm Water Maintenance and Repair 
Agreement with Cedar Falls Community School District (CFCSD), relative to a post-construction 
stormwater management plan for the Cedar Falls High School located at West 27th Street. 

3



Page 4 of 4 

36. Resolution setting February 19, 2024 as the date of public hearing to consider entering into a 
proposed Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development with CV Commercial, L.L.C. 

37. Resolution receiving and filing, and setting February 19, 2024 as the date of public hearing on, the 
proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the North Cedar Heights Area 
Reconstruction Project Phase 2. 

Ordinances 

38. Pass an ordinance, amending Chapter 17, Parks and Recreation, of the Code of Ordinances relative 
to the Cemetery Section, upon its first consideration. 

39. Pass an ordinance, amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicle, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to the speed limit on certain portions of West 27th Street, upon its first consideration.  

Allow Bills and Claims 

40. Allow Bills and Claims for February 5, 2024. 

Council Updates and Announcements 

Council Referrals 

41. Refer to the Committee of the Whole discussion for staff to bring to council a plan to utilize funding 
allocated in the CIP for FY25 for proposals for changes to zoning and parking for the College Hill 
character areas 1, 2 and 3 as designated by the College Vision Plan similar to the character districts 
established for the downtown.  Note:  Priority should be given to areas 1, 2 and 3 however the 
impact and future possible changes to areas 4 and beyond can/should be included in the 
recommendations. 

42. Refer to the Committee of the Whole discussion on the City’s current Conflict of Interest disclosure 
requirements. 

Executive Session 

43. Executive Session to discuss Collective Bargaining per Iowa Code Section 20.17(3) as negotiating 
sessions, strategy meetings of public employers, mediation, and the deliberative process of 
arbitrators. 

Adjournment 

4



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, JANUARY 16, 2024 

REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 
MAYOR DANIEL LAUDICK PRESIDING 

  
The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, at 7:00 P.M. on the above date. Members present: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, 
Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Absent: None. Mayor Laudick led the 
Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
54595 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Latta that the minutes of the Regular 

Meeting of January 2, 2024 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54596 - Reverend Michael Blackwell, Cedar Falls, suggested a discussion on racial 

disparities between Iowa cities and would like a plan to put forward to the state 
government to eliminate decades of racial neglect. 

 
  Rosemary Beach, Cedar Falls, requested revisiting the Blue Zones program and 

a handicap restroom. 
 
  Pastor Larry Stumme, St. Paul Lutheran Church, seconded Reverend Blackwell’s 

comments. He also mentioned February 1, 2024, as the 2nd Annual George 
Washington Carver Day and gave an overview of Mr. Carver’s history. 

 
  Noah Hackbart, UNI Student Liaison, commented on a safety walk recently held 

on campus and expressed concerns with lighting in the College Hill area. 
 
54597 - Library Director Stern provided an update on the implementation of new software 

at the Library and noted that due to staff training the Library will be open on 
January 18, 2024 from 2PM-6PM.  

 
  Public Works Director Schrage provided information on the Snow Emergency 

that is in effect from 8PM January 17 – 7AM on January 18, for snow removal in 
the Downtown Parkade and College Hill areas and noted that signs have been 
posted regarding parking restrictions. 

 
54598 - Mayor Laudick announced that in accordance with the public notice of January 4, 

2024, this was the time and place for a public hearing on the proposed FY2024-
FY2029 Capital Improvements Program (CIP). It was then moved by Kruse and 
seconded by Dunn that the proof of publication of notice of hearing be received 
and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54599 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed CIP. Upon being advised that there were no written communications on 
file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Finance & Business Operations 
Director Rodenbeck provided a summary of the proposed CIP. There being no 
one else present wishing to speak about the proposed CIP, the Mayor declared 

5

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

the hearing closed and passed to the next order of business. 
 
54600 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Hawbaker that Resolution #23,452, 

approving and adopting the FY2024-FY2029 Capital Improvements Program 
(CIP), be adopted. Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion Carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution 
#23,452 duly passed and adopted. 

 
54601 - It was moved by Crisman and seconded by Hawbaker that Resolution #23,453, 

declaring an official intent under Treasury Regulation 1.150-2 to issue debt to 
reimburse the City for certain original expenditures paid in connection with 
specified projects, be adopted. Following due consideration by the Council, the 
Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion Carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution 
#23,453 duly passed and adopted. 

54602 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Hawbaker that Resolution #23,454, 
approving and adopting the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) Allocation 
relative to providing continued relief from the public health and economic impacts 
of the COVID-19 public health emergency, be adopted. Following due 
consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon 
call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, 
Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion Carried. The 
Mayor then declared Resolution #23,454 duly passed and adopted. 

54603 - Mayor Laudick announced that in accordance with the public notice of January 6, 
2024, this was the time and place for a public hearing on a proposed amendment 
to the Land Use Map by changing the designation from Low Density Residential 
Use, Greenways and Floodplain Use, and Neighborhood Commercial & Mixed 
Use to Low Density Residential Use and adjust the Greenways and Floodplain 
Use of property located North of Aldrich Elementary School and South of West 
Greenhill Road. It was then moved by Kruse and seconded by Latta that the 
proof of publication of notice of hearing be received and placed on file. Motion 
carried unanimously. 

 
54604 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed amendment. Upon being advised that there was one written 
communication on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Planner I 
Atodaria gave a brief presentation that included agenda items #5 and #6. 
Following questions and comments by Councilmembers Dunn, Schultz and 
Hawbaker, and responses by Atodaria, City Attorney Rogers and Community 
Development Director Sheetz, it was moved by Schultz and seconded by 
Ganfield to postpone the public hearing to the February 5, 2024 City Council 
meeting. Following a question by Mayor Laudick and comments and questions 
by Councilmembers Schultz, Dunn, Kruse, and Hawbaker, and Mayor Laudick, 
and responses by Atodaria and Representative for the Developer Panther 

6

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

Farms/Panther Builders Nick Brewer, it was moved by Hawbaker and seconded 
by Kruse to amend the motion to postpone to include both agenda items #5 and 
# 6. Following comments by Mayor Laudick, and questions and comments by 
Councilmembers Latta, Crisman, Kruse, and Ganfield, and responses by Rogers, 
Sheetz and Planning & Community Services Manager Howard, the motion to 
amend the postponement carried unanimously. The motion to postpone the 
hearing as amended carried 5-2, with Latta and Crisman voting Nay.  

 
54605 - Mayor Laudick announced that in accordance with the public notice of January 4, 

2024, this was the time and place for a public hearing on the proposed plans, 
specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2024 CDBG Sanitary 
Sewer Rehabilitation Project. It was then moved by Ganfield and seconded by 
Kruse that the proof of publication of notice of hearing be received and placed on 
file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54606 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed project. Upon being advised that there were no written communications 
on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Water Reclamation Manager 
Griffin provided a summary of the proposed project. Following questions by 
Councilmembers Ganfield and Kruse, and responses by Griffin and Public Works 
Director Schrage, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to the next 
order of business. 

 
54607 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Kruse that Resolution #23,455, 

approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of 
cost for the 2024 CDBG Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project, be adopted. 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. 
Motion Carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #23,455 duly passed and 
adopted. 

 
54608 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Hawbaker that the following items on 

the Consent Calendar be received, filed, and approved: 
 

Receive and file the City Council Standing Committee minutes of January 2, 
2024 relative to the following items: 
a) Capital Improvements Programs (CIP). 

Receive and file the following resignations of members from Boards and 
Commissions: 
a) Amanda Lynch, Planning & Zoning Commission. 

Receive and file communications from the Civil Service Commission relative to 
the following certified list: 
a) Assistant Equipment Mechanic. 

Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) Fraternal Order of Eagles, 2125 West Lone Tree Road, Class C retail alcohol 

7

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

& outdoor service - renewal. 
b) Second State Brewing, 203 State Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor 
service – renewal. 
c) Kwik Spirits, 4116 University Avenue, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 

 Motion carried unanimously.   

54609 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Kruse that the following resolutions 
be introduced and adopted: 

 
 Resolution #23,456, approving and accepting the permanent transfer of 

$30,000.00 from the Municipal Communications Utility to the Economic 
Development Fund of the City of Cedar Falls. 

 Resolution #23,457, approving and authorizing execution of a Title VI Non-
Discrimination Agreement with the Iowa Department of Transportation (IDOT). 

 Resolution #23,458, levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to 
mow the property located at 807 Clay Street. 

 Resolution #23,459, approving and authorizing execution of a Settlement and 
Release Agreement in connection with the pending lawsuit involving defects in 
the construction of portions of Algonquin Drive. (Case # LACV133772; In the 
Iowa District Court for Black Hawk County) 

 Resolution #23,460, approving and authorizing execution of a Rework 
Agreement with Dave Schmitt Construction Company relative to the repair of 
Algonquin Drive. (Contingent upon approval of the previous item) 

 Resolution #23,461, approving and authorizing execution of a Professional 
Services Agreement with Robert Sobczak relative to fiberglass TC mascots for 
the Panthers on Parade Project. 

 Resolution #23,462, approving and authorizing execution of a Contract with the 
Northeast Iowa Foodbank relative to Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) funding for service agencies. 

 Resolution #23,463, approving and authorizing execution of a Contract with 
Pathways Behavioral Services, Inc. relative to Community Development Block 
Grant (CDBG) funding for service agencies. 

 Resolution #23,464, approving the amended preliminary plat for West Fork 
Crossing. 

 Resolution #23,465, approving the final plat for West Fork Crossing First 
Addition. (Contingent upon approval of previous item) 

 Resolution #23,466, approving and authorizing execution of a Storm Water 
Maintenance and Repair Agreement with Money Pit, LLC, relative to a post-
construction stormwater management plan for West Fork Crossing First Addition. 
(Contingent upon approval of previous item) 

8

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

 Resolution #23,467, approving and accepting completion of public improvements 
in West Fork Crossing First Addition. (Contingent upon approval of previous 
item)  

 Resolution #23,468, approving and authorizing execution of a Professional 
Service Agreement with Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC relative to the 
Katoski Drive Box Culvert Replacement Project. 

 Resolution #23,469, approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental 
Agreement No. 10C to the Professional Services Agreement with Snyder & 
Associates, Inc. for design and right-of-way services relative to the West Viking 
Road Reconstruction Project.   

Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #23,456 through #23,469 
duly passed and adopted. 

54610 - It was moved by Latta and seconded by Kruse that Ordinance #3047, imposing 
the one percent local sales and services tax within the City of Cedar Falls and 
allocating the revenue derived therefrom, be passed upon its first consideration. 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. 
 

54611 -  It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Hawbaker that the bills and claims of 
January 16, 2024 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer 
be authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper 
funds in payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
54612 -    Councilmember Latta requested an update on the timeline of adding an 

additional School Resource Officer (SRO). City Administrator Gaines and Public 
Safety Director Berte responded. 

 
    Mayor Laudick noted the Iowa League of Cities training he and Councilmember 

Dunn will be attending on March 6,2024 and that information will be made 
available for other Councilmebers interested in attending. 

        
54613 -     It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Dunn to adjourn to Executive Session 

to discuss Property Acquisition per Iowa Code Section 21.5(1)(j) to discuss the 
purchase or sale of particular real estate only where premature disclosure could 
be reasonably expected to increase the price the governmental body would have 
to pay for that property or reduce the price the governmental body would receive 
for that property; and to discuss the City Administrator’s performance pursuant to 
Iowa Code Section 21.5(1)(i) and City Code Section 2-217. Upon call of the roll, 

9

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 6 - 

 

the following named Councilmembers voted.  Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, 
Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn.  Nay: None.  Motion carried. 

 
     The City Council adjourned to Executive Session at 8:10 P.M. 
 
     Mayor Laudick reconvened the Council meeting at 9:34 P.M.   
   
54614 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Crisman that the meeting be 

adjourned at 9:35 P.M. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
                                                           __________________________________ 
                                                           Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

10

Item 1.



 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8606 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
 FROM: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), AICP, City Planner 1 

 DATE: February 5, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Rezoning Request for property located North of Aldrich Elementary School and 
South of W. Greenhill Road (RZ23-003) and associated Land Use Map Amendment 
(LU23-002) 

 

 
OVERVIEW 
At the January 16th City Council meeting, the Council had a few questions regarding the 
request to amend the Future Land Use Map for property located north of Aldrich Elementary 
School and south of W. Greenhill Road. At the meeting, City Council requested a side-by-side 
comparison of the existing and proposed Future Land Use Map to gain a better understanding 
of how much of the area designated as “Greenway & Floodplain” is being proposed for 
development and the extent of the area proposed to change from “Neighborhood Commercial 
and Mixed Use” to “Low Density Residential.”  
 
STAFF UPDATES: 
Staff was able to generate map exhibits as per City Council request. The below images show 
the existing Future Land Use Map on the left and the Planning and Zoning Commission’s 
recommended change on the right (see also larger scale images included in the Council 
packet).   
 

11

Item 2.



 
 

The map exhibit below shows the comparison between area lost and gained as far as the 
Greenways and Floodplain use is concerned. Note that the area that is proposed for a 
stormwater basin is included in the area that will remain as a green buffer.  In addition, there is a 
net gain to the buffer area on the north end toward Greenhill Road. The areas proposed for 
home lots are shown in the red hatching. These are the areas where the Greenway area will be 
reduced (see also larger scale image included in the packet).   

 
  

12

Item 2.



 
 

In addition, staff asked the applicant’s engineer to update the proposed RP Master Plan with 
visible colors for better readability. Please see the updated RP Master Plan exhibit (see also 
larger version included in the packet).   
 
 

 
 
 
For ease of review, the staff has presented the requested information in this separate memo. 
The original staff report (dated January 16th, 2024), minutes, correspondence, and other 
supplemental materials are also included in the packet. Larger versions of the maps in this 
memo are attached as well.  
 
 

13

Item 2.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
             TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 

 FROM: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD) AICP, City Planner I 

  Matthew Tolan, Civil Engineer II 

 DATE: January 16, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Rezoning Request for property located North of Aldrich Elementary School and 
South of W. Greenhill Road (RZ23-003) 

  Land Use Map Amendment (LU23-002) 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Amend Future Land Use Map from Low Density Residential Use, Greenways 
and Floodplain Use, and Neighborhood Commercial & Mixed Use to Low 
Density Residential Use and adjust the Greenways and Floodplain Use  
(LU23-002) 
Rezone property from R-1 Residence District and MU Mixed Use Residential 
District to RP Planned Residence District (RZ23-003) 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Brent Dahlstrom, Owner; Panther Builders LLC, Applicant  
 

LOCATION: 
 

54.79 acres of land located North of Aldrich Elementary School and  
South of W. Greenhill Road  

 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant is requesting to rezone 54.79 acres of 
land owned by Brent Dahlstrom from R-1 Residence 
District and MU Mixed Use Residential District to RP 
Planned Residence District.  
 
Since the Future Land Use Map in the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan currently designates portions of 
this property as “Neighborhood Commercial and 
Mixed Use” and “Greenways and Floodplain Use,” the 
applicant is also requesting an amendment to the 
Future Land Use Map to “Low Density Residential.” 
The applicant’s stated reasons for these changes are 
attached.   

14

Item 2.



 
BACKGROUND 
The subject property comprising 54.79 acres of parcel is currently unplatted. However, a 
portion (14.18 acres) of the subject property was rezoned from A-1 Agricultural District to MU 
Mixed Use Residential District with an approved MU District Site Plan and developmental 
procedures agreement to create a multi-use development, consisting of residential and 
professional office uses in July 2016. A preliminary plat for the area zoned MU was approved 
by the City Council in September 2018, with the intent to build multi-family residential dwellings 
and professional offices. However, no work was done on the project after approval of the 
preliminary plat, so the plat is now expired, and hence, remains unplatted. 
 
The other portion (approx. 40 acres) of the subject property was rezoned from A-1 Agricultural 
District to R-1 Residence District in February 2019. Following the rezoning, an application for a 
preliminary plat was submitted to subdivide the property into single family home lots. However, 
that application was withdrawn, so the area remains unplatted. 
 
The applicant is now proposing to rezone the entire 54.79 acres of land from R-1 Residence 
District and MU Mixed Use Residential District to RP Planned Residence District to allow the 
development of the area with detached single-family dwelling units. As per City code, the RP 
Planned Residence District requires the submittal of a Master Plan to show the overall 
development plan, including the intended uses, development pattern and any special features 
or standards, and the submittal of developmental procedures agreement to establish the 
agreed upon standards and conditions for the development. An RP Master Plan for the site 
has been submitted for review along with other supplemental materials for the project. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
The first thing that is analyze when a rezoning is requested is whether it is compliant with the 
Comprehensive Plan and Future Land Use map. In this case, the proposed rezoning request is 
not consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and the Future Land Use map, which is why the 
applicant is also requesting to amend the Future Land Use map. A rezoning can only be 
approved if it is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 
 
The Future Land Use Map in the City’s Comprehensive Plan identifies the subject parcel as 
“Low-Density Residential Use”, “Greenways & Floodplain Use” and “Neighborhood Commercial 
and Mixed Use”. In this case, the current zoning of the subject property, R-1 Residential District 
and MU Mixed Use Residential District is consistent, but the proposed RP Master Plan, given 
that it will be restricted to detached single-family dwellings is not consistent with the 
“Neighborhood Commercial and Mixed Use” designation for the northern portion of the property.  
The applicant has submitted a statement regarding the reasons they believe the proposed Land 
Use Map amendment (LUMA) is warranted along with their proposal for amending the Future 
Land Use Map (See exhibit below). The exhibit shows the current designations in color with their 
stated request for amendment in the text.   

15

Item 2.



 

 
As per the City’s Comprehensive Plan:  

1. Low-Density Residential Use emphasizes single-family detached development with 
density ranging from 1 to 4 units per acre.  

2. Greenways & Floodplain Use emphasizes the preservation of environmentally sensitive 
areas and crucial scenic corridors and their possible incorporation into the City’s trail 
system.  

3. Neighborhood Commercial and Mixed Use emphasizes the development of low-impact 
commercial use, providing a variety of neighborhood services. This use designation 
should be located along major streets, promote buffering to eliminate negative effects on 
surrounding residential areas, and have good landscaping to enhance the site as well as 
provide a visual buffer. This use also allows the development of residential units above 
commercial development with a high emphasis on good pedestrian/bicycle connections 
into surrounding areas.    

 
As noted in the above exhibit, the applicant is proposing to amend the Future Land Use Map in 
the City’s Comprehensive Plan document from “Low-Density Residential Use”, “Greenways & 
Floodplain Use” and “Neighborhood Commercial and Mixed Use” to “Low-Density Residential 
Use.” The applicant indicates that the proposed LUMA for the entire property would be 
synonymous with the surrounding low-density residential use. The applicant indicates that as 
per market needs, the single-family lots are more urgent and appealing to current neighbors. 
 
Staff notes that the subject property may not be ideal for having commercial uses, given that 

16

Item 2.



there is a neighborhood-serving commercial area nearby in the Greenhill Village mixed-use 
development. There is a need for more residential development in the community with 
homebuilders recently noting the limited availability of home lots within Cedar Falls. In general 
lack of supply drives up home prices in the community at large. However, staff notes that 
taking away entire portion of “Greenways and Floodplain Use” designation from the subject 
property may not be acceptable, considering the fact that the City’s Comprehensive Plan 
suggests that the Greenways and Floodplain Use should emphasize preservation of 
environmentally sensitive areas and crucial scenic corridors as noted above. It is a goal of the 
City to identify areas where our recreational trail network can be expanded as new 
development occurs. Staff is supportive of refining the boundary of the Greenways and 
Floodplain Use designation on the Future Land Use Map, but recommends reserving a 
minimum of 20 feet along the edge of, but outside of the Dry Run Creek floodway for a future 
public trail. . Staff believes that a future recreation trail developed along this scenic corridor 
would provide a community amenity space for nearby residents and also provide an alternative 
means of walking/biking to surrounding destinations,  including the public parkland located 
west of Aldrich Elementary School along Arbors Drive and the school itself.   
 
Staff recommends changing the Future Land Use Map designation to “Low Density Residential 
Use” and to adjust the “Greenways & Floodplain Use” to align better with the stream corridor 
with enough space for a future public trail. See below image for more reference. The exact 
area needed for the trail could be delineated on the preliminary plat for the Panther West 
development based on the topography and specific plans for the stormwater management. 
Maintaining the greenway along the edge of this development would ensure there is an 
adeqaute buffer from the floodplain area (north of subject property), which would align with the 
intent of the City’s Comprehensive Plan. The developer agrees with staff’s recommendation.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

17

Item 2.



CURRENT ZONING 
Currently, the subject property is in the R-1 Residence District and MU Mixed-Use Residential 
District. The purpose of the R-1 Residence District is to allow the development of low-density 
residential neighborhoods, including detached single-family dwellings, duplexes, and single-
family bi-attached dwellings, and supporting institutional uses such as schools and churches.  
 
The purpose of the MU Mixed Use Residential District is to accommodate integrated 
residential, and neighborhood commercial land uses on larger parcels to create viable, self-
supporting neighborhood districts. The MU District strives to encourage innovative 
development that incorporates high-quality building design, careful site planning, and 
preservation of unique environmental features with an emphasis on the creation of open 
spaces and amenities that enhance the quality of life of residents in the district.  
 
PROPOSED ZONING AND RP MASTER PLAN 
The purpose of the RP Planned Residence District is to permit the establishment of multi-use 
and integrated-use residential developments and to provide for the orderly planned growth of 
residential developments in larger tracts of land. The RP District allows flexibility in the types of 
dwellings, lot sizes, building heights, and setbacks. However, to ensure that the area is 
developed in an orderly manner, provides for efficient traffic circulation between 
neighborhoods, and includes the necessary infrastructure to meet the needs of future 
residents, a master plan must be submitted with the rezoning, which is adopted with a 
developmental procedural agreement. 
 
The applicant proposes an RP Master Plan that restricts the development to detached single 
family dwellings only, which will be developed in four phases. Staff notes that the lot lines 
shown on the RP Master Plan are for conceptual purposes only, as the exact configuration will 
be established with the preliminary plat once exact size and location of stormwater facilities, 
easements and necessary infrastructure is determined. 
 
Street layout and connectivity: 
The street layout is one of the most important aspects of the proposed master plan as it should 
demonstrate a well-connected street pattern with multiple, direct routes between neighborhood 
destinations with a phasing plan that ensures that critical street routes are completed first to 
reduce traffic congestion, encourage safe walking and biking, improve emergency access and 
response times, and allow for the timely provision of essential infrastructure. The Master Plan 
proposed by the applicant is shown below.  
 

18

Item 2.



 
The proposed RP Master Plan illustrates that Arbors Drive will be extended northward to W. 
Greenhill Road. Richard Road will be extended westward into the proposed development and 
Ironwood Drive will be extended northward to connect to W. Greenhill Road. All these street 
extensions would allow both the proposed development and the adjacent development to east 
and south of the subject property with alternative routes to and from the development, which 
will distribute the traffic in the neighborhood and more importantly provide needed street 
connections to navigate between the subdivisions. Staff notes that the proposed extension of 
streets as noted above will address the missing critical connections for the surrounding land 
uses, provide distribution of traffic, and provide much needed accessibility to Aldrich 
Elementary School.  
 
The proposed RP Master plan also shows that the Madeline Street will be extended westward 
from the Arbors Drive, providing a connection opportunity for future development of the area to 
the west of the subject property, with all city services being stubbed to the western boundary of 
the subject property. All these street extensions/connections are likely to take place as per the 
proposed phasing that is indicated on the submitted RP Master Plan for the subject property. 
 
Phasing: 
The proposed RP Master Plan indicates that the development will occur in four phases. With 
master planned development, it is important to think about phasing to ensure that critical street 
connections occur first to reduce traffic congestion and provide for the distribution of traffic to 

19

Item 2.



area destinations and to ensure that all necessary infrastructure is in place to support the 
development.  
 
The applicant’s original proposal for phasing addressed two critical street connections in Phase 
1 of the development: the extension of Arbors Drive and Ironwood Drive. Completion of these 
streets will create additional routes to Aldrich Elementary School and to other community 
destinations for area residents.  However, at the November 8th Commission meeting, staff 
recommended adding the extension of Richard Road and all lots north of Richard Road in 
Phase 1 of the project. The extension of Richard Road to Arbors Drive will allow another route 
from the neighborhood to the east to the school. Connecting Richard Road in Phase 1 of the 
project would allow distribution of the traffic within the neighborhood and allow the possibility for 
students/parents within the neighborhood to walk/bike to the school.  
 
The developer has now revised the phasing plan as per staff’s recommendation as shown 
above. The updated RP Master Plan Amendment exhibit is attached in the packet for more 
reference. The applicant’s proposed phasing plan now addresses three critical street 
connections in Phase 1 of the development: the extension of Arbors Drive, Richard Road, and 
Ironwood Drive as noted above in the staff report.  
 
Lot Configuration and Setbacks: 
The applicant has indicated that the lots will generally follow the lot sizes allowed in the R-1 
Residence District as generally illustrated on their proposed Master Plan. Setbacks equal to 
what is required in the R-4 Zoning District are required around the perimeter of the RP District. 
Therefore, where lots back up to the perimeter of the development, the setback is 30 feet to 
match the rear yard setback in the R-4 Zone. Where a side lot line abuts the perimeter of the 
development, the side setback standard in the R-4 District applies. Other setbacks standards 
are determined by the applicant.  
 
In this case, the applicant is proposing front setbacks for all the detached single-family dwellings 
will be 25 feet. For corner lots the applicant is proposing a minimum of 25-foot primary frontage 
setback and a 20-foot setback along secondary street frontages. For clarity all streetside 
setbacks will be delineated with the preliminary plat.  The applicant proposes minimum 5-foot 
side yard setbacks.  The perimeter setbacks and other setback information will be shown in 
detail when a preliminary plat for the area is submitted. 
 
  

20

Item 2.



Rezoning requests also involve evaluation of the other criteria: 
 
ENVIRONMENTALLY SENSITIVE AREAS 
The subject property borders the floodplain of Dry 
Run Creek. See the image to the right for 
reference. The floodway is indicated as a hashed 
area, the light blue color represents the boundary 
of the 100-year flood plain and the dark blue color 
represents the 500-year floodplain boundary. The 
property subject to this rezoning does not fall 
within the floodplain, but as noted above the 
greenway should be protected and considered as 
a scenic corridor suitable for trails and as a buffer 
between developed areas and critical natural 
areas.  
 
 
 
 
ACCESS TO PUBLIC SERVICES 
All City services including sanitary sewer, storm sewer, water, and gas are available to the 
adjacent property along the southern and easterly boundaries of the proposed development for 
the developer to extend to serve the proposed development. To further develop the land to the 
west of the proposed site, the necessary infrastructure including all city services will need to be 
extended to the western boundaries of this site. 
 
The applicant will be providing a detailed stormwater management report and stormwater 
management plan for the proposed development with the preliminary plat. 
 
ACCESS TO ADEQUATE STREET NETWORK 
Development of the property under RP Zoning will be possible by extending Arbors Drive from 
the south up to W. Greenhill Road. To continue the street patterns from the adjacent 
subdivision to the east, the proposed development will allow the extension of Ironwood Drive 
northward, and Richard Road westward as noted above. And the extension of proposed 
Madeline Street westward from the Arbors Drive will provide development opportunity for the 
unplatted area west of the subject property as noted above.  
 
The applicant will be providing a detailed traffic-impact study with the preliminary plat.  
 
PUBLIC NOTICE 
City staff mailed letters to the surrounding property owners notifying them of the land use map 
amendment and rezoning request on October 27, 2023.  
 
Notice of the Planning and Zoning Commission Public Hearing was published in the Waterloo-
Cedar Falls Courier on November 14, 2023 and notice of Council’s hearing was published in 
the Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier on June 6, 2024. 
 
 
 
 

21

Item 2.



TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
The City technical staff, including Cedar Falls Utilities, have no concerns about the proposed 
rezoning request. Staff notes that the RP Planned Residence district requires a developmental 
procedures agreement at the time of rezoning that spells out any condition or agreement about 
the proposed master plan and the land uses anticipated. This agreement must be finalized prior 
to the public hearing at the City Council. The signed development agreement has been 
submitted by the developer with the packet for review.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Planning and Zoning Commission recommends approval of the submitted land use map 
amendment (LU23-002) and the request to rezone the 54.79 acre of property located north of 
Aldrich Elementary School and south of W. Greenhill Road from R-1 Residence District and 
MU Mixed Use Residential District to RP Planned Residence District (RZ23-003) as per staff’s 
recommendation at their regular meeting on 21st November 2023 with a vote of 5 ayes and 0 
nays. Staff also recommends approval of the case LU23-002 and RZ23-003 subject to 
compliance with submitted master plan and a development procedures agreement that 
includes the conditions noted in the staff report above.  
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Introduction 
11/8/2023 

Acting Chair Hartley introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provided background 
information. He explained that this is essentially two cases, a Land Use Map 
Amendment and a rezoning request. He provided a rendering of the area being 
discussed and discussed the changes that have taken place since 2016. He explained 
that the proposal is to rezone 54.79 acres of land from R-1 Residential District and MU 
Mixed Use Residential District to RP Planned Residential. It is also being requested to 
amend the Future Land Use Map in the City’s Comprehensive Plan from “Neighborhood 
Commercial and Mixed Use” to “Greenways and Floodplain Use” and “Low Density 
Residential Use” to “Low Density Residential Use.” He noted that the RP District requires 
the submittal of a Master Plan and Developmental Procedures Agreement. 

Mr. Atodaria provided information regarding the different uses in the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan. He provided analysis of the proposal, stating that the subject 
property may not be ideal for commercial uses with the presence of neighborhood 
serving commercial uses nearby. He also noted the need for more residential 
development in the community and that taking the entire portion of “Greenways and 
Floodplain Use” may not be acceptable as per the City’s Comprehensive Plan and its 
significance. 

Staff recommends changing the designation to “Low Density Residential Use” and 
adjusting the “Greenways and Floodplain Use” to align better with the stream corridor 
and enough space for a future public trail. They also recommend maintaining the 
greenway designation along the northern edge of this development. This will ensure an 
adequate buffer from the floodplain area. 

With regard to zoning, the proposal is to rezone R-1 and MU to the RP District. Mr. 
Atodaria discussed the intended uses for the zoning and explained the benefits of 
changing the area to an RP District. He noted that the proposal is intended to restrict the 
development to detached single-family dwellings. The exact number of lots will be 
determined when the area is platted. He also provided information regarding the 
setbacks for the lots. The proposed plan would extend the existing critical connections 
into the proposed development. The street extensions will provide alternative routes and 
distribute traffic and much needed connections to West Greenhill Road and Aldrich 
Elementary School. The proposed Madeline Street will be extended westward to provide 
opportunity for future development. The proposed Master Plan would be done in four 

22

Item 2.



phases, with two of the critical street connections, including Arbors Drive and Ironwood 
Drive, being addressed in Phase 1. Mr. Atodaria explained the staff recommendations 
for phasing and noted other evaluations for rezoning requests, pointing out that 
considerations include consideration of environmentally sensitive areas, access to public 
services and access to adequate street networks. 

He explained that the technical comments provided include a Development Procedures 
Agreement that must be finalized prior to public hearing at City Council. Staff also 
recommended adding a Richard Road connection to Arbors Drive and all lots north of 
Richard Road in Phase I. Staff would also like to see a future public trail denoted along 
the northern edge of the subject property. The update to the Land Use Map Amendment 
exhibit should also reflect the recommended land use change to “Low Density 
Residential Use” and readjust “Greenways and Floodplain Use.” 

Staff recommended setting a public hearing for November 21, 2023, to discuss the 
future land use map request and the rezoning request.  

Kevin Fittro, petitioner, Panther Builders/Panther Farms, was available for questions. He 
noted that it is tough to plan ten years ahead and they would like to readjust for what is 
currently in the neighborhood. 

Todd Coulter, 4605 Eden Way, stated that his concern is with the water in the easement 
behind his house. Mr. Weintraut explained that this will be addressed further when the 
property is platted to ensure that drainage is away from the adjoining properties. 

Paul Smith, 2311 Andy Avenue, asked about the math for the acreage and asked about 
the meaning of RP zoning and if there will just be single-family homes, as it now. Mr. 
Atodaria explained that there is a small lot that will be added with the proposal and that 
is where the difference in the numbers come in. He also explained that the RP District 
allows any type of residential uses and at this time the developer is only planning to build 
single-family homes. Mr. Weintraut also explained that if there were to be any changes, 
they would have to come through the Commission again for another rezoning. 

Don Forsythe, 4611 Eden Way, stated that they were told that when they built their 
home that the waterway would stay there permanently.  

Ms. Crisman is happy that there is a plan to connect Ironwood Drive to Greenhill and 
that it will be a great improvement. She also stated that she knows that many neighbors 
have had concerns about water runoff and noted that Cedar Falls has very high 
standards for runoff and the City will hold the developer accountable. 

Ms. Grybovych asked the developer to please consider meeting with the neighbors 
about any concerns. 

Acting Chair Hartley asked staff to give a brief overview on runoff water regulations. Mr. 
Atodaria explained there was no engineering staff available for a more in-depth 
explanation, but that generally those things are taken care of when the platting for the 
development begins. As a general rule of thumb, whatever site is being developed, the 
site will have to provide their own detention area or stormwater management facility for 
the entire site. He noted that more specific details can be answered when the plat is 
being discussed at a later date at P&Z. 

Ms. Crisman made a motion to set a public hearing. Ms. Alberhasky seconded the 
motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 6 ayes (Alberhasky, Crisman, 
Grybovych, Hartley, Moser and Stalnaker), and 0 nays. 

 
Discussion 
& Vote 
11/21/2023 

 

Acting Chair Hartley introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provided background 
information. He explained that the property is close to 55 acres and is currently being 

23

Item 2.



considered for rezoning. The parcel had an approved MU Master Plan and a preliminary 
plat for a 14-acre parcel, but no work was done, so the plat expired, and the land 
remains unplatted. And the remaining 40-acres parcel is unplatted as well. The proposal 
requests rezoning 54.79 acres of land from R-1 Residence District and MU Mixed Use 
Residential District to RP Planned Residence District. The request also includes an 
amendment to the Future Land Use Map in the City’s Comprehensive Plan from 
“Neighborhood Commercial & Mixed Use,” “Greenways and Floodplain Use” and “Low 
Density Residential Use” to “Low Density Residential Use.” The RP District requires the 
submittal of a Master Plan and development procedures agreement. 

Mr. Atodaria discussed the Land Use Map Amendment, noting that a rezoning can only  
be approved if it is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. He explained the 
significance of the land uses in the Comprehensive Plan. The analysis showed that the 
subject property may not be ideal for having commercial uses with presence of 
neighborhood serving commercial uses nearby. He noted the need for more residential 
development in the community. However, he also noted that removing the entire portion 
of “Greenways and Floodplain Use” from the Future Land Use Map may not be 
acceptable as per the Comprehensive Plan. Staff recommends changing the land use 
map as noted and adjustment of the “Greenways and Floodplain Use to align better with 
the stream corridor and leave enough space for a future public trail along the 
greenway/stream corridor. Maintaining the greenway designation along the northern 
edge of the development will ensure an adequate buffer from the floodplain area. 
 

With regard to the zoning, the proposal is to rezone from R-1 and MU to RP District. He  
explained the allowed uses in those Districts and noted that the RP District allows more 
flexibility in the types of dwellings, lot sizes, building heights and setbacks. However, the 
applicant is proposing to restrict the development to detached single-family dwellings. 
The number of lots will be determined when platted. He discussed the setbacks and 
explained the proposed extension of existing critical connections. Street extensions will 
provide alternative routes and distribute the traffic to much needed connections to 
Greenhill Road and Aldrich Elementary School. Mr. Atodaria discussed phasing of the 
project and other factors considered for rezoning including reviewing if the proposed 
rezoning is in environmentally sensitive areas, the subject property has access to public 
services and adequate street network. Mr. Atodaria noted that a developmental 
procedures agreement must be finalized prior to public hearing at City Council. Staff 
recommend approval with any comments and directions specified by the Commission. 
He mentioned calls and communications regarding the project.  
 
Kevin Fittro, Panther Builders, was present to answer any questions.    
 
Ms. Crisman stated that this should help with any water issues as the land starts to be 
developed, and we have some strict rules on managing water run-off. Also, this 
development would allow connection to Greenhill Road for the neighborhood, thus 
benefitting them. 
 
Ms. Crisman made a motion to approve the item. Ms. Moser seconded the motion. The 
motion was approved unanimously with 5 ayes (Alberhasky, Crisman, Hartley, Moser 
and Stalnaker), and 0 nays. 
 
 

 

 

24

Item 2.



 

 
   

25

Item 2.



26

Item 2.



Legend

Neighborhood 
Comm. & 
Mixed Use

Low Density 
Residential

Greenways & 
Floodplains

Future Land Use Map as per City’s 
Comprehensive Plan

198 ft

225 ft

150 ft

27

Item 2.



Legend

Low Density 
Residential

Greenways & 
Floodplains

Recommended change to Future 
Land Use Map in City’s 
Comprehensive Plan from P&Z 

20 ft

Proposed 
Stormwater 
Basin

28

Item 2.



Legend

Neighborhood 
Comm. & 
Mixed Use

Low Density 
Residential

Greenways & 
Floodplains

Future Land Use Map as per City’s 
Comprehensive Plan 150 ft

Area lost

Area gained

29

Item 2.



 
RESOLUTION NO. ______________ 

 

RESOLUTION AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP, AN INTEGRAL PART OF 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS COMPREHENSIVE PLAN,  

BY CHANGING THE DESIGNATION FOR CERTAIN PROPERTIES DESCRIBED HEREIN 

FROM “LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL” AND “NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL AND 

MIXED USE” AND “GREENWAYS AND FLOODPLAIN” TO “LOW DENSITY 

RESIDENTIAL” AND ADJUST “GREENWAYS AND FLOODPLAIN” 

 

 WHEREAS, the Future Land Use Map, an integral part of the City’s Comprehensive 

Plan, serves as a guide for future development; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

received a petition to amend the Future Land Use Map within the Comprehensive Plan from 

“Low Density Residential”, “Greenways and Floodplain” and “Neighborhood Commercial and 

Mixed Use,” to “Low Density Residential” and adjust “Greenways and Floodplain” for 54.79 

acres of land located North of Aldrich Elementary School and South of W. Greenhill Road as 

illustrated on the attached Future Land Use Map, labeled Exhibit A; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the proposed amendment will allow the developer to proceed with the 

development of a residential subdivisions consisting of single-family dwellings consistent with 

surrounding low-density residential use; and 

 

WHEREAS, based on these factors, the Planning and Zoning Commission has 

recommended approval of said change to the Future Land Use Map; and 

 

WHEREAS, notice of public hearing has been published, as provided by law, and such 

hearing held on the proposed amendment. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

that the Future Land Use Map is hereby amended to change the designation found on the City 

Schematic Future Land Use Map from “Low Density Residential”, “Greenways and Floodplain” 

and “Neighborhood Commercial and Mixed Use” to “Low Density Residential” and adjust 

“Greenways and Floodplain” as illustrated on the attached Exhibit A. 

 

 INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this _____day of__________, 2024. 

 

 

_________________________ 

                                                                           Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

        

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

30

Item 2.



tes
t

LEIGH LN

RICHARD RD

IR
O

N
W

O
O

D
 D

R

ED
EN

 W
Y

BLYTHE BLVD

A
R
BO

R
S 

D
R

ASHWORTH DR

GREENHILL RD.

UNIVER
SIT

Y AVE.

1 of 1

R
EZ

O
N

IN
G

 P
LA

T
 E

X
H

IB
IT

PA
N

T
H

ER
 W

ES
T

PA
N

T
H

ER
 B

U
IL

D
ER

'S
6
1
6
 C

LA
Y
 S

T
C

ED
A

R
 F

A
LL

S,
 I
A

 5
0
6
1
3

PA
N

T
H

ER
 W

ES
T

PN
: 
0
8
8

10/06/202331

Item 3.



1/25/2024

LEGEND

ARBORS DRIVE

A
RB

O
RS

 D
RI

V
E

MADELINE STREET MADELINE STREET

JO
SE

PH
 D

R
IV

E

JOSEPH DRIVE

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T
 R

-P
 M

A
ST

ER
 P

LA
N

PA
N

T
H

ER
 F

A
R
M

S,
 L

LC
PN

: 
  
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
 #

PA
N

T
H

ER
 W

ES
T
 A

D
D

IT
IO

N
S

N
A

T
H

A
N

 L
A

N
E

PH
ASE

 1

PH
ASE

 2

PH
ASE

 3

PH
ASE

 4

R-1
R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

A-1

R-P

RICHARD ROAD

1 of 1
 BUILDING TYPES

 BUILDING SETBACKS 

UNIVER
SIT

Y AVEN
UE

RICHARD
ROAD

ED
EN

 W
A

Y

LEIGH
LANE

ANDY
AVE.

BLYTHE
BLVD.

GREENHILL ROAD

IR
O

N
W

O
O

D
D

R
IV

E

BENNETT LANE

EX
H

IB
IT

 A

32

Item 3.



33

Item 3.



34

Item 3.



35

Item 3.



36

Item 3.



37

Item 3.



38

Item 3.



39

Item 3.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), Planner I, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 (319) 273-8600 

 
ORDINANCE NO._____________ 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 

IOWA FOR APPROXIMATELY 54.79 ACRES OF LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN, 

REMOVING SAID AREA FROM THE MU, MIXED USE RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT AND 

R-1 RESIDENCE DISTRICT AND ADDING IT TO THE  

RP, PLANNED RESIDENCE DISTRICT 
 

WHEREAS, a proposal was submitted to the Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning 

Commission to rezone approximately 54.79 acres of property from MU, Mixed Use Residential 

District and R-1 Residence District to RP, Planned Residence District, more specifically 

described below; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the City to ensure that said development proceeds in an 

orderly manner and in accordance with the principles of the Comprehensive Plan and the 

provision of the RP Planned Residence District; and 

 

WHEREAS, said RP, Planned Residence District requires the submittal and adoption of a 

master plan and developmental procedures agreement that outlines any specific conditions 

pertaining to the development, timing, and phasing of the project, and other development details 

as necessary; and 

 

WHEREAS, a RP master plan has been submitted with the rezoning application (case 

#RZ23-003), the principles and provisions of which will be incorporated into a developmental 

procedures agreement between the City and owners of the property, which will be considered for 

adoption in a separate action by resolution concurrent with this rezoning; and 

 

WHEREAS, said developmental procedures agreement outlines the provision for a 

minimum 20-foot-wide outlot for a future public trail, building setbacks for future lots, restricts 

direct driveway access off W. Greenhill Road, restricts development to detached single-family 

dwellings; and   

 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission considered the rezoning request and 

proposed elements of the RP Master Plan and finds that said rezoning and master plan is 

consistent with the City of Cedar Falls Comprehensive Plan and the intent of the RP, Planned 

Residence District and therefore recommends approval; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it to be in the best interests of 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to approve said rezoning; and  

40

Item 3.



 

 WHEREAS, Section 26-118, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of Article III, 

Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-Six (26), Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances of 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, provides that the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa is 

incorporated into and made a part of said Ordinance by reference; and 

 
 WHEREAS, notice of public hearing has been published, as provided by law, and such 

hearing held on the proposed amendment; and 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, IOWA: 

 

 Section 1.  That the following described real estate, be and the same is hereby removed from 

the MU, Mixed Use Residential District and R-1 Residence District and added to the RP, Planned 

Residence District: 
 

Legal Description: 

 

NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 27, 

TOWNSHIP 89 NORTH, RANGE 14 WEST OF THE 5TH P.M., BLACK HAWK 

COUNTY, IOWA, EXCEPT THAT PART LYING WITHIN 574 LD 64 AS SHOWN 

AND DEPICTED ON PLAT OF SURVEY DOC. #2013-13902. 

 

AND 

 

ALL THAT PART OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST 

QUARTER OF SECTION 22, TOWNSHIP 89 NORTH, RANGE 14 WEST OF THE 

5TH P.M., BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, LYING SOUTHERLY OF 574 LD 64 AS 

SHOWN AND DEPICTED ON PLAT OF SURVEY DOC. #2013-13902. 

 

AND 

 

ALL THAT PART OF THE SOUTH ONE-HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER 

OF SECTION 23, TOWNSHIP 89 NORTH, RANGE 14 WEST OF THE 5TH P.M., 

BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, LYING SOUTHERLY OF 574 LD 64 AND DOC. 

#2013-12296 AS SHOWN AND DEPICTED ON PLAT OF SURVEY DOC. #2013-

13902. 

 

Containing 54.79 Acres 
 

Section 2. That the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is hereby 

amended to show the property described in Section 1, above, as now being in the RP, Planned 

Residence District, and the amended map is hereby ordained to be the zoning map of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, as amended. 

 

  

INTRODUCED:        

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      
41

Item 3.



PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 

 

         _________________________ 

ATTEST:        Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

 

____________________________________ 

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

42

Item 3.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

PUBLIC WORKS & PARKS DIVISION 
2200 TECHNOLOGY PARKWAY 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8629 
FAX 319-273-8632 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Robert M. Green and Cedar Falls City Council 

 FROM: Chase Schrage, Director, Public Works Department 

 DATE: January 29, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Local Option Sales Tax  

 
 Enclosed are the ordinance revisions related to the local option sales tax for the 
purpose of street reconstruction and rehabilitation to begin January 1, 2026. The current 
program/ordinance is set to expire on December 31, 2025. These revisions would be to 
continue with option tax program beginning January 1, 2026 until repealed. The 
program was on the ballot in November 2023 and voted on as a block of contiguous 
cities (passing with 73%).  
 
The Department of Public Works recommends that the City Council approve the 
ordinance revisions for the continuation of the local options sales tax. Let me know if 
you have any questions. 
 
 
  
 

43

Item 4.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by:  Kim Kerr, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA  50613                                   (319) 273-8600 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 3047 

 

AN ORDINANCE IMPOSING A LOCAL OPTION TAX WITHIN THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, IOWA, OF ONE PERCENT (1%) UPON LOCAL SALES AND SERVICES TO 

BE EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2026, AND PROVIDING THAT THE REVENUE SHALL 

BE DERIVED AND ALLOCATED IN ACCORDANCE WITH CHAPTER 423B OF THE 

2023 CODE OF IOWA, AS AMENDED. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

 SECTION 1.  TAX IMPOSED 

 That a tax at the rate of one percent (1%) shall be imposed in accordance with Chapter 423B of the 

2023 Code of Iowa, as amended, on the local sales and services in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to be 

effective on January 1, 2026. 

 SECTION 2.  DISTRIBUTION 

 The revenue generated by the imposition of the local sales and services tax shall be allocated by the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as follows: 

One hundred percent (100%) of the revenue generated in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, during 

each fiscal year from said local sales and services tax is to be allocated for 

reconstruction/repair/replacement of existing streets, curbs, structures, storm sewers and 

sanitary sewers as they relate to streets within the corporate limits of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa. 

 

 The funds received from the local sales and services tax shall be considered additional funds which 

are allocated only for reconstruction/repair/replacement of existing streets, curbs, structures, storm sewers 

and sanitary sewers as they relate to streets and not as replacement funds for the present funding levels as 

authorized by the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa, nor for widening of or creation of new streets. 

44

Item 4.



 2 

 The funds received from the local sales and services tax shall be placed in a separate account solely 

devoted to street repair and replacement and have all interest income generated by the temporary investment 

of tax proceeds credited to this special account. 

 

INTRODUCED:     January 16, 2024    

 

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   January 16, 2024    

  

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:         

 

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:         

 

ADOPTED:            

 

   

 ____________________________ 

       Daniel A. Laudick, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

_____________________________ 

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

45

Item 4.



1 
 

CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 
Cedar Falls City Hall Conference Room 2 

January 16, 2024 
 
The City Council held a work session at City Hall at 5:15 p.m. on January 16, 2024. The 
following persons were in attendance: Mayor Daniel Laudick, Councilmembers Gil Schultz, 
Chris Latta, Daryl Kruse, Aaron Hawbaker, Dustin Ganfield, Hannah Crisman, and Kelly 
Dunn. Staff members from various City Departments and members of the community were 
also present. 
 
Mayor Laudick called the meeting to order, and reviewed the general purpose and goals of a 
work session meeting. 
 
Mayor Laudick introduced the first item on the agenda – College Hill Visioning/Zoning.  
Director of Community Development Stephanie Houk Sheetz provided a presentation and 
overview that included: precursors to both the downtown and college hill visioning and zoning 
initiatives; timeline of visioning and zoning work that has occurred for downtown and college 
hill; and the City Council priorities adopted January 2020 prior to starting the college hill 
vision plan. Mayor Laudick opened the item for discussion. Councilmembers discussed the 
difference between the terms “Receive and File” and “Adopt and Approve;” regarding the 
future ability of Council to make changes to align with the best interests of the City; there was 
also discussion on the Imagine College Hill! Vision Plan related to the executive summary 
recommendations, the Big Ideas section, and identified character areas of the study area; 
Council reached consensus for each member to provide Mayor Laudick with several 
concerns, supported items, and ideas; Mayor Laudick will compile the information then 
provide to and work with City staff to create actionable steps to bring back to Council for 
discussion. 
 
 
Mayor Laudick introduced the second item on the agenda – Animal Control. 
Public Safety Director Craig Berte provided a presentation and overview of animal control 
process from 2013 to 2023; Director Berte stated the contract was cancelled January 11, 
2024, due to a proposed 400% cost increase with reduced services. Director Berte shared 
current animal control processes, types of calls, policies and tracking of any financial impact 
the new system may have. Mayor Laudick opened the item for discussion. Councilmembers, 
Director Berte, and Operations and Maintenance Manager Brian Heath discussed: deceased 
animal removal policy as City responsibility on City property but not private property; who 
residents contact with animal concerns; communicating new policy information to residents; 
and what additional equipment or personnel have been needed to accommodate the City 
taking over animal control calls. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 6:22 p.m. 
 
 
Minutes by Kristin Thomas, Administrative Supervisor 

46

Item 5.



CITY COUNCIL –  
JOINT MEETING WITH LEGISLATORS 

City Hall Conference Room 2  
January 26, 2024 

 
The City Council held a joint meeting with local legislators at 2:00 p.m. on January 26, 
2024 to discuss the 2024 legislative session.  The following persons were in 
attendance:  Mayor Danny Laudick; Council Members Chris Latta, Aaron Hawbaker, 
Dustin Ganfield, Hanna Crisman, and Kelly Dunn; Local Legislators Eric Giddens, Bob 
Kressig, and Derek Wulf; City Lobbyists Tom Cope and Jon Murphy; staff members Ron 
Gaines, Jennifer Rodenbeck, Craig Berte, Chase Schrage, Stephanie Sheetz, and Kelly 
Stern; UNI student representative Noah Hackbart; and representatives from Waterloo 
Cedar Falls Courier and Derek Wulf’s office.  

Mayor Laudick called the meeting to order and introductions were made.  

Each state legislator discussed what committees they serve on and issues they are 
currently working on.  Tom Cope outlined the various 2024 legislation of interest to the 
City of Cedar Falls.  These legislative issues include stormwater runoff, changes to civil 
service, HF718, LOSST, and UNI funding.  There was also discussion about housing 
legislation and initiatives and mental health challenges.  It was noted that March 5th is 
the UNI Day at the Capitol.  Lastly, there was discussion about continuing discussion 
between the state legislators and local elected officials.  

The meeting was adjourned at 3:00 pm by consensus.    

 

 

47

Item 6.



48

Item 7.



49

Item 8.



50

Item 8.



51

Item 9.



52

Item 9.



53

Item 9.



54

Item 9.



55

Item 9.



56

Item 9.



57

Item 9.



58

Item 9.



59

Item 9.



60

Item 9.



61

Item 9.



62

Item 9.



63

Item 9.



64

Item 9.



65

Item 9.



66

Item 9.



67

Item 9.



68

Item 9.



69

Item 9.



70

Item 9.



71

Item 9.



72

Item 9.



73

Item 9.



74

Item 9.



75

Item 9.



76

Item 9.



77

Item 9.



78

Item 9.



79

Item 9.



80

Item 9.



81

Item 9.



82

Item 9.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council  

 FROM: Chris Sevy, AICP, Planner I 

 DATE: February 5, 2024 

SUBJECT: Temporary Sign Request 
 62nd Annual Waterloo –Cedar Falls Coin Show 
  
This office received the attached request from the Waterloo-Cedar Falls Coin Club to briefly 
place temporary directional signs in the city’s right-of-way for their 62nd Annual Waterloo-
Cedar Falls Coin Show. The event is on Sunday, March 24, 2024 at the Galagher-Bluedorn 
Performing Arts Center on the UNI Campus from 9 AM to 3 PM and is free for the public to 
attend. 
 
In previous years this event has been held at the 
Waterloo Center for the Arts and typically has a 
theme or focus. This year, the show will be at 
the Galagher-Bluedorn and will feature a 
collaboration with the University of Northern 
Iowa History Department and a presentation 
“Mythology and Coinage” which will feature 
examples of coinage dating back to the Fifth 
Century B.C. The coin show is free admission 
and open to the public. 
 
The signs will be typical H-stake “yard” signs measuring 24” wide by 18” tall located at the 
intersections of: 

 University Avenue and Main Street; 

 Hudson Road and University Avenue; and 

 Hudson Road and 27th Street. 
 
The signs will be displayed on Saturday, March 23, 2024 and be removed on Sunday, March 
24, 2024 immediately following the event. The signs will be placed in a location that will not 
obstruct the vision of motorists. 
 
For reference, similar requests have been submitted and approved by Council in years past, 
specifically by this applicant. Staff notes the willingness of the applicant to get proper 
approval and go through the proper channels to place signs like this and recommends 
approval to display the temporary signs at the three stated locations on March 23, 2024 

 

83

Item 10.



through March 24, 2024 for the Coin Show. 
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please feel free to contact this 
office. 
 
xc: Stephanie Sheetz, Community Development Director 
 Jamie Castle, Building Official (Code Enforcement) 
 Craig Berte, Public Safety Director 
 Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 

  

84

Item 10.



Written request from the Coin Club: 
 
The Waterloo-Cedar Falls Coin Club is requesting permission to place promotional signing for 
our upcoming Annual Coin Show. 
 
This year our Show will be held at the Galagher-Bluedorn Performing Arts Center on the UNI 
Campus, Sunday, 24 March from 9 AM to 3 PM and as always it is free to attend. 
Signs would be placed at the following locations Saturday evening 3/23 before the Show and 
picked up 3/24 immediately after: University Ave. and Main Street, Hudson Road and 
University Ave., Hudson Road and 27th Street. 
 
This year the show will feature a collaboration with the University of Northern Iowa History 
Department and a presentation “Mythology and Coinage” and will feature examples of 
coinage dating back to the Fifth Centuy B.C. There will be activities for the kids and hobbyists 
of all ages will find something to pique their interest. 
 
Our Club appreciates the support we’ve received in years past and hope we’ll be able to post 
our signs once again.  
 
Thank you, 
Mark Cooper, Club President 
Member Club of the ANA and INA 

85

Item 10.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  4600 SOUTH MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Laudick and City Councilmembers 

From:  Craig Berte, Public Safety Services Director 

  Mark Howard, Police Chief 

Date:  January 29, 2024 

Re:  Retail Alcohol License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for retail alcohol licenses. We find no records that would 
prohibit these licenses and recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Hy-Vee Fast and Fresh, 6527 University Avenue, Class B retail alcohol - renewal. 

b) College Square Cinema, 6301 University Avenue, Special Class C retail alcohol - renewal. 

c) Panther Lounge, 210 East 18th Street, Class C retail alcohol - renewal. 

d) Bani's, 2128 College Street, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 

e) Happy's Wine & Spirits, 5925 University Avenue, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 

f) Thunder Ridge Ampride, 2425 Whitetail Drive, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 

86

Item 11.



 MAYOR DANIEL LAUDICK 

  
 CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA   
 220 CLAY STREET | CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

 PHONE: 319-273-8600 

 www.cedarfalls.com 
 

 
 

         FROM: Mayor Daniel Laudick 

               TO:  Cedar Falls City Council 

           DATE: January 30, 2024 

     SUBJECT: City Council Meeting Procedures Changes 

              REF: CFD 1121: City Council Procedures 

1. I am enclosing my recommendation for several changes to the CFD 1121: City Council 

Procedures. These changes reflect what I believe will help to improve the effectiveness of 

our City Council meetings. 

 

2. This includes two changes, specifically: 

 

a. Section 6. Standing and Special Committees: Removed the various department-

specific standing committees (aside from the Administrative Committee), and 

established the mayor as the chairperson of the committees.  The goal is to bring 

committee discussions back under the Committee of the Whole going forward with 

the mayor as chair. 

 

b. Section 8. Council Referrals: Changed the wording of section 8.2 to read that 

referrals must be submitted in writing ahead of time instead of the current wording 

of should. Per section 8.4 of the policy, however, Council will still have the ability to 

request a Pressing Referral, allowing for any last-minute referrals to be made on 

timely matters that couldn’t be submitted in writing ahead of time. I believe this 

provides a good balance of allowing us to address matters on a timely basis while 

also sticking to the practice of submitting sufficient information in advance so that 

Council has time to review and effectively discuss referrals during the meeting. 

 

3. If you have any questions regarding the changes, please don’t hesitate to let me know. 

 

 Xc:  City Administrator 

  City Clerk 

   City Attorney 

 

### 87

Item 13.

http://www.cedarfalls.com/


CFD 1121.22b – City Council Meeting Procedures CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 1 of 13 

 

  
 

CFD 1121: City Council Meeting Procedures 
Approved November 7, 2022 by the Cedar Falls City Council 

PURPOSE: 

The Cedar Falls City Council operates under the authority of state law (Iowa Code Chapter 372) and 
has established these special rules to ensure the orderly conduct of the council’s business during its 
meetings. The mayor and committee chairs shall be responsible for enforcing these rules. All 
members are encouraged to familiarize themselves with the standing rules, to aid in their proper use, 
and to suggest improvements as may be needed from time to time. 

PROCEDURE: 

1. GENERAL RULES 

1.1. Definitions. In this text, “member” shall be defined as any member of the Cedar Falls City 
Council. “All members” shall be defined as the seven City Council seats, whether or not the 
seat is vacant. “A two-thirds majority” shall mean at least five of seven members. 

1.2. Scope of rules. These rules shall govern the conduct of the mayor and members and shall be 
interpreted to ensure fair and open deliberations and decision-making as required by the Iowa 
Open Meetings Law (Iowa Code Chapter 21). 

1.3. Applicability of rules. These rules shall apply to the council when meeting in regular council 
meetings, in committee, and during council work sessions. Presiding officers will endeavor to 
fairly apply these rules; nonetheless, nonconformance with any part of these rules shall not 
affect the legality of any action of the council. 

1.4. Reference to and applicability of Robert’s Rules of Order. The Cedar Falls City Council has 
adopted Robert’s Rules of Order, Newly Revised (RONR), Twelfth Edition, as its underlying 
parliamentary procedure. In cases not provided for by the Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances, or 
not specifically provided for in these City Council Meeting Procedures, Robert’s Rules of Order 
shall prevail. 

1.5. Consent required to suspend or amend the rules. These rules may be temporarily 
suspended by consent of three-fourths of the members present, but shall not be repealed, 
altered or amended unless by concurrence of two-thirds of all the members (see RONR 25:14). 

1.6. Matters not covered. Any matter of order or procedure not covered by these rules shall be 
referred to the presiding officer, who shall decide the matter with the assistance and advice of 
the city attorney in conformity with the purpose of these rules in a fair and expeditious manner.  

1.7. Council prevalence in meeting decisions.  Any determination by a presiding officer may be 
reversed by a majority of all members. 

1.8. Interpretation. These rules supplement and shall be interpreted to conform to the statutes of 
the State of Iowa and the ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls.   

88

Item 13.



CFD 1121.22b – City Council Meeting Procedures CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 2 of 13 

 

  
 

1.9. Duty to vote; conflict of interest. Each member who is present when a question is stated by 
the presiding officer shall vote thereon unless directly interested in the question, in which case 
the member shall abstain from voting. When any member refuses to vote when not excused, 
the member’s vote shall be recorded in the negative. (See RONR 45.4)   

1.10. Informational requests. During the consideration of any matter, or in the course of a hearing, 
members may request and receive information, explanations or the opinions of the mayor, city 
administrator, city attorney, city clerk, department director, or their designee. 

2. TIME AND PLACE OF MEETING 

2.1. Regular meetings. Regular meetings of the Cedar Falls City Council shall be held the first and 
third Monday of each month at 7:00 P.M. in the City Hall Council Chambers, except when 
Monday falls on a legal holiday, then the meeting shall be held at the regular hour on the next 
succeeding day not a holiday; provided, however, council may, by resolution, reschedule any 
regular meeting to another date and time, or may cancel a meeting. All hearings shall be 
scheduled for 7:00 P.M. the day of a regular meeting (City Code Sec. 2-45(a)). 

2.2. Special meetings. Special meetings may be called by the mayor or by any four or more 
members who separately file a special meeting request with the city clerk. Such request shall 
include the proposed agenda item(s) for the special meeting. As with regular meetings, the 
agenda for the special meeting shall specify the day, hour and subject of the meeting and shall 
be posted in City Hall and notice given to the media at least 24 hours in advance. 

2.3. Quorum. A majority of all members shall constitute a quorum for transaction of business (see 
Iowa Code 372.13.1). 

2.4. Remote attendance. Members may attend City Council meetings via remote means, as long 
as a quorum (4 members) is present in person. Members attending remotely shall provide 
advance notice to the City Clerk by noon on the business day prior to the meetings, unless 
unexpected circumstances arise. If members participate via video conference, it is preferred 
that members have their cameras on and remain visible throughout the meeting. Unless 
otherwise approved by the mayor, the presiding officer of council and committee meetings 
must be in physical attendance at the meeting. 

3. MEETING AGENDA 

3.1. Preparation of agenda. Prior to each regular council meeting the city clerk shall prepare an 
agenda that contains all items the council anticipates acting upon at the meeting. The order of 
business shall be as follows: 

a. Roll Call 
b. Pledge of Allegiance (led by presiding officer) 
c. Approval of Minutes 
d. Agenda Revisions 
e. Special Presentations (if necessary) 

89

Item 13.



CFD 1121.22b – City Council Meeting Procedures CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 3 of 13 

 

  
 

f. Public Forum (5 minutes maximum per speaker) 
g. Staff Updates 
h. Special Order of Business (primarily public and quasi-adjudicative hearings and related 

actions) 
i. Old Business 
j. New Business: 

1. Consent Calendar 
2. Resolution Calendar 
3. New ordinances that do not require public hearings 

k. Bills and Claims 
l. Council Updates and Announcements 
m. Council Referrals 
n. Executive Session (if necessary) 
o. Adjournment 

 
3.2. Consent and Resolution Calendars. In preparing an agenda, the city clerk shall separately 

designate items as Consent Calendar or Resolution Calendar, which may be acted upon by the 
council under Rules 5.16 and 5.17. These items shall consist of routine non-controversial items 
that in the city clerk's determination can be appropriately considered in bulk at the council 
meeting or a listing of resolutions which are subject to council action on that date. (see RONR 
41:32) 

3.3. Agenda deadline. Any member, the city administrator, city attorney, city clerk, or department 
director, with the mayor's approval, may have an item included upon the agenda by requesting 
the city clerk to include the item by 5:00 P.M. on the Monday one week prior to the council 
meeting. Items requested or filed after this time shall not be included upon the agenda unless 
the mayor deems the item of sufficient urgency to warrant immediate council action. 

3.4. Published agenda. Agendas and meeting materials shall be made available to the public at 
5:00 P.M. on the Wednesday preceding the council meeting via web link on the City website. 
Members will receive a printed copy of the council packet upon request. 

3.5. Mayor withdrawal of items. The mayor may withdraw any item prior to the council meeting, 
but in withdrawing the item shall state to the council the reason therefore. An item withdrawn by 
the mayor may nonetheless, in the discretion of the council, be acted upon in its regular order. 

3.6. Council action to defer, continue or not act. A member may not withdraw any item prior to 
the start of council meetings, provided however, a member wishing council to defer action or 
continue an item may move to continue, defer or not act on any item considered before any 
other action which council may consider. 

3.7. Public agenda requests. Anyone from the public may request to have an item placed on the 
agenda by filing such request in writing with the mayor prior to 5:00 P.M. on the Monday one 
week prior to the regular council meeting. The mayor may either grant the request by placing it 
on the next agenda or deny the request for stated reasons, conveyed to the requester. Anyone 
may utilize the Public Forum portion of the meeting agenda to raise any issue not on the formal 
agenda, which issue shall then be governed by the rules set forth in Part 10 of these rules. 

90

Item 13.



CFD 1121.22b – City Council Meeting Procedures CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 4 of 13 

 

  
 

4. CONDUCT OF MEETINGS 

4.1. Presiding officer. The mayor, or in the mayor's absence or incapacity the mayor pro tem, shall 
be the presiding officer at all council meetings. If both the mayor and mayor pro tem are 
absent, the most senior member in terms of council service shall preside.  

4.2. Control of discussion. The presiding officer shall control discussion of the council on each 
agenda item to assure full participation in accordance with these rules. (See RONR §43; 
47:19). 

4.3. Roll call. Before proceeding with the business of the council, committee, or work session, the 
city clerk shall call the roll of members present and enter those names in the minutes. The city 
clerk shall determine the presence of a quorum as required by law and these rules. 

4.4. Presiding officer to decide question of priority of business. A question relating to the 
priority of business shall be decided by the presiding officer without debate.   

4.5. Order of consideration of agenda. Except as otherwise provided in these rules, each agenda 
item shall be considered in the numerical order assigned by the city clerk. Each agenda item 
shall be separately announced by the presiding officer, or city clerk, for purposes of discussion 
and consideration. To announce an item, it shall be sufficient to identify the item by the number 
assigned by the city clerk, unless greater specificity is requested by some person in 
attendance. This rule shall not apply to consideration of items under Rule 5.16 or Rule 5.17. 

4.6. Speaking on questions restricted. No member shall speak more than twice on one question 
before the council without leave of the council, nor more than once in any case until every 
member choosing to speak shall have spoken. 

4.7. Motions to be seconded; when to be written. No motion shall be put or debated unless 
seconded. When a motion is seconded, it shall be stated by the presiding officer before debate 
and every motion shall be reduced to writing if required by the presiding officer or any member. 

4.8. Gaining the floor. Every member, previous to speaking, shall address the presiding officer, 
and say, “Mister / Madam Chair” and shall not proceed with remarks until recognized and 
named by the presiding officer. 

4.9. Order required while others are speaking. While a member is speaking, no other member 
shall hold any private discourse or interrupt except as allowed for a Point of Order (Rule 4.15) 
and Point of Privilege (Rule 4.16). 

4.10. Order required when question is being put. While the presiding officer is putting the 
question, no one shall walk across or out of the council chambers.   

4.11. Discussion. A member shall speak only after being recognized by the presiding officer. A 
member recognized for a specific purpose shall limit remarks to that purpose. A member, after 
being recognized, shall not be interrupted except by the presiding officer to enforce these rules. 

4.12. Limit on remarks. Each member shall limit remarks to a reasonable length. 

91

Item 13.



CFD 1121.22b – City Council Meeting Procedures CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 5 of 13 

 

  
 

4.13. Presiding officer's right to enter into discussion. The presiding officer may enter into any 
discussion. 

4.14. Closing debate. Discussion, including public participation, shall be closed on any item by the 
presiding officer with the concurrence of a majority of members. Except as provided by Rule 
5.8, a call for the vote shall not close discussion if any member of the council still wishes to be 
heard or the presiding officer determines the continued participation of the public will be helpful 
to the council. 

4.15. Bringing a Point of Order. At any time during a meeting, a member may interrupt to declare a 
“Point of Order” to address a perceived discrepancy or a violation of these rules. The presiding 
officer shall determine the best action based on the point made, without debate. 

4.16. Bringing a Point of Privilege. At any time during a meeting, a member may interrupt to 
declare a “Point of Privilege” to address an urgent matter relating to the rights of the members 
or the assembly, including ability to hear speakers and room comfort. The presiding officer 
shall determine the best action based on the point made, without debate. 

4.17. Calling member to order; appeal. A member called to order while speaking at a council 
meeting shall immediately cease speaking unless permitted to explain. If there is no appeal, 
the decision of the presiding officer shall be conclusive, but if the member appeals the decision 
of the chair, the council shall decide the question without debate. 

5. COUNCIL ACTION 

5.1. Motions. At any appropriate place on the agenda, any member may make a motion for the 
council to act upon any matter if the motion is relevant to the matter under consideration.  

5.2. Motion required. All action requiring a vote shall be first moved by a member and seconded 
by another member. 

5.3. Consideration out of agenda order. With the consent of the council, any agenda item may be 
considered out of its listed order on the agenda at the request of a member. 

5.4. Recording names of moving members. The city clerk shall record the name of the member 
making each motion and second. 

5.5. No motions by presiding officer. The presiding officer may suggest a motion, but may not 
make a motion. A member acting as presiding officer may second a motion. 

5.6. Majority vote required for adoption. No resolution or ordinance shall be adopted without a 
concurrence of a majority of all of the members of the council by call of the ayes and nays that 
shall be recorded. Passage of a motion requires a majority vote of a quorum of the council. As 
used in this section, “all of the members” refers to all of the seats of the council including a 
vacant seat and a seat where the member is absent, but does not include a seat where the 
member declines to vote by reason of a conflict of interest.  

92

Item 13.



CFD 1121.22b – City Council Meeting Procedures CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 6 of 13 

 

  
 

5.7. Preferential motions. 

a. When a question is under debate the only motions in order shall be: 

 First To adjourn. 
 Second To call the previous question. 
 Third To lay on the table. 
 Fourth To postpone to a certain time. 
 Fifth To adjourn to a certain day. 
 Sixth To refer. 
 Seventh To amend. 
   

b. Such motions shall be given precedence in the order herein arranged, the first three (3) 
to be decided without debate. 

5.8. Calling the previous question. When a member desires to cease debate and to vote on the 
pending question, the member shall request the floor and state: “I move to call the previous 
question.” If seconded, then the council shall then vote, without debate, on whether to call the 
question. If carried by a two-thirds majority of members present, all proposed amendments and 
all further motions, debates and public participation shall be excluded, and the original motion 
shall immediately be voted on. 

5.9. Debate of motions to table, amendment. A motion to lay a question on the table simply is not 
debatable, but a motion to lay on the table and publish, or with any other condition, is subject to 
amendment and debate.  

5.10. Motions postponed to a certain time. When a motion is postponed to a certain time, the 
proposed date shall be specified as part of the motion.  

5.11. Precedence of motions to refer to committee. A motion to refer to a standing committee 
shall take precedence over a similar motion for a special committee. 

5.12. Motions to amend. Amendments shall be governed by the following: 

a. A motion to amend an amendment shall be in order, but a motion to amend an 
amendment to an amendment shall not be entertained. 

b. An amendment modifying the intention of a motion shall be in order, but an amendment 
relating to a different subject shall not be in order. 

c. Motions to strike and insert. On a motion to strike out and insert, the paragraph to be 
amended shall first be read as it stands, then the words proposed to be struck out and 
those to be inserted, and finally the paragraph as it would stand if so amended. 

5.13. Withdrawal of a motion. After a motion or resolution is stated by the presiding officer, it shall 
be deemed to be in the possession of the council, but may be withdrawn at any time before 
decision by the original mover by stating “Mister/Madam Chair, I ask permission to withdraw 
the motion”.  If any amendment has been proposed or adopted, the main motion shall not be 

93

Item 13.



CFD 1121.22b – City Council Meeting Procedures CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 7 of 13 

 

  
 

withdrawn without the consent of the mover of such amendment. (See RONR 33:11) 

5.14. Division of question containing distinct propositions. If a question in debate contains 
several distinct propositions, any member may have the same divided prior to the vote thereon 
when the sense of it requires such division.(See RONR §27) 

5.15. Separate consideration. Except as otherwise allowed by these rules, each agenda item shall 
be voted upon separately and shall be recorded by the city clerk.  

5.16. Action on Consent Calendar. Items on the Consent Calendar shall be acted upon by voice 
vote in a single motion without separate discussion, unless the presiding officer, a member, or 
the public requests that a specific item be considered separately.  

5.17. Action on Resolution Calendar. Items on the Resolution Calendar shall be acted upon by roll 
call vote in a single motion without separate discussion, unless the presiding officer, a member, 
or the public requests that a specific item be considered separately. 

5.18. Announcement of Items in the Consent and Resolution Calendars. Items in the consent 
and resolution calendars may be announced by having the full titles read, summarized, or by 
stating the number assigned to the item by the city clerk. Any item in the Consent Calendar or 
Resolution Calendar which is pulled for separate consideration shall have its full title read aloud 
by the presiding officer prior to entertaining a motion and a second on the measure. 

5.19. Recording of Resolution Calendar votes. The city clerk shall record the yes and no votes on 
each resolution calendar item separately as if each item had been moved and voted upon 
separately. Rule 4.5 shall not apply here. 

5.20. Action on multiple items. With the consent of a majority of the council, Rule 5.15 
notwithstanding, the council may consider for voting purposes more than one item, but in such 
event the vote upon each item will be separately recorded by the city clerk noting specific yes 
or no votes of each member on each item. 

5.21. Public hearings. Any other rule to the contrary notwithstanding, unless required by statute or 
necessary to conform to proceedings required for a special purpose, a hearing shall commence 
when declared open by the presiding officer and shall close when closed by the presiding 
officer or by other formal action of the council. 

5.22. When motions may be reconsidered; renewal of motion. A motion may be reconsidered at 
any time during the same meeting at which the motion was made, or at the first meeting held 
thereafter. A motion for reconsideration, being once made and decided in the negative, shall 
not be renewed before the next meeting.  (See RONR 37:9) 

5.23. Who may move to reconsider. A motion to reconsider must be made and seconded by 
members who voted on the prevailing side, or by those who were absent and did not vote upon 
the motion to be reconsidered (See RONR 37.10) 

5.24. Reconsideration when member is absent.  Rule 5.23 notwithstanding, when less than seven 
members are in attendance at a meeting and an agenda item fails to receive a majority of 

94

Item 13.



CFD 1121.22b – City Council Meeting Procedures CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 8 of 13 

 

  
 

affirmative or negative votes of those in attendance, then the agenda item shall, upon the 
request of any member in attendance at the meeting, be placed by the city clerk on the agenda 
for the next council meeting, and continued thereafter upon the agenda for subsequent 
meetings until it shall receive a majority of affirmative or negative votes of those in attendance. 
An ordinance continued under this rule shall not be considered to have been read or 
considered for its first or any subsequent passage until it receives four affirmative votes. 

5.25. Council Updates and Announcements.  Members may use this time during a Council 
meeting to ask for updates from staff on projects or issues and to make announcements to the 
public and to council on civic matters. The presiding officer shall ensure that such discussion 
remains in compliance with the Iowa Open Meetings Law (Iowa Code Chapter 21); as a 
safeguard, no motions will be entertained at this time.  Matters requiring deliberation by council 
for final action shall instead be submitted for inclusion on a future regular council or committee 
meeting agenda to ensure transparency and public participation. 

5.26. When motion to adjourn is in order. A motion to adjourn the council shall be in order except: 

a. When a member is in possession of the floor. 
b. While the members are voting. 
c. When adjournment was the last preceding motion. 
d. When it is decided that the previous question shall be taken. 

5.27. Amendment, debate of motions to adjourn. A motion to adjourn simply cannot be amended, 
but a motion to adjourn to a given time is open to debate.  (see RONR §21). 

6. STANDING AND SPECIAL COMMITTEES 

6.1. Purpose of committees.  Except for the Administration Committee, cCommittees exist to 
allow members to consider certain topics in detail prior to final consideration in the regular 
council meeting.   

6.2. Powers of committees. Except for the Administration Committee, cCommittees are only 
empowered to make recommendations to the City Council; all final actions pertaining to a 
referred item must be determined by the City Council at a regular or special meeting called for 
that purpose. (see RONR §50) 

6.3. Referral by council or mayor. Committees may receive referrals through an approved referral 
request as described in Part 8 of these rules, or as determined by the mayor.  

6.4. Standing committees. The following shall be the Council’s standing committees: 

a. Administration. 
b. Committee of the WholeFinance & Business Operations. 
c. Public Safety. 
d. Public Works. 
e. Community Development. 
f. Committee of the Whole. 

6.5. Appointment of committee members. All standing committees shall be appointed by the 
mayor annually at the first regular meeting of the council in January of each year, or as soon 

95

Item 13.



CFD 1121.22b – City Council Meeting Procedures CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 9 of 13 

 

  
 

thereafter as practicable. Special committees shall be appointed by the mayor unless otherwise 
directed by the council. The first person named on each committee shall be the chair. 

6.6. Absence of committee chair.  In the absence of the committee chair, the Mayor Pro-Tem 
may preside if such action is approved by the designated chair or by the mayor. 

6.7.6.6.Number of committee members. The standing committees of the council shall consist of all 
seven members. All special committees shall consist of five members each, unless some other 
number is specified by the council. 

6.8.6.7.Motion to recommend; continuance.  After any presentations and initial discussion, 
members may move to recommend a course of action to the City Council; this will typically be a 
recommendation for council approval or disapproval of a certain action or resolution.  Members 
may also move to continue the discussion in a future committee meeting prior to making a 
recommendation to the City Council. 

6.9.6.8.Procedure for committees to report. Standing and special committees of the council to 
whom referrals are made shall report the state of facts and the committee’s recommendation 
through the approved committee minutes unless another form of report is specified by the 
council.  

6.9. Acceptance of final report discharges special committees. On the acceptance of a final 
report from a special committee of the council, the committee shall be considered discharged 
without a vote, unless otherwise ordered. 

6.10. Mayor shall preside at all committee meetings.  The mayor shall serve as presiding officer 
at all committee meetings but shall not vote.  The mayor pro tem shall serve as presiding 
officer in the absence of the mayor.  If both the mayor and mayor pro tem are absent, the most 
senior member in terms of council service shall preside. 

6.10.6.11.Administration Committee; referral to Committee of the Whole.  The Administration 
Committee shall serve as appellate body as required in the Code of Ordinances and as 
provided in City policies and procedures.  All other standing committee items shall be referred 
to the Committee of the Whole. 

7. ORDINANCE ADOPTION 

7.1. Ordinances to be presented in writing. All ordinances shall be presented in writing before 
being considered by the council. 

7.2. Consideration and passage of ordinances. Ordinances must be considered and voted upon 
for passage at three separate council meetings, unless this requirement is suspended by a 
recorded vote of not less than three-fourths of all of the members of the council. 

7.3. Procedure for passage of ordinances. The following procedure shall be followed by the 
council in the passage of all ordinances: 

a. A motion to pass the ordinance upon its first consideration or a motion to suspend the 
rules requiring ordinances to be considered at three (3) separate council meetings. 

96

Item 13.



CFD 1121.22b – City Council Meeting Procedures CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 10 of 13 

 

  
 

b. In the event the ordinance is passed upon its first consideration, the ordinance shall be 
given the second and third considerations either in adjourned meetings of the meeting 
of its passage on first reading, or at some following special or regular meetings of the 
council.  

c. In the event that a motion to suspend the rules has passed, a motion shall be made to 
adopt the ordinance upon its third and final consideration. 

d. Upon the passage of the third and final consideration of the ordinance, the mayor shall 
declare the ordinance duly passed and adopted.   

7.4. Contents of amendments to ordinances. An amendment to an ordinance must specifically 
repeal the ordinance, or the section, subsection, paragraph, or subpart to be amended, and 
must set forth the ordinance, section, subsection, paragraph, or subpart as amended. 

8. COUNCIL REFERRALS 

8.1. Referral initiation. During the Council Referrals portion of a regular council meeting, any 
member may move to refer any topic or question to a council standing committee, city board or 
commission, or to staff for further consideration, using the process outlined in Rules 8.2 and 
8.4. 

8.2. Council referrals presented in writing. Except for the pressing circumstances in Rule 8.4, all 
council referral requests mustshould be provided to the City Clerk in writing no later than 5:00 
pm on the Monday prior to the next regular council meeting. The request should contain 
sufficient information to enable the council to determine if the request merits referral to a 
council standing committee, a city board or commission, or to staff for further consideration. 

8.3. Referral discussion. Upon a motion and second, the council may choose to discuss the 
referral in question. The presiding officer shall ensure that the deliberation is focused on the 
desirability of referral approval, rather than the merits of the proposed initiative.  

8.4. Moving a pressing referral. In some cases, a council agenda item or other discussion may 
necessitate an immediate referral to committee without the prior documentation or notice to the 
council as required by Rule 8.2. In these instances, a member may move a pressing referral.  

8.5. Validity of a pressing referral. The presiding officer shall determine the validity of a pressing 
referral. Referrals not deemed pressing shall be ruled out of order by the presiding officer. This 
determination may be overruled by a majority vote of all members per Rule 1.7. 

8.6. Referrals at work sessions. In addition to the above processes, the City Council may directly 
refer topics to committee via consensus during a work session.  

8.7. Withdrawal of referrals. The requesting member may withdraw a requested referral from the 
council agenda at any time. 

9. COUNCIL WORK SESSIONS 

97

Item 13.



CFD 1121.22b – City Council Meeting Procedures CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 11 of 13 

 

  
 

9.1. Purpose of work sessions. From time to time the mayor or city council may direct that a work 
session be held for informal study and discussion of a topic prior to formal council action.  
Additionally, a work session may be used to facilitate a meeting between the Cedar Falls City 
Council and other entities. 

9.2. Session agenda. Work sessions shall be preceded by a published agenda, which shall include 
the meeting location and time, in accordance with all applicable provisions of the Iowa Open 
Meetings Law (Iowa Code Chapter 21). 

9.3. Parliamentary procedure not applicable. Unlike council meetings and committee meetings, 
council work sessions are not required to follow the regimentation of parliamentary procedure.   

9.4. Direction to staff by consensus. No votes shall be taken at a work session, but council 
consensus shall be gauged in order to provide direction to staff for further staff action. 

9.5. No final action during work sessions. In no case shall a work session consensus be 
construed as a final council decision for action.  Each action consented to during a work 
session shall then be placed on the agenda for a future council meeting, committee meeting, or 
work session (as appropriate) for further consideration. 

9.6. Mayor and/or facilitator responsibilities. The mayor or a trained expert shall serve as the 
work session facilitator to ensure that the council has sufficient information and guidance to 
develop a consensus (if needed) on the topic at hand.  

9.7. Public participation in work sessions. The public is encouraged to observe the deliberations 
of the council during work sessions, but public comment will not be solicited or allowed during 
these meetings. 

9.8. Recording work sessions. All work sessions shall be recorded. 

  

98

Item 13.



CFD 1121.22b – City Council Meeting Procedures CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 12 of 13 

 

  
 

10. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

10.1. General considerations. 

a. Identification of the speaker. Any person desiring to speak in Public Forum or public 
comment shall first be recognized by the presiding officer and then shall step to the 
podium, state their name, address, and group affiliation (if any) for the public record, and 
will speak clearly into the microphone. 

b. Speakers to address the presiding officer. Speakers shall be required to direct their 
comments to the presiding officer only, and not to individual members or staff. (See 
RONR 43:22).  

10.2. Public comment during public hearings and on agenda items.  

a. While an item is being considered for action at a council or committee meeting, the public 
will be granted an opportunity to comment prior to a vote by the members. 

b. Speakers shall be limited to speaking once, for up to five minutes, unless additional time 
is granted by the presiding officer or by motion and approval of a two-thirds majority of 
members. The presiding officer will advise the speaker when one minute remains.  

c. Total speaker input on any subject under consideration can be limited to a fixed period by 
the presiding officer. A majority vote of the council may extend the time limitations of this 
rule. (See RONR 43:16) 

d. Speaker comments must remain civil and be directed to the subject under consideration. 
The presiding officer shall rule on the relevance of speaker comments. Speakers making 
comments that could be construed to be obscene, integral to illegal conduct, inciting 
imminent lawless action, threatening or slanderous remarks towards another party shall 
be ruled out of order and barred by the presiding officer from further comment at the 
current meeting. (See RONR 9:29) 

10.3. Speaking during public forum.  

a. Applicability. Anyone may address the presiding officer during the Public Forum 
segment of the agenda, regarding any issue not on the agenda. The topic must be related 
to City operations or business, as determined by the presiding officer. No formal action on 
the subject presented by the speaker may be taken by the council, other than a referral to 
City staff or a council committee or placement on an upcoming council agenda, in 
accordance with State law. The presiding officer may seek information from city staff in 
response to comments or questions by the public.  

b. Time limit. Speakers shall be limited to speaking once, for up to five minutes, unless 
additional time is granted by the presiding officer or by motion and approval of a two-
thirds majority of members. The presiding officer will advise the speaker when one minute 
remains. 

99

Item 13.



CFD 1121.22b – City Council Meeting Procedures CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 13 of 13 

 

  
 

c. Campaigning prohibited. Public Forum is not to be used as a platform to promote 
individuals running for elected office or ballot measures at any governmental level. Such 
conduct will result in the speaker being barred from further comment at the current 
meeting. Campaign materials for specific candidates, political parties or ballot measures 
at any governmental level are also prohibited from display to ensure good order during 
council meetings. 

10.4. City employees not to speak on employment matters. Employees and collective bargaining 
groups will not be recognized to speak about employment-related issues to avoid violating 
adopted policies, collective bargaining agreements and State and Federal law. 

10.5. Visual aids. Any visual aids that a speaker desires to have displayed in public forum during 
public comment must be submitted to the City Clerk by 10:00 a.m. on the day of the Council 
meeting for the presiding officer’s review and approval.  

10.6. Recording. The public may use cameras or recording devices at any open council session. 
The presiding officer may make and enforce reasonable rules for the conduct of council 
meetings to assure those meetings are orderly, and free from interference or interruption by 
spectators. (See Iowa Code 21.7) 

10.7. Written communications.  

a. On any matters before the city council, the public may choose to submit comments in 
writing (whether in letter or e-mail form). This communication should be directed to the 
City Clerk for inclusion in the council packet by e-mailing cityclerk@cedarfalls.com, by 
dropping the correspondence off at City Hall (attn.: City Clerk) or by mailing it to City 
Clerk, Cedar Falls City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613.  

b. Any public correspondence sent to the City Clerk regarding council agenda items will 
become a public record.  

c. Correspondence arriving before 5 pm on the Monday before the council meeting will be 
included in the council packet for mayor, council and public consideration.  

d. Members of the public who file written communications may also make verbal comments 
at the meeting, per Rules 10.2 and 10.3 above. 

ADOPTED /  AMENDED:  1/28/91, 4/03, 10/06, 12/13, 9/15/14, 10/6/14, 3/7/16, 3/6/17, 4/3/17, 
4/16/18, 2/1/21, 5/3/21, 8/16/21, 5/2/22, 8/1/22, 11/07/22 

 

 

100

Item 13.



DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M
Human Resources Division

 TO: Mayor Laudick and City Council Members 

 FROM: Brenda Balvanz, Human Resources Specialist 

 DATE: January 25, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Courier Advertising Agreement Renewal 

 
Attached is an Advertising Agreement renewal for your review and approval to continue to 
minimize recruitment advertising dollars spent by the City with The Courier for both print 
and digital advertisements. Please note that the 2023 Employment Advertising Rates page 
will be effective for the duration of the February 1, 2024-January 31, 2025, Agreement. 
 
If you have questions regarding the attached, feel free to contact me at 319-268-5112, 
Bailey Schindel at 319-268-5531, or Jennifer Rodenbeck at 319-268-5108. 
 
 
Attachment 

101

Item 14.



Page 1 of 4 

 

 

 
 P.O. BOX 540, WATERLOO, IA 50704 

ADVERTISING AGREEMENT 

 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is made as of January 22, 2024 between Lee Enterprises, Incorporated d/b/a Courier Communications, the 

"Publisher", and The City of Cedar Falls, the “Advertiser.” 

 

TERM This Agreement will begin on February 1, 2024 and end on January 31, 2025. This Agreement may not be terminated or 

cancelled by the Advertiser prior to the end of its term except for the reasons specified in Sections 1 and 14 of the Terms and 

Conditions listed below. 

VOLUME AGREEMENT The Advertiser will purchase at least $27,500 of total advertising before the end of the term. 

 

Product/Program Rate Details 

Courier Print Ads 2.75 PCI Four, 2x5 (3.23”x 5”) Print ads to run each Month in The Courier.                    
($178 per Month + creative) 

Courier Digital 
Impressions 

$25CPM 30,000 Monthly High Impact impressions on WCFcourier.com                        
($750 per Month + creative) 

Targeted Display Amplified 
Digital 

Client will run a Monthly targeted display Ad with 54,167 estimated Impressions 
per Month ($650 per month + Creative) 

Pay-Per-Click Amplified 
Digital 

Client will receive Monthly PPC campaign with keywords to target job seekers 
($700 per Month) 

Employment Products See 
Advertising 
Agreement 
Additional 
Details 
Section 

Any employment products purchased and used during the contract agreement will 
be used to fulfill the contracted amount 

Creative Charges May 
Apply to any Ad Change 

Dependent 
upon size, 

$19.95 

Creative services are available. Changes/edits made to a previously published 
print and/or digital ad or new build will incur creative charges. 

 

 
Additional Details: ________________________________________________________________________________________ 

_______________________________________________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Unless stated otherwise on the rate card or special program flyer for specific advertising, all advertising dollars apply towards 
fulfillment of contract with the exception of commercial printing and subscriptions. 
 

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 
1.  Rates.  All advertising purchased will be at the rates and on the terms indicated on this Agreement, or on Publisher’s current rate cards which are 
incorporated into this Agreement if no rate is indicated. This Agreement will control if there is a conflict between a rate card and this Agreement. Publisher 
reserves the right to change the rate or advertising terms listed on any rate card upon prior notice to Advertiser. Advertiser agrees to be bound by the new 
rates or terms unless Advertiser notifies Publisher in writing of its intent to cancel the remainder of the term of this Agreement within thirty (30) days after 
receiving notice of any change. Cancellation under this provision shall be effective as of the effective date of the new rates or terms and shall be without 
liability for failure to meet the volume advertising requirement. 

Account Number- 60000188 

 

102

Item 14.



Page 2 of 4 

 

2.  Contract Fulfillment.  Except as set forth in section 1 above, if, at the end of the term of this Agreement, Advertiser has placed less advertising than stated 
above or in any Addendum: (a) Advertiser forfeits the right to place any additional advertising under this Agreement; and (b) the Agreement will be re-rated 
to the best earned rate set forth on the rate cards and Advertiser agrees to pay Publisher for all advertising published or distributed the difference between 
the best earned rate based on Advertiser’s actual volume during the term and the rate granted based on the volume advertising  requirement.  Any 
adjustments or credits applied to Advertiser’s bill will not reduce the volume advertising requirement.  Cancellations, changes of insertion dates, and/or 
corrections must conform to published deadlines.  Advertisements may only relate to Advertiser's business, and neither rights nor obligations hereunder may 
be assigned to unaffiliated parties. 
3.  Payment.  Advertiser will pay the total amount owed to Publisher within the time period indicated on Publisher’s statement.  All statement disputes with 
Publisher must be identified by Advertiser to Publisher in writing by the statement’s due date, or Advertiser agrees that the statement is correct. 
4.  Termination by Publisher.  Publisher may reject any advertising order and/or immediately terminate this Agreement upon notice to Advertiser for any of 
the following reasons:  (a) if Advertiser fails to make payment by the date specified in Publisher’s invoice; (b) if Advertiser fails to perform any obligations of 
this Agreement; (c) if a petition in bankruptcy or for reorganization under the bankruptcy or insolvency laws is filed against Advertiser; (d) if Advertiser ceases 
doing business or Publisher believes Advertiser is likely to cease doing business; or (e) in the opinion of Publisher, the credit of Advertiser is impaired.  If this 
Agreement is terminated for any of these reasons, Advertiser will remain liable for the lesser of the short rate or volume advertising requirement. 
5.  Indemnification.  Advertiser represents and warrants that it owns or licenses all rights necessary in any content supplied by or through Advertiser for the  
publication, distribution, and other uses anticipated or permitted under this Agreement. Advertiser and/or advertising agency signatory to this Agreement  
agrees to hold Publisher harmless and indemnify Publisher from any and all claims, suits, damages, and expenses of any nature whatsoever, including  
attorney’s fees, for which Publisher may become liable because of (a) Publisher’s distribution or publication of Advertiser’s advertising; (b) any content  
provided by or through Advertiser, or (c) Advertiser’s unauthorized publication or distribution of advertising owned by Publisher. 
6.  Production Errors.  Advertiser may not claim a breach, terminate or cancel this Agreement if advertising copy is incorrect or contains errors of any kind, or 
because of a failure to publish, insert, or disseminate any advertising nor is Publisher liable to Advertiser for any loss or damage that results there from.  
Publisher agrees to run corrective advertising for that portion of the first publication, insertion, or dissemination which may have been rendered valueless by 
error, unless such error arose after the advertisement had been confirmed by Advertiser or Advertiser submitted the advertisement after deadline.  Any 
claim for adjustment due to errors must be made within the time period stated on the applicable rate card or, if none, within thirty-six (36) hours after 
dissemination.  Credit for errors in advertising will not exceed the cost of the space occupied by such error, and will not exceed the percentage of incorrect 
preprint or digital advertising delivered or viewed.  On multiple insertions, credit for errors will not be given after the first insertion.  Publisher shall not be 
liable for any monetary claim or consequential damages arising from error in advertising.  Preprint insert quantities orders are based on circulation 
projections and are subject to change based on actual circulation figures the date of publication.  Circulation numbers are variable and Publisher is not liable 
for changes at the time of actual insertion.  Insertion projects include a five (5%) percent spoilage factor.  Publisher considers insertions in good standing at 
ninety-five (95%) percent of the billed quantity reflected on Advertiser’s insertion order. 
7.  Advertising Agencies.  Any advertising agency who places advertisements and receives statements for its customer is acting as an agent for Advertiser.  
Agency agrees to be jointly and severally liable with Advertiser for any amount required to be paid to Publisher under this Agreement.  Except as set forth 
above, advertising agency and Advertiser remain fully responsible for all obligations and liabilities under this Agreement.  All disclaimers contained in 
advertising agency insertion orders or contracts as “agency for “are void and superseded by this Agreement. 
8.  Ownership.  Each party owns all advertising copy which represents the creative effort of that party and/or utilization of creativity, illustration, labor, 
composition or material furnished by it including all copyrights.  Neither party may use in any manner, nor allow third parties to use in any manner, 
advertising copy owned by the other party in any other advertising medium without the owning party’s written consent. 
9.  Taxes.  Advertiser is responsible for payment of all federal, state and local taxes imposed on the printing, publication or dissemination of advertising 
material or on the sale of advertising placed by Advertiser. 
10.  Brokered Advertising.  Publisher does not accept local brokered advertising. 
11.  Assignment.  Advertiser may not assign its advertising space or this Agreement to third parties. 
12.  Advertising Content.  Publisher may reject or edit at any time any of Advertiser’s advertising.  All advertising positions are at the option of Publisher, 
unless a particular position is purchased by Advertiser.  Failure to meet position requests will not constitute cause for adjustment, refund, rerun, termination 
or cancellation of the Agreement. 
13.  Compliance with Fair Housing Act and Other Laws.  The federal Fair Housing Act prohibits advertisements that indicate any preference, limitation, or 
discrimination because of race, color, religion, sex, disability, familial status, or national origin.  Advertiser agrees to comply with the Fair Housing Act, as well 
as all federal, state, and local laws. 
14.  Excusable Delays.  Publisher will not be liable for any damages related to delay or inability to perform due to causes beyond its control.  Publisher’s 
performance of its obligations under this Agreement will be suspended during such a delay or inability to perform and will not constitute a breach of this 
Agreement.  Advertiser may terminate this Agreement if Publisher’s delay or inability to perform lasts more than thirty (30) days. 
15.  No Waiver.  Publisher’s failure to insist upon the performance by Advertiser of any term or condition of this Agreement or to exercise any of Publisher’s 
rights under this Agreement will not result in any waiver of Publisher’s rights or Advertiser’s obligations in the future. 
16.  Miscellaneous.  In the event of litigation relating to performance of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover all expense, 
including reasonable attorney fees, court costs and costs of collection. This Agreement will be governed by the laws of the state in which Publisher is doing 
business, and all actions to enforce or interpret this Agreement must be brought in said state. All covenants and agreements of the parties made in this 
Agreement will survive termination or expiration of this Agreement. This Agreement, any Addendums, and Publisher’s current rate cards constitute the 
entire agreement between the parties and supersede any prior agreements relating to the subject matter of this Agreement. This Agreement may only be 
amended in writing signed by both parties.. 
 

            Addendum(s) to this Agreement have been attached and are labeled as follows:  

     ADDENDUM to #5: Indemnification: The city will indemnify Newspaper only to the extent authorized by Article VII, Section 1, of 

the Iowa Constitution and Chapter 670 of the code of Iowa 

ADDENDUM to #9:  Taxes: Both parties acknowledge that the City is exempt from paying taxes as a governmental agency. 

103

Item 14.



Page 3 of 4 

 

PUBLISHER AND ADVERTISER HAVE READ AND AGREE TO THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT AND 

ANY ADDENDUM(S) REFERENCED ABOVE. 

 
ADVERTISER    LEE ENTERPRISES, INCORPORATED  ADVERTISING AGENCY (if applicable) 
           (Jointly & severally responsible see Sections 5 & 7) 
By _____________________________   By _____________________________ By _____________________________ 
            Ad Manager            
                _____________________________ 
       ________________________________                  Print Name 
Company Name      Print Name/Title          _____________________________ 
                  Title 

                _____________________________ 
________________________________   ________________________________      Company Name  

                Address 
Billing Address      ________________________________      _____________________________ 
       Publisher Signature         _____________________________ 
                _____________________________ 
________________________________   ________________________________ 
________________________________   ________________________________ 
       ________________________________ 
Local Address 
________________________________   Salesperson______________________ 
________________________________ 
 

  New _______   Renew_______ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

104

Item 14.



Page 4 of 4 

 

 
 
 

ADVERTISING AGREEMENT ADDITIONAL DETAILS 

 
 

. 

 

Product/Program Rate Details 

Jobcase MaxRecruit 
Postings 

$200  The listed rate is indicative of purchasing 30 MaxRecruit Gold postings in bulk.  
Billing for this product is upfront based on volume of postings purchased at once. 

Jobcase MaxRecruit 
Postings 

$190 The listed rate is indicative of purchasing 50 MaxRecruit Gold postings in bulk.  
Billing for this product is upfront based on volume of postings purchased at once. 

 
Unless stated otherwise on the rate card or special program flyer for specific advertising, all advertising dollars apply towards 
fulfillment of contract with the exception of commercial printing and subscriptions. 
 
 
 
 

105

Item 14.



2023 Employment Advertising Rates 1 Phone: 319-291-1494 2023 Employment Advertising Rates 2 Phone: 319-291-1494

2023 EMPLOYMENT ADVERTISING | EFFECTIVE 1.1.2023

CONTRACT ADVERTISER DEADLINES
Once Column Ads  .................. Tuesday thru Friday - 2:00 pm Day Before

 .................. Sunday and Monday - 2:00 pm Friday

*Artworks must be in department by 12 Noon on the day prior to publication.

MULTIPLE COLUMN
AD TO RUN COPY DEADLINE
Monday ................................................................................. 1:00 pm Friday

Tuesday ................................................................................2:00 pm Monday

Wednesday ..........................................................................2:00 pm Tuesday

Thursday ........................................................................ 2:00 pm Wednesday

Friday ................................................................................ 2:00 pm Thursday

Sunday .................................................................................. 2:00 pm Friday

CANCELLATIONS: Notification must be given by 3:00 pm preceding publications. 
A charge will be made if ad has already been set. 

REPEAT RATES AVAILABLE/ 
MULTIPLE COLUMNS
*All ads repeated within the calendar week day will be discounted
on the following basis:

2nd 3rd & 4th 5th & 6th
6 to 20 Inches ................. 25% ........................30% .......................... 35%
21 to 60 Inches ............... 35% ........................40% .......................... 45%
91 to 119 Inches ............. 45% ........................50% .......................... 55%
Full Page ......................... 50% ........................60% .......................... 70%

Repeat ad discount for sign contract advertisers only.

MULTIPLE COLUMN ADS:
• Multiple column ad minimum length 2 columns through 5 columns must be at

least same number of inches long as columns wide (Minimum size 2x2).
• Strip ad size 6x2 minimum. These ads will run in classification at the bottom

of the page.
• Free form ads must be in color. Minimum size is 50” and must stay in diagonal

configuration.
• Full reverse ads must be in readable type.
• Not less than 6 point type used in multiple column copy.

ONE COLUMN ADS:
• Agate type for Classified 1 column ads is 7 point. 7 point through 49 point

permitted on 1column ads.
• First word on all liner ads set in CAPS/BOLD.
• All 1 column ads are set directly into our computer system.
• Only 1 size of type is permitted on a line.
• Ads with white space within the body must have white space on top and bottom

of ad.
• Standard border can be put on any size of ad
• One column Classified ads using a logo or illustration must be received in

department by noon prior to day of publication.

COMMISSIONS AND PAYMENT TERMS
Payment Policy: We accept: 

1. Payment for advertising is due at the time of order or upon ad proof approval
except where credit has been extended.

2. Credit application/approval: Any contract advertiser requesting credit will
be asked to complete a credit application. This application will include bank
information and references. Credit approval normally takes approximately one
week.

3. Credit terms: Upon approval of credit application, normal credit terms are:
a. Payment is due upon receipt of bill.
b. Net 15 days from advertiser’s billing date.
c. Unpaid balance over 30 days is subject to a
    1.25% monthly charge. APR equals 15%.

4. Requests for adjustments to bills: Adjustments to bills must be made within
30 days of advertising run date.

5. The Publisher may require cash payment in advance any time the Advertiser
fails to pay for the advertising when due or otherwise violates this agreement.

6. All contract-local rates are non-commissionable.

7. All billings due Publisher must be paid in U.S. dollars.

ADVERTISING CONTRACT
1. A signed contract is required to earn other than open rate. All advertising under 

the terms of The Contract must be for The Advertiser’s business exclusively and is 
for Classified Advertising only. The Contract is not assignable by The Advertiser.

2. All advertising purchase will be at the rates and conditions on the term 
indicated on the Publisher’s current rate cards, as revised from time to time. The 
rate card, its revision and successors shall be part of signed Contract.

3. Dealers or merchants must carry their name in ads offering to buy, sell, rent or 
trade merchandise or property related to their business. They cannot advertise 
as a private individual.

4. Contracts shall be effective for the period stated from the date signed for one 
year. Short term contracts shall automatically renew on the anniversary date 
unless either party gives written notice of termination. If there is no activity on a 
bulk Contract within the first thirty (30) days after the anniversary date it shall 
be automatically terminated.

5. Contract Adjustment - The Courier reserves the right to rebill contract 
advertisers at the appropriate earned contract rate for failure to fulfill original 
contract requirements.

6. The Courier accepts no responsibility in notifying The Advertiser as to the 
amount of space used on The Contract.

EMPLOYMENT SPECIALIST
Jake Lien
319-291-1494
jake.lien@wcfcourier.com

Creative Service Charges may apply to Pickup with Change and New Build ads.

Dollar Volume
$1,800
$3,000
$4,300
$6,500
$8,600
$12,800
$17,000
$20,000
$50,000
$80,000
$120,000

Daily
$55.25
$54.40
$53.55
$52.70
$51.00
$48.45
$46.75
$40.00
$38.25
$34.85
$32.30

Sunday
$63.60
$62.54
$61.48
$60.42
$58.30
$55.12
$53.00
$49.00
$47.70
$43.46
$40.28

EMPLOYMENT OPEN INCH RATE

   $85.00 Weekday

   $120.00 Sunday

COLOR RATES
INCHES FULL COLOR

1” - 3” $50
4” - 12” $100
13” - 30” $200
31” - 60” $280
Over 60” $370

per insert

SPECIAL FEATURES: $4.00 Each
Select one or more from the following options
 Bolding
 Reverse
 Underlining
 Italics
BOX REPLIES:

A blind box number can be assigned by the 
Courier. A $50 charge will be assessed. 
Replies are mailed out daily to the advertiser. A
dealer cannot advertise their merchandise thru a
blind ad.

COLUMN MEASUREMENTS:
1 Column 1.556”
2 Column 3.222”
3 Column 4.889”
4 Column 6.556”
5 Column 8.222”
6 Column 9.889”

** Note: All advertisers will be charged a fee of $39 for Search Boost 
    or $89 for Digital Connect each month an ad runs in addition 
    to the pricing above. 106

Item 14.



RECRUITMENT ADVERTISING SPECIALIST:
Jake Lien

319-291-1494
jake.lien@wcfcourier.com

2023 Rates
EMPLOYMENT ADVERTISING    |    EFFECTIVE 1.1.2023

107

Item 14.



   OFFICE OF THE CITY ADMINISTRATOR 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Laudick and City Council Members 
    
       FROM: Ronald S. Gaines, PE, City Administrator 
 
 DATE: January 30, 2024  
  
 SUBJECT: Lease Amendment 516 South Division Street - MercyOne 
 
 
 
The attached is an Amendment to the Lease Agreement for land located at 516 South 
Division Street. The original lease was effective January 24, 1997, and continued until 
December 31, 2021. In December of 2023 MercyOne staff notified city staff the lease 
agreement expired at the end of 2023 and they would like to extend the agreement.  
 
The attached agreement will extend the Term from January 1, 2022, through December 
31, 2026, with up to two (2) remaining additional terms of five (5) years each. Upon 
execution of this Amendment, Tenant shall pay to Landlord the amount of Fifteen 
Thousand One Hundred Twenty Dollars ($15,120) for payment of rent and interest due 
through December 31, 2023.  
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

108

Item 15.



109

Item 15.



110

Item 15.



 
 
 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

PUBLIC SAFETY – FIRE RESCUE DIVISION 

4600 South Main Street 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

Phone: 319-273-8622 

Fax: 319-268-5196 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

MEMORANDUM 

To: Honorable Mayor Laudick and Cedar Falls City Council 

CC: Craig Berte, Public Safety Director     

From: Chief John Zolondek   

Date:1/24/24  

Re: Vector Solutions-Check It    

 

Vector Solutions-Check it is a simple, web-based tool for organization of assets. This can track 

critical items that have expiration dates. This may include medical supplies, PPE, Glucose 

monitors, truck checks, SCBA checks and inventory. This streamlines daily equipment repairs 

and tracks inventory levels. This will improve equipment functioning and keep it up to date and 

ready to use.   

 

 

I respectfully request that Cedar Falls City Council approve this agreement with Vector 

Solutions.   

111

Item 16.



112

Item 16.



113

Item 16.



114

Item 16.



115

Item 16.



116

Item 16.



117

Item 16.



118

Item 16.



119

Item 16.



120

Item 16.



 MAYOR DANIEL LAUDICK 

  
 CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA   
 220 CLAY STREET | CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

 PHONE: 319-273-8600 

 www.cedarfalls.com 
 

     

     FROM: Mayor Daniel Laudick 

           TO:  Cedar Falls City Council 

       DATE: January 30, 2024 

  SUBJECT: College Hill Vision Plan – Adoption and Staff Referral 

1. I am including the adoption of College Hill Vision Plan on the resolution calendar per the 

request of Councilmember Hawbaker, whom I believe has the support of at least three 

other members to have it on the agenda.   

 

2. Along with the adoption resolution, Councilmember Hawbaker has also submitted a 

written referral for staff to bring back to Council a plan to move forward with the College 

Hill Vision Plan recommendations, with a specific focus on areas 1, 2, and 3 of the plan 

(see the referrals section of the Council Meeting agenda). This would be a presentation 

to Council at a following Committee meeting to outline the proposed next steps that 

staff would take on the plan. 

 

3. If you have any questions or clarifications regarding either of these items, please don’t 

hesitate to contact myself or Councilmember Hawbaker as well. 

 

 Xc:  City Administrator 

  City Clerk 

 

### 

 

 

 

121

Item 17.

http://www.cedarfalls.com/


IMAGINE COLLEGE HILL!
Vision Plan

Adopted May 3, 2021

122

Item 17.



This page intentionally left blank.

123

Item 17.



City of Cedar Falls
Mayor Rob Green

City Council Members:
Mark Miller – 1st Ward

Susan deBuhr – 2nd Ward

Daryl Kruse – 3rd Ward

Simon Harding – 4th Ward

Frank Darrah – 5th Ward

Kelly Dunn – At Large

Dave Sires – At Large

Staff Advisory Committee:
Ron Gaines – City Administrator

Stephanie Houk Sheetz – Director of 

Community Development

Karen Howard – Planning & Community 

Services Manager

Michelle Pezley – Planner III

Special Thanks to:
The College Hill Partnership

The University of Northern Iowa
Consultant Design Team 

Ferrell Madden 
Geoff Ferrell 
Mary Madden 

Community ReCode
Elizabeth Garvin

Common Ground 
Keith Covington 

Partners for Economic Solutions
Anita Morrison

Kittelson & Associates 
Wade Walker

Falango Design Studio
Justin Falango 

Urban Advantage 
Steve Price 

Zanetta Illustration
JJ Zanetta

OHM Advisors
Ramon Fischer

CONTENTS     
Executive Summary       1

Project Introduction       7

Analysis       11 

Virtual Charrette:
Public Visioning Workshop    25

Imagine College Hill Framework: 
Urban Design Basics     29

“Big Ideas” – Community Aspirations  30

Missing Middle Housing         32 
 

Understanding Character Areas      35
  

Frontage Types          38 
   
The Vision:      43

Illustrative Projects      45
 

Making the Vision a Reality   58  
 

Next Steps           59

Appendix       61

   

Acknowledgments

124

Item 17.



125

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

1

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
INTRODUCTION

College Hill is one of the older, more diverse, and densely populated areas within Cedar Falls. It is dominated by the 
University of Northern Iowa (UNI), related student-oriented businesses, and housing. The neighborhoods surrounding 
UNI were primarily developed from the late-nineteenth century through the mid-twentieth century, with ongoing infill 
and redevelopment up until the present day. Over the past few decades, there have been ongoing community discussions 
about the importance of stabilizing and revitalizing the area, resulting in the 1993 College Hill Neighborhood Plan, the 
creation of the College Hill Partnership, and the College Hill Overlay District.

Despite these efforts, there remains a feeling that College Hill could be better. It is one of the primary gateways 
to UNI with the potential to be a vibrant entertainment district and neighborhood main street for the surrounding 
areas. However, student housing has continued to creep outward from the campus and heart of College Hill into the 
neighborhoods.  Residents are concerned that, with more and more houses becoming student rentals, the neighborhood 
will be destabilized and prompt disinvestment in the area. There is something of a “chicken and egg” situation for 
College Hill—it requires more residents, including more students, to support a wider variety of local businesses and it 
requires more and different types of businesses to attract the local neighbors who have options elsewhere in Cedar Falls 
for spending their discretionary dollars.

Proximity to the University creates a variety of “town and gown” issues and opportunities. While students are the 
life-blood of the area, they can also cause concerns for the surrounding neighborhoods: parking, rental housing, 
student-oriented businesses. How do you balance the needs and desires of permanent Cedar Falls residents with 
those of students, who will only reside on the Hill for a few years? How best to promote a walkable area, while 
accommodating car storage? Students want to be near campus, but they also want easy access to a car when needed. 
New(er) development demands higher rents—existing houses that have been converted to apartments keep rents low. 
Some people who might want to live in a College Hill neighborhood are put off by the “student party house” vibe. 
Where should student housing end and traditional neighborhoods begin? Are the City’s rental permit program and code 
enforcement the (only) answers? The community wants redevelopment and revitalization, but the demand for new 
commercial space (office or retail) is limited—current parking requirements, in particular, make the development of 
new residential units on small lots difficult, and push rental rates for new units to the highest price points. In addition 
to the above, some recent redevelopment proposals have gotten bogged down with debates concerning the City’s 
implementation of on-site parking requirements.

While within the College Hill Partnership, business owners, property owners, and the University have been talking 
to one another, a unified vision or road map would better insure stakeholders are not working at cross purposes as 
revitalization gets underway. Those meetings, discussions, and efforts culminated in the public planning charrette that 
produced this document: the Imagine College Hill! Vision Plan. (Hereafter, the Imagine College Hill Plan/Project.) The 
plan will provide a general framework for public policy decisions and investment, in tandem with clear aspirations for 
the scale and character of private development in the heart of College Hill and the surrounding neighborhoods, to be 
followed by new objective development standards. Any new zoning code standards or processes should create a level 
playing field for all involved, to produce the desired scale and character of development to implement this plan.

Throughout the College Hill visioning process, the community—elected officials, business and property owners, 
and residents—consistently indicated a desire for a more diverse, economically viable, walkable, mixed-use district, 
surrounded by stable neighborhoods comprised of owners and renters. While College Hill has some similarities with 
Downtown, it is also fundamentally different. Urban design concepts such as placemaking and walkability warrant 
similar approaches in both locations. However, the student demographics and more limited and targeted market create 
different issues (and different opportunities) with different potential solutions. The City and University will play critical 
roles; however, the ability of current business and property owners to participate in the redevelopment process through 

126

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

2

small-scale, incremental infill will be the key to the revitalization of College Hill. In addition, the opportunity to create, 
encourage, and support a true multi-modal district on College Hill should not be missed.

The Imagine College Hill Plan includes: an overview of the planning process; a summary of input gathered from the 
community during kick-off events; consultant team analysis; the “Big Ideas” (the main concepts) from the virtual 
Community Visioning Workshop; prototypical redevelopment scenarios; and recommendations for implementing the 
community vision. 

This plan is graphic intensive, with before and after photo-imaging and drawings of example development projects, 
aiming to help community members visualize change before it occurs. It envisions incremental growth within the current 
College Hill context, recognizing that UNI enrollment in combination with market conditions will greatly influence the 
rate with which redevelopment occurs. 

Although this plan document is organized around the visioning process, individual issues, prospective “what if” design 
scenarios, and approaches to implementation, all are interrelated and should be viewed holistically. Urban design 
and revitalization issues are multifaceted. Achieving the vision will take place over a number of years, and require 
multiple tools and approaches, frequently used in conjunction with one another. The implementation tools used—policy, 
regulatory, and financial—should be coordinated to reinforce the overarching vision. 

VISIONING PROCESS AND PLAN RECOMMENDATIONS
In the early winter of 2020, the consultant team conducted stakeholder interviews, a kick-off community event, and 
began site analysis of the study area.  However, due to COVID-19, the plans for a Spring 2020 Community Hands-On 
Visioning Workshop were put on hold. After adapting to life in a pandemic, the public outreach and engagement were 
rethought and moved to a virtual process in the Fall of 2020. The following plan is the result of that visioning process.

In addition to the site analysis and current zoning, the team reviewed the recent College Hill parking study, and studied 
the current demographics and market information for the College Hill study area, with a focus on student housing and 
retail and commercial opportunities. All of this information was used to test development scenarios that were informed 
by ideas from the community in the virtual public design workshop, against the development and market realities within 
the College Hill context, and to establish a framework for future growth and development. 

The Imagine College Hill Plan anticipates the public and private sector (and University) working together—with the 
public sector “setting the table” for growth through investment in the public realm and establishing rules to provide 
certainty for the private sector to invest, (re)develop, and intensify the business district, fulfilling the community vision 
for the Heart of the Hill. Simultaneously, the Plan includes specific ideas for stabilizing the surrounding neighborhoods, 
with emphasis on maintaining and improving the existing context with limited direct intervention.

The Plan addresses several topics and includes recommendations for creating a vibrant, mixed-use, walkable district 
with improved connectivity to the neighborhoods and Downtown. These can broadly be identified as either matters 
of physical design and placemaking; or technical policy and management issues, to help implement or reinforce the 
community vision. Some topics fall into both categories and many are interrelated.  These design concepts and policy 
recommendations include the following.

Build on the work of the College Hill Partnership. Explore opportunities to create synergy between businesses, 
neighborhoods, the University, and the City. The College Hill Partnership and Community Main Street should continue 
to look for opportunities to coordinate.

Define the public realm with active building facades, improved sidewalks, and additional street trees. 
Development regulations should foster buildings that define and enhance the public realm—typically the public streets 
and sidewalks (from building face to building face) as well as the parks and plaza (and the future greenway along Dry 
Run Creek). The uses inside the buildings can and will change over time; but buildings that are designed for an urban 
context and made of durable materials, will continually be reused, just as some buildings near College and 23rd Streets 

127

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

3

have been for close to 100 years. This will be especially important for “reconnecting the Upper and Lower Hill” which 
was one of the most consistent ideas heard during the College Hill virtual charrette.

Ensure that future street and sidewalk rebuilding enhances walkability. The existing street and block network 
is mostly a great framework for people to move in and around College Hill efficiently. The mega-block between 22nd, 
20th, College, and Merner Streets is a central exception. The eventual extension and completion of the grid should be 
logically approached and incorporate environmental solutions for Dry Run Creek. The targeted public investment in the 
pedestrian realm will make walking a more viable transportation option and encourage more reinvestment by current 
property owners as well as new infill development. This effort should include the planting of street trees throughout 
the district. The importance of street trees cannot be overestimated. Not only do they provide shade and assist with 
stormwater runoff, they help to define the pedestrian realm, increase pedestrian comfort, and calm traffic. In addition, in 
a generally built-out condition such as College Hill, with limited opportunity to create new public green space, streets 
should be celebrated as the preeminent public space that they are.

Support a multi-modal environment.  Right-size the streets to enhance the walking and biking environment. 
Improve the pedestrian comfort and safety by widening sidewalks, providing viable street tree plantings, and enhancing 
street crossings with targeted ‘bump outs’ at key intersections, and reduce crossing distances with appropriate 
neighborhood lane widths and posted speeds.

Understand the market—particularly as it relates to student housing, new construction, and parking—
to leverage opportunities for growth on College Hill and to stabilize the surrounding neighborhoods. 
College Hill demographics have remained fairly consistent for several decades; both the youth and high number of 
non-family households are unique in the city. The future of the study area is inherently intertwined with the student 
enrollment at UNI. Increasing the number of students living in closer proximity to the campus can free up opportunities 
for more diverse (renter and owner) households in the nearby neighborhoods. This, in turn, can create opportunities for 
new and more varied businesses on the Hill, while also relieving pressure on the surrounding neighborhoods to convert 
more houses to rental properties targeted to students. (Owner occupants and long-term renters provide more stability in a 
neighborhood than students who typically move every year.) College Hill can support a walkable “car free” environment 
for individuals who choose that lifestyle—or for households that only have one car (rather than two or more.) Current 
parking requirements limit the amount of student housing that can be accommodated near campus, both driving up the 
cost of new construction and increasing the cost of the existing supply of nearby rental housing.

Create gateways to College Hill to provide a sense of arrival. Consider key locations, such as the intersections 
of Main Street and Seerley Boulevard, 18th and College Streets, and along the University Avenue corridor. Gateways 
are much stronger when the streetscape and built environment work together to narrow the perceived roadway width 
and slow traffic, signaling that people are entering a special place—one designed for people rather than cars. Much more 
than simple directional signage (The University of Northern Iowa with an arrow and distance) true gateways convey a 
character and create a welcoming environment for pedestrians and cyclists alike. 

Explore opportunities for new/improved public spaces.  The pandemic has highlighted the importance of 
flexible outdoor gathering places—now and for the future—whether “green” or hardscape, or for active or passive uses. 
Such spaces are important for the community and can support a range of retail and dining options as well as special 
events and activities, at different times of the day, the week, and the year. 

Adjust the rules for development (and parking). The context analysis included a review of the current zoning 
and development review process. The general sense during the virtual public process was that any new development in 
the neighborhoods should respect the scale and character of the existing context, promote more owner-occupancy and 
non-student rental opportunities.  The city should continue with code enforcement (particularly for rental properties.) 
However, the desire for more intense student housing near campus will require some changes for current development 
standards.  The current development and parking standards create a mismatch between cost of construction and return 
on investment. The parking cannot be provided at the ratio currently required to achieve aspirational densities without 
building structured parking (either above or below grade), which then makes new construction cost prohibitive—leaving 

128

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

4

rundown rental properties in place. This plan illustrates ways to achieve context-sensitive infill in the neighborhoods, 
while permitting redevelopment in the Heart of College Hill that can accommodate both more intensity and the variety 
of uses currently allowed. 

Recognize that College Hill (and nearby neighborhoods) play a unique role—both urbanistically and 
socio-economically—within Cedar Falls and warrant a targeted approach. The rules and procedures for 
development should reinforce placemaking concepts at the street and block level, rather than on an isolated parcel-
by-parcel basis, so that in the future, College Hill becomes an asset for the City and University alike. These areas are 
not just comprised of individual buildings on individual lots, but rather buildings that relate to one another, and to the 
streets, sidewalks and create public spaces throughout the district.  In addition, the area currently includes a variety of 
housing forms that can be expanded to include “missing middle” types under new development standards. The nearby 
neighborhoods, in particular,  could and should continue to accommodate diverse households within a walkable distance 
of a mixed-use neighborhood center. Build on the inherent town and gown synergy to create a thriving college town and 
neighborhood “main street.”

Create a better process for development review and approval. Establish more consistent, objective design and 
development standards and use refined zoning requirements as one tool in a new approach to redevelopment and parking 
management within the College Hill study area. 

Establish a true bicycle network. The community would like to make bicycling easier. As the City invests in street 
rebuilding and pedestrian infrastructure, it should consider improved wayfinding and bicycle infrastructure to move 
beyond the current “patchwork” and enable cycling to be a true transportation option for a range of skill levels. The City 
has a grid street pattern in this area that is bike-friendly—short blocks with low traffic volumes. This plan envisions 
enhancing that pattern by designating a network of bikeways—complementing and in support of the 2020-21 update 
to the Cedar Falls Bicycle Plan (which was originally published in 2009)—to truly connect disparate areas of the City, 
especially College Hill, Downtown, the river trails, and the neighborhoods.

Coordinate parking supply management. The College Hill parking study provides a wealth of information and 
approaches to managing public parking. This plan builds upon several of those through a lens of placemaking and 
walkability, and recommends updating the current requirements in order to achieve the desired outcomes. Because the 
City and University are not using similar systems or pricing, the City has been providing free or inexpensive parking to 
University students and staff who don’t want to pay for University permits. Parking supply should support a “park once” 
environment and the goals of the Imagine College Hill Plan—not be an end in-and-of itself. 
 

CONCLUSION
The City initiated the visioning process to provide a framework for the future growth of College Hill. The goal of the 
Imagine College Hill Plan is to define that framework—building on community aspirations, and incorporating urban 
design and placemaking principles—within the existing College Hill context. This community vision will also lay the 
foundation for tailoring the City’s new form-based regulations specifically to implement the College Hill vision plan. 
The plan provides illustrations of one or more ways in which development could occur, over time, on specific study area 
sites. Each example addresses one or more of the plan goals and recommendations to achieve the community vision for 
a compact, walkable, mixed-use district. These concepts (and more) are further defined, explored and illustrated through 
“before and after” computer visualizations, photo examples, and drawings in the Imagine College Hill Plan that follows.

129

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

5

This page intentionally left blank.

130

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

6

O
liv

e 
St

C
la

y 
St

W
al

nu
t S

t Tr
em

on
t S

t

W 31st St

CampusSt

O
hio

St

W 27th St

Brookside Dr

Fr
an

kl
in

 S
t

E 12th St

E Seerley Blvd

E 9th St

W isc
onsin

St

B
lu

ff 
St

D
iv

is
io

n 
St

Laverne Ln

Pa
nt

he
r L

n

Springbrook Dr

W Seerley Blvd

E 20th St

Waterloo Rd

Bergstrom Blvd

Laurel Cir

Columbia Dr

M
erner Ave

He
rit

ag
e

Rd

W 22nd St

E 13th St

In
di

an
a 

St

H
udson R

d

Starview Dr

St
at

e 
St

E 14th St
C

hr
is

ki
n 

R
d

C
at

he
rin

e 
St

Io
w

a 
St

W
as

hi
ng

to
n 

St

M
a i

n
St

C
ol

le
ge

 S
t

Clark Dr

Pe
ar

l S
t

Miss
ou

ri
St

W 19th St

E 15th St

E 10th St

E 11th St

University Ave

W 17th St

W 15th St

W 16th St

W 26th St

W 14th St

Dr
ur

y
Ln

W 9th St

W 10th St

W 13th St

E 16th St

W 20th St

W 11th St

W 21st St

W 18th St

W 12th St

Redeker Dr

G
ro

ve
 S

t

E 22nd St

E 21st St

E 18th St

W 28th St

Colorado Rd

W 29th St

Co
nv

ai
r L

n
Dako

ta
St

W 23rd St

S
M

ain
St

Sp
ru

ce
 H

ill
s 

D
r

Orchard Dr

Oregon Rd

El
le

n 
St

Summit Dr

Ill
in

oi
sS

t

S tarbe ck Cir
S Co urt Dr

Hwy 5
8

Jennings Dr

IStudy Area Map
Visioning & Zoning Code Update
College Hill Cedar Falls, Iowa

131

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

7

BACKGROUND
College Hill is one of the older and most densely populated areas of Cedar Falls. Adjacent to the University of Northern 
Iowa, it has long been a neighborhood with a clear identity, with older homes along tree-lined streets, neighborhood 
parks, and a neighborhood center with local businesses that are oriented toward the neighborhood and university 
community. However, over the past several decades, the area has seen a reduction of owner-occupied houses and a 
related increase in student rentals, with businesses becoming increasingly focused on bars, tattoo parlors, vape shops, 
and quick dining—with less community serving retail. The future of College Hill is closely intertwined with the 
future of UNI. There is some opportunity for gradual growth and reinvestment, based on market forces—but it will be 
very slow without a clear plan for strategic public investment, coordination with the university, and a straightforward 
approach to development review and approval to encourage private (re)investment.

The current development standards and processes were originally established approximately 50 years ago, with 
periodic amendments to address specific situations—such as the College Hill Overlay District, created to protect and 
enhance the character of the College Hill business district and stabilize the immediately adjacent neighborhoods. The 
overlay was one of several recommendations from the 1993 College Hill Neighborhood Plan. The overlay and other 
aspects of the plan have seen some success, but after almost three decades, it is time to review the plan and revisit the 
implementation, with an eye towards developing new strategies through the lens of the current economic, environmental 
and social context. In particular, the community desired a more holistic, fine grained approach to direct and incentivize 
redevelopment for a walkable, mixed-use district such as College Hill and further stabilize the nearby neighborhoods. 
The City initiated the Imagine College Hill Project—a public visioning process and a zoning code update to implement 
the new vision plan—to build on the City’s recent Imagine Downtown! effort.

The College Hill Study Area generally includes all of the non-University property south of 12th Street and north of 
University Avenue; west of Main Street and east of Hudson Road; along with some residential areas south of University 
Avenue between Hudson Road and Main Street; and a small area east of Main Street between 18th Street and Seerley 
Boulevard. The current zoning includes areas of  C-1, C-2, and C-3 (which permit retail, office, professional services, 
lodging, and several other commercial uses); R-3 and R-4, (which permit “medium density” residential uses along with 
some office, professional service, and lodging); and R-1 and R-2 (which permits single-family homes and duplexes). 
(See the aerial on p. 6.) The Imagine College Hill Plan is the result of the public process for envisioning the future of 
this area.

THE PROCESS
Prior to a public kick-off event in January 2020, the City Council established project priorities (highlighted on the next 
page) to provide a guiding framework for the public outreach, virtual design charrette, and plan that follow.

The visioning process began in the winter of 2020. The City reached out to community members, announcing the 
Imagine College Hill project and encouraging public involvement, with direct mail to all business owners, property 
owners, and residential addresses within the study area. In addition, working with the College Hill Partnership, posters 
and fliers were distributed to all College Hill businesses for display in shopfront windows and on store counters. 
The consultant team conducted a series of stakeholder interviews with a range of groups, including: business and 
property owners; the College Hill Partnership Board; residential landlords; realtors; neighborhood groups; UNI 
administrators; and student leaders (who lived both on and off campus.) The team began analyzing the project study 
area to understand the historic and recent development patterns on College Hill. The team also led an evening public 

PROJECT INTRODUCTION 
The Imagine College Hill Project is an interdisciplinary, multi-month public process 
to engage the community in the development of a vision for the future of College 
Hill, and update the city’s development regulations to implement that vision. 

132

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

8

kick-off event, with the goal of encouraging broad public involvement, at the University of Northern Iowa Center for 
Energy and Environmental Education to engage the community on topics related to placemaking and gather input on 
local perceptions of College Hill and the surrounding neighborhoods. Before and after the kick-off event, the team 
worked off-site by reviewing the existing zoning code, the recently completed parking study, and current economic, 
demographic, and traffic data.

The project has a website (www.OurCedarFalls.com) to provide information and updates, including video of the public 
presentations, as well as to solicit additional community input from individuals who were unable to attend the various 
public events.

Following the initial kick-off activities, the Imagine College Hill project was delayed for several months due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Prior to re-initiating the project, the City once again promoted the effort, with a press release, 
new updated posters and fliers for College Hill businesses, an additional round of direct mail postcards throughout the 
study area, and information included in the UNI e-newsletter. Once restarted, the planned public design charrette was 
converted to a week-long virtual community design workshop the first week in October 2020—with all members of the 
consultant team working off-site in a virtual design studio and all live community engagement meetings being conducted 
via internet streaming, and additional input gathered via the project website. These virtual charrette activities comprised 
the Imagine College Hill! Public Design Charrette: 

•  a Saturday morning public virtual hands-on design workshop in which community members broke into small 
facilitated on-line groups to discuss the College Hill Study Area map, identifying strengths and weaknesses and 
opportunities for the future; 

•  two open “Q&A” sessions during the week, where the public was invited to “drop-in” virtually and hear about 
what the team was working on as well as ask questions; 

•  a web-based survey, targeted to UNI students; and
•  technical meetings to verify that the workshop design ideas would work in the physical and economic context of 

Cedar Falls. 
The virtual charrette was concluded by a public “work-in-progress” presentation the following week, to make sure the 
team understood what the community had said and was on the right track before further developing and refining the 
Imagine College Hill Plan.

Project web page for Our Cedar Falls 

Sign up for Noti-cations! Contact Us Home City of Cedar Falls

Our website uses cookies
Cookies help us to understand how you use our website so that we can provide you with the best experience when you are on our site. To :nd out more, read our
privacy policy and cookie policy.

Manage cookies
Please review and manage the Cookie settings below. Apart from 'Strictly necessary cookies', you can change other cookie settings if present, at any time by
clicking the 'Cookie Settings' link in the footer of the page.

1. 
Strictly necessary cookies:
Necessary for enabling core functionality. The website cannot function properly without these cookies. This cannot be turned off.

I'm OK with that  Manage cookies  Cancel

Search

Mary Madden

Thanks for visiting Our Cedar Falls! Clicking the images below will take you to the desired page.

Imagine College Hill! College Hill Work-In-Progress

College Hill Virtual Design
Charrette is Here!

College Hill Schedule

Key Dates

Oct
14

College Hill Vision Plan -- Work-in-
Progress Presentation

Document Library for Download

Adopted Downtown Vision Plan
File

Kick-off Meeting

The design team spent several days in
Cedar Falls during the week of January
27th, touring the City, engaging the
public, interviewing business owners
and residents, meeting with students,
and simply walking around the College
Hill area. You may have seen them out
and about! 

Getting to work!

Following the Public Kick-off, the team
is continuing to gather and analyze
data, review existing plans and zoning,
and prepare for the College Hill Virtual
Community Design Charrette. 

133

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill!
May 2021

9

Cedar Falls City Council 
College Hill Vision Plan Project Priorities

Adopted January 2020

1. Create a thoughtful vision plan to manage change over time.
	 •		Reflect	on	the	past,	consider	the	present,	look	to	the	future
 •  Respect the unique character and identity of College Hill

 •  Plan for the diversity of people that desire to live and work in the neighborhoods and College  
    Hill area

2. Vision will be based on broad community input, gathered through a robust community 
outreach process.

	 	 •		Affirm	ongoing	community	efforts	and	explore	new	ideas
  •  All are welcome
  •  Feedback is appreciated and essential

	 •		Partner	with	UNI	to	encourage	participation	of	University	stakeholders	–	students,	faculty	and		
				staff,	administrators

3. Take into account market realities and changing demographics for all types of 
development.
•  Future technology needs
•  Future transportation needs
•  Future housing needs  and how that complements our neighborhoods
•		Consider	the	significant	influence	of	UNI

4. Maintain/foster a unique sense of place.
•		Thriving	and	dynamic	mixed-use	business	district
•		Pedestrian-oriented	design	
•		Attractive	interface	with	UNI	campus	to	enhance	visitor	experience

	 •		Residential	neighborhoods	with	a	compatible	mix	of	housing	types	that	meets	the	diverse																						
   needs of the community

5. Encourage economic development based on the adopted vision.
•		Maintain/enhance	existing	properties	
•  Encourage new development and redevelopment that creates a distinctive sense of place
	 •		Encourage	mixed-use	development	that	will	expand	the	customer	base	for	College	Hill				 	
    businesses

6. Foster healthy residential neighborhoods.
 •  Stabilize neighborhoods by fostering a healthy balance of housing for both owners and renters
•  Focus new housing options for college students in areas adjacent to campus
•  Preserve and enhance housing opportunities for long term residents

 •  Create a seamless transition between more urban campus edge areas and residential            
    neighborhoods

7. Establish clear and objective zoning standards to achieve the adopted community vision.

134

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

10 135

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

11

ANALYSIS
Prior to the visioning effort, the team studied College Hill and surrounding 
neighborhoods, including: stakeholder interviews and general public engagement 
to gather local perspectives on the current environment for living, working, 
going to school, and playing in the area; on-site analysis of the built and natural 
environments; analysis of local market conditions and demographics; and review of 
existing policies, regulations, and historic plans specific to College Hill.

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT: UNDERSTANDING HISTORY, CURRENT PERCEPTIONS & ACTIVITIES
Gathering public input and ideas was a priority for the Imagine College Hill Project and Plan. The engagement 
effort included a series of stakeholder interviews, a public kick-off event, several virtual activities, and an interactive 
project website (which grew in importance as a tool for communication and public participation under the pandemic 
restrictions.) The consultant team reviewed the history of the neighborhood and previous plans, to better understand, and 
build on, the good work that has been completed previously. This is a Community Vision—and its very foundation is the 
aspirations of the residents and business owners for the future of their neighborhood.  

Stakeholder Interviews
In the winter of 2020, the consultant team interviewed a broad cross-section of stakeholders, including: business 
and property owners; neighborhood residents; retail, restaurant, and bar owners; University of Northern Iowa (UNI) 
leadership; landlords; UNI student leaders; local developers and real estate professionals; College Hill Partnership board 
members; City public safety, planning and community development staff; and the parking enforcement staff for the city 
and university.

The groups identified several overlapping and consistent 
concerns and interests, although with different priorities,  
including: 

• the importance of continuing the code enforcement 
and landlord accountability programs;

• the need to keep the student population close to 
campus and the College Hill business district; 

• the importance of treating all landlords and property 
owners fairly and consistently; 

• the desire for more diverse businesses to attract non-
student customers; 

• need to emphasize property maintenance and general 
appearance of streets and buildings serving as the 
“front door” to the University; 

• more/better engagement between students and the 
community;

• the desire to attract more families/non-students to live 
in nearby neighborhoods; 

• improved parking management for streets and City 
lots;

• a desire to improve connections between College Hill 
and Downtown; and

• maintaining a unique identity and character for 
College Hill and nearby (historic) neighborhoods.

136

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

12

Public Kick-Off Event

Approximately 50 community 
members attended the Imagine 
College Hill! Kick-Off Event at the 
University of Northern Iowa CEEE in 
January. Following a welcome by the 
mayor, the consultant team provided 
a project overview and a visual 
introduction to urban design concepts, 
such as placemaking, urban form and 
character, and walkability. 

Before and after the presentation, the 
team used several activities to engage 
participants, promote discussion 
and gather input—to get to know 
the College Hill study area and 
understand some of the issues and 
concerns that the Imagine College Hill 
Vision Plan needed to address. The 
engagement activities included:

• a small group mapping exercise 
(photos at right) with two 
components—first, people marked 
their primary walking and cycling 
routes to and through the study 
area; and second, they identified 
areas of “strength and weakness” 
in the area (those locations 
that they liked or felt need 
improvement) by marking them 
with green and red stickers, and 
provided additional explanatory 
comments, if desired;

• a visual preference exercise, in 
which attendees could “vote” on 
images of buildings, streetscapes, 
and parking, to indicate whether 
they felt the character and scale 
were appropriate for future 
development on College Hill and 
in nearby neighborhoods; and

• a survey about individual interest 
in the visioning project and when, 
how, and why individuals visit 
College Hill.

The mapping exercise revealed 
considerable consistency between 
groups. Although only a snapshot 

137

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

13

of opinions, the visual preference 
exercise revealed several consistent 
community “likes” and “dislikes.” 
Some highlights:

Residential development in adjacent 
neighborhoods
• Preferred – small front yards, 2-3 

stories, with generally traditional 
architectural detailing

• Not preferred – no front yard, 
garages or parking in front, 
continuous repetitive designs

Commercial & mixed-use in the 
College Hill business district
• Preferred – street-oriented 

buildings with shopfronts
• Not preferred – buildings oriented 

toward parking lots

The street-space or public realm (the 
area between the building façade and 
the curbs)
• Preferred – generous sidewalks 

with street trees (both for business 
district and neighborhoods)

• Not preferred – narrow sidewalks, 
lack of street trees, and inactive 
street frontage

Residential in business district
• Preferred – medium-scale, discrete 

individual buildings oriented to 
the street

• Not preferred – larger-scale, 
monolithic designs, oriented 
toward parking

The kick-off survey revealed that 
most participants drive to College 
Hill for work and other activities, 
but they indicate that they would like 
alternative transportation options that 
are either not currently available or 
are perceived unsafe or inconvenient.

Images of the “strength and 
weakness” maps, a tally of the visual 
preference exercise, and the full 
survey results are provided in the 
Appendix.

Cedar Falls, Iowa
College Hill – Public Kick-Off Meeting

January 29, 2020

Visual Preference Results

1 2 43 5

9 10 1187

151413 16 17

21 22 232019

6

12

18

24

BOARD A

Adjacent Neighborhoods 

138

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

14

Site Analysis: Understanding 
the Physical Context
The team drove and walked around 
the entire study area to experience 
the existing physical context, noting 
the character of historic and recent 
development, taking photographs and 
identifying potential (prototypical) 
redevelopment sites.  Street widths, 
traffic patterns, parking locations and 
availability, public open spaces, and 
the existence and health of street trees 
were also examined. 

The team examined the overall 
pedestrian experience based on details 
such as: interesting shopfronts and 
active building facades (or the lack 
thereof); available activities and 
potential destinations; street lights; 
and the absence of wayfinding signage 
for pedestrians or cyclists. 

Several features of particular 
importance were identified: 
• the close proximity of the 

neighborhoods to campus and the 
business district; 

• the fact that there were very few 
vacant shopfronts along College 
Street within the business district;

• the range of property maintenance, 
particularly in proximity to the 
university campus;

•  the historic houses along with 
some more recent examples of 
incompatible infill for the existing 
context—both urban commercial 
and traditional neighborhood 
environment; 

• the gap in the street frontage along 
College Street, from the Upper to 
Lower Hill;

•  the high ratio of surface parking 
lots to building (diagram at right); 

•  the opportunity for using the 
flood control infrastructure as an 
amenity; and

• the proximity to (yet disconnection 
from) the bike trails, the Cedar 
River, and Downtown.

 Studying the Context

139

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

15

Understanding College Hill
The study area includes the area considered the College 
Hill business district along with several of the surrounding 
adjacent neighborhoods. The mixed-use center has a wide 
range of building styles dating from throughout the 20th 
century and more recent. The neighborhoods include many 
historic homes dating from the late 19th century through 
the Second World War, along with more recent infill. 

A section of the Main Street corridor is also included in the 
College Hill study area; however, it seems physically and 
psychologically separate, with a mixture of neighborhood-
serving retail large-scale retail and semi-industrial uses, 
along with a few houses.

While most of the commercial buildings within the core 
of College Hill are street-oriented urban fabric buildings, 
there are a few that stand out due to their auto-orientation. 
Many of the apartment buildings are less successful, 
turning their sides and backs to the street and ignoring the 
existing context. Many older homes have been chopped 
up and converted into student apartments. While they 
maintain the scale and character of the street, they also 
create other problems, such as insufficient parking and 
lack of basic/routine maintenance and upkeep.

Activities on College Hill are dominated by the 
University, but also include a range of eating and drinking 
establishments, some retail, and other student oriented 
businesses such as a laundromat, a copy business, and 
vape shops and tattoo parlors. There is currently little to 
attract people from beyond the university community or 
surrounding neighborhoods. 

140

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

16 141

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

17

Economic and Demographic Context
The economic and market analysis was based on local demographic, tax base, and real estate data in combination with 
stakeholder interviews. Key findings included the following.

College Hill has remained very stable over the past 20 years when measured in terms of population and household 
counts; however, the number of rental properties has increased.  As one would expect, the student population is 
concentrated near the university. That concentration of students, including their location within the overall study area, 
has a definite impact on both the residential and commercial markets within the study area. The dynamic and market 
potential of College Hill moving forward depends heavily on the University of Northern Iowa enrollment.

The extent and pace of new housing development will be gradual, as College Hill can only support small increments 
of new housing, and even that growth will be constrained without adjustments to the current residential parking 
requirements. High on-site parking requirements for apartments and other rental properties dramatically increase the cost 
of development and translates directly to higher rents. New residential development in the core of College Hill is very 
unlikely to occur without a solution to the parking quandary.  Requiring one parking space for every bedroom imposes a 
cost that the market cannot bear.  The densities that can be supported with that level of parking will not justify replacing 
the existing, obsolescent housing that depresses College Hill’s appearance and appeal.

Given the importance of walkability, compact development, and population density to support a healthy neighborhood 
business district, it will be important to pursue alternative approaches to the current residential parking requirements, 
including lower ratios and permitting off-site locations. Additional parking management tools should be considered 
in the future, if needed, to deter students and University commuters from parking in surrounding neighborhoods (to 
avoid paying for City or University parking) or monopolizing the short-term on-street parking that is needed to support 
College Hill businesses. (Parking considerations are discussed further on p. 21.)

Conversion of student housing back into single-family use will not be likely close to campus, but may be possible in the 
neighborhood areas a few blocks away. However, the appeal to non-student buyers or renters will be greatly influenced 
by the overall character and affordability of these nearby neighborhoods. (Students pooling their resources or paying by 
the bedroom are often willing and able to pay more to rent a house than a single family. Providing students with equally 
attractive housing options closer to campus should help to stabilize the nearby neighborhoods with either long-term 
renters or new owner-occupants.)  

Although College Hill businesses are heavily oriented to UNI students, some serve the surrounding neighborhood as 
well, attracting residents during summer months and some early-evening hours. The district needs a bigger retail base 
(of both students and full-time residents living and working nearby) to support a larger number and greater diversity 
of businesses. Simultaneously, more diverse or unique businesses can attract customers from a larger geographic area. 
The size and stability of the business and residential areas typically have a symbiotic relationship.  Retailers would also 
benefit from a seamless connection between the Upper and Lower Hill, creating a continuous walkable retail frontage 
along College Street.

These demographic and market realities have direct implications for the Imagine College Hill Plan.

The full Market Considerations report is provided in the Appendix.

 Market Considerations

142

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

18

MOBILITY ON COLLEGE HILL
College Hill is primed to be one of the preeminent multi-modal neighborhoods in Cedar Falls. It is already compact 
and mixed-use, with an interconnected street network and the University of Northern Iowa students and surrounding 
neighborhoods in proximity to provide the desired foot-traffic. The area can provide a wide range of activities and 
services nearby, with trip origins and destinations in such proximity that active modes of transport such as walking or 
cycling can be more attractive than driving. It should be easy for people to move in and around College Hill safely and 
efficiently without using an automobile—if a person chooses to do so. College Hill should be the neighborhood in Cedar 
Falls where UNI students and other city residents who want to live car-free should be able to—with all of their daily 
needs within a short walking distance.

Getting the design of the streets “right” can mean the difference between a vibrant, walkable, and economically 
successful neighborhood “main street” district and one that motorists simply pass through without any consideration of 
visiting.  (Or one in which people only walk from their car to their destination, and then back to their car for their next 
destination, even if it is only a few blocks away). The goal is to plan and design a place for people, accommodating cars 
but not designing primarily for their use for every trip.  

Pedestrian-oriented, multi-modal districts should give residents and visitors true choices about their mode of travel—
walking, bicycling, ride-sharing, taking transit, and driving. Individuals can choose the mode that is best suited for 
their current trip or activity. Complete Streets principles are a way to make sure that people have those choices. In the 
College Hill study area, there are several guiding principles to support such an environment, both in the core and in the 
surrounding neighborhoods. Although several College Hill streets have been rebuilt in the past decade and are not due 
for additional improvements in the near-term, all future street reconstruction projects in the district should include the 
following ideas. 

Transportation Review

• Right-size streets (number of lanes, lane widths, slow speeds, and 
equitable accessibility for the active modes) based on context to enhance 
the walking and bicycling environment

• Improve sidewalks and fill in gaps—create continuous system for walking 
• Enhance crossings for safety and accessibility: with curb bulb-outs, 

high-visibility markings and active warnings such as Rectangular Rapid 
Flashing Beacons where needed; improve interface between trails and 
streets; and use measures like protected intersections where appropriate

• Implement transit shuttle (like former Panther Shuttle); seek funding 
partnerships when available.  Make transit efficient and reliable

• Implement comprehensive pedestrian and bike network wayfinding for 
destinations and routes (distance and time to popular destinations by 
walking and biking)

• Establish working partnerships with College Hill businesses, residents, 
City, and UNI

Walkability
Walkability depends on several factors, including pedestrian safety, comfort, and interest. While active building frontages
and people-places provide interest, slow-moving traffic with wide sidewalks and short pedestrian crossing distances are
fundamental for safety and comfort.  Perceived safety is particularly important for pedestrians when crossing streets. 
Both vehicular speeds and the distance from curb-to-curb (the time the pedestrian is in the travel lane) effect this 
perception. Reducing the crossing distance by a combination of installing corner bulb-outs and narrowing lanes will 
greatly improve pedestrian safety and comfort.   

Generous sidewalks are the best practice for mixed-use, high foot-traffic areas—15 to 20 feet in a “main street” 
environment, providing enough space for clear passage, street trees, and outdoor dining. Urban sidewalks should be 
understood as a combination of the ‘clear walkway’—the continuous and unimpeded sidewalk width and the ‘tree lawn’ 

Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon

143

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill!
May 2021

19

width, a generally continuous soil trench that can have 
special pavements between the trees that can add 6 feet or 
more to the pedestrian zone width.  

For example, the pedestrian crossing distance on 23rd at 
College Street is more than 39 feet (see Diagram below).  
By reducing the travel lane width and eliminating the 
free-flow right turn lane, that distance could be as little as 
22 feet, almost cutting the crossing distance (and time) in 
half. This would greatly increase pedestrian comfort and 
walkability for one of the highest pedestrian-traffic areas in 
the city. The traffic geometry for the Vision scheme in the 
diagram below proposes narrower travel lanes, bulb-outs, 
and a 25-foot radius at these core intersections. This design 
frees-up space for 14-foot sidewalks along most streets.   

Built-out areas such as College Hill are often physically 
constrained and must balance competing priorities—such 
as on-street parking, street trees, and clear sidewalk 
widths. Street rebuilding that involves relocating curbs is 
expensive. In the short term, trade-offs may be required; 
but when there are opportunities to reconfigure and re-
balance the street-space allocation—such as when streets 
are rebuilt, properties are redeveloped, or zoning standards 
are revised—installing wider sidewalks and corner bulb-
outs should always be a priority. 

Re-purposing two on-street parking spaces to accommodate outdoor dining 

Intersection at 23rd and College Streets: existing pedestrian crossing distance

36

30

29

39

22

22

22

22

 KEY:  Pedestrian Crossing Distances 
in black

 

           Sidewalk Widths in red

DIAGRAM: A comparison of the pedestrian realm dimensions near the intersection of 23rd and College Streets: Existing (left) vs Vision proposed (right)

Reallocating the street-space has multiple benefits, including increasing the sidewalk width to accommodate street trees and activities such as outdoor dining, as 
well as decreasing the distance for pedestrians crossing the street, which improves pedestrian comfort and safety.

144

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

20

Why Rethink College Hill Parking Requirements?

Requiring each future infill residential or redevelopment project to provide all of its parking on-site will work against 
the environment envisioned in the Imagine College Hill Plan for the following reasons. 

• On-site	parking	reduces	the	redevelopment	potential	of	individual	lots—particularly	in	relation	to	intensifying	
student housing close to the UNI campus. (See the Appendix for additional information.) 

• Surface lots limit the developable area and create “dead zones” on the street if poorly located. 

•		 Excessive	on-site	parking	increases	the	cost	of	redevelopment	(and	therefore	the	cost	of	new	units).	

•		 It	is	contrary	to	creating	a	walkable,	“park	once”	environment.	

Bicycles as a Viable Transportation Option
Cedar Falls has a visible and vocal bicycling community 
(as evidenced by both the existing bicycling trails 
and shops, and cyclists’ enthusiastic participation in 
the College Hill visioning process).  However, even 
amongst this group, the comfort and skill level varies. In 
the stakeholder meeting with the Pedestrian & Bicycle 
Committee, different people identified different “preferred 
routes” as the best way to get from the Cedar Valley Trail 
to College Hill and from College Hill to Downtown.  
This is similar to other US cities, which typically have a 
small group of “strong and fearless” bicyclists who will 
ride in almost any environment; but a much larger cohort 
of about 70% of people who fall into the “enthused and 
confident” and “interested but concerned” groups that have 
been proven to ride more with improved facilities and 
infrastructure. Separation from and calming of vehicular 
traffic is key to these users, and right sizing of the streets is 
key to providing that calming.

As one participant stated, today Cedar Falls has “more of a patchwork than a network” for bicycles.  With a connected 
bicycle network comprised of a combination of dedicated facilities and safer streets more conducive to use by this 70%, 
bicycling can be a practical and efficient mode of transportation (rather than just for recreation)—particularly for College 
Hill residents and employees. In addition, while wayfinding on the trails and greenways clearly identifies nearby points 
of interest, the reverse is not true. For the uninitiated cyclist on College Hill, the routes to the trails and Downtown are 
not marked. Such wayfinding is important for visitors and students new to UNI alike.  Completing this patchwork into 
a cohesive network for cycling will require physical modifications to certain streets, augmentation of crossings, and 
comprehensive wayfinding that ties the system together.  

The concepts in this Imagine College Hill Plan and the 2020-21 update to the Cedar Falls Bicycle Plan (which was 
originally published in 2009) should be complementary—most streets in the College Hill study area will remain the 
same, while others may only need designation of a route and wayfinding. A few may be identified for modification, 
such as: protected intersections, crossing enhancements, or separated facilities for pedestrians and cyclists alike through 
“completing the street” by narrowing or reallocating lanes for the active modes. 

From an economic development perspective, cities that invest in cycling infrastructure such as trails, greenways, and 
on-street cycling facilities see reinvestment in the community to tap the visitors using the newly available mode of 
transportation.  Greenville, SC and Travelers Rest, SC have seen significant economic impacts as a result of the Swamp 
Rabbit Trail; the communities in Northwest Arkansas have seen a significant return on the investment in the Razorback 

Protected intersections 
can be used to 
enhance crossing 
for cyclist at larger 
intersections, such as 
Main Street at Seerley 
Boulevard 
(Image Source: 
NACTO Guide)

Wayfinding both from and to bicycle trails

145

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill!
May 2021

21

Regional Greenway; and cities across the country can tie entire neighborhood 
revitalization efforts to physical street and infrastructure changes like complete 
streets that allow people to walk and bike. Such long-term investment in 
“quality of life” infrastructure could assist with stabilizing the College Hill 
neighborhoods.

COLLEGE HILL PARKING
The design team reviewed the recent College Hill Parking Study through 
the lens of urban design and placemaking. While generally in agreement 
with the proposed approach, the team recommends that additional strategies 
be considered, particularly in relation to university and private parking 
management and resources, to better support the goals and vision of the 
Imagine College Hill Plan. 

Within the context of the broader College Hill urban design, mobility, and 
market analysis, and building on the parking management strategies in the 
study, the following should be key implementation priorities to produce the 
desired environment (and parking supply). Unlocking the redevelopment 
potential on College Hill will require managing parking through a multi-
pronged approach, in addition to improving the pedestrian and bicycle 
environment as described above.

•  Revise the current parking standards as part of the zoning update. There are several available 
approaches and tools. Ultimately, the solution to College Hill parking concerns will likely be “both/and” rather than 
“either/or,” as there are a myriad of competing interests for parking within the district. Right-sizing the parking 
requirements, particularly in the heart of College Hill within close proximity to UNI and the business district, is the 
place to start. From a market perspective, the current requirements of one on-site parking space per bedroom simply 
does not pencil out for small-scale redevelopment projects as envisioned for College Hill. Reducing the minimum 
residential requirements within the core character areas—the Heart of the Hill, General College Hill, and University 
Neighborhood (see p. 35 for detailed character area descriptions and locations), while permitting off-site parking 
within a defined distance, should be considered. Developers should be encouraged to help provide such additional 
parking supply, for residents and visitors to College Hill.

•  Coordinate parking management with UNI. The parking fee structures, hours of public availability, and 
enforcement for the city and university parking should be similar. Currently, students and university employees alike 
take advantage of the “free” on-street parking supply in nearby neighborhoods rather than purchase parking permits. 
In addition, as the Imagine College Hill Plan is implemented, consider marketing College Hill as a place where 
students can live car-free and rely on a robust multi-modal system that is convenient, safe, and reliable for the bulk of 
trips that residents need to make in the district.

 
•  Continue to implement the parking study strategies. Set triggers for next steps in the overall strategy and 

monitor the parking supply and demand on an annual basis to be able to proactively address concerns before solutions 
are needed.  Evaluate each step’s effectiveness, and adjust when appropriate, as each strategy is implemented.

•  Consider additional parking management tools in the future, as needed. These might include: a parking 
management district within a defined area close to the campus and business district and a fee-based residential 
parking permit program within the management district, if appropriate. 

146

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

22

 Zoning Review

A zoning code includes a range of tools that can be used to guide development, including: form standards, zone districts, 
use standards, site development standards, and review processes. Each tool plays a specific role in establishing an overall 
development pattern. Making sure the zoning standards are designed to implement the vision, goals, and policies of a 
comprehensive plan is a key step in ensuring the plan’s long-term success. 

The Cedar Falls 2019 Imagine Downtown Vision Plan zoning analysis notes that it will be important for Cedar Falls 
to undertake a more comprehensive and cohesive update to the current zoning code to both ensure that the plan can be 
implemented and, equally important, to ensure that the current regulations will not act as a barrier to the community’s 
preferred development patterns that have been identified in the process of creating the Imagine Downtown Plan.  The 
same analysis will be needed for this Imagine College Hill Plan. The College Hill zoning updates should be able to 
benefit from and be coordinated with the zoning changes made to implement Imagine Downtown.  Key considerations 
should include the following:

1. Use All of the Zoning Tools Available. Even though zoning codes should include a wide range of tools that can 
be mixed and matched in a variety of ways, the current Cedar Falls zoning code is heavily focused on regulating through 
one tool—the individual zone district.  As planning and the community have changed over time, new stand-alone zone 
districts have been created to address the problems of the day. The result of this approach is the creation of new base and 
overlay zone districts that are “layered” on to the existing zoning code. To accommodate the widening range of topics 
addressed by modern zoning, the newer zone districts include regulations that typically would have been addressed 
in another, separate section of the code.  When a new commercial district was created, for example, it would include 
landscaping and sign standards applicable only within that district. The more generally applicable landscaping and 
sign regulations, included in the code outside of the zone districts, have been left to age in place.  The idea behind this 
approach is good; new districts should have updated development standards. The problem, though, is that this approach 
has created multiple “parallel” codes; allowing the “old” regulations to be applied in those locations with “old” zone 
districts while limiting application of the new (and presumably more relevant) standards to the districts in which they’ve 
been drafted. This “siloed” approach to zoning ensures spotty and inconsistent development patterns. It also makes the 
zoning code difficult to navigate, for both the City and code users.

The City needs to create a set of modern, place-based zone districts with an emphasis on scale, form, character, and 
intensity to apply to the College Hill plan area. This should include both new districts and updates to currently applicable 
districts, such as the residential districts surrounding College Hill. Both the new and updated zone districts should be 
linked to generally-applicable, baseline site development standards as well as standards designed expressly for College 
Hill (e.g., parking, landscaping, stormwater, signs). The goal of these revisions would be to reconnect the various 
working parts of the zoning code and, while doing that, eliminating old regulations that are no longer useful. With these 
key pieces in place, the City will have a more highly connected zoning code that is both easier to use and easier to 
effectively amend.
 
2. Create Transitions between the University and Surrounding Neighborhoods. One aspect of College 
Hill that should be considered in the zone district revision process is how to design and regulate the area of transition 
between the more intense UNI and College Hill business district development and the surrounding primarily detached 
residential neighborhoods.  The City’s current residential zone district line up and development standards for R-3 and 
R-4 may need a boost through the creation of new districts and development standards with more emphasis on form and 
character, including parking and landscaping, that are designed to provide a physical transition between the more active 
mixed-use areas and the less intense neighborhoods.

3. Right-Size Use and Development Standards to Create Unique Places.  Older zoning codes are more 
likely to regulate at a very general level, with one set of parking standards or one type of perimeter landscaping 
design.  Codes drafted pre-2000 particularly tend to be more one-size-fits-all and not include a layer of regulatory 
detail that is focused on form, scale, and tailored site design. The current Cedar Falls zoning code attempts to modify 
this approach for College Hill through the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay (CHN). The CHN is a very detailed 
code section that is designed as an overlay (overriding amendment) to at least six underlying base districts, including 

147

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill!
May 2021

23

C-3, P, R-4, R-3, R-2, and R-1. This is a wide range of zone districts with many different purposes, and the CHN is 
a challenging document to navigate.  The regulations incorporated in the CHN might be better addressed, and made 
easier for code users to understand, through updated zone districts that provide more site-tailored regulations including: 
creating a scaled approach to residential access and parking requirements, delineating design standards for that range 
of residential development types that set rules for context sensitive infill/missing middle development forms, and 
linking to proportionate compliance standards that clearly establish when existing development is required to come into 
compliance with current zoning regulations. 

Similar to the Downtown zoning updates, focusing on form and scale is key for the full range of zoning standards in 
the College Hill core. The zoning update needs to synchronize the community aspirations of the Imagine College Hill 
Plan with context-specific regulatory standards that emphasize form, character, and intensity.  The current regulations 
are focused on specific land uses and statistical measurements that are pretty easy to calculate but that do not make the 
connection between the plan preferences and the built environment. Updated districts that regulate form, character, 
and intensity are more holistic, allow the City to review not only individual structures on individual lots, but also the 
relationship between buildings, and between buildings and the public realm including the sidewalk and street. Outside of 
the College Hill core, zoning code updates should also include changes to the traditional residential districts surrounding 
College Hill that incorporate standards to protect the multiple site and structure design choices that reflect the existing 
neighborhood character.

4. Be Specific About Infill Standards.   The zoning code needs to include specific infill standards and processes. 
Infill standards are designed to ensure that the zoning code does not inadvertently make infill development difficult 
or impossible by applying general standards that unique lots cannot accommodate.  If the City wants to encourage 
applicants to take up the challenge of development or redevelopment, it will help to provide clear intent and be very 
specific about where the zoning code can help to fit projects into difficult lots and spaces.  In the context of College 
Hill and the nearby residential neighborhoods, any new development standards should be drafted specifically for a 
redevelopment context, because the study area is built-out. This might include parameters for administratively adjusting 
some requirements—such as dimensional standards, landscaping/tree requirements, and preferred sign types—on a site-
specific basis to address atypical situations.

The overall content of the zoning update for College Hill will build on the approach and format established for 
Downtown. Some initial concepts for new development standards are included in the Character Area and Frontage Type 
sections, beginning on page 34. 

148

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

24

This page intentionally left blank.

149

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

25

VIRTUAL CHARRETTE: 
PUBLIC VISIONING WORKSHOP

The Community Design Charrette was a virtual process working with citizens 
and stakeholders to define a vision for the future of College Hill and nearby 
neighborhoods. The virtual charrette activities included a public hands-on design 
workshop, on-line design team Q&A sessions, video technical meetings, a web-
based student survey, and a work-in-progress presentation.

Envisioning the Future: Working Together to Share Concerns & Aspirations
On Saturday morning, October 3, a group of Cedar Falls residents gathered on-line to discuss College Hill—both their 
perceptions of its current strengths and weaknesses, as well as opportunities for the future.  Despite the limitations of 
meeting virtually, small breakout groups led by a facilitator discussed a series of questions about College Hill, using 
an aerial photo of the study area as a reference and to capture the groups comments and notations. The groups focused 
on topics like walking and bicycling; the natural features; local business; character and scale of existing and potential 
new buildings; opportunity sites for redevelopment; and [connections/the relationship] to Downtown and the Cedar 
River. (The use of the aerial photo maps encouraged people to be specific with their comments and recommendations, 
identifying both problems and opportunities in specific locations.)

After working through current issues and concerns and discussing opportunities for the future, the groups reconvened 
and the facilitators highlighted the major ideas and concepts for the future of College Hill to the entire group.  Although 
there were differences of opinion, several areas of consensus were evident. These points of consensus were studied and 
tested throughout the charrette week and form the foundation of the Imagine College Hill Vision Plan.

Common Topics

preserve 
neighborhoods

walkability & 
sidewalks

street trees & 
natural amenities

retail & dining 
options 

bicycles

150

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

26

Open Design Studio & Technical Meetings  

Refining the Vision
From October 3rd to the 14th, the consultant team worked together off-site in a virtual urban design studio where they 
combined the upfront analysis and the residents’ ideas into a draft College Hill vision plan.  Throughout the charrette, the 
team held a series of technical meetings with landlords and business owners; local developers; the bicycle and pedestrian 
committee; the transit authority; City planning staff; parking management staff from the city and university; University 
of Northern Iowa administrators; the College Hill Partnership; and members of the City Council. 

These sessions provided an opportunity to gather additional information and test the community aspirations against real-
world contingencies such as floodplains and other site constraints, property ownership, and local market and economic 
conditions. The technical considerations informed and shaped potential redevelopment scenarios, built on the residents’ 
ideas—to ensure that the community vision for College Hill is rooted in reality. 

The team explored several redevelopment scenarios, using prototypical parcels and sites within the study area to ensure 
they ‘fit’ within the College Hill context. Hand drawn and computer simulated “before and after” images of these 
development studies will help residents visualize potential change before it occurs.

Additional Virtual Charrette Activities
In order to engage the public throughout the charrette, the team held several other activities. There were two on-line 
Question & Answer sessions, in which people could “drop in” and ask questions about the project and provide additional 
input and opinions. Brief “studio video updates” were posted on each day’s major activities and two “quick polls” about the 
College Hill character areas and appropriate buildings heights were also taken. Last but not least, recognizing the significant 
presence of students living and going to school on College Hill, an on-line survey targeted to UNI students seeking their 
opinions and perspectives on housing, transportation, entertainment, and shopping topics was also completed. (Quick poll 
and student survey results are available in the Appendix.)

The design team working in the virtual studio

151

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

27

 “Big Ideas” 
for College Hill

• Stabilize and enhance 
neighborhoods

• Concentrate & intensify 
student housing near 
campus

• (Re)Connect	lower	and	
upper Hill

• Improve	walkability:	safety,	
connectivity,	comfort

• Increase retail and dining 
options

• Treat natural areas as 
amenities	(add	&	maintain	
street	trees)

• Make biking easier by 
improving connections to 
trails and downtown

• Manage parking better

• Improve Hidden Valley

The Virtual Charrette activities were concluded on October 14 with a “Work-
in-Progress” presentation to the Cedar Falls Planning Commission via video 
conference. The team shared the preliminary work on the Imagine College Hill 
Plan, which was built on community input from both the January community 
kick-off and the week’s Virtual Design Workshop, stakeholder interviews, and 
technical meetings. 

The overview of the work to-date included: the teams’ context and site analysis; 
College Hill mobility with an emphasis on streets, sidewalks, cycling, and 
parking; and the economic and demographic analysis. Highlights included 
several urban design and planning concepts, beginning with the “Big Ideas” 
from the analysis and public visioning effort and including the identification of 
character sub-areas within the study area. The presentation provided numerous 
illustrations of prototypical infill and development scenarios, including before-
and-after simulations of potential redevelopment of real College Hill sites. 
It explored topics such as stable neighborhoods and context-sensitive infill; 
intensifying the compact, mixed-use heart of College Hill; improving the 
pedestrian realm with new retail and dining opportunities; treating Dry Run 
Creek as an amenity; and exploring options for shared parking on College Hill.  

Based on the responses to an on-line survey that was available for over two 
weeks on the project website, almost 85% of the respondents felt the “Work-in-
Progress” presentation was generally on the right track. (Complete exit survey 
results are provided in the Appendix.)

The following pages build on the “Work-in-Progress” presentation with new 
and improved images and additional information that make up the Imagine 
College Hill Vision Plan. 

Work-in-Progress Presentation

152

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

28

O
liv

e 
St

C
la

y 
St

W
al

nu
t S

t Tr
em

on
t S

t

W 31st St

CampusSt

O
hio

St

W 27th St

Brookside Dr

Fr
an

kl
in

 S
t

E 12th St

E Seerley Blvd

E 9th St

W isc
onsin

St

B
lu

ff 
St

D
iv

is
io

n 
St

Laverne Ln

Pa
nt

he
r L

n

Springbrook Dr

W Seerley Blvd

E 20th St

Waterloo Rd

Bergstrom Blvd

Laurel Cir

Columbia Dr

M
erner Ave

He
rit

ag
e

Rd

W 22nd St

E 13th St

In
di

an
a 

St

H
udson R

d

Starview Dr

St
at

e 
St

E 14th St
C

hr
is

ki
n 

R
d

C
at

he
rin

e 
St

Io
w

a 
St

W
as

hi
ng

to
n 

St

M
a i

n
St

C
ol

le
ge

 S
t

Clark Dr

Pe
ar

l S
t

Miss
ou

ri
St

W 19th St

E 15th St

E 10th St

E 11th St

University Ave

W 17th St

W 15th St

W 16th St

W 26th St

W 14th St

Dr
ur

y
Ln

W 9th St

W 10th St

W 13th St

E 16th St

W 20th St

W 11th St

W 21st St

W 18th St

W 12th St

Redeker Dr

G
ro

ve
 S

t

E 22nd St

E 21st St

E 18th St

W 28th St

Colorado Rd

W 29th St

Co
nv

ai
r L

n
Dako

ta
St

W 23rd St

S
M

ain
St

Sp
ru

ce
 H

ill
s 

D
r

Orchard Dr

Oregon Rd

El
le

n 
St

Summit Dr

Ill
in

oi
sS

t

S tarbe ck Cir
S Co urt Dr

Hwy 5
8

Jennings Dr

IStudy Area Map
Visioning & Zoning Code Update
College Hill Cedar Falls, Iowa

153

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

29

IMAGINE COLLEGE HILL FRAMEWORK
In order to translate the “Big Ideas” from the Public Visioning Workshop into a 
conceptual vision plan, it is important to think in physical and place-specific terms 
and incorporate basic urban design concepts. These design concepts, the community 
aspirations, and context analysis provide the vision plan framework and lay a 
foundation for updating the development regulations for the study area.  

URBAN DESIGN BASICS

Placemaking
A term describing the core task of good planning—how to make the ‘place’ that the citizens want. This requires focusing 
on the desired form and character of the built place, rather than the various technical aspects of development regulations.  
The “placemaking” approach leads by asking the question: “what kind of place do we want to live in?” The technical 
questions of how that place can be achieved are dealt with secondarily—they must be answered, but they should not lead 
the City planning and urban design efforts.

Walkability: Changing the character of College Hill Streets
A “walkable” place is much more than one in which there are sidewalks. It refers to an environment where walking can be 
a primary mode of transportation. In these locations, it is a pleasure to walk; there are places to go and things to see and 
do; and walking is safe and efficient. 

Gateways: Creating a Sense of Arrival
A gateway is a physical location that marks the entry into a new place, in large part by being different. Gateways are 
important to placemaking because they can change behavior. For example: a gateway design could help calm incoming 
traffic, by bringing buildings close to the street and planting street trees, to mark the change from the outlying suburban or 
rural (and high speed) environment into the urban, constrained (low speed) and pedestrian environment. More than mere 
signage, the strongest gateways are made with distinct changes to the physical place. 

“Park Once” Mixed-Use Environments 
The fatal parking problem of suburban development is that it must provide multiple parking spaces for every car, at each 
different place: a space where you work, a space where you shop, a space where you worship, a space where you play, and 
a space where you sleep. Cities can better manage the parking issue by creating an environment where you can park your 
car in one spot and comfortably walk to multiple activities: where you work, shop, play, and where you sleep. For every 
one of those basic activities that can be combined in a “park once” environment, a parking space is effectively created—or 
‘freed up’ to be used by someone else. 

The Public Realm and Building Frontages
The spaces that people experience as they move through the city—typically the public streets and sidewalks (from 
building face to building face) and parks and squares, rather than private (building lot or home yard). The best public 
realm is a defined space with a sense of enclosure provided by building fronts or street trees. The public realm of a city is 
central to its quality of life—as well as its economy. Building frontages—where the building meets the street—are a key 
element of the character of the individual streets. The public realm creates the overall “sense of place” while allowing a 
great deal of variety within the urban framework. 

Missing Middle Housing
Missing Middle refers to that in-between scale of building that seems to have been forgotten—from duplexes to 
rowhouses to small apartment buildings—and that can be comfortably integrated into traditional urban neighborhoods. 
Smart development regulations (zoning) can facilitate and enable a return of those kinds of neighborhood infill housing 
options. (Missing Middle building forms are further described on pages 32-33.) 

154

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

30

 “Big Ideas” – Community Aspirations
A vision plan includes both urban design and policy ideas. Translating the analysis and community aspirations from the 
Virtual Design Charrette into implementable actions is one piece of a vision plan framework. Not only are these concepts 
embedded within the overall Imagine College Hill Plan recommendations, this page identifies specific steps for realizing 
each “Big Idea” in the physical vision plan for College Hill. 

1. Big Idea: Stabilize and enhance neighborhoods
Implementation Steps

• Establish zoning for new development that fits the scale and character of the place 
• Expand the rental-to-single-family-owner conversion incentive program to permit more conversions each year and/

or allow funds to be used for additional changes such as interior improvements
• Explore ways to increase both the percentage of owner-occupied units and rental units affordable and attractive to a 

diversity of households 
• Continue the rental permit program and code enforcement efforts

2. Big Idea: Concentrate and intensify student housing near campus
Implementation Steps

• Make sure the rules enable the development of more intense student housing in the Heart of College Hill, General 
College Hill and University Neighborhood character areas, within walking distance to campus and the local 
businesses (see p. 35)

• Maintain regulations prohibiting the conversion of single-family houses into apartments outside of designated areas
• Adjust parking requirements to ensure College Hill is “the place” where students can live without a car
• Revise parking requirements to enable and encourage less expensive (market-rate) housing
• Work with UNI to promote car-free living for students

Image courtesy of the Cedar Falls Historical Society 

155

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill!
May 2021

31

3. Big Idea: (Re)Connect Upper and Lower Hill
Implementation Steps

• Encourage the redevelopment of underutilized parcels with clear development regulations
• Increase walkability through improved sidewalks and traffic calming along College Street (and throughout the 

district)
• Increase retail and dining opportunities by encouraging mixed-use development

4. Big Idea: Treat natural areas as amenities (add and maintain street trees)
Implementation Steps

• Redesign the Dry Run Creek flood control infrastructure to serve as public green space and bike/ped connection
• Add or replace street trees to “green” College Hill core and neighborhoods, help define the pedestrian realm and 

calm traffic.

5. Big Idea: Manage parking better
Implementation Steps

• Exploring opportunities for off-site residential parking
• Reduce residential parking requirements next to the university and core College Hill character areas
• Stop subsidizing low-cost parking for university students and staff (by coordinating parking fees with UNI and 

considering a fee-based residential permit system for long-term on-street parking, if needed)
• Enable the environment for College Hill to serve as a car-free neighborhood (for people who choose that lifestyle) 

by decoupling parking from some rental units
• Create a “park once” environment by improving walkability

6. Big Idea: Improve walkability
Implementation Steps

• Improve (and widen when possible) sidewalks in the high pedestrian traffic areas of the study area
• Improve pedestrian crossings, particularly in high foot-traffic areas close to campus and the heart of College Hill
• Reconfigure College Hill streets to be good city streets, not thoroughfares. Right-size the automobile travel lanes 

and add bump-outs at key intersections to decrease pedestrian crossing distances, lower traffic speeds, and increase 
pedestrian comfort

• Fill in gaps in the sidewalk network where they exist
• Maintain and improve connectivity: preserve small block size and the street and alley pattern 

7. Big Idea: Make biking easier
Implementation Steps

• Provide a combination of bicycle lanes and sharrows in key locations as district streets are rebuilt
• Increase publicly available bicycle parking on College Hill (and increase visibility of what does exist) 
• Improve wayfinding to direct bicycle traffic to Downtown and the trails
• Infill gaps in bicycle infrastructure to create a true bicycle network

8. Big Idea: Increase retail and dining options
Implementation Steps

• Continue supporting the College Hill Partnership—economically and politically
• Incentivize increased housing near campus to create more neighborhood support for retail and business options
• Coordinate shared parking with UNI to support College Hill businesses outside of peak university hours (nights 

and weekends)
• Create locations and provide opportunities for outdoor commercial and special event use, including wider 

sidewalks and flexible plaza space at 23rd Street

156

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

32

Often discussed by citizens during the charrette week, Missing Middle refers to the in-between scale of buildings that 
current developers (and municipalities) seem to have forgotten. Once common, these buildings are more intense than 
single-family detached houses, but much smaller than an apartment complex or high-rise. They complement traditional 
neighborhoods, and can help transition from the more intense College Hill core area to single-family detached houses. 
Missing Middle forms can provide new housing choices lacking in the marketplace today, often at a more affordable 
rate. They can also be designed and built in a context-sensitive form and scale.

Missing Middle housing can take many forms. Here is a sample of that variety—including some that exist in Cedar Falls 
today. Note that context is important and not all of these examples will be appropriate in every part of the study area.

Twins (duplexes)
A simple variation that can fit onto 
existing lots in single-family detached 
neighborhoods. They often appear to 
be single-family houses, comparable 
in size to those nearby.  They may be 
configured with units side-by-side or 
over-under. The near-right building is 
a side-by-side configuration and is in 
the study area.

Small Apartments (small)
At the lower end of the range of 
scales, these can be almost unnoticed 
in the midst of a single-family 
detached neighborhood. They 
typically have small front, back, and 
side yards, similar to the surrounding 
context, and are more commonly 
found on corner lots.

Small Apartments (medium)
Typically found on corner lots or 
larger streets and avenues, these 
may have small front, back, and 
side yards; or be located at the back 
of the sidewalk, depending on the 
surrounding context. 

Missing Middle Housing 

157

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill!
May 2021

3333

Cottage Courts
Small detached structures around a 
central green space, cottage courts can 
provide the feel of a detached home 
at a smaller scale. They may require 
oversize or atypical lots to fit within a 
neighborhood context.

Accessory Dwelling Units
Apartments that are part of an 
owner-occupied property and can 
be configured over a garage, as a 
basement unit, or as a standalone 
structure. Although not currently 
permitted in Cedar Falls, ADUs can 
provide affordable housing, as well as 
financial assistance to the homeowner.

Rowhouses
Rowhouses are attached single-family 
houses. Typically two- to four-stories 
tall, they may be configured with 
stoops or porches. Whether platted 
on narrow fee-simple lots or a single 
parcel, each rowhouse has direct 
street access and a rear private space. 
Parking is off the alley.

158

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

34

2 1 3
4

5

6

8

9

18th Street18th Street

Main Street
Main Street

W
ashington Street

W
ashington Street

Clay Street
Clay Street

Franklin Street
Franklin Street

Iowa Street
Iowa Street

W
alnut Street

W
alnut Street

Olive Street
Olive Street

College Street
College Street

12th Street 12th Street 

Univ
ers

ity 
 Aven

ue

Univ
ers

ity 
 Aven

ue

Seerley BoulevardSeerley Boulevard

7

Tremont Street
Tremont Street

UNIVERSITY OF UNIVERSITY OF 
NORTHERN IOWANORTHERN IOWA

159

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

35

Understanding College Hill: Character Areas    
The College Hill study area is comprised of several sub-areas, all different in physical character, intensity, scale, and 
context. Based on the site analysis, market conditions, and community and stakeholder input, the team identified the 
following Character Areas. 

In planning for future growth, these Character Areas provide a framework of intent for the scale of growth and change 
that is desired.  To what degree should each area be maintained, evolve, or be transformed? The Imagine College Hill 
Plan begins to answer that question.   

1. Heart of College Hill: College Street between 20th and 23rd Streets (and the adjacent half-block of each cross 
street)—the traditional College Hill business district. Under the Imagine College Hill Plan, the walkability of this 
area will be enhanced by: filling the gap between the Lower and Upper Hill with infill shopfront buildings, more 
usable public open spaces, and additional mixed-use opportunities. As streets are reconstructed in the future, this high 
pedestrian traffic area will have wider sidewalks, more street trees, improved pedestrian street crossings, and right-sized 
automobile lanes to enhance the walkability of the area.  

2. General College Hill: Under the Imagine College Hill Plan, the area close to UNI between 20th and 23rd Streets 
and to the west of College Street will allow for growth with more intense buildings—street-oriented, multi-story 
(maximum 4 to 5 stories), and aligned along the back of the sidewalk or a small dooryard, depending on location. 
The new buildings would be primarily residential—but will permit a mix of uses (however, new retail will not be 
encouraged). During the charrette, there were some advocates for larger buildings (above 5 stories) in this area as 
opportunities for more intense student housing in proximity to campus and the nearby University residential towers. 
However, given the (slow) growth rate of Cedar Falls overall and anticipated enrollments at UNI, taller buildings may 
not be economically viable and could result in a net loss for the area, including:

• Requiring more expensive construction types, thereby decreasing the affordability of the new units;
• Absorbing the demand for new growth on one or two sites, leaving other development sites to languish for a longer 

period of time; 
• Increasing the costs to provide adequate parking (either in land area or in construction costs for structured parking);
• Creating an incentive for a developer to “cannibalize” another potential development site to provide the needed 

parking, creating an unfriendly pedestrian environment at the other site.

In general, it would be more economically beneficial to spread new development more broadly across this area of 
College Hill rather than concentrating it on one or two individual sites.

3. University Neighborhood: This is the close-in, primarily residential area immediately north of Dry Run Creek on 
the west side of College Street, and along Olive and Walnut streets, from 20th Street to University Avenue, on the east 
side. It currently includes a range of building forms, including medium to large apartment buildings as well as detached 
houses.  This area serves as a transition from the business district and the University to the more single-family detached 
Seerley and Clay Street Park Neighborhoods. Under the Imagine College Hill Plan, new structures should be Missing 
Middle types; limited in scale with no more than four stories in height and 120 feet in frontage (façade length along 
the sidewalk). The buildings will be aligned, either along the back of the sidewalk or with small dooryards. Height and 
placement at the rear lot lines will also be limited, especially when adjacent to single-family houses in the neighborhood. 
 
4. Seerley Park and Clay Street Park Neighborhoods: Residential neighborhoods of primarily single-family 
detached houses and duplexes, including numerous rentals. Careful incremental infill should be allowed—both more 
single-family and two-family detached houses at a scale that is sensitive to the existing houses, as well as accessory 
dwelling units (ADUs). Under the Imagine College Hill Plan, this area will be stabilized and enhanced. New structures 
will be no more than two-and-a-half stories in height and 60 feet in frontage (facade length along the sidewalk) with 
additional design, architectural and form standards to break down the building massing and require front yards that are 
consistent with the neighbors. Limiting the intensity allowed for new development will discourage the redevelopment of 
existing, viable, buildings. The development of vacant lots or derelict properties will be encouraged, but at a scale that 
doesn’t stray far from that of the existing context. Policies and regulations will focus on leveling the playing field and 
creating a better balance between student renters, other renter households, and owner-occupied housing.

160

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

36

2 1 3
4

5

6

8

9

18th Street18th Street

Main Street
Main Street

W
ashington Street

W
ashington Street

Clay Street
Clay Street

Franklin Street
Franklin Street

Iowa Street
Iowa Street

W
alnut Street

W
alnut Street

Olive Street
Olive Street

College Street
College Street

12th Street 12th Street 

Univ
ers

ity 
 Aven

ue

Univ
ers

ity 
 Aven

ue

Seerley BoulevardSeerley Boulevard

7

Tremont Street
Tremont Street

UNIVERSITY OF UNIVERSITY OF 
NORTHERN IOWANORTHERN IOWA

161

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill!
May 2021

37

5. Main Street Corridor (18th Street to Seerley Boulevard): This portion of Main Street has a mix of detached 
houses, apartments, small commercial buildings, and semi-industrial uses. It appears and feels physically separate from 
the rest of the College Hill study area. The properties near 18th Street and near Seerley Boulevard are currently in a 
primarily highway-commercial form, and underdeveloped. Residents and business/property owners provided minimal 
input about the area during the Imagine College Hill visioning process (likely due to that physical separation). This area 
has the potential to redevelop under this plan as a mixed-use, walkable corridor with improved sidewalks and street trees; 
more intense, Missing Middle housing; and continuing heavy commercial uses.

6. East of Main Neighborhood: A pocket of single-family detached houses and duplexes, including numerous 
rentals, is tucked between Main Street and the Cedar River Trail. Under the Imagine College Hill Plan, this area will 
remain residential, with the potential to accommodate Missing Middle housing forms at a range of prices, attractive to a 
variety of households.

7. Fairview Neighborhood: Located in the northwest corner of the study area, this neighborhood is predominantly 
detached houses from both pre- and post-World War II. It is currently the most stable (has the highest percentage of 
owner-occupancy) in the College Hill study area. It is anticipated the neighborhood will remain much as it is today, with 
any infill being respectful of the surrounding homes.

8. Southwest Neighborhood:  This area was developed more recently than the rest of College Hill. It is more 
auto-oriented, with a cul-de-sac, no alleys, and many front-loaded garages.  Because there are few (if any) vacant lots 
and the houses are generally of a more recent vintage, and much of the area is constrained by the floodplain, near-term 
redevelopment is unlikely. However, due to the quality of construction (common in houses of this vintage) and high 
percentage of rental properties, this area could be transformed over the very long term if there is increased demand for a 
different type of housing within walking distance of UNI. Under the Imagine College Hill Plan, opportunities to improve 
pedestrian and bicycle connections across University Avenue should be explored.
 
9. College Hill Gateway Seerley Boulevard at Main Street: This gateway intersection provides access to College 
Hill for both drivers and bicyclists; however, the roadway configuration and development pattern leaves much to be 
desired.  New development standards should encourage or require any new building to better define the street edge and 
public realm, creating an improved pedestrian environment and “sense of place” rather than the current highway strip 
commercial pattern. Two- to three-story buildings and a wide range of uses could be accommodated in this location, 
including a more urban version of the existing gas station in a “gas backward” form, as this plan illustrates.   

The following pages provide general parameters about specific building forms and street frontages for redevelopment in 
the study area.  They describe the desired character of new buildings, their scale and placement on the lot, and details 
about the relationship to the street, including the range of variation in different character areas. 

162

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

38

 General College Hill Frontages
Maximum Building Height:  
4-5	stories*

Facade Transparency:  
Ground	floor	33-80%;
Upper	floors	20-70%

First Finished Floor Elevation:  
Minimum	0-3	feet,	depending	on	use	
(residences	at	the	street	must	be	elevated)

Permitted Projections:  
Awnings,	bay	windows,	shopfronts,	
balconies,	and	signs

Ground Floor Ceiling Height:  
Minimum	9-14	feet	clear,	depending	on	
use and location

Frontage Build-Out:  
Minimum	65-75%*

Permitted Uses:  
Ground	Floor:	Retail*,	Restaurant,	
Office,	Residential
Upper	Stories:	Office,	Residential

Minimum Private Open Area:  15%	
of	buildable	area,	at	or	above	grade

Sidewalk: 6-8	feet	(plus	tree	planting	
strip	with	pervious	paving)
 
*varying with specific location and 
adjacencies 

This is the basic American “in town” street frontage, once typical in town and 
neighborhood centers across the United States. Multi-story buildings with 
closely spaced entrances and windows are lined up shoulder to shoulder behind 
the sidewalk, filling out the block-face.

This frontage will produce new street-oriented buildings. Required throughout 
the General College Hill character area, these buildings can accommodate 
a range of uses, including office or residential buildings, and/or mixed-use 
buildings, and allowing retail shopfronts in limited locations, with service 
access and parking lots in the block interior, accessed from the alley.  Specific 
use and scale parameters will vary by location. Where adjacent to single-family 
residential areas, special setbacks and height restrictions will apply, to protect 
the existing neighborhoods. 

163

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

39

 College Hill Storefront Frontages

The Storefront is the quintessential neighborhood “main street” frontage, with 
retail and restaurant uses on the ground floor and residences or offices upstairs. 
The overall building form is the same as the General College Hill frontage, 
but with large display windows across the ground floor facade and frequent 
entrances along the street. 

This frontage will be required in the Heart of College Hill Area and permitted 
in some limited portions of the General College Hill and Main Street Corridor 
Character Areas.  

Maximum Building Height:  
4	to	5	stories*	

Facade Transparency:  
Ground	floor	50-90%;
Upper	floors	20-70%

First Finished Floor Elevation:  
At grade

Permitted Projections:  
Awnings,	covered	entrances,	bay	
windows,	shopfronts,	balconies,	and	
signs

Ground Floor Ceiling Height:  
Minimum 14 feet clear

Frontage Build-Out:  
Minimum	85%

Permitted Uses:  
Ground	Floor:	Retail,	Restaurant
Upper	Stories:	Office,	Residential

Minimum Private Open Area:  
10%	of	buildable	area,	at	or	above	
grade

Sidewalk: 8-10	feet	(plus	tree	
planting	strip	with	pervious	paving)

*varying with specific location and 
adjacencies 

164

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

40

University Neighborhood Frontages
Maximum Building Height:  
2.5	to	4	stories*	excluding	basements	

Facade Transparency:  30-70%

First Finished Floor Elevation:  
Minimum	3	feet,	maximum	6	feet	above	
sidewalk

Permitted Projections:  
Bay	windows,	balconies,	porches,	and	
stoops

Ceiling Height: Minimum 9 feet clear

Frontage Build-Out:    
Minimum	50	to	75%*

Continuous Facade Length:  
Maximum	75		to	120	feet*

Permitted Uses:  
Residential,	Home	Office

Minimum Private Open Area:  
15%	of	buildable	area,	at	grade

Sidewalk: 
5-6	feet	(plus	tree	planting	strip)

*varying with specific location. The 
half-story refers to allowing habitable 
space within the roof—an Attic Story

The University Neighborhood frontages will fit comfortably 
within the existing context, with a range of residential forms, from 
detached houses up to the larger Missing Middle types. These 
frontages provide a physical transition between the more intense 
General College Hill and Storefront frontages and the surrounding, 
less intense Traditional Neighborhood frontages. It will allow 
some intensification of the UNI-adjacent neighborhoods.

These frontages generally have rear yards and parking accessed 
from an alley. The alignment of new building facades to the street 
and sidewalk will work with the existing context—the buildings 
may be placed close to the sidewalk with stoops, or further back 
with courtyards or front porches and small dooryard gardens. 

165

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

41

The character and intensity of the Traditional Neighborhood frontage varies but is generally moderate, linked to the 
individual Neighborhood Character Areas. It is typically a detached structure—configured as either single or duplex 
buildings, with accessory dwelling units (ADUs) accommodated.

Any infill redevelopment should reflect the surrounding neighborhood context, both in scale and location on the lot. 
These frontages typically have front yards and often generous porches, with rear parking, accessed from an alley. The 
alignment of new building facades will be closely tailored to work with the existing houses along the block frontage. 

 Traditional Neighborhood Houses
Maximum Building Height:  
2.5	to	3	stories*	excluding	basements		

Facade Transparency:  30-70%

First Finished Floor Elevation:  
Minimum	3	feet,	maximum	6	feet	above	
sidewalk

Permitted Projections:  
Porches,	bay	windows	and	balconies

Ceiling Height:  
Minimum 9 feet clear

Frontage Build-Out:    
Minimum	50%

Continuous Facade Length:  
Maximum	56	feet	(non-corner	lots)

Permitted Uses:  
Residential,	Home	Office

Minimum Private Open Area:  
20%	of	buildable	area,	at	grade

Sidewalk: 
4-6	feet	(plus	tree	planting	strip)

*varying with specific location. The 
half-story refers to allowing habitable 
space within the roof—an Attic Story

166

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

42

  Existing Buildings

PLAN KEY

  Potential Infill Buildings

  University

  18th Street

  12th Street

  Seerley Blvd

  M
ain

 St
ree

t

  C
oll

eg
e S

tre
et

Hu
ds

on
 Ro

ad

22nd Street

167

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

43

The Imagine College Hill Plan includes an illustrative master plan (at left and 
following page), showing prototypical redevelopment scenarios throughout the 
core/heart, incremental infill of neighborhood sites, and re-imagined College Hill 
streets. It is aspirational and provides a framework for future investment, growth 
and development. The focus is on the overall urban form and character of College 
Hill and adjacent neighborhoods rather than the design of individual buildings. 

The Vision

College Hill Vision Plan 
Design Principles

1. Buildings are aligned and 
oriented to the Street: buildings 
and street trees provide a sense 
of enclosure, framing and defining 
the Public Realm (or Street-
Space).

2. Buildings oversee the Street-
Space with windows, doors, 
porches, and balconies: these 
“eyes on the street” contribute to 
safe and vital public spaces.

3. Buildings in the core occupy 
block corners (reducing the per-
ceived pedestrian crossing gap 
and maintaining the Street-Space) 

4. Buildings are designed for the 
city environment: buildings aren’t 
simply pushed closer together 
(that is sub-urban development) 
but are designed for the urban 
setting. Views are directed to the 
street and rear yard/garden, not 
into the neighbor’s property. 

5.  Vehicle parking, garbage, and 
mechanical equipment, should be 
kept away from the Street-Space. 

6. Reconnect or expand the street 
grid with a small block pattern 
whenever possible—always pre-
serve existing streets and alleys.

This is a vision document, and it explores various “what if…” scenarios. It is 
built upon the public input from the hands-on session and further informed by 
the design team’s analysis. It illustrates urban design solutions within the Cedar 
Falls context that translate the “big ideas” from the citizens’ work into physical 
form. 

The illustrative master plan shows one way in which redevelopment might 
occur in the core of the College Hill study area—a possible future build out of 
the area, assuming most underutilized parcels are redeveloped. It includes the 
expectation that most of the nearby neighborhoods will remain much as they 
are today, with emphasis on maintenance and stability and small scale infill 
respectful of the existing context. The plan assumes no time line, as the market 
generally determines the pace of growth and investment. It suggests where 
mixed-use (residential with commercial) makes sense, as well as areas that 
should be primarily residential.  

Charrette participants described a district where a limited variety of activities 
is currently possible, including living, working, and (primarily student)
entertainment, all within close proximity. However, they expressed a desire 
for more—for broader shopping and dining options and better access to daily 
needs such as groceries and other activities. The district should be a place in 
which pedestrians and cyclists are safe, comfortable, and common.  Bicycling 
and walking should be viable transportation options across College Hill and 
surrounding neighborhoods. This plan focuses on the urban design or overall 
form of the district. The buildings shown illustrate scale and character—there 
are multiple building designs that would fulfill the vision plan intent. 

The economy and public infrastructure will play significant roles. How do you 
change the character of the public realm to make it more pedestrian friendly? 
What will it take to increase the number of residents needed to support a 
broader variety of retail and promote economic development? What will it take 
to encourage reinvestment in properties that have been allowed to deteriorate 
over time? Where are there opportunities for new public space? How do 
you improve the pedestrian and bicycle connections between College Hill, 
adjoining neighborhoods, the trail system, and Downtown? What needs to 
happen first? The pages that follow provide guidance and direction. 

168

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

44

3

7

6

9

2

4

5

8
1

20th Street20th Street

23rd Street23rd Street

UNIVERSITY UNIVERSITY 
OF OF 

NORTHERN NORTHERN 
IOWAIOWA

Franklin Street
Franklin Street

Tremont Street
Tremont Street

Iowa Street
Iowa Street

20th Street20th Street

University AvenueUniversity Avenue

W
alnut Street

W
alnut Street

College Street
College Street

Merner Street
Merner Street

Existing Buildings

PLAN KEY

Potential Infill Buildings

Olive Street
Olive Street

169

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

45

The pages that follow illustrate several “what if” redevelopment scenarios to further explore what is shown in the 
Illustrative Plan (at left) in specific locations, at the scale of both buildings and streetscapes. For any of these scenarios 
there are several different building design possibilities, both in configuration and architectural style. The images are 
intended to provide a sense of an appropriate scale, massing, and siting.

1. Visualizing Change: Reconnecting Upper and Lower Hill 

2. Prototypical Project: Mixed-Use Buildings along College Street  

3. Prototypical Sites: Neighborhood Stability through Infill   

4. Visualizing Change: A Gateway to College Hill  (Seerley	Boulevard	&	Main	Street)   
 
5. Prototypical Sites: Intensifying Housing along 22nd & Merner Streets   

6. Visualizing Change: A New Plaza at 23rd & College Streets    

7. Prototypical Project: Mixed-Use along 23rd Street 

8. Prototypical Project: Re-Imagining Hidden Valley

Illustrative Projects: Visualizing Change Before It Occurs

170

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

46

Existing Condition
Looking north up College Street, 
away from the University, toward the 
Lower Hill. Although the existing 
businesses are viable, this is a stark 
pedestrian environment. It is hard to 
imagine walking from this location at 
22nd and College Streets one block 
to 21st Street, much less all the way 
to Pettersen Plaza and the businesses 
near 19th Street. The trip would 
require walking past several “missing 
teeth” created by vacant lots, surface 
parking, a gas station, and buildings 
setback from the street. The sidewalks 
from the University to 18th Street 
are irregular; they are interrupted 
by numerous driveway curb cuts, in 
addition to the street intersections, and 
have limited shade. 

New Public Infrastructure  
Public investment in infrastructure 
begins to re-shape the environment. 
The second image includes wider 
sidewalks with fewer curb cut 
interruptions, pedestrian-scale street 
lighting, proper planting areas for 
street trees, and narrower travel lane 
widths with bulb-outs, decreasing the 
pedestrian crossing distances. The 
public realm is improved for both 
pedestrians and automobile drivers.  

A Sense of Place 
The third and fourth images illustrate 
increased private sector investment. 
Underutilized sites are redeveloped 
with street-oriented, multi-story 
mixed-use buildings. The street is 
more welcoming for pedestrians and 
cyclists. Residents and office workers 
support a broader range of shopping 
and dining opportunities along the 
length of College Street, which in turn 
brings more potential customers—
students and townspeople alike.

1. Visualizing Change: Reconnecting Upper and Lower Hill
College Street within the Imagine College Hill Plan study has been rebuilt over the past ten to fifteen years. This is a long 
term visualization—and the increments of redevelopment illustrated may occur in a different sequence, dependent on 
potential zoning updates, market conditions, and future investment decisions by both the private and public sectors.

171

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill!
May 2021

47

The College Hill Vision in Full
In this view, all four corners of the intersection are developed, fully defining the street edges and providing a sense of 
enclosure, creating an outdoor room where there was none before. Pedestrian crossing distances are shortened. The street 
is multi-modal, with pedestrians, cyclists, and vehicular traffic sharing the space.

With the addition of viable street trees, improved sidewalks, bicycle facilities, and active building frontages, College 
Street is reclaimed as a “people place” and one can imagine walking from the gates of the University to the Lower Hill. 

A comfortable and inviting public realm provides an excellent place for working, shopping, dining...and living.  This is 
a street that is “good for business” and inviting to UNI prospective students—an incentive for even more private sector 
investment. 

 Visualizing Change: Reconnecting Upper and Lower Hill

172

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

48

Vision: Mixed-use Buildings 
(to define the pedestrian realm and help 
reconnect the Upper and Lower Hill)

This prototypical redevelopment 
involves multiple parcels along 
College Street. It could be completed 
all at once, with separate owners 
working together; or over time, with 
owners redeveloping independently of 
one another.

The buildings would include 
active ground floor space fronting 
the sidewalk on College Street 
(accommodating the existing business 
operating in this location). Parking 
is behind and under the building.  
A drive-through facility could be 
maintained, if designed carefully and 
located away from the corner of 22nd 
and College Streets.

Although upper story uses could be 
flexible, the current market would 
likely demand/prefer residences, 
which would provide needed foot-
traffic along College Street to support 
shops and restaurants throughout 
College Hill.

As illustrated, the ground floors could 
include retail storefronts as well as 
support functions (such as lobbies, 
mail rooms, and management office) 
for the residential units above. The 
smaller building at 22nd and College 
would include 18 two-bedroom, 
1000-square foot units on the upper 
levels; the larger building at 21st 
and College would include 33 two-
bedroom units of the same size. These 
site layouts could accommodate 40 
surface and covered parking spaces 
under the back of the building on the 
northern lot and 19 surface spaces 
on the rear of the southern lot (which 
would provide an on-site ratio of .5 
spaces per bedroom.)

 

2. Prototypical Project: Mixed-Use Buildings along College

Existing conditions -- College Street between 21st and 22nd Streets, view to southeast

21st Street

22nd Street

College StreetOlive Street

Mixed-use buildings with active street frontage—improving the pedestrian realm and reconnecting Upper 
and Lower Hill

Existing conditions—College Street at 22nd Street, view to northeast

173

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill!
May 2021

49

3. Prototypical Sites: Neighborhood Stability through Infill

Vision: 
The neighborhoods surrounding the heart of College Hill are some of the oldest 
and most dense in Cedar Falls. The house styles span most of the 20th century; 
however, until the most recent decades, the overall form and massing was 
consistent. They were street-oriented, commonly with small front yards and 
front porches, and rear-loaded garages accessed from alleys. There have always 
been boarding houses close to the university, but their scale and character were 
compatible with the surrounding neighborhoods.

There are a few empty parcels remaining in the neighborhoods adjacent to 
College Hill, as well as a few houses that have reached a level of disrepair 
that complete redevelopment of the lots may be warranted. In these areas, 
particularly further from the campus, new housing (whether detached single-
family homes or smaller-scaled missing middle forms) should be designed in 
a context-sensitive manner. Where alleys exist, rear-loaded garages should be 
required, eliminating curb cuts and reducing conflict points between vehicles 
and pedestrians. This site configuration improves neighborhood walkability.  
The pedestrian realm is defined by houses, front yards, and sidewalks, rather 
than driveways and garages.

Existing Condition
Two adjacent, vacant mid-block 
parcels with rear alley. They are 
of typical size for most of the 
older College Hill study area 
neighborhoods.

Iowa Street

Context-Sensitive Infill
Vacant lots developed with a single-
family house and a duplex, oriented to 
the street with front porches, similar 
in scale to the surrounding homes. 
Small structures at the back of each 
lot are detached garages accessed 
from the alley with potential for 
ADUs above.

174

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

50

4. Visualizing Change: A Gateway to College Hill

A New Gateway:
When the market supports 
redevelopment, new buildings 
should be street-oriented, of a scale 
to assist in defining the public realm 
of Main Street and create a “sense 
of arrival” at the intersection with 
Seerley Boulevard. Current uses could 
still be accommodated, such as the 
“gas-backwards” shown here on the 
northwest corner, with the building 
at the corner and pumps behind, 
shielded from adjacent homes by 
masonry garden walls. The driveway 
curb cuts are a safer distance from the 
intersection. 

Existing Conditions: 
The intersection of Main Street and 
Seerley Boulevard was identified by 
charrette participants as one of the 
gateways to College Hill (and UNI) 
from Downtown and the river trail. In 
its current form, it leaves much to be 
desired. The buildings on the corner 
parcels do not address the street 
or define the public realm. Rather 
than creating a sense of entry to the 
neighborhood, the area appears to be 
a location that drivers simply pass 
through on their way to somewhere 
else. Most other commercial buildings 
along the Main Street corridor are 
auto-oriented as well. The existing 
crossing marks are worn and difficult 
to see.

Main Street

Seerley Boulevard

Improved Pedestrian and 
Bicycle Connections: 
Crosswalks should be repainted and 
pedestrian signals installed, providing 
drivers with a visual cue that this 
is a multi-modal area. Additional, 
long-term changes could include 
extending the recommended lane 
reconfigurations for Main Street in the 
Imagine Downtown Plan. 

Existing condition: view to the northwest

Improved crossings for pedestrians and cyclists

New “placemaking” gateway development
175

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill!
May 2021

51

 5. Prototypical Site: Intensify Housing at 22nd & Merner
One of the consistent ideas heard during the charrette 
was to intensify student housing closer to the University, 
particularly in those areas unlikely to convert back to 
single-family houses. This could be achieved through a 
couple of different approaches: “missing middle” house 
forms, redeveloped incrementally by individual owners, 
or with minimal lot consolidation; or alternatively,  with 
greater lot consolidation, medium-sized apartment 
buildings, more similar in scale to the surrounding 
dormitories.

Prototype 1: Rowhouses or Stacked Flats.  
Existing lots can each be individually redeveloped as 
three- to four-story buildings, facing the street with small 
front yards, and private backyards. Surface parking or 
detached garages accessed from the alley.

Prototype 2: 
Apartments.  
Street-oriented 
residential 
buildings of a 
moderate scale, 
with a courtyard 
entrance or shared 
rear yard. Parking 
is accessed from 
the alley, in a 
combination of 
surface lots and 
“tuck under” 
spaces at grade in 
the building rear.

22nd   Street
Merner Street

Existing conditions: older houses converted into student apartments

Prototype 2: When lots are consolidated, more intense redevelopment, such as 
medium-sized apartments, is possible

Prototype 1: 22nd Street lots individually redeveloped as row houses or stacked 
flats

All: A mix of redevelopment types and intensities is possible, as above

Building Height/Intensity and Parking 
The prototype buildings shown here are of modest heights, illustrating typical building square footage that could also accommodate 
reasonable parking demand on-site without requiring a parking “ramp” above or below grade.  As illustrated, these building heights 
and parcels can accommodate approximately 54 parking spaces on-site, or .75 spaces per bedroom, which is lower than current 
minimum parking standards. In order to intensify student housing, a new approach to providing and managing parking on College 
Hill will be necessary. (see p. 21). Building heights above 5 stories require a different and more expensive construction type as well as 
much more parking—often making taller structures cost prohibitive. (For more on required minimum parking ratios, see the Appendix.)  

176

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

52

6. Visualizing Change: A New Plaza at College & 23rd

Existing Condition
View toward the east, looking down 23rd Street, from College Street to Olive Street. Since it is blocked off on the west 
end, with no vehicular access to College, this block of 23rd basically functions as a parking lot today. Located at the 
“front door” to the University of Northern Iowa, this area is a missed opportunity. The existing buildings on the south 
side of the block are in need of repair and contribute little to the public realm. The vista is terminated by a vacant lot. 

Public Investment & Private 
Redevelopment 
The next image shows the same block 
beginning to take on a new character, 
through street repaving or color 
treatment and sidewalk widening.

The bottom image illustrates the 
public and private sectors working 
together. Utilities have been buried 
under ground. Obsolete buildings 
have been replaced with new street-
oriented, mixed-use buildings along 
23rd Street. The eastern vista has been 
terminated by a new small apartment 
building, helping to provide a sense 
of enclosure, creating an “outdoor 
room.” Shopfront spaces help to 
activate the new flexible public plaza 
as 23rd Street begins to feel like a 
“people place.” This redevelopment 
could be undertaken separately by 
individual property owners, or all at 
once, through a coordinated effort.

177

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill!
May 2021

53

Visualizing Change: A New Plaza at College & 23rd
Street Trees
Following building construction, the 
streetscape is completed, including 
the installation of pedestrian-scaled 
lighting. New street trees add shade 
in summer and help to provide 
human scale to the public realm year 
round, contributing to the pedestrian 
environment. 

Full Vision: 
Investments in the public realm and private property combine to create a great new flexible festival street or plaza. While 
23rd Street continues to provide needed parking on a daily basis, it can also accommodate outdoor dining or easily be 
converted into a unique space for activities such as the farmers’ market or other special events. The buildings could 
house a range of uses. In addition to ground floor retail, the upper stories could be university offices, a small boutique 
hotel, or residences. The location—in the Heart of College Hill, immediately across from the UNI gate, and a short walk 
from the transit hub parking ramp—is ideal for creating an inviting destination shared by town and gown alike. 

Creating the Plaza Space 
In the near term, there are several possible techniques for 
creating the surface for a flexible plaza or festival street, to 
make it visually attractive while also durable and safe for 
vehicles and pedestrians alike. One option is through the 
use of a stencil and stain method to create a pattern on the 
street surface, as pictured at right.

178

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

54

7. Prototypical Project: Mixed-Use along 23rd Street
Existing Condition
View toward the southeast, looking 
from College Street to Olive Street. 
23rd Street has been closed at College 
Street and therefore no longer carries 
through traffic, serving primarily 
as a parking lot. Located in a prime 
location in the core of College 
Hill across from the University of 
Northern Iowa, the buildings on 
the south side of 23rd are in need 
of repair and contribute little to the 
vitality of the street. 

Redevelopment Scenario
In this option, the parcels on the south 
side of 23rd Street are redeveloped 
individually as separate mixed-
use buildings with ground floor 
shopfront spaces. The upper floors 
could include residences, offices, or 
some other UNI facility. The street 
has been converted into a flexible 
plaza space, as described previously. 
A small apartment building has been 
constructed on the vacant lot on Olive 
Street at the east end of 23rd. 

Alternative Scenario
In this option, the parcels on the south 
side of 23rd Street closer to College 
Street are redeveloped in combination, 
accommodating a building of a 
slightly larger scale and character. 
Street level spaces would still be 
configured for retail or restaurant 
uses, but the larger floor area on the 
upper stories could provide greater 
flexibility for a broader range of uses.

179

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill!
May 2021

55

8. Prototype Project: Re-imagining Hidden Valley

Existing Condition: Built Environment
The block between 22nd, 20th, College and Merner Streets sits in the Heart of College Hill yet it is markedly different 
from the normal College Hill blocks that surround it. It is much larger, with a suburban arrangement of buildings and 
parking lots that do not support the Imagine College Hill vision of a vibrant, walkable neighborhood center. 

Small blocks are a base condition for walkable places, yet this block has a 2,497-foot perimeter, while the typical 
College Hill block perimeters range from 993 to 1,400 feet. Although buildings along the 22nd Street side front the street 
in a normal manner, the rest of the block is an ad hoc arrangement of parking lots, suburban building types, and light 
industrial warehouses, with no clear fronts or backs. Reportedly more difficult to police than adjacent blocks, the land 
is underutilized, and the development pattern is anti-pedestrian. The buildings turn their backs (and parking lots) to the 
surrounding streets and to Dry Run Creek. The functions within the block—student housing and parking, a maintenance 
facility, a gas station and convenience store—are fine.  It is the physical form and character that work against the vision 
for College Hill. 

Fortunately there are positive steps that can be taken that will increase private property values, increase economic 
development, and improve the city tax base.  

180

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

56

Existing Condition: Floodplain
The Dry Run Creek floodplain and 
floodway have been reduced by the 
City’s infrastructure improvements. 
Unfortunately, however, much of the 
land on 20th Street between Campus 
Drive and College Street remains 
in the reduced floodplain, with its 
development potential compromised.  
  

Vision: A “What if...” Scenario
• Near Term—Step One: 
Coordinate with UNI to build (and 
plant) a positive pedestrian and 
bicycle connection along Dry Run 
Creek from Campus Drive to College 
Street and use the floodplain between 
College and Merner as a public 
space. This will turn what is currently 
just stormwater infrastructure and 
unbuildable floodplain into an 
attractive public greenway. (Although 
there are plans to improve the 
sidewalks along 22nd Street, the 
existence of the “desire path” in 
this general location indicates that 
students are likely to continue to take 
the shortest route to the Lower Hill.) 
The drawings propose a multi-use 
path running along the creek between 
Merner and College Street, extending 
to Campus Drive to the west, with 
canopy shade trees planted along 
it. This will offer a more public, 
well-lit, and safer connection from 
the University residence halls to the 
shops of College Street. It will also 
complement the current plan to extend 
the pathway from Pettersen Plaza 
eastward to Olive Street.

Re-imagining Hidden Valley (continued)

 Dry Run Creek and the new reduced floodplain and floodway

 Multi-use path and greenway along Dry Run Creek (above) and “green” parking lot (below)

• Near Term—Step Two: 
 This plan proposes the use of several parcels in the floodplain on the north side of 20th Street between College 

and Merner Streets as a carefully designed and environmentally sensitive “green” parking lot. The spaces would 
provide a ‘parking sink’, accommodating parking that would otherwise be required on redevelopment sites closer 
to the UNI campus and College Street. The lot would be shielded from the street with trees and hedges and it could 
provide bio-swales or rain gardens that would assist with stormwater management and provide bird and pollinator 
habitat. 

181

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill!
May 2021

57

• Long Term—Step Three: 
 Fortunately, the land within this block is underutilized and redevelopment into a form more supportive of the 

Imagine College Hill goals can generate extra value for the landowners.  The illustrative vision plan, above, shows 
new 3- to 5-story apartments buildings along the perimeter of the block, defining the street edge, and helping to 
reconnect the Upper and Lower Hill along College Street. Along Dry Run Creek, the buildings oversee a new 3/4 
acre greenway that sits in the floodplain and includes a 20-foot wide pedestrian/bicycle ‘street’ (no auto traffic) that 
fronts the new buildings.  

Re-imagining Hidden Valley (continued)

Redeveloped Hidden Valley

182

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

58

The preceding pages illustrate potential redevelopment projects that show one way in which the Imagine College Hill 
Vision Plan might be implemented over time. Each example—whether Visualizing Change, a Prototypical Project or a 
What If… scenario—addresses one or more of the plan goals and recommendations. Those goals and recommendations 
are based on a synthesis of stakeholder interviews, site and market analysis, and community aspirations gathered during 
the course of the Imagine College Hill Project. Similar redevelopment projects could be undertaken in other locations 
within the Imagine College Hill study area.

The timing of plan implementation and sequence of redevelopment projects will depend on public, private, university, 
and non-profit sector involvement, decision-making, and investment, within the context of the local Cedar Falls market. 
This should be viewed as a long-term effort; some ideas may be implemented sooner than others. As new projects are 
proposed, they should be evaluated based on how well they fulfill the following.

SUMMARY OF PLAN RECOMMENDATIONS
See the Executive Summary on pp. 2-4 for a brief description of each.

• Build on the work of the College Hill Partnership
• Define the public realm with active building facades, improved sidewalks, and additional street trees
• Ensure that future street and sidewalk rebuilding enhances walkability
• Support a multi-modal environment
• Understand the market—particularly as it relates to student housing, new construction, and parking—to 

leverage opportunities for growth on College Hill
• Create gateways to College Hill to provide a sense of arrival
• Explore opportunities for new/improved public spaces
• Adjust the rules for development (and parking)
• Recognize that College Hill (and nearby neighborhoods) play a unique role within Cedar Falls and 

warrant a different approach
• Create a better process for development review and approval
• Establish a true bicycle network
• Coordinate parking supply management

Making the Vision a Reality  

183

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

59

The Imagine College Hill Project was initiated not only to establish a road map 
or framework for future growth and development, but also to provide inspiration 
for the quality and character of that development. The ideas presented in this plan 
will be implemented in partnership between the City, the private and non-profit 
sectors, and the University—and at the behest of the citizens of Cedar Falls. Each 
group has an important role to play. Some tasks are already underway, while others 
can be undertaken in the near-term, with others requiring more time (depending on 
the completion of prior tasks, market conditions, etc.) to be implemented over the 
medium- and long-term.  

NEXT STEPS

Recommended initial steps to implement the Imagine College Hill Plan

• Adopt new zoning for the entire College Hill Study Area, with the express purpose of  plan implementation and an 
emphasis on a streamlined process and the appropriate form and character of new development.

• Move forward with plans to improve walkability and expand public spaces, including the completion of the sidewalk 
network, planting of street trees, and creation of new publicly accessible plazas and green spaces in accordance with 
this plan. 

• Continue implementing the Parking Study strategies.

• Consider a defined parking district for the core character areas to better manage the available on-street parking in the 
plan area.

• Encourage greater collaboration between the City and University to create a true “car free” neighborhood through the 
recruitment and support of more diverse businesses and transportation options.

Implementing the Imagine College Hill Plan will require cooperation and collaboration between all involved. The city 
can write the rules and provide the infrastructure, but it will require private sector investment to build the compact, 
mixed-use walkable neighborhood center envisioned by the community.  The updated zoning and new development 
review process should make it easy for people who meet the new standards to build the community vision for College 
Hill.

184

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

60

This page intentionally left blank.

185

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

61

APPENDIX

• Market Considerations Report        62

•  January 2020 Project Kick-Off Event       
  •• Visual Preference Exercise Tally       70
  •• Strength & Weakness Maps        73
  •• Attendee Survey Results        78   

          
•  Virtual Charrette Student Survey Results       80

•  October 14 Virtual Charrette Work-in-Progress Presentation Survey Results 87

•  Residential Parking: Required Minimum Ratios      89

•  College Hill Vision Plan Public Review Draft – Web Survey Results   90 

          

The following documents and studies were produced during and in support of the 
Imagine College Hill Visioning Project process.

186

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

62

Market Considerations Report 

Demographics 
College Hill has remained very stable over the past 20 years when measured in terms of population and household 
counts.  The study area had 2,589 residents in 2019 living in 2,009 households according to ESRI, a national 
demographic data provider.  That represents an increase of 59 people (1.1 percent) and 62 households (3.2 
percent).  During the same period, Cedar Falls grew by 4,938 residents (13.6 percent) and 2,641 households (20.5 
percent).   
 
As one would expect, the student population is concentrated in College Hill – 39 percent of residents were aged 
20 to 24 in 2019 as compared with their 18-percent share of citywide population.  Another 18 percent of College 
Hill residents are 25 to 34 relative to 15 percent of city residents, reflecting graduate students and other older 
students as well as young families. 
 

 
 
With that concentration of students, the nature of College Hill households is different with just less than one-third 
of its households in families as compared with 55 percent of city households.  The median age of 24.3 is 
significantly lower than the 30.6 median age citywide.  Household incomes are distinctly lower in College Hill – a 
median income of $39,665 versus $59,519 in the city.  Renters represent 58 percent of College Hill households 
and 36 percent of city households.   
 
College Hill residents are somewhat less dependent on driving alone to get to work; 11.1 percent walked to work 
and 1.9 percent bicycled or motorcycled in 2019 as compared with 8.5 and 1.6 percent of the city’s employed 
residents, respectively.  However, both groups still were much more likely to drive alone – 78.7 percent of 
College Hill residents and 81.2 percent of Cedar Falls residents.  Car ownership was somewhat different as well. 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

College Hill  Cedar Falls

Pe
rc

en
t o

f P
op

ul
at

io
n

Population Distribution by Age, 2019

 65+ Years

 55 to 64 Years
 35 to 54 Years
 25 to 34 Years

 20 to 24 Years
   0 to 19 Years

187

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

63 

 
 
 
College Hill has more than twice as many housing units in buildings with two to four units (22 percent) than 
elsewhere in Cedar Falls (10 percent).  This can be explained by the extensive dividing of large older single-
family homes and former boarding houses into multiple apartments for students. 
 

 
 
To some extent, using statistics for all of College Hill obscures the distinctions within the study area.  Looking at 
subareas within College Hill underscores the variations between student neighborhoods near the campus and more 
established single-family neighborhoods.   
 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

College Hill Cedar Falls

Pe
rc

en
t o

f U
ni

ts

Housing by Number of Units in 
Structure, 2013-2017

Mobile Home

20 or More

5 to 19

2 to 4

1, Detached or
Attached

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

College Hill Cedar Falls

Pe
rc

en
t o

f H
ou

se
ho

ld
s

Households by Number of Vehicles 
Available

4+ Vehicles
3 Vehicles
2 Vehicles

1 Vehicle
0 Vehicles

188

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

64
 

 
 
The northern portion of College Hill (bounded by 12th Street, Washington Street, 18th Street and Hudson Road) is 
markedly higher in incomes with a significantly lower share of renters than in other parts of College Hill closer to 
campus. 
 

University Trends 
College Hill’s dynamics and market potentials depend heavily on the number of University of Northern Iowa 
students on campus.  Student enrollments have dropped significantly over the past seven years due to changes in 
on-campus programs, increasing competition from the University of Iowa and Iowa State University, 
demographic changes in the number of college-aged students, a declining number of international students and 
low unemployment.  Total UNI enrollment has fallen from 12,273 in 2012 to 10,497 in 2019 – a 15-percent drop.  
During that same period, the number of students enrolled in college nationwide declined 11 percent, according to 
data from the National Student Clearinghouse Research Center.  Over the last five years, UNI enrollment has 
dropped by 12 percent, and 2019 saw a 6-percent decline from the preceding year.  Due to the effects of the 
COVID-19 pandemic, Fall 2020 enrollment is down to 9,522.  That represents a 7-percent decline in full-time 
enrollment.  However, the freshman class is larger than last year’s class, and some students have delayed starting 
until the Spring semester. 

 

Indicator

18th to 23rd 
Street Next to 

Campus
North of 18th 

Street
Seerley Park 

Neighborhood
South of 26th 

Street
Total 

College Hill
Cedar Falls 
City Total

Percent Families 20% 53% 30% 27% 35% 55%

Median Age 23.1                     31.6                     23.4                     23.5                     24.8                     30.6                   

Median Household Income $24,101 $65,462 $33,360 $29,598 $39,665 $59,519

Percent Renter 77% 29% 67% 70% 58% 36%

Median House Value $180,357 $178,383 $158,209 $192,188 $172,360 $199,035

Table 1. Selected Characteristics of College Hill Neighborhoods

Source: ESRI, 2020; Partners for Economic Solutions, 2020.

Selected Characteristics 

 -

 2,000

 4,000

 6,000

 8,000

 10,000

 12,000

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019Nu
m

be
r o

f F
ul

l-T
im

e 
St

ud
en

ts

UNI Full-Time Students

Undergraduate Graduate

189

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

65
 

 
Going forward, the demographic picture looks less promising with a national drop in college-aged students.  
However, the Iowa Department of Education has documented the number of high school students in schools 
across the state.  It projects the number of seniors increasing for the next seven years until the Class of 2028, 
which is likely to be four-percent smaller than the Class of 2027. 
 
The University has responded with an increase in new scholarships, a renewed focus on constraining increases in 
tuition and fees, increased recruitment of out-of-state students and greater emphasis on student retention and 
graduation. 
 

Housing Market 
Student housing, as defined by the real estate industry, typically rents by the bed rather than by the unit with each 
individual responsible for his or her own rent rather than being responsible for roommates’ rent as well.  Cedar 
Falls has three key student housing developments:  
 

• Hidden Valley Apartments developed in 1993 has 273 beds in 102 units on College Street between 21st 
and 22nd streets.  In 2019, CoStar, a national real estate data provider that owns Apartments.com, reports 
that Hidden Valley units rent for $345 per bed.  Amenities include a small fitness center and stand-up 
tanning. 

• Located west of Hudson Road on 27th Street, The Quarters at Cedar Falls offers 450 beds in four-
bedroom apartments built in 2001 for $435 per bed.  The complex offers a fitness center, basketball court, 
clubhouse, game room, racquetball court, spa, volleyball court and walking/biking trails. 

• Hillcrest Park provides 528 beds in 132 units built in 2003 on University Avenue one mile from the 
western edge of the UNI campus.  Its amenities include a basketball court, courtyard and volleyball court.  
Rents average $380 per bed.  

 
In comparison, UNI on-campus apartment rents are $709 to $879 per month with no obligation to pay rent over 
the summer.   
 
Of course, students live in many other apartment buildings and houses throughout College Hill.  CoStar tracks six 
larger buildings with a total of 114 units.  The rents for those units average $798 per month or $1.18 per square 
foot.  Rents range from $649 for a studio apartment to $691 for a one-bedroom unit, $949 for a two-bedroom unit 
and $1,500 for a three-bedroom unit.  As of September, the units were 98.5-percent leased.  Historically, these 
developments have maintained high occupancy rates, well above the 95-percent rate typically considered healthy.  
Some of the older units that have not been updated took much longer than normal to lease due, in part, to the 
uncertainty associated with the pandemic and the overall decline in UNI enrollment, and others remain vacant. 
 
Urban Flats, located at 2015 Olive Street and 917 W. 23rd Street, have been built next to campus in 2018 and 2020 
with rents from $900 for a one-bedroom unit to $2,200 for a large four-bedroom unit.  The rents of $1.25 to $1.65 
per square foot top the market.   
 
Zillow lists multiple houses available for rent at $1,500 to $1,600 for four bedrooms and $1,295 to $1,290 for 
three bedrooms close to campus.  A few blocks further away, monthly rents drop by $100 to $300. 

190

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

66
 

 
Newer large apartment complexes have been developed south of town past Greenhill Road with rents averaging 
$971 to $1,272 per month or $1.02 to $1.20 per square foot. 
 
A key constraint on the development of new apartments near campus is the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay 
District zoning requirement for on-site parking at a rate of one space per bedroom plus visitor parking.  Urban 
sites typically lack sufficient land to accommodate that much parking on a surface lot.  Structured parking 
significantly increases the costs of development.  Given the importance of walkability, compact development and 
population density for the health of a commercial business district/urban neighborhood, it will be important to 
pursue alternative approaches to accommodating residents’ vehicles, including remote parking alternatives. 
 
The other primary constraint on new development close to campus is the cost of assembling properties that are 
still being actively leased.  The continued economic life of the existing buildings raises the acquisition price and 
the resulting cost of land for the new development.  Typically, development economics require that new 
development replace existing building space at a ratio of four units for every demolished unit.  Achieving such a 
ratio of new development is very difficult with the amount of on-site parking required by the current zoning. 
 
Nationwide, development costs have been increasing faster than the cost of living.  The high costs also limit the 
amount of new development by requiring that the new units achieve rents high enough to cover the development 
costs.  Only a segment of the market will be able and willing to pay higher rents even for the convenience of 
living in a vital business district within easy walking distance of campus.  New urban housing should be delivered 
in small increments of 20 to 40 units so as not to overwhelm the market. 
 
On the single-family side, Zillow reports that home sales prices averaged $186,800 in 2019, up from $174,000 in 
2015, an increase of 7.4 percent or an annual increase of 1.8 percent.  College Hill neighborhood prices are below 
the citywide prices, reflecting the age and size of many of the units.  Prices are highest in the southern area south 
of 26th Street and in the neighborhood north of 18th Street. 
 

 
Source: Zillow, 2020. 

$174,000
$175,800

$177,600
$179,700

$186,800
$184,200

$165,000

$170,000

$175,000

$180,000

$185,000

$190,000

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

CEDAR FALLS HOME SALES PRICE 
TRENDS

191

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

67
 

 
Single-family housing that has not been broken up into separate apartments retains the potential for leasing to 
families and other non-students.  However, the units’ appeal to non-students depends on the nature of the 
surrounding neighborhood.  Houses in student-dominated neighborhoods west of Iowa Street and south of 18th 
Street are unlikely to find non-student buyers or renters.  Opportunities to reclaim student housing for family use 
will be better north of 18th Street where owner-occupied housing still prevails. 

 

Commercial Market 
The College Hill Business District, known as “Cedar Falls Entertainment District,” is dominated by eating and 
drinking establishments, as is common in college retail clusters.  College Hill restaurants, grills, bars and take-out 
food establishments include Chad’s Pizza and Restaurant, Great Wall, Greenhouse Kitchen, ICON Donuts and 
Sweetery, Insomnia Cookies, The Library on the Hill, Little Bigs, Milkbox Bakery, Mirch Masala Grill, Octopus, 
Oh My Grill, The Other Place, the Shakery, Sharky’s Fun House, Sidecar Coffee Shop, Studio House, Sub City 
and Suds Upstairs on the “Lower Hill” and Domino’s Pizza, $5 Pizza, Hydrant Firehouse Grill and Jimmy John’s 
on the “Upper Hill.”   
 
Though College Hill bars, restaurants and stores are heavily oriented to UNI students, some serve the surrounding 
neighborhood as well, attracting residents during summer months and some early-evening hours.   
 
We distinguish among types of retail space because they have different characteristics and somewhat different 
markets.  Neighborhood Goods & Services include grocery stores, drugstores, services and other businesses 
closely tied to the local population base; customers typically choose among them based on convenience.  On the 
convenience goods side, College Hill offers Bani’s Liquor, Buzz Smoke & Vapor, College Hill Farmers Market, 
Hill Street News & Tobacco, Kwik Star and Masala Market.  Service establishments include College Hill Barbers, 
College Hill Laundry, Copyworks, Dragon’s Cave Tattoos, the Finishing Touch Tattoo + Barbershop, The 
Razor’s Edge, Third Eye Tattoo, Voya the Salon and Wild Hair Salon. 
 
Traditional retailers offering merchandise typically found in a department store are relatively limited on the Hill – 
Limited Edition Comics, Mohair Pear, Price Check Kicks and UNI Bookstore.  The Hill does not offer a large 
enough number and variety of apparel and gift shops to allow people to comparison shop.  Most customers seek 
out such shops in the mall or elsewhere. 
 
According to inventory and occupancy statistics amassed by CoStar, the business district has 12 retail buildings 
with a total of 43,210 square feet of retail space.  There are currently no vacancies, and the vacancies that have 
developed through the years have been quickly filled.  The most recent additions have been 925 W. 22nd Street at 
College Street opened in 2019 and the Urban Flats building with first-floor retail space at 917 W. 23rd Street 
opened in 2020.  These buildings have been occupied by The Finishing Touch Tattoo + Barbershop, The Shakery, 
Buzz Smoke & Vapor, Great Wall, Greenhouse Kitchen and ICON Donuts and Sweetery.   
 
College Hill serves a trade area roughly bounded by 16th Street to the north, Iowa Street to the east, Laverne Lane 
to the south and the student housing developments beyond Hudson Road to the west.  This trade area probably 
generates 85 to 90 percent of the resident sales.  College Hill’s connection to UNI allows it to serve students, 

192

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

68
 

faculty, staff and visitors to the campus.  To a much lesser extent, the business district also serves nearby 
neighborhoods.   
  
We compare the supply of stores and other businesses measured by sales to the demand for retail goods in the 
trade area measured by residents’ expenditures for different types of goods based on data provided by ESRI and 
Infogroup.  Comparing the sales by all the stores in this trade area to the residents’ expenditures suggests a major 
gap among Neighborhood Goods & Services.  This reflects the lack of a grocery store and the few drugstores in 
the area.  Shown in Table 2, the grocery store gap is estimated at $5.4 million in potential annual sales, enough to 
support a small grocery store of 8,000 to 10,000 square feet.  However, it should be noted that the Hy-Vee just 
outside the trade area is serving many of the trade area customers.  The new food co-op opening in downtown 
Cedar Falls will also attract some trade area residents to shop.  The challenge for College Hill lies in identifying 
an appropriate operator and a site that can accommodate both the store and its parking needs.  While walk-in 
traffic would alleviate some of the parking need, such a store would still be likely to need 25 to 50 parking spaces 
and a site of 0.5 to 0.8 acres.  
 

 
 
College Hill retailers would benefit from closer physical ties between the Lower Hill and the Upper Hill, which 
points to the importance of filling in the gap along the west side of College Street between 21st and 22nd streets.  
Over the long run, relocating the Kwik Star gas station from College Avenue would provide a site for more 
compatible retail uses. 

NAICS Industry Group
Demand (Retail 

Potential)
Supply (Existing 

Retail Sales) Retail Gap

445 Food & Beverage Stores $5,869,000 $574,000 $5,295,000
4451   Grocery Stores $5,433,000 $0 $5,433,000
4452   Specialty Food Stores $257,000 $0 $257,000
4453   Beer, Wine & Liquor Stores $179,000 $499,000 -$320,000

446, 4461 Health & Personal Care Stores $1,655,000 $245,000 $1,410,000
Total Neighborhood Goods and Services $7,524,000 $819,000 $6,705,000

722 Food Services & Drinking Places $3,122,000 $6,978,000 -$3,856,000
7225   Restaurant and Eating Places $2,844,000 $6,548,000 -$3,704,000
7223   Special Food Services $60,000 $0 $60,000
7224   Drinking Places - Alcoholic Beverages $218,000 $395,000 -$177,000

Total Eating and Drinking $3,122,000 $6,978,000 -$3,856,000

452 General Merchandise Stores $5,252,000 $0 $5,252,000
448 Clothing & Clothing Accessories Stores $1,128,000 $0 $1,128,000
442 Furniture & Home Furnishings Stores $838,000 $0 $838,000
443 Electronics & Appliance Stores $1,073,000 $1,061,454 $11,546
451 Sporting Goods, Hobby, Book & Music Stores $781,000 $7,597,695 -$6,816,695
453 Miscellaneous Store Retailers $1,352,000 $545,000 $807,000

Total Shoppers Goods $10,424,000 $9,204,149 $1,219,851

Table 2. College Hill Trade Area Sales and Expenditures by Retail Category, 2020

Source: ESRI, Retail Marketplace Profile, 2020; Partners for Economic Solutions, 2020.

Shoppers Goods (General Merchandise, Apparel and Accessories, Furniture and Furnishings and Other)

Eating and Drinking

Neighborhood Goods and Services

193

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

69

Market Considerations Report prepared by

 

College Hill has almost no office space.  Most insurance agents, realtors, physicians, dentists and other businesses 
that tend to occupy neighborhood-based office space are located elsewhere with convenient parking and lower 
rents than available on College Hill.  Contiguous retail frontage without office interruption on the streets is a 
benefit that should be encouraged to continue.   
 

Implications for the Vision Plan 
• Encourage additional retail space development to expand the inventory and provide a more well-rounded 

mix of stores, restaurants and bars. 
• Where possible, develop mixed-use space with residential units above the first-floor retail space to 

develop a higher density of residential uses. 
• Bring in new retail customers through new residential and mixed-use development.  
• Exercise caution in developing retail uses beyond College Street, 23rd Street and possibly 22nd Street.  

Focused energy is important to the district’s vitality. 
• Enhance pedestrian and bicycle connections from the campus and other surrounding areas to help bring 

additional customers to College Hill.  Use improved connections to draw UNI students out to explore 
more of the community’s offerings.  Provide bike racks to encourage greater use of bikes to reach local 
restaurants and retail shops.   

• Scale or phase new residential and mixed-use development in small to medium-sized projects timed to 
meet the market demand. 

• Create gathering places for outdoor dining and periodic events to draw more people to College Hill.  
Improvements to Pettersen Plaza and creation of a plaza on the extension of 23rd Street east of College 
Avenue will help to support events.   

 
New residential development in the core of College Hill immediately north of campus is very unlikely to occur 
without a solution to the parking quandary.  Requiring one parking space for every bedroom imposes a cost that 
the market cannot bear.  The densities that can be supported with that level of parking will not justify replacing 
the existing, obsolescent housing that depresses College Hill’s appearance and appeal. 
  

• Work with the University to find alternatives to building as much on-site parking as the zoning now 
requires for new residential development.   

• Explore possible solutions to accommodate parking off-site within two to three blocks of new 
development, if possible.  

• Adjust the on-site parking ratios for new development to require one-quarter to one-half of on-site 
parking now required, and allow developers to meet the remaining demand with off-site parking lots. 

• To prevent residents of new developments with reduced on-site parking requirements from monopolizing 
on-street parking, consider a program of issuing and enforcing residential parking permits. 

 

 

 

194

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

70

 Visual Preference Exercise: Summary of Board A Results     

C
ed

ar
 F

al
ls

, I
ow

a
C

ol
le

ge
 H

ill
 –

 P
ub

lic
 K

ic
k-

O
ff

 M
ee

tin
g

Ja
nu

ar
y 

29
, 2

02
0

V
is

ua
l P

re
fe

re
nc

e 
R

es
ul

ts

1
2

4
3

5

9
10

11
8

7

15
14

13
16

17

21
22

23
20

19

6 12 18 24

B
O

A
R

D
 A

A
dj

ac
en

t N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

ds
 

195

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill!
May 2021

71

 Visual Preference Exercise: Summary of Board B Results     

C
ed

ar
 F

al
ls

, I
ow

a
C

ol
le

ge
 H

ill
 –

 P
ub

lic
 K

ic
k-

O
ff

 M
ee

tin
g

Ja
nu

ar
y 

29
, 2

02
0

V
is

ua
l P

re
fe

re
nc

e 
R

es
ul

ts

1
2

4
3

5

9
10

11
8

7

15
14

13
16

17

21
22

23
20

19

6 12 18 24

B
O

A
R

D
 B

C
ol

le
ge

 H
ill

 C
en

te
r 

– 
R

es
id

en
tia

l
C

ol
le

ge
 H

ill
 C

en
te

r 
– 

C
om

m
er

ci
al

 &
 M

ix
ed

-U
se

196

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

72

Visual Preference Exercise: Summary of Board C Results     

C
ed

ar
 F

al
ls

, I
ow

a
C

ol
le

ge
 H

ill
 –

 P
ub

lic
 K

ic
k-

O
ff

 M
ee

tin
g

Ja
nu

ar
y 

29
, 2

02
0

V
is

ua
l P

re
fe

re
nc

e 
R

es
ul

ts

1
2

4
3

5

9
10

11
8

7

15
14

13
16

17

21
22

23
20

19

6 12 18 24

B
O

A
R

D
 C

C
ol

le
ge

 H
ill

 C
en

te
r 

Pa
rk

in
g

C
ol

le
ge

 H
ill

 S
tr

ee
t S

pa
ce

 –
 C

en
te

r 
&

 N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
Pu

bl
ic

 R
ea

lm

197

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

73

 Strengths & Weaknesses Exercise: Table Map 1

198

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

74

Strengths & Weaknesses Exercise: Table Map 2

199

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

75

Strengths & Weaknesses Exercise: Table Map 3

200

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

76

Strengths & Weaknesses Exercise: Table Map 4

201

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

77

Strengths & Weaknesses Exercise: Table Map 5

202

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

78

Public Kick-Off Event – Survey Results

University of Northern Iowa Center for Energy and Environmental Education
Attendee Survey

Wednesday, January 29, 2020

SUMMARY of 18 responses

1. Do you:     Yes No Other
a. Live in the study area?   14   1 
b. Go to school in the study area?     2 11 1 (my kid does)
c. Work in the study area?   11   6 1 (university)
d. Own property in the study area?   13   1 

2. How often do you go to the College Hill Center – the College & 23rd Streets mixed-use area? (circle one)
 Note: Some respondents provided more than one answer, noting that their schedule was “seasonal”

a. Every day   9
b. A few times a week  7
c. Several times a month  3
d. Once or twice a month  - 
e. A few times a year  -
f. Never    -

3. How often do you go to the businesses along Main and State inside the study area? (circle one)
a. Every day   2
b. A few times a week  7
c. Several times a month  4
d. Once or twice a month  1
e. A few times a year  2
f. Never    2

4. What typically brings you to the College Hill Center? (circle all that apply)
a. Live there        7
b. Work there     12
c. Shopping        8
d. Restaurants        8
e. Parking for school       2
f. Civic activities (worship, library, etc.)     3
g. Special campus event (athletic event, theater, etc.)    6
h. Other: live music (2); visit UNI library and campus events (2); walking the dog; live comedy; support businesses;  
 meetings; Mohair Pear; Kum N’Go 

5. When you come to College Hill, how do you usually get here? (circle one)
a. Drive (personal vehicle)    12
b. Take the bus        1
c. Walk      11
d. Ride a bicycle/scooter    2.5  (not often, not bike-friendly)
e. Ride-share (Taxi, Uber, Lyft, etc.)  -

203

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

79

Please provide any additional comments on the back. (see below)

• Please add better bicycle/pedestrian connections in the area to foster green practices. Make College Hill a 
biking destination to utilize the trail/bicycle system.

• Direct bike access to bike paths; “fill in” commercial area on College St. between 23rd & 22nd (replacing 
existing residential); vision for rentals in College Hill residential w/UNI enrollment down. Single family? 
Refurbish?

• We need space where art can be public
• Great food & restaurants on the Hill – but they need attractions to bring people to the bars & restaurants. 

Things like movie theaters or black box theaters or an art museum. Things like that. Smaller towns have 
block box theaters.

• The PPT you presented tonight needed to be oriented to College Hill/CF more. Even Streetview (Google) 
photos would have been better than looking at images from D.C. etc. It seemed lazy & unprofessional. You 
could also just rethink it by showing us ideas of what works in Europe/ped malls, cafes, etc. It would have 
been great to have learned something new tonight.

• Public transportation to the Hill is poor; bike facilities (roads, racks) are poor, too

204

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

80

UNI Student Web Survey Results

205

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

81206

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

82 207

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

83208

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

84 209

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

85210

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

86 211

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

87

Work-in-Progress
Survey

SURVEY RESPONSE REPORT
14 October 2020 - 01 November 2020

PROJECT NAME:

College Hill Work-In-Progress Presentation

Q1  Have you watched the Work-in-Progress presentation? (any version -- live planning

commission meeting, video, or slides)

12 (92.3%)

12 (92.3%)

1 (7.7%)

1 (7.7%)

Yes No

Question options

Mandatory Question (13 response(s))

Question type: Radio Button Question

Work-in-Progress Survey : Survey Report for 14 October 2020 to 01 November 2020

Page 2 of 8

Q2  What is your interest in the Imagine College Hill Vision Plan? (Please check all that apply)

7

7

5

5

5

5

2

2

4

4

I live in the study area I work in the study area I own property in the study area I go to school in the study area

Other (please specify)

Question options

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Mandatory Question (13 response(s))

Question type: Checkbox Question

Work-in-Progress Survey : Survey Report for 14 October 2020 to 01 November 2020

Page 3 of 8

Q3  Which of the College Hill Vision Plan events did you attend or participate in? (check all

that apply)

4

4

3

3

3

3

4

4

2

2

1

1

7

7

January 2020 Public Kick-Off event at CEEE January 2020 Stakeholder Interview

Virtual "Hands-On" Community Design Workshop on Saturday morning, October 3 UNI Student Survey

Virtual Open Studio Q&A on October 5 or October 7

Virtual Technical Meeting or Stakeholder Interview (Monday, Tuesday, or Wednesday, October 5-7)

The "Work-in-Progress" presentation is my first involvement

Question options

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Mandatory Question (13 response(s))

Question type: Checkbox Question

Work-in-Progress Survey : Survey Report for 14 October 2020 to 01 November 2020

Page 4 of 8

Virtual Charrette “Work-in-Progress” Presentation – Web Survey Results
Presentation via Web Video Streaming

Wednesday, October 14, 2020

212

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

88

Anonymous

10/16/2020 10:59 AM

Connecting lower college hill to upper college hill.

Anonymous

10/22/2020 02:50 PM

street trees

Anonymous

10/27/2020 11:18 AM

Better zoning practices in the immediate area of the Hill and school

(upzoning)

Anonymous

10/27/2020 12:21 PM

Walkability increase and maintaining neighborhood character

Anonymous

10/27/2020 01:21 PM

Connecting lower and upper hill

Anonymous

10/27/2020 02:41 PM

In an earlier October discussion, I heard that one objective is to provide more

or better alternatives for student transportation between campus and

downtown. I didn't hear an obvious solution but the problem was clearly

identified.

Anonymous

10/27/2020 08:29 PM

Stabilize and enhance neighborhoods

Anonymous

10/28/2020 05:39 AM

Improving the dining and shopping options in the area.

Anonymous

10/28/2020 07:11 AM

How to get College Hill to easily connect not just to campus but other areas

of CF including Downtown

Anonymous

10/28/2020 03:14 PM

Changing parking requirements so development can happen. Putting garages

BEHIND housing in new prototypes.

Anonymous

10/30/2020 08:16 AM

..

Anonymous

10/30/2020 08:17 AM

i didnt hear it

dvsnothere

10/30/2020 08:31 AM

Expansion of bike lanes and securing affordable, quality food items in the

area to reduce automobile transportation.

Q4  What was the most important idea that you heard in the Work-in-Progress presentation?

Mandatory Question (13 response(s))

Work-in-Progress Survey : Survey Report for 14 October 2020 to 01 November 2020

Page 5 of 8

Q5  Based on the Work-in-Progress presentation, in your opinion, is the Imagine College Hill

Vision project generally (pick one)

8 (61.5%)

8 (61.5%)

3 (23.1%)

3 (23.1%)

1 (7.7%)

1 (7.7%)
1 (7.7%)

1 (7.7%)
0 (0.0%)

0 (0.0%)

On the right track Somewhat on the right track On the wrong track I'm not sure

Somewhat on the wrong track

Question options

Mandatory Question (13 response(s))

Question type: Radio Button Question

Work-in-Progress Survey : Survey Report for 14 October 2020 to 01 November 2020

Page 7 of 8

Anonymous

10/27/2020 12:21 PM

We need not rewrite the code to make it cheaper for developers to build

without parking and guarantee them a profit. I heard that in the presntation,

that we must make it profitable for developers. This can't be done be

eliminating all parking.

Anonymous

10/27/2020 02:41 PM

To clarify the presentation – State the objective or the problem to be solved.

It isn’t obvious to all. Who will benefit and how? The graphics would be easier

to interpret if you label/show North and a recognizable landmark.

Anonymous

10/27/2020 08:29 PM

Looks great!

Anonymous

10/28/2020 05:39 AM

The area needs more greenery the potential options looked great. More multi

use commercial/residential

Anonymous

10/28/2020 03:14 PM

Nice idea with gas station at Seerley and Main, too (gas in back), and

connecting upper and lower Hill, and other infill ideas. Also, love the idea of

the closed piece of 23rd street to a plaza for festivals.

Anonymous

10/30/2020 08:16 AM

..

dvsnothere

10/30/2020 08:31 AM

I am also in favor of creating more green spaces especially along Dry Run

Creek so we intgrate with the landscape and so more to connect with CF's

resiliency and stormwater run off plans.

Q6  Please provide any additional comments here.

Optional question (7 response(s), 6 skipped)

Question type: Single Line Question

Work-in-Progress Survey : Survey Report for 14 October 2020 to 01 November 2020

Page 8 of 8

213

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

89

Residential Parking: Required Minimum Ratios

During the Imagine College Hill Project, the consultant team reviewed the recent College Hill parking study and 
studied the current residential parking requirements from the perspective of both the local real estate market, and basic 
site layout and building design. The recommendations to reduce the minimum parking requirements in the Market 
Considerations (p. 17) and Appendix (p. 62);  Transportation Review (p.18); and Illustrative Projects (p.45) sections of 
this plan are based on this analysis and the aspiration to have more students living within walking distance of campus.

The current minimum parking requirements are one space per bedroom, which in the College Hill/UNI context assumes 
that every student has a car. (While historically many college students shared bedrooms, the current student rental 
practices indicate that is no longer the case. Even the UNI dormitories have moved toward single-room occupancy.) Any 
renter who does not have a car will be paying for a space that they do not need and do not use. A mandated-but-unused 
parking space on College Hill is expensive land that could be put to a better use. The exact number of students who have 
cars may fluctuate a few percentage points from year to year, but it is always well below 100%.

The Prototypical Projects that are illustrated were created for this Vision Plan and based on real-world figures: typical 
apartment sizes (1000 square feet per 2-bedroom apartment) and standard parking space configurations. The table 
below provides the unit and bedroom counts for the projects as illustrated, with ground floors being non-residential, 
and including the increase in units created by adding floors to the building (with parking spaces remaining constant). 
The estimated amount of on-site surface parking that could be provided on each site is based on a calculation of: the 
area remaining after the building footprint area and the vehicular circulation area are subtracted from the total lot area.  
Note that only one of the Prototypical Projects below would meet the current parking requirements, underscoring the 
importance of revising the standards if redevelopment and intensification of student housing near campus is the goal.

TABLE KEY:
Yellow Boxes: the number of parking spaces that can fit on the lot as illustrated
Red Boxes: the parking provided does not meet the ratio at the top of the column; therefore the project would not be permitted
Green Boxes: the parking provided does meet the ratio and therefore the project  would be permitted

The “parking sink” on the bottom row provides the number of parking spaces in the prototypical off-site parking lot illustrated on p.56.

Configuration Site Units/BRs
Current 

Rate 1/BR .75/BR .5/BR
22nd & College

# of Spaces 19 spaces
3 Stories 12 du/24 BR N 19 Y 13 Y
4 Stories 19/38 N 28 N 19 Y

21st & College
# of Spaces 40 spaces
3 Stories 22/44 N 33 Y 22 Y
4 Stories 33/66 N 50 N 33 Y

22nd & Merner
# of Spaces 54 spaces
3 Stories 25/50 Y 37 Y 25 Y
4 Stories 37/75 N 56 N 37 Y

23rd & Merner
# of Spaces 27 spaces
3 Stories 14/28 N 21 Y 14 Y
4 Stories 21/42 N 32 N 21 Y

Parking Sink
166 spaces

IMAGINE COLLEGE HILL -- PROTOTYPICAL PROJECT PARKING SUPPLY

214

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

90

Give us your feedback!

SURVEY RESPONSE REPORT
10 February 2021 - 11 March 2021

PROJECT NAME:

Draft Imagine College Hill Vision Plan

Q1  Do you currently... (check all that apply)

26

26

13

13 18

18

4

4

13

13

Live in the study area Work in the study area Own property in the study area Go to school in the study area

Other

Question options

10

20

30

Mandatory Question (44 response(s))

Question type: Checkbox Question

Give us your feedback! : Survey Report for 10 February 2021 to 11 March 2021

Page 2 of 20

Anonymous

2/16/2021 02:53 PM

I was a faculty member at UNI and know this area fairly well.

Anonymous

2/16/2021 06:44 PM

Shop, dine, and attend events in the study area

Anonymous

2/19/2021 11:38 AM

I also shop in the area, walk in the area, and am well-connected with

neighbors and others living here.

Anonymous

2/25/2021 06:29 AM

Live in Cedar Falls

Anonymous

2/28/2021 06:40 PM

Live in cedar falls

Anonymous

3/09/2021 04:59 PM

Am up on the hill almost daily.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 05:20 PM

Visit area

Anonymous

3/09/2021 06:05 PM

Visit

Anonymous

3/09/2021 08:56 PM

I live North of Campus, just off 1st street

Anonymous

3/10/2021 04:57 AM

Frequent customer to the area

Anonymous

3/10/2021 05:32 AM

other

Anonymous

3/10/2021 07:49 AM

I live in the Birdsall area so drive through here frequently or order take out

from this neighborhood.

Anonymous

3/10/2021 02:10 PM

I am a former UNI grad and currently a resident of Cedar Falls but do not live

in the college hill district.

Q2  If you answered 'OTHER,' please explain.

Mandatory Question (13 response(s))

Question type: Single Line Question

Give us your feedback! : Survey Report for 10 February 2021 to 11 March 2021

Page 3 of 20

Q3  Which of College Hill Vision Plan events did you attend? (check all that apply)

Q4  Based on your review of the Draft Imagine College Hill Vision Plan, in general, does the

Plan provide a good framework for ...

9

9

6

6

5

5

1

1 7

7

8

8 14

14

25

25

Kick-Off Presentation (January 2020 at CEEE) Virtual Design Workshop (Saturday, October 3)

Virtual Technical Meeting or Stakeholder Interview (October 5-7) On-Line UNI Student Survey (October 3-8)

Virtual Open Studio Q&A (October 5 or 7) Virtual Work-in-Progress Presentation (October 14)

Virtual Draft Vision Plan Presentation (February 10, 2021) None

Question options

10

20

30

11 (25.0%)

11 (25.0%)

14 (31.8%)

14 (31.8%)
9 (20.5%)

9 (20.5%)

2 (4.5%)

2 (4.5%)

7 (15.9%)

7 (15.9%)
1 (2.3%)

1 (2.3%)

Yes, definitely Generally, Yes Somewhat Generally, No Definitely Not Don’t know/No opinion

Question options

Mandatory Question (44 response(s))

Question type: Checkbox Question

Mandatory Question (44 response(s))

Question type: Radio Button Question

Give us your feedback! : Survey Report for 10 February 2021 to 11 March 2021

Page 4 of 20

College Hill Vision Plan Public Review Draft – Web Survey Results

215

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

91

Q5  Do you have any comments or questions about the PLAN RECOMMENDATIONS in the

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY.

20 (45.5%)

20 (45.5%)

24 (54.5%)

24 (54.5%)

Yes No

Question options

Optional question (44 response(s), 0 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Give us your feedback! : Survey Report for 10 February 2021 to 11 March 2021

Page 5 of 20

Anonymous

2/16/2021 02:53 PM

While I agree there is a major parking situation, the plan seems to really hit

that hard. The consultants seem to think that college students will live in the

area and NOT bring their cars to Cedar Falls. Do they actually know college

students?? And I wonder why you are considering clear up to 12th street as

part of College Hill???

Anonymous

2/19/2021 11:38 AM

This is a great plan. It's visionary and will assist in providing good public

space and connection between neighborhoods and college hill. I appreciate

the aesthetic as well. I appreciate anything tying in interests of the various

constituents in the area and not just something that will benefit the almighty

dollar. Thank you for considering this plan and thanks to all who have worked

so hard on it.

Anonymous

2/22/2021 03:54 PM

I appreciated that the College Hill Partnership was included in the priorities

listed in the Executive Summery. I would like to see in the "Create gateways

to College Hill to provide a sense of arrival" section: a note that these

gateways to the area are very important as the Hill is one of the first places

that visitors to Cedar Falls by way of the university see. The Hill should play a

vital role of inviting university visitors into the rest of the city.

Anonymous

2/25/2021 06:25 AM

What are you going to do about mixing in student housing in residential

neighborhoods when they have loud parties and don't respect their

neighbors? What about upkeep of those properties such as snow removal

and mowing the lawn? Will off street parking always be available so the

streets aren't filled with cars?

Anonymous

2/25/2021 06:26 AM

What businesses were actually part of this survey? Seems like a lot of

money for consultants with limited input of citizens.

Anonymous

2/25/2021 06:29 AM

Please don't add more housing specially the tall buildings like they did

downtown. I feel it got rid of the small town feel. Plus it doesn't match they

rest of the downtown. I love the bike path idea as long it is not in the street.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 11:23 AM

The vision and recommendations look really good, but the means to get there

are less clear. I know that the idea is that changes to city code will help, but

it's going to take a lot more than that to get there. I'm also not clear what is

meant by "stabilizing the neighborhood" and want to make sure that this

means preserving both historical character, amenities that support a strong

community, and expanding the unique mix of human diversity. One important

part of that is a revitalized Seerley Park, which was not part of this plan but

definitely should be since it is owned by the city and under its direct control

and management and is the heart of the neighborhood.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 05:25 PM

1. Create a thoughtful vision plan to manage change over time. • Reflect on

the past, consider the present, look to the future Cedar Falls has a history as

a sundown town, has difficulty attracting Black residents (and visitors), and is

Q6  Please identify the specific Plan Recommendation(s), if applicable.

Give us your feedback! : Survey Report for 10 February 2021 to 11 March 2021

Page 6 of 20

currently embroiled in community tension as a result of active/ongoing racism,

which has never been addressed in a systemic way. Our city government is

comprised of white people only. It appears as if the key partners in this

consulting firm are also white. I'd imagine very few Black people were

engaged in any of the stakeholder meetings or input gathering sessions.

Since we know land use policy and planning and zoning code has long been

used as a tool to reinforce systemic racism, I would expect to see some

mention of race in the plan - at the bare minimum. How have our policies

impact BIPOC? How do they currently? How can we write better code and

policy which works to actively make corrections for such? How can we build

to be a more inclusive community in the future? At the very least, the city

needs to ask itself these questions. As we prepare a vision and plan for the

future of our community - which will result in a rewriting of our p&z code - we

need to be able to say we had the conversations, and did the research to

arrive at answers. It is completely negligent for a team of entirely (?) white

city administrators, electeds, consultants, and stakeholders to plan for the

future of this community without a single mention of race.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 06:04 PM

Parking needs improvement. Tear down a couple old properties.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 07:00 PM

We need to have viable businesses. There are too many vape shops, etc.

This is no way to get families to move to the district. For that matter, why

would those of us who have lived in the district for 38 years stay? Mainly

because our house values have declined over the years because of the

rentals and horrible landlords.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 07:58 PM

As revisions to zoning are considered, I would like to ask that issues of

equity and diversity be considered. Making the College Hill area both

welcoming for all, and affordable, is extremely important. Public transit

access needs to be improved so that those without cars can access the area

(that will also help the parking issue), along with connecting the bike trails.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 08:56 PM

We like the addition of more trees/greenscape in all of the plans, College Hill

needs that! It will make the area more appealing. Redevelopment needs to

proceed carefully in residential areas- too many homeowners in Cedar Falls

have had homes on their block converted to college rental properties that are

not properly maintained. NObody should have to walk up and down their

street collecting beer bottles in what is a residential neighborhood becasue

college students who have no interest in maintaining the home's value and

have no regard for their neighbors. Set up specific College housing zones,

spend some of the development $$ to buy homeowners who want to move

out at a fair market value.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 11:39 PM

College Hill is more a part of UNI than it is the City of Cedar Falls. We

already have enough bike paths and sidewalks. Main roads (18th and

College St)already have large paintings on them to “share the road”.

Currently about 10000 cars to every bike. Don’t see any bikes five months a

year because of our weather. It makes the bike crowd happy but pisses

Give us your feedback! : Survey Report for 10 February 2021 to 11 March 2021

Page 7 of 20

everyone else off. Tax them somehow to pay a users fee like the cars

currently pay for roads and maintenance though a gas tax. The city feels that

everything else should be self sufficient. College Hill is no longer family

friendly. All that is currently there are liquor stores, vape shops, bars and

tattoo parlors. Not things my family is attracted to. Focus on getting the

student base up. They are down 4000 students. None of this is bringing more

students here and won’t. We don’t need a grocery store because the last one

closed 30 years ago. Get real. Focus on the real problems not the liberals

“wish” list. Get your head out of the sand. Parking is and will always problem.

The studies are a waste of tax dollars and be better used.

Anonymous

3/10/2021 08:07 AM

The growth of the Hill area means an increase of heavy truck traffic. This is

natural and should be expected. All goods must be trucked to the

neighborhood, typically using tractor trailer sized vehicles. Then all the waste

and trash must be trucked out using large refuse collection trucks.

Transportation planning should include accommodations for these large

trucks. The streets generally impacted are University Ave., College St. and

18th St. Large trucks can not turn around easily. The alley access points at

the rear of the Hill business do not allow for easy loading zones. Loading

operations typically are done from the street front, which then constricts other

traffic flow. The renderings presented on line showing the wonderful

streetscapes should be drawn with samples of large delivery trucks. Thank

you for the opportunity to comment.

Anonymous

3/10/2021 10:26 AM

A reduction of the emphasis on alcohol, cbd/thc, Kratom, vaping and other

dangerous and predatory business interests.

Anonymous

3/10/2021 10:33 AM

I'm so disappointed to see the number of marijuana, alcohol, and tattoo

places in the College Hill area. Can we have some things that promote

positive behaviors and lifestyles?

Anonymous

3/10/2021 06:53 PM

I have become aware of the lack of outreach and inclusion in the plan of

cedar falls' minority BIPOC population. How will this be remefied?

Anonymous

3/10/2021 06:54 PM

Lot of great effort in this and applaud putting this together. It hard to see how

there’s really a true need for high density housing given the 1) current

enrollment of the university, 2) given the monopoly a certain owners with

what seems to be a one sided CPH. Hard for the “little” guys to get a fair

voice or even what to show up at any meetings.

Anonymous

3/10/2021 09:29 PM

I want to make sure that the plan considers the impact of code changes on

diverse people/people of color. The current stakeholders (myself included) in

Cedar Falls are all or mostly white. The future Cedar Falls needs to be more

welcoming and diverse. How can plans for the future and recommendations

for changes in the code address that? We need to think deeply about the

structures we make and amend, and how that moves us to a more diverse

and welcoming place in the future.

Anonymous I have a concern that the plan builds on the work of College Hill Partnership.

Give us your feedback! : Survey Report for 10 February 2021 to 11 March 2021

Page 8 of 20

216

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

92

3/10/2021 10:05 PM The partnership is predominantly controlled by one developer and his

colleges, so I would not put that much merit in what they might push for. I

can see there is not a good understanding of the college rental market and

how it evolved as the campus grew, particularly when the enrollment out

grew the dorm space in the 60's on to the peak enrollment in roughly 2002 I

believe when the campus enrollment went over 14,000. The character

neighborhoods are not big enough that show the student rental market.

Mandatory Question (20 response(s))

Question type: Essay Question

Give us your feedback! : Survey Report for 10 February 2021 to 11 March 2021

Page 9 of 20

Q7  Do you have specific comments and/or questions on the ANALYSIS section of the

Imagine College Hill Vision Plan?

7 (15.9%)

7 (15.9%)

37 (84.1%)

37 (84.1%)

Yes No

Question options

Mandatory Question (44 response(s))

Question type: Radio Button Question

Give us your feedback! : Survey Report for 10 February 2021 to 11 March 2021

Page 10 of 20

Anonymous

2/22/2021 03:54 PM

I appreciate the inclusion of feedback form the university students especially

the highlight of mobility. There is a lot of speculation about the university

students and their transportation habits and requirements by the greater

community. Many times the speculation is just an assumption and not based

on data for feedback from the current student population.

Anonymous

2/25/2021 06:26 AM

How many bikes have been on campus from November through February?

Bike paths used when students are gone in the summer? Campus already

has enough concrete. College Hill is now part of UNI. Parking is and always

has been the number one concern on campus and downtown. I’m not going

to ride my bike or walk in the cold or hot humid day to go out. Get real. Ask

the masses, not the fringe groups that continually push the agendas.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 04:59 PM

Need much more parking.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 07:00 PM

The meetings were not well-advertised or presented online. As residents of

the district and full-time workers, we don’t have time for this nonsense. Also,

to do this study during COVID-19 was nuts!

Anonymous

3/10/2021 06:54 PM

Don’t see any value in high density just so one can justify their building

project.

Anonymous

3/10/2021 09:29 PM

YES -- UNI should take a more active role in helping the neighborhood solve

the parking issue. They have SO MUCH space, but does so little -- it forces

parking out into the neighborhood. So, let people park in the parking garage.

Sell parking spaces! It's hardly used! Coordinate parking management with

UNI. The parking fee structures, hours of public availability, and enforcement

for the city and university parking should be similar. Currently, students and

university employees alike take advantage of the “free” on-street parking

supply in nearby neighborhoods rather than purchase parking permits. In

addition, as the Imagine College Hill Plan is implemented, consider marketing

College Hill as a place where students can live car-free and rely on a robust

multi-modal system that is convenient, safe, and reliable for the bulk of trips

that residents need to make in the district.

Anonymous

3/10/2021 10:05 PM

again, the borders for the student dominant area needs to be expanded.

Q8  Provide us your specific comments here! Please reference specific sub-sections or page

numbers in your response, if possible.

Mandatory Question (7 response(s))

Question type: Essay Question

Give us your feedback! : Survey Report for 10 February 2021 to 11 March 2021

Page 11 of 20

Q9  Some of the sub-sections of the IMAGINE COLLEGE HILL FRAMEWORK section of the

College Hill Plan are listed below. Please select which sub-sections you'd like to comment on,

if any.

10

10

7

7
8

8

29

29

Big Ideas Character Areas Building Frontages No Comment on any sub-sections

Question options

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

24

26

28

30

32

Mandatory Question (44 response(s))

Question type: Checkbox Question

Give us your feedback! : Survey Report for 10 February 2021 to 11 March 2021

Page 12 of 20

217

Item 17.



Imagine College Hill! 
May 2021

93

Anonymous

2/16/2021 02:53 PM

The plan looks great. Is it realistic? Remake the streets? Remake store

fronts? Where does the funding come from?

Anonymous

2/16/2021 04:48 PM

Overall, the plans for transforming the Dry Run Creek area as greenspace is

sound and quite positive. However, we should add mitigation against urban

flooding by not building a walk way covering over the creek between

Pettersen Plaza and Olive St. We need to secure our investment by allowing

potentially record-level floodwaters to flow through rather than be squeezed

by a longer drainage culvert beneath College St and Pettersen Plaza.

Anonymous

2/16/2021 07:38 PM

The Big Ideas are all spot-on and the city and neighborhood need to take

these up.

Anonymous

2/22/2021 03:54 PM

I think these big ideas really capture the desires of the community to improve

College Hill.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 11:23 AM

Big support for enhancing neighborhood, linking upper and lower hill and

treating natural areas as amenities

Anonymous

3/09/2021 07:00 PM

Get rid (or limit) the number of liquor stores and vape shops.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 07:58 PM

I really like the idea of multi-use buildings, as well as making sure there is

green space. I'd like the whole area to be environmentally conscious, as well

as improving accessibility via pedestrians and bikes and public transit.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 07:58 PM

loved the comment about a UNI students family coming to the hill & having it

be a friendly, vibrant neighborhood. i’ve been frustrated with the amount of

smoke shops we currently have :/ we need more places like sidecar, milkbox,

mohair pear, octopus!

Anonymous

3/10/2021 05:32 AM

none

Anonymous

3/10/2021 09:29 PM

1. I love these ideas (below). Is there something we can do to prevent racial

discrimination against renters in the code? Or related laws the city needs to

make. The discrimination is a REAL thing. Look at CF's population. Make

sure the rules enable the development of more intense student housing in the

Heart of College Hill, General College Hill and University Neighborhood

character areas, within walking distance to campus and the local businesses

(see p. 35)•Maintain regulations prohibiting the conversion of single-family

Q10  Leave us your comments or questions about the BIG IDEAS for College Hill.

Question type: Checkbox Question

Give us your feedback! : Survey Report for 10 February 2021 to 11 March 2021

Page 13 of 20

houses into apartments outside of designated areas•Adjust parking

requirements to ensure College Hill is “the place” where students can live

without a car•Revise parking requirements to enable and encourage less

expensive (market-rate) housing•Work with UNI to promote car-free living for

students 2. As a long-time member of the College Hill Partnership, I find the

city is prohibitively restrictive on cafe seating, public events with alcohol,

adding decorative lighting across College St., and doing public street

closures for things like the College Hill Farmers Market. Community Main

Street gets an easy path on much of this. The city tends to view College Hill

as full of stereotypical drunk students, so it makes it very difficult for us to be

taken seriously as a community with students, families, and others. They go

out of their way to steer development to downtown, but treat College Hill like

an afterthought. Some in the staff and city council, in particular, imagine the

Hill how it was in their college days, and think the standards from the 1970s

and 80s (crappy rentals and few regulations) are completely fine. So, we like

the ideas below, but need the city to take us seriously, and help nurture the

Hill to be a better place. Big Idea: Increase retail and dining options

Implementation Steps•Continue supporting the College Hill Partnership—

economically and politically•Incentivize increased housing near campus to

create more neighborhood support for retail and business options•Coordinate

shared parking with UNI to support College Hill businesses outside of peak

university hours (nights and weekends)•Create locations and provide

opportunities for outdoor commercial and special event use, including wider

sidewalks and flexible plaza space at 23rd Street

Mandatory Question (10 response(s))

Question type: Essay Question

Give us your feedback! : Survey Report for 10 February 2021 to 11 March 2021

Page 14 of 20

Anonymous

2/22/2021 03:54 PM

Something minor but I do question why the houses along w 18th street

(South Side) are included in Fairview Neighborhood I would think that would

be included in Seerley Park and Clay Street Park.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 11:23 AM

Seerley Park is an important element to the neighborhood character area.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 07:00 PM

The character of the College Hill area is not appealing. Liquor stores, vape

shops, unclassy bars, etc.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 08:56 PM

WIth residential housing up to the edge of campus along University Ave,

anything that designates that you are now entering campus will be great.

Anonymous

3/10/2021 05:32 AM

none

Anonymous

3/10/2021 10:33 AM

Can we have some things that promote positive character development? Art

gallery? Live music venue? Increase the farmer's market? I love the Arts

Festival - is there some way there could be a space for more art? Maybe

showcase some of the UNI art students' and/or faculty works, as well as work

by community members? Maybe a "Made in Cedar Falls" shop that sells

works by local people. Music venues with live music --- again, could be UNI

music students, community people that play and/or sing, could even be a

garage band. Anything that encourages healthy cultural activities.

Anonymous

3/10/2021 10:05 PM

If the character areas are not representative of what the population in those

areas are the "vision" will be flawed. This applies to all of them but

predominantly the yellow area they are calling Seerely park neighborhood. To

be effective this area needs to be split up in several subgroups. North of 18th

street is very different than Walnut, Iowa, and Tremont streets directly East of

Campus. The Orange area representing the very dense student population

needs to expand further east, south east, and pick up the area north of the

creek on the other side of University. Essentially the College Hill

Neighborhood Overlay. This is where students should be encouraged to live.

They are in town to go to the University. Let them live by the University in the

manor that suits them.

Q11  Leave us your comments or questions about the CHARACTER AREAS identified for

College Hill. (Please include the name of the individual character area, if applicable.)

Mandatory Question (7 response(s))

Question type: Essay Question

Give us your feedback! : Survey Report for 10 February 2021 to 11 March 2021

Page 15 of 20

Anonymous

2/25/2021 06:26 AM

Are we building a second Downtown with the same failures.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 05:49 PM

.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 06:04 PM

No more smoke shops.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 06:05 PM

Keep it Iowa centric- not some European vision!

Anonymous

3/09/2021 07:00 PM

Everything needs an update—inside and outside.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 07:58 PM

See above - multi use buildings similar to those working well in downtown

would be really practical.

Anonymous

3/10/2021 05:32 AM

none

Anonymous

3/10/2021 06:53 PM

remedied? Am less concerned with frontage than with keeping a diversity of

businesses. Since the visioning we have added 2 liquor stores and a vaping

store.

Q12  Leave us your comments or questions about the BUILDING FRONTAGE TYPES

identified for College Hill. (Please include the name of the individual building frontage type, if

applicable.)

Mandatory Question (8 response(s))

Question type: Essay Question

Give us your feedback! : Survey Report for 10 February 2021 to 11 March 2021

Page 16 of 20

218

Item 17.



Cedar Falls College Hill Vision Plan 
May 2021

94

Q13  Some of the sub-sections of THE VISION section of the College Hill Plan are listed

below. Please select which sub-sections you'd like to comment on, if any.

5

5

2

2

39

39

Illustrative Projects: Visualizing Change Next Steps No Comment on any sub-sections

Question options

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Mandatory Question (44 response(s))

Question type: Checkbox Question

Give us your feedback! : Survey Report for 10 February 2021 to 11 March 2021

Page 17 of 20

Anonymous

2/16/2021 04:48 PM

Trees are extremely important and necessary to replace our devastated

canopy. I really approve of the redevelopment of 23rd St. between College

and Olive.

Anonymous

2/16/2021 07:38 PM

Beautiful. This is what we need.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 07:00 PM

It would be nice to have an area that mimics downtown Cedar Falls without

having to drive to downtown and having to find parking.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 07:58 PM

loved these visuals! i am excited to see a change!

Anonymous

3/10/2021 10:05 PM

I was not aware the survey would be referring back to the presentation, which

is quite lengthy (not a bad thing). Many people are not aware of the Vision

plan and truthfully it was hard to find the link to the survey. I will respond by

email after taking another look at the presentation.

Anonymous

2/16/2021 02:53 PM

I like parts of the vision. But please get realistic about this. AND - consider

that the enrollment at UNI is not only way down now, but most likely will

never get back to where it was in the fall of 2012 (i.e. over 13,000).

Anonymous

2/16/2021 06:44 PM

I fully support this vision plan. Comprehensive and forward thinking. Thank

you!

Anonymous

2/22/2021 03:54 PM

I think the vision plan clearly describes exactly what we have been hearing in

the public but also what was said in all of the public meetings. I am excited

to see how this vision plan changes the hill over the long term. I hope that

Q14  Leave us your comments or questions about any of the ILLUSTRATIVE PROJECT

pages. (Please provide the project number or name with your response.)

Optional question (4 response(s), 40 skipped)

Question type: Essay Question

Q15  Leave us your comments or questions about the NEXT STEPS section.

Optional question (1 response(s), 43 skipped)

Question type: Essay Question

Q16  If you wish to provide any additional comments or questions, please use the space

below.

Give us your feedback! : Survey Report for 10 February 2021 to 11 March 2021

Page 18 of 20

others in Cedar Falls will embrace this plan and be willing to take the steps to

move it forward. Especially when it comes to changing the parking

requirements close to campus to be able to execute the overall vision of

enhancing the area.

Anonymous

2/25/2021 05:50 AM

Maybe we should start be looking at the types of businesses that are on The

Hill. We have Vap Shops, liquor stores, tattoo parlors, and bars. What part of

this does the city see as progressive to the city. Nothing that is family

friendly. We live around the area and there is currently nothing I would ride

my bike to. Maybe if we got true leadership, increasing UNI student base

would be a good start. Nothing in this plan addresses the real problem All the

city seems to care about is density and a few developers. We don’t need a

grocery store. We had one before and it was not profitable. The sad part is

as alumni, the complete failed leadership has led my three children to go

elsewhere to college.

Anonymous

2/25/2021 06:26 AM

Use the taxpayers monies wisely. Quit changing the rules for a few

developers. There only in it for the money, not the neighborhood.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 04:59 PM

More parking.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 05:49 PM

.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 07:00 PM

I think I’ve said enough.

Anonymous

3/09/2021 07:58 PM

i love cedar falls, i love college hill. i graduated from UNI in 2001, i’m excited

to see it become a more vibrant place to shop, get coffee to meet people &

eat! appreciate all that you’re doing!!

Anonymous

3/10/2021 04:57 AM

Very comprehensive plan! Well done!

Anonymous

3/10/2021 07:49 AM

I like the idea of a mini target or something similar so students have the

ability to walk to a store to get more of their needs met rather than bars

everywhere. All I see are bars and smoke shops.

Anonymous

3/10/2021 10:33 AM

Thank you for considering my suggestions. I love Cedar Falls! and I would

love for it to be the happiest, healthiest community in Iowa!

Anonymous

3/10/2021 02:10 PM

The plan is nice but I think we are missing the mark. Development across our

state is becoming very "cookie cutter", everyone is doing the same thing...

Brick buildings with strategic architectural features so it fits in with the modern

day trend. Why not be bold, do something unique that is going to standout

and attract more people to the area. College Hill has the potential to be a

"mini-las vegas" if you will. Bright neon signs, outdoor speakers that play

Give us your feedback! : Survey Report for 10 February 2021 to 11 March 2021

Page 19 of 20

music; an attraction that people would flock to just for the

atmosphere/experience. There is potential to make College Hill so much

more than a residential attraction, it could bring in visitors from all over which

would have an enormous economic impact for our city. My point is, I think we

could go bigger/more unique with the overall plan.

Anonymous

3/10/2021 06:53 PM

I know concerns about cedar falls' race issues have been raised to city

council and p&z. Each day our ability to be inclusive becomes more

important. I know it is the 11th hour on these plans but I urge that we devise

some way of intentionally including more diverse voices. Thank you.

Anonymous

3/10/2021 09:29 PM

Missing middle-housing is very important. It would be nice, as the Hill is

zoned, to step back the housing size from the center as it moves into blocks

of single family housing. I don't mind some mixture, either, but not cheap,

boxy vinyl-sided structures that ruin the value and character of the

neighborhood.

Anonymous

3/10/2021 10:05 PM

this is a good start... long way to go...

Optional question (16 response(s), 28 skipped)

Question type: Essay Question

Give us your feedback! : Survey Report for 10 February 2021 to 11 March 2021

Page 20 of 20

219

Item 17.



    ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 TO: Mayor Laudick and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 
 

 DATE: January 18, 2024 

SUBJECT: Approval of Asbestos Testing Contract for the Industrial Park Property 
Demolitions Project, Project No. DM-427-3333 

 
Within the past year the City has acquired several properties adjacent to the West 
Viking Road Industrial Park as the City prepares for the future growth of the industrial 
park. Those properties include 2603 S. Union Road (2.35 acres), 2617 S. Union Road 
(2.50 acres), and 6512 W. Ridgeway Avenue (76 acres). Before the City can 
incorporate these properties into the industrial park, we must first remove the houses 
and outbuildings that exist on each of the properties. 
 
Before the City can demolish the structures, asbestos testing must occur to determine if 
any asbestos abatement is needed on any of the structures. 
 
Quotes were requested from companies for the asbestos testing and clearance 
monitoring services. One quote was received: 
 

 
The 3 properties that need asbestos testing are as follows: 

1. 2603 S. Union Road 
2. 2617 S. Union Road 
3. 6512 W. Ridgeway Avenue 

 

Staff recommends approval of the agreement for asbestos testing and clearance 
monitoring services with Iowa Environmental Services, Inc., for work at the above three 
properties. This work will be completed by the contractor after approval and issuance of 
a Notice to Proceed by the City. 
 

If you have any questions, please feel free to let me know. 
 

xc:  Ron Gaines, P.E., City Administrator 
    

Company Bid for Testing Bid for Re-Inspection 
Total Bid 
Amount 

Iowa Environmental 
Services, Inc. 

$2,250 $720 $2,970 

220

Item 18.



1 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

ASBESTOS INSPECTION/MONITORING SERVICES 

 

This Agreement is by and between Iowa Environmental Services, Inc. (“Contractor”) and the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
(“City”), and is to be effective on the date last signed by the Contractor or the City below. 

1.0.       Contractor’s Services 

1.1.       Contractor’s services shall consist only of those services and/or products provided or supplied by Contractor 
as defined in this Agreement and as listed on Exhibit “A” attached.  (“Services” or “Scope of Services”) 

1.2.       Contractor shall not commence or perform any work outside the Scope of Services unless and until 
authorized in writing by the City.  No changes to the Scope of Services shall be valid unless agreed to by both the 
Contractor and the City in writing.  Any work performed or expenses incurred by the Contractor shall be conclusively 
presumed to be part of the Scope of Services unless a written change order covering such work, and the cost of such 
work, has been agreed to in advance.  If Exhibit “A” includes provisions for contingent services, such services shall 
not be performed until written authorization is given by the City.  

1.3.       Contractor shall assign qualified and experienced personnel to perform the Services, and Contractor hereby 
warrants to the City that Contractor has sufficient experience and financial resources to complete the Services 
required by this Agreement.  Where the Scope of Services identifies particular personnel who shall perform the 
Services, such personnel shall remain assigned to provide the Services throughout the term of this Agreement, 
unless otherwise approved in writing by the City.  In the event that such particular personnel must be replaced, 
Contractor agrees to replace such particular personnel with persons of equivalent or better qualifications, as 
approved by the City. 

1.4.       Contractor shall perform the Services in a timely manner and in accordance with any schedule set forth in 
Exhibit “A”.  The Contractor and the City agree that time is of the essence with respect to Contractor’s performance 
under this Agreement.         

1.5.       Contractor warrants that its fulfillment of this Agreement will not infringe on or misappropriate the rights of any 
third party, and that the Contractor has the complete right and full authority to convey ownership of the Services to 
the City.  Contractor shall obtain all required governmental and third-party licenses, approvals and permits for the 
provision of Services, at Contractor’s cost. 

1.6.       The person signing this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor represents and warrants that the person has 
full and sufficient authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor. 

2.0.       Compensation 

2.1.       All bids and prices shall be shown in U.S. Dollars.  All prices must remain firm for the duration of this 
Agreement. 

2.2.       After inspection (if applicable) and acceptance by the City of Services, City shall pay Contractor in 
accordance with the payment terms set forth in Exhibit “A”.  The maximum amount of all payments for Services shall 
be the amount set forth in Exhibit “A”, unless additional Services are agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, in which 
case the maximum amount of all payments shall be adjusted accordingly.   

2.3.       Following acceptance of Services by the City, payment shall be made to the Contractor within thirty (30) days 
of receipt of a proper invoice.  The invoice shall include, at a minimum, the name and address of the Contractor, the 
invoice number, the date services were performed or goods were shipped, a general description of the services or 

221

Item 18.



2 
 

goods, total amount to be paid, any discounts or credits, and the net amount to be paid.  The invoice shall be mailed 
or emailed to the authorized representative of the City listed below, at the address listed below. 

2.4.       Expenses shall not be reimbursed to the Contractor unless specifically described in Exhibit “A”. 

2.5.       If services in addition to the Scope of Services are agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, Contractor must 
provide a separate invoice for such additional services before payment will be made. 

2.6.       If the City fails to make any payment when due to the Contractor, the Contractor may charge the City interest 
on the unpaid balance at the rate of 5% per annum until paid.  In addition, Contractor may, after giving at least seven 
(7) days written notice to the City, suspend services under this Agreement until such unpaid balance is paid in full. 

2.7.       Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the City may withhold payment to Contractor for 
faulty Services, or if the City is advised of liens or other claims against any Services, including products. 

3.0.       Taxes. 

3.1.       The City is exempt from all federal, State of Iowa, and other states’ taxes on the purchase of products and 
services used by the City within the State of Iowa.  The City shall provide tax exemption certification as requested.   

3.2.       Any charges for taxes from which the City is exempt will be deducted from invoices before payment is made.  

4.0.       Ownership and Use of Documents 

4.1.       All Services to be provided under this Agreement, and any invention, improvement, discovery, or innovation 
(whether or not patentable) made, conceived or actually reduced to practice by Contractor in the performance of the 
Scope of Services in this Agreement will be owned exclusively by the City, including all proprietary and intellectual 
property rights.  To the extent not automatically vested in the City, Contractor hereby assigns to the City all right, title 
and interest in and to the Services, including, without limitation, copyright, patent and trade secret rights.  Upon the 
City’s request, Contractor shall execute any additional documents necessary for the City to perfect such ownership 
rights.   

4.2.       Notwithstanding Section 4.1, Contractor retains ownership of its pre-existing and proprietary materials and 
other intellectual property that may be incorporated into the Services. 

4.3.       Copies of City furnished data that may be relied upon by Contractor are limited to the printed copies (also 
known as hard copies) that are delivered to the Contractor.  Files in electronic media format of text, data, graphics, or 
of other formats that are furnished by the City to the Contractor are only for the convenience of the Contractor.  Any 
conclusion or information obtained or derived from such electronic files will be at the Contractor’s sole risk. 

4.4.       During the term of this Agreement and following completion or termination of the Agreement, the Contractor 
and any authorized Subcontractors shall maintain all accounting records and other documentation generated in 
providing Services under this Agreement.  The City or its designee shall be allowed to have access to such 
information for the purpose of inspection, audit and copying during normal business hours for a period of five (5) 
years after the final payment by the City, termination of this Agreement, or resolution of all matters under this 
Agreement, whichever date is latest.  No additional compensation shall be paid to Contractor for such retention or 
inspection by the City or designee.  

5.0.       Termination. 

5.1.       The City may terminate this Agreement at any time for its convenience by giving written notice to the 
Contractor of such termination and specifying the effective date of the termination, at least thirty (30) calendar days 
before the effective date of termination.  In that event, all finished or unfinished Services, reports and materials 
prepared or furnished by the Contractor shall, at the option of the City, become the City’s property.  If the Agreement 
is terminated by the City as provided herein, the Contractor shall be paid for all Services which have been authorized, 

222

Item 18.



3 
 

approved and provided up to the effective date of termination.  The City will not be subject to any termination fees 
from the Contractor. 

5.2.       Either party may terminate this Agreement upon seven (7) calendar days written notice in the event that the 
other party fails to substantially perform in accordance with the terms of this Agreement through no fault of the party 
initiating the termination. 

6.0.       Warranties. 

6.1.       Contractor represents and warrants that Services shall be performed in a manner consistent with the 
standard of care of other professional service providers in a similar industry and application.   

6.2.       Contractor represents and warrants that products delivered as part of the Scope of Services, including each 
component, shall be free of defects and shall conform to the quality standards of the applicable industry and shall 
meet in all respects the requirements of the Scope of Services.  If any defect or sign of deterioration is identified by 
the City within one year after delivery which is not due to the acts or omissions of the City, Contractor shall, within 15 
days after notification by the City, at Contractor’s expense, repair, adjust or replace such items to the complete 
satisfaction of the City.  

6.3.       Contractor shall be responsible for the quality, technical accuracy, completeness and coordination of all 
Services under this Agreement.  Contractor shall promptly and without charge, provide all corrective work necessary 
as a result of Contractor’s acts, errors or omissions with respect to the quality and accuracy of Contractor’s Services. 

6.4.       Contractor shall be responsible for any and all damages to property or persons as a result of Contractor’s 
acts, errors or omissions in performing the Services under this Agreement, and for any losses or costs to repair or 
remedy any Services undertaken by the City as a result of any such acts, errors or omissions. 

6.5.       Contractor’s obligations shall exist without regard to, and shall not be construed to be waived by, the 
availability or unavailability of any insurance, either by the City or by the Contractor.  None of the provisions of this 
Agreement shall be construed as a limitation on the City’s right to seek recovery of damages it suffers as a result of 
Contractor’s fault or breach. 

7.0.       Warranties – Intellectual Property.   

7.1.       Contractor represents and warrants that the Services produced or provided to the City do not infringe upon 
any copyright, trademark, trade name, trade dress patent, statutory, common law or any other right of any person or 
entity. 

7.2.       Contractor represents and warrants that the Services, and the City’s use of the same, and the exercise by the 
City of the rights granted by this Agreement, shall not infringe upon any other work or violate the rights of publicity or 
privacy of, or constitute a libel or slander against, any person or entity. 

7.3.       Contractor represents and warrants that it is the owner of or otherwise has the right to use and distribute the 
Services contemplated by this Agreement. 

8.0.       Disputes. 

8.1.       Should any dispute arise with respect to this Agreement, the parties agree to act immediately to resolve such 
dispute.  Time is of the essence in the resolution of disputes. 

8.2.       Contractor agrees that, the existence of a dispute notwithstanding, it will continue without delay to carry out 
all of its responsibilities under this Agreement that are not affected by the dispute and the City shall continue to make 
payment for all Services that are performed in conformance with this Agreement.  Should the Contractor fail to 
continue to perform its responsibilities regarding all non-disputed Services, without delay, any additional costs 
incurred by the City or the Contractor as a result of such failure to proceed shall be borne by the Contractor. 

223

Item 18.



4 
 

8.3.       Should any dispute between the parties remain unresolved, the parties mutually agree to engage in 
mediation prior to the filing of suit by either party.  The cost of mediation shall be divided equally between the parties 
except that each party shall be responsible for that party’s own expenses and attorney fees associated with 
mediation.  The City shall not engage in arbitration of any dispute. 

9.0.       Indemnification. 

9.1.       Contractor (including, for purposes of this Section, Contractor’s agents, employees, subcontractors or others 
working on behalf of Contractor) shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City and its elected and appointed 
officers, its employees, and agents working on behalf of the City, from any and all liability, loss, cost, damage and 
expense (including reasonable attorney fees and court costs) resulting from, arising out of, or related in any way to 
any claims, demands, actions or suits based upon or alleging personal injury, including bodily injury or death, and 
property damages, arising out of or in any way connected or associated with the Contractor’s performance under this 
Agreement. 

9.2.       Contractor’s duty of indemnification and to hold harmless includes, but is not limited to, Contractor’s breach 
or alleged breach of the warranties found in Sections 6.0 and 7.0 above, and shall survive the termination of this 
Agreement. 

9.3.       It is specifically agreed between the parties that this Agreement is not intended to create in the public or any 
member of the public, any third party beneficiary status or to authorize anyone not a party to this Agreement to 
maintain a suit for personal injuries or property damage.        

10.0.       Insurance. 

Contractor shall at all times during the performance of this Agreement maintain insurance as set forth in Exhibit “B” 
unless this insurance requirement is waived by the City in this Section. 

Insurance requirement waived:  _______________________________________________(Signature and title of 
authorized City employee or officer)   

The City may at any time during the term of this Agreement require proof of such insurance. 

11.0.       Compliance with Laws and Regulations. 

11.1.       Contractor certifies that in performing this Agreement it will comply with all applicable provisions of federal, 
state and local laws, ordinances, rules, licenses and regulations. 

11.2.       Contractor is responsible for determining which products are considered to be hazardous chemicals under 
applicable standards and to provide the most current Safety Data Sheet (“SDS”) with the initial shipment of such 
chemicals.  Failure by Contractor to do so may be considered by the City to be delivery of a defective product and its 
delivery may be refused.  It is also the Contractor’s responsibility to provide to the City any updated or revised SDS 
as it becomes available for any such hazardous chemicals sold and delivered to the City. 

12.0.       Independent Contractor. 

Both parties shall act in their individual capacities in the performance of this Agreement and not as agents, 
employees, partners, joint ventures or associates of one another.  The employees or agents of one party shall not be 
deemed or construed to be the employees or agents of the other for any purpose whatsoever. 

13.0.       Non-Collusion. 

13.1.       Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has employed any person to solicit or 
procure this Agreement, nor will the Contractor make any payment or agreement for payment of any compensation in 
connection with the solicitation or procurement of this Agreement. 

224

Item 18.



5 
 

13.2.       Contractor agrees that there is no agreement, arrangement or understanding expressed or implied, 
contemplating any division of compensation for Services provided under this Agreement, or in the participation in 
such Services, directly or indirectly, by any person or entity, except as provided in this Agreement.  

13.3.       Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has either directly or indirectly entered 
into any agreement, arrangement or understanding to collude or otherwise take any action in restraint of free 
competitive procurement in connection with this Agreement. 

14.0.       Nondiscrimination and Equal Opportunity. 

14.1.       Contractor will not in the performance of this Agreement unlawfully discriminate against any employee or 
applicant for employment because of race, sex, color, creed, national origin, marital or familial status, religion, age, 
disability, sexual orientation, gender identity, genetic information or veteran status, or any other classification 
protected by federal, state, or local law.   

14.2.       Contractor shall inform all subcontractors and agents performing under this Agreement of this 
nondiscrimination and equal opportunity requirement and shall take reasonable steps to ensure their compliance with 
the same. 

15.0.       No Conflict of Interest, 

Contractor represents, warrants and covenants that no relationship exists or will exist during the term of this 
Agreement that is a conflict of interest under Iowa law.  No employee, officer or agent of the Contractor shall 
participate in the procurement or performance of this Agreement if a conflict of interest exists as to such person.  
Should a conflict of interest arise during the term of this Agreement for Contractor or any employee, officer or agent of 
Contractor, Contractor shall immediately notify the City, in which case this Agreement may be terminated and any 
additional costs incurred by the City due to such termination shall be paid by Contractor or deducted from any sums 
yet due to Contractor. 

16.0.       Force Majeure. 

16.1.       Force majeure shall be any of the following events:  acts of God or the public enemy; compliance with any 
order, rule, regulation, decree, or request of any governmental authority or agency or person purporting to act as 
such; acts of war, public disorder, rebellion, terrorism, or sabotage; floods, hurricanes, or other storms; strikes or 
labor disputes; public health emergency; or any other cause, whether or not of the class or kind specifically named or 
referred to in this Agreement which is not within the reasonable control of the party affected.  A delay in or failure of 
performance by either party shall not constitute a default in performance nor be the basis for, or give rise to, any 
claim for damages, if and to the extent such delay or failure is caused by force majeure. 

16.2.       The party who is prevented from performing by force majeure shall be obligated, within a period not to 
exceed fourteen (14) calendar days after the occurrence or detection of any such event, to provide notice to the other 
party setting forth in reasonable detail the nature thereof and the anticipated extent of the delay, and shall remedy 
such cause as soon as reasonably possible, as mutually agreed between the parties. 

16.3.       If a remedy to an event of force majeure cannot be agreed upon within a reasonable amount of time, this 
Agreement may be terminated by either party. 

17.0.       Assignment. 

No rights under this Agreement may be assigned or transferred by Contractor without the prior written consent of the 
City.  The benefits of this Agreement may inure to Contractor’s assigns, transferees, or successors in interest if 
approved by the City in writing in advance, and if such assignee, transferees or successors agree in writing to be 
bound by the terms of this Agreement. 

18.0.       Governing Law.   

225

Item 18.



6 
 

18.1.       This Agreement shall be governed, interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Iowa, regardless of choice of law principles. 

18.2.       Venue for any dispute under this Agreement shall be the District Court in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa.        

19.0.       Discrepancy.   

In the event that there are any discrepancies or differences between any terms or conditions of the Contractor’s bid or 
quote and this Agreement, this Agreement shall prevail, even if the Contractor’s bid or quote is incorporated into this 
Agreement. 

20.0       Public Record. 

20.1.      This Agreement as well as Contractor’s bid or quote and all documents submitted with any such bid or quote 
shall become public documents subject to Iowa Code Chapter 22, the Iowa Open Records Law.  By submitting the 
bid or quote or any document to the City in connection with such bid or quote, the submitting party recognizes this 
and waives any claim against the City, its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and agents working on 
behalf of the City, relating to the release of any bid or document submitted. 

20.2.       Each submitting party shall hold the City and its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and 
agents working on behalf of the City, harmless from any claims arising from the release of any document or 
information made available to the City related to or arising from the bidding or quoting process. 

20.3.       Notwithstanding Sections 20.1 and 20.2, protection from disclosure may apply to those elements of any 
submittal that may be a trade secret, or confidential or proprietary information.  Should the submitting party wish to 
designate submittals as such, they must be clearly and prominently marked.  The City shall make no determination as 
to whether or not such documents are protected from disclosure under Iowa Code Chapter 22.  Rather, the City shall 
endeavor to notify the submitter of any request for such information and the submitter shall be solely responsible for 
asserting exemption from disclosure by obtaining a court order.  As long as the City makes a good faith effort to notify 
the submitter of a request for such information, the City and the City’s elected and appointed officers, the City’s 
employees, and agents working on behalf of the City, shall not be liable for any damages resulting from such 
disclosure, whether such disclosure is deemed required by law, by an order of court or administrative agency, or 
occurs through inadvertence, mistake, or negligence.  

21.0.       Debarment. 

21.1.       Contractor hereby certifies, pursuant to 48 CFR Part 9, that neither it nor its principals are presently 
debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this 
Agreement by any federal agency. 

21.2.       Contractor further certifies that it is not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared 
ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in any contracts with the City or with the State of Iowa. 

22.0        Confidentiality of Shared Information. 

No information shared between Contractor and the City in the performance of this Agreement shall be deemed 
confidential unless clearly designated as such in writing by the party seeking confidentiality at the time of sharing.  If 
designated as confidential the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of such information except as necessary 
for performance under this Agreement, unless or until written authorization for disclosure is given by the designating 
party, or as required by law, or by an order of court or administrative agency.  In the event of a dispute over the 
confidentiality of shared information, the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of the designated information 
until the issue of confidentiality is resolved.  The duty to maintain the confidentiality of such information shall survive 
the termination of this Agreement. 

23.0.       Entire Agreement. 

226

Item 18.



7 
 

23.1.       This Agreement, and Exhibits, which are incorporated into this Agreement by this reference, contains the 
entire agreement and understanding by and between the parties with respect to the subject matter, and no 
representations, promises, agreements, or understandings, written or verbal, not contained in this Agreement, shall 
be of any force or effect. 

23.2.       No change, modification or waiver of this Agreement shall be valid or binding unless the same is in writing 
and signed by the party against whom such change, modification or waiver is sought to be enforced. 

24.0.       Additional Terms. 

The Contractor will be required to hold and maintain a valid Iowa Asbestos Inspector License and a valid Certificate 
of Liability Insurance for the duration of the project. The Contractor must also remain in good standing as a 
Registered Contractor through Iowa Workforce Development.  

25.0.       Notices. 

Any notice required to be given under this Agreement and any authorization required to be provided shall be given or 
provided to: 

City:                                                                                               Contractor: 

Name: Shane Graham                                             Name: Jeffrey Moats 

Title: Economic Development Coordinator                                  Title: Projects Coordinator 

Address: 220 Clay Street                                         Address: 11101 Aurora Avenue 

             Cedar Falls, IA 50613                                                        Urbandale, IA 50322 

Telephone: 319-268-5160                                         Telephone: 515-279-8042 

Email: shane.graham@cedarfalls.com                                        Email: jeffm@iesiowa.com  

 

In Witness Whereof, the City and the Contractor have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the last date listed 
below. 

 

CONTRACTOR 

Name___Iowa Environmental Services, Inc___________ 

By: __Jeffrey A Moats__________________________ 

Its: __________________________________________                    Date: __12/13/2023___________ 

 

 

 

 

 

227

Item 18.



8 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

By: __________________________________ 

       Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

 

Attest: ________________________________                                      Date: _____________________ 

           Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk  

                                 

    

228

Item 18.



October 27, 2023 

Shane Graham 
Economic Development Coordinator 
City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
 
RE:  Proposal for Asbestos Inspection  

2603 S Union Rd 
2617 S Union Rd 
6512 W Ridgeway Ave 
Cedar Falls, IA  

Mr. Graham, 

The following is a proposal for asbestos NESHAP inspections for the structure referenced above 
located in Cedar Falls, Iowa, Iowa. 

Iowa Environmental Services proposes the following:  

1. Survey the structures for asbestos containing materials (ACM).  This includes, but not 
limited to caulks, floor tile, floor tile adhesive, ceiling tile, ceiling texture, plaster, etc.  
Roofing samples are included in this proposal. 

2. Document the location of the asbestos found and assess the materials condition. 
3. Sample analysis will be performed by Iowa Environmental Services, Inc.  Iowa 

Environmental Services is an AIHA accredited laboratory. 
4. The survey will be conducted by accredited inspectors and be compliant with all 

NESHAP regulatory requirements.    
5. Prepare a written report on the results of the survey.  Included in the report will be the 

sample results, ACM inventory and potential removal cost estimate. 
6. Following abatement of the structures Iowa Environmental will verify that all 

identified asbestos containing materials have been properly removed. 
Estimate of Costs  

The following is a cost estimate to perform the above-described work.  

NESHAP Compliant Inspection   Total $   2,250.00 

Clearance Final Walk Thru    Total $      720.00 

    Project Total  $   2,970.00 

Mr. Graham, Iowa Environmental Services carries full Professional Liability Insurance (errors and 
omissions).  If you have any questions or comments, please do not hesitate to call or write.  
 
Sincerely 
 

  
Jeffrey A. Moats  
Projects Coordinator  

229

Item 18.

GrahamS
Typewritten text
Exhibit A



Owner Representative:  

Accepted:              Date:       

Title:             

230

Item 18.



231

Item 18.

abd
Typewritten Text
Exhibit B



232

Item 18.



2603 S. Union Rd
Technology Pkwy

Cedar Falls
Industrial Park

¨
1 " = 600 '

2617 S. Union Rd

6512 W. Ridgeway Ave

W. Ridgeway Ave

S. 
Un

ion
 R

d

Capital Way

Venture Way

W. Viking Rd

Inn
ov

ati
on

 D
r

City of Cedar Falls
Asbestos Testing Services

233

Item 18.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

VISITORS, TOURISM AND CULTURAL PROGRAMS 
6510 HUDSON ROAD 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PH: 319-268-4266 
FAX: 319-277-9707 

 MEMORANDUM 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO:  Mayor Laudick and City Council 
 FROM:  Jennifer Pickar 

 DATE:  January 23, 2024 

 SUBJECT:  Artist Agreement with Richard Bardle for Panthers on Parade  
  Mascot Embellishment 
  
Attached please find a contract to work with artist Richard Bardle to assist with the 
embellishment of a fiberglass TC mascot for the Panthers on Parade. The final design 
has been reviewed and approved by UNI staff and City staff. This is likely the final artist 
contract for this project. 
 
The artist will receive $500 upon pick up on or around February 1, 2024, and $1,500 
upon approved completion on or around April 15, 2024. The cost of this service is 
covered by mascot sponsorship.   
 
Staff recommends approval. 
 
Cc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Community Development Director

 

234

Item 19.



235

Item 19.



236

Item 19.



237

Item 19.



238

Item 19.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

VISITORS, TOURISM AND CULTURAL PROGRAMS 
6510 HUDSON ROAD 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PH: 319-268-4266 
FAX: 319-277-9707 

 M E M O R A N D U M 

  

  

 

  

 
 
 
 TO: Mayor Laudick and City Council 
 FROM: Jennifer Pickar, Tourism & Cultural Programs Manager 

 DATE: January 19, 2024 

SUBJECT:  Contract for Iowa Tourism Grant Funds 

 

The Iowa Tourism Grant (ITG) Program promotes tourism in Iowa by funding tourism-related 
marketing initiatives, meetings and events that benefit both local economies and the state's 
economy. ITG awards range from $2,500 to $10,000 and require a 25 percent cash match.   
 
In September Cedar Falls Tourism applied for a $10,000 grant for spring and summer digital 
advertising. This requested was fully awarded for the following: 

 
Digital Advertising: A digital ad campaign to promote Cedar Falls in Minnesota and 
Wisconsin. We would target areas based on data from Arrivalist that shows where 
visitors to Cedar Falls originate, and areas known for having active residents. The 
campaign will be coordinated with our larger annual campaign scheduled by Moxie. Ads 
would promote trails and family-friendly activities to visitors from Minnesota and 
Wisconsin. This advertising aligns with our current efforts and the state’s efforts to 
reach younger active potential visitors with an emphasis on natural beauty (for visiting 
and quality of life) and culture & lifestyle (from art to festivals, breweries, and 
restaurants). 
 

Funds may be used March – December 2024. The matching funds are accounted for in our 
current budget. Staff requests approval of this contract. 
 
 
CC: Stephanie Sheetz, Community Development Director 

239

Item 20.



����������	���
�����	��������������������������	������������	��������������������� �!���"�#�$�%!� &��'&(�)�&*�� +,-.�/011��2034�56780�9::� ;)� &� '!/�)<���� "0=�!>7?0=4��>@A�B:.+B�� CD0E07?AF80E�G��"�GH� �II��&�#��"�&�<���� � %)�J��&���!%$�&�� �"�&�<����K�L� � ���)"��!�' &<���� � ��5(�!�&�(<����� � &�&�$�%)�J��&���5&<���� CD0E07?AF80E�G;EA?800GH���?�M>?=7N0EA87>?�>F�8D0�OE>P7=0=�A?N�P686A1�M>20?A?8=�A?N�AQE00P0?8=�M>?8A7?0N�D0E07?4�8D0�%AE870=�AQE00�A=�F>11>@=<��+3� "�I� �&�� 53���G;EA?800G�P0A?=�A?�0?878R�A=�N0F7?0N�7?�8D0�AOO17MA87>?�AOOE>20N�SR���"��C�88AMDP0?8��H3��&D0�;EA?800�=DA11�DA20�8D0�OE7PAER�E0=O>?=7S7178R�F>E�8D0�%E>T0M8�A?N�=DA11�S0�8D0�F7=MA1�AQ0?83��;EA?800�=DA11�0?=6E0�8DA8�8D0�P7?7P6P�PA8MD�E0U67E0P0?8�7=�P084�A?N�8DA8�A11�>8D0E�M>?N787>?=�>F�8D7=��QE00P0?8�AE0�P083��� G%E>T0M8G�P0A?=�8D0�AM8727870=�A?N�>8D0E�>S17QA87>?=�8>�S0�O0EF>EP0N�>E�AMM>PO17=D0N�SR�8D0�;EA?800�A=�N0=ME7S0N�7?�8D7=��QE00P0?84�8D0�AOO17MA87>?�AOOE>20N�SR���"��C�88AMDP0?8��H4�8D0�A@AEN�10880E�C�88AMDP0?8�/H4�A?N��8D0��>EV�58A80P0?8�A?N�/6NQ08�C�88AMDP0?8��H3��� �WXYZ[\]̂�_Z̀ ab\̂cZd�ef̂\g�̀\fdh�iiiiiiiiiiiii4�@D7MD�7=�8D0�NA80�SR�@D7MD�8D0�%E>T0M8�8A=V=�AE0�M>PO10803��93� %)��)��j%� 5�53�� >�0kO0?N786E0=�PAN0�OE7>E�8>�8D0��FF0M8720�"A80�PAR�S0�7?M16N0N�A=�OE>T0M8�M>=8=�F>E�8D0�O6EO>=0�>F�8D7=��QE00P0?83��.3� &�&�$�%�*!� &3��&>8A1�OARP0?8�>F�=8A80�F6?N=�6?N0E�8D7=��QE00P0?8�7=�?>8�8>�0kM00N��� A=�=D>@?�7?�8D0��>EV�58A80P0?8�A?N�/6NQ08�C�88AMDP0?8��H�6?10==�P>N7F70N�SR�@E7880?�AP0?NP0?8�>F�8D7=��QE00P0?83���11�OARP0?8=�6?N0E�8D7=��QE00P0?8�AE0�=6ST0M8�8>�E0M07O8�SR���"��>F�=6FF7M70?8�=8A80�F6?N=�F>E�8D7=�AM87278R3���?R�80EP7?A87>?4�E0N6M87>?4�>E�N01AR�>F�=8A80�F6?N=�8>���"��=DA114�A8�8D0�>O87>?�>F���"�4�E0=618�7?�8D0�80EP7?A87>?4�E0N6M87>?4�>E�N01AR�>F�=8A80�F6?N=�8>�8D0�;EA?8003��l3� ��5(�!�&�(3��&D0�;EA?800�=DA11�0?=6E0�8DA8�A�P7?7P6P�>F�8@0?8RmF720�O0EM0?8�C9BnH�1>MA1�MA=D�PA8MD�7=�OE>27N0N�F>E�8D0�%E>T0M83��B3� ��5&�#�)��&�� 3���?�8D0�020?8�8DA8�8D0�AM86A1�OE>T0M8�M>=8�7=�10==�8DA?�8D0�8>8A1�OE>T0M8�M>=8�AP>6?8�=O0M7F70N�7?�8D7=��QE00P0?84���"�o=�OAE87M7OA87>?�=DA11�S0�E0N6M0N�A8�8D0�=AP0�EA87>�A=���"��F6?N=�AE0�8>�8D0�AM86A1�OE>T0M8�S6NQ084�A?N�A?R�N7=S6E=0N�0kM0==�AS>20�8D0�E0N6M0N���"��OAE87M7OA87>?�=DA11�S0�E086E?0N�7PP0N7A801R�8>���"�3��-3� )�%�)&� ;�)�p'�)�!� &53��&D0�;EA?800�=DA11�=6SP78�A�F7?A?M7A1�E0O>E8�8>���"��@78D7?�=7k8R�C-:H�NAR=�>F�8D0�%E>T0M8��>PO1087>?�"A80�F>E���"�o=�E0270@�8>�20E7FR�8DA8�8D0�80EP=�>F�8D7=��QE00P0?8�DA20�S00?�P083��&D0�F7?A?M7A1�E0O>E8�=DA11�7?M16N0�8D0�M>PO1080N�F7?A1�E0O>E8�F>EP�OE>27N0N�SR���"�4�OE>T0M8�7?2>7M0=4�A?N�OE>>F�>F�OARP0?83��q3� %�*!� &�%)���"')�53��%ARP0?8�=DA11�S0�PAN0�7?�>?0�N7=S6E=0P0?84�AF80E�0k0M687>?�>F�8D7=��QE00P0?83����E0U60=8�F>E�OARP0?8�=DA11�S0�PAN0�6=7?Q�8D0�=8A?NAEN���"��F6?N�E0U60=8�F>EP�>E�A�N08A710N�7?2>7M0�8DA8�M>?8A7?=�8D0�=AP0�7?F>EPA87>?�A=�8D0���"��F6?N�E0U60=8�F>EP3��r3� �����&�')�5!��II����)���; �&�� 3��&D0�;EA?800�@711�0?=6E0�8DA8�A11�PAEV087?Q�PA80E7A1=�7?�OE7?80N�A?N�\b\]̂YZdc]�sZỲ�aYZtu]\t�cd�fhhZ]cf̂cZd�vĉw�̂wch�xyY\\̀ \d̂�hwfbb�cdtc]f̂\�̂w\�zZvf�{ZuYch̀ �|ssc]\}h�huaaZŶ�Zs�8D7=�%E>T0M8�~��cd]butcdy�̂w\�|ssc]\}h�bZyZ���\Y~cfy\4�>E�>8D0E�P686A11R�AQE00N�6O>?�E0OE0=0?8A87>?3����"��PAR�@A720�8D7=�E0U67E0P0?8�A8�78=�=>10�N7=ME087>?3��,3� '&�$���&�� ��I��� 5'$&� &C5H3���F�M>?=618A?8C=H�AE0�8>�S0�D7E0N�7?�A==>M7A87>?�@78D�8D0�%E>T0M84�8D0�;EA?800�7=�E0=O>?=7S10�F>E�E0ME6787?Q4�=010M87?Q4�A?N�M>?8EAM87?Q�C03Q3�80EP=�A?N�M>?N787>?=4�=M>O0�>F�@>EV4�OARP0?8H�@78D�M>?=618A?8C=H3��+:3� "�I�'$&3��&D0�>MM6EE0?M0�>F�A?R�>?0�>E�P>E0�>F�8D0�F>11>@7?Q�020?8=�=DA11�M>?=878680�MA6=0�F>E���"��8>�N0M1AE0�8D0�;EA?800�7?�N0FA618�>F�78=�>S17QA87>?=�6?N0E�8D7=��QE00P0?8<�AH�?>?mO0EF>EPA?M0��SH�A�FA716E0�>F�8D0�;EA?800�8>�PAV0�=6S=8A?87A1�A?N�87P01R�OE>QE0==�8>@AEN�O0EF>EPA?M0�>F�8D0��QE00P0?8��MH�A�FA716E0�>F�8D0�;EA?800o=�@>EV�

�������������������
�������������������

��������� ����������������������������������� �� ����� ��������  �������
 �������

¡��¢���£��
¡��¢���£��

¡�¢���£��

240

Item 20.



��� ��������	�
����������	������������	��	��	�������	���������	�
���
���
���
���
		
����	������
���
������
���	������	���������	�����������������
�	����������������������	������������������	
	��	�
�������	���		
����	��� ��!"#����
��������
����		����	��������
��	�����������	�����
����	���$%���
���������������������	��&�
�	���
����
��
�������	���	��	�����'���������	�
	����������������
����
���� ��$$ � (")*!+�(!,+ ��(���������	��
����	����
	�����	�������������������	
���-�
������	����
�	�'���	���	��
��'�
�	��	���	���./���
������		����	�����������	�
	���	��������
������������������
��
�����	����	��&�
�	0����
��	������	���������	�����
��
�����	����	��	����
	�����������	���������������	��!"#��������������		����	�
��
����	����
����
�	�� ��$� � )"*"#1�23,+�(")*!+�(!,+ ��!��	����	����	����
	�������	���������	��������	�������	����
��������	'�	��4������'����'�
��������	���������	��&�
�	���
������
���	���������������	��������	��	����
	�������	����������
��������	'��������������� ��$. � 3),5"#2)"�23,+�(")*!+�(!,+ ��!��	���������	����	����
	�����	��6789:;;<=�>8?@A7;�:B�CA7;�8�D;>8A@:E�	��&�
�	���
����	����	��!"#��
���&�
�	���������	��������$������������	����+�	������(����
	��� ��$F � +,+���!&+*"+( ��(���������	���
�����	���
���������	���	�	�����������		�������	����!"#� ��$% � *,#!G!5�(!,+ ��+����
��'��������
	���'����	����
	�������
������	��	���'�����������'���������	��������	���������	���
��������	����������
��������	����
������������	��&�
�	 ��+�	��	��	
������	����	���
���'�!"#���
������
	�
�����������	�������	�
	��������������	��
�������
	�
�����
������
���
�����
������
�'��	
	'�������
���
��'�����
	����'�����'����������� ���������������������
	�
���������
	����������������	��	��&�
�	�
��
��
�����	�	��	���������	 ��$H � 5,*3I!�+5"��!(J�I�����+#�)"&2I�(!,+���#"5I�)�(!,+�,G�(J"�&)�+("" ��(��&�
�	���
������������	��
���
�����
����	
	�
������
���
��'�����'������
���'�����
	����'�
�������� ��(��&�
�	����
���	�
	��	��
������������	��
������
�'��	
	'�
������
���
�����
������������������	��
����������	�
	��
�����K�����	���
������	�	�������	�����������������	���������	 ��$L � 5,*3I!�+5"��!(J�""/M���3),N!�!,+� ��(��&�
�	���
������������	��	�������������������
�'��	
	'�
������
���
��'�����'�
���4��	���������	�������	�
	�������������
�����
�	������������	�������������
	��
�
���	���
�������
�'��������'������'�
�'��4'��
	���
��������'�������
����	� ������
������	����������������
��������������
��
	��
����
������	���������	 ��$O � !+#"*+!G!5�(!,+��&�!+�(�I,���,)�#�*�&" ��(��&�
�	���
���P���	���
������
��������'����������
��������!"#�'��	������������
���
������'��
�����������
���
�
���	�
�����
����	�'�����'��
�
�����4���'������������
���
������������'�������!"#���
��������������	
�������
��������
��	���
��������	��&�
�	�	���������������
������������	��	��	����
��������
	��������	���������	������	��&�
�	0��������
������
		��	��������
������	���������	������	��&�
�	0��
�	���	�����	�������
�	��
���	������
�	�� ��$Q � �55"���(,�)"5,)#� ��(��&�
�	���
�������	�!"#������	��
��	��	��
�����
���4
���'�
���	'�4���	'�
���	�
�������
�������	�����	���	������'�������	�'�����	�'��
���'�
�������������	��&�
�	���
	����	�������'��������'�����
���	�����
����	���������	
	��������
	��
�����	
������	��	���������	 ��2����	���K��	����!"#�'�	��&�
�	���
���������	��!"#������	��
��	���
���������	
	��������
	��
�� ���/ � )"5,)#��)"("+(!,+ ����������������	��&�
�	���
	����	��	���������	���
������	
��������
����������	����.���
�������������	���
	�������
���
���	���������	�������
����K�����
���	'�������������
	� ���$ �� 2+�II,���I"�5,�(� ��!��!"#���	������
	�
���	��'���	���	�����������	�����'�
���	'�������	�����������������	����
���	�
	�	��&�
�	��
����������
�	�����������K��	�����������	��������	��������
����
����
��������	��	�������	���������	'�	��&�
�	����������	��������	��K��	��������	��
��������
�������	���	��	��P��	����K��	��������	� ��!���	����!"#�0�����
���	����
	����	�
	����	�������������
������!"#��
����
����
��������	��	�������	�������	'�	��4����	��������������
������
���	��&�
�	���
��������
	�����
��	��!"#��
���
���
������
���������	� ���� � �2)N!N�I�,G��&)""*"+( ��!��
������	�������	���������	��������	�������
��������������
��'�	����
�������
������
����
��������
�� ���. � &,N")+!+&�I�� ��(���������	���
�������	���	�����
�����
�����	��	���
�����	���	
	����!��
'�
���
���
�	������
	����	��	�������	���
���������������������	��!��
�#��	���	�5���	�����3����5���	�����	��2��	���	
	��#��	���	�5���	�����	�����	����#��	���	����!��
 ��

RSTU�VW�RXYZ[�\Z]]̂_̀abcdaef

241

Item 20.



��� ������ ���	
�	�����������������������������	��������������������� ���!"�� ��������	���������#�� ����������$ ��"� %� ���������&�� ��"� ���!"�� ���������'(�����&� �� ��� �"'����� ����	�"��'�� ����)�� ����

�*��	
�+��+�������	��������( �,� �(��,���'(��� ����,��"�� ��"�&�"-�("��$� �("��$"����"��"�� ����%� ���!"�� ���.�/��"�� �0 ���"��'(��%�����"����� ����"����	���������� ����&� �� ����	�"��'�� ���������� ���("�(�" %�������	������	�������������'��� ����� ����$ ��"�����$���&�"-�("��$� ���������"��� ����� ���&�"-�("��$� �����$�������(%"��� ������� ��"�"��� �,� � ��������� �"�� �����$���'� �"�������	���"�����%,����	�'�%����( ,�������,���� ��"�$��� �����'� �"����������'���� ����&� �� ���&�"-������ ��"������'�%�($������ ���'� �"������������"���%�"���������	������ ����'��� ����� ����$ ��"������&��"���� �����'� �"�������"�����($"(����� ���� ����	�"��'�� �����������������"�������""�#������,�(�"(� $���������'�� ��%� ���!"�� ��� �����	��������"��� ��� �'�%���#�������%�&�"-�("��$� �������!"�� ��������� �-����%�� �(���������"%� �����$"�� �� �(�"�����&�"-����������������� ���!"�� ���&������ ���#����%�����'� �� ���&�"-�("��$� ��"� ���"��� ����� ���&�"-�("��$� ����1�� ��*�2���3���*��+��	����4���������*�������������&�������$'�� ���"����"��%�����"(�"� ����%�"���"����5�� .�/�	  ���'�� �	,�6�"-�3 � �'�� �����4$��� ��.�/�	  ���'�� �4,�	&�"��
�  �"��.�/�	  ���'�� �*,�	((���� ��������(("�#����%����	������7�� ���������+������������� ����#�� ������������� ��� &�������$'�� �,� ��������&��"��"��"�("��"� %�����������((����5�� .�/�	" ������89�:���� ����	�"��'�� ��.�/�	  ���'�� �	,�6�"-�3 � �'�� �����4$��� ��.�/�	  ���'�� �4,�	&�"��
�  �"��.�/�	  ���'�� �*,�	((���� ��������(("�#����%����	�����:�� ����!�	������������	�"��'�� ���� ����� ����� �"��$���"� ��������� &���� ���!"�� ����������	�������%�"�("���� � ����� �� �'�%���#�������'��������"���"��� �"� �������������� ����	�"��'�� ,�&������"���� ���� ��������"���,��"������������,�#���,���������������� ������ ��"���� ���(�" ��������"�����������%��$���("��"�"�("���� � ��������� �"������ �� ����	�"��'�� ������6����33�6�����,� ���(�" ������"� ����#����$���� ����	�"��'�� � ������;��$ ��,������ �#�������� �������� �#���� ����"� �� � ������������!�	����5� ���������������������������������������������������������������� �������������������������������������������������������������������'��� � � � � �� ������� � � ���������������������������������������������������������������� ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������3���� $"�� � � � � �� ��������������	5� � ���������������������������������������������������������������� ���������������������������������������������������������������������"����$"��',���"�� �"� � � �� ��� � �

<=>?�@A�<BCDE�FDGGHIJKLMNKOP

242

Item 20.



�� ��������������	
���������������������������������������������� !"����#$!%������"&����%$����$� �����'������!$'���($��$��������"�"���)"����"!"����#$�#����*��� ��� � +,-./�+01234� 5-67�8-497� :14-;�<.1=>94�5164�:?:+@� � � ����� 5-67�8-497�A12.9>6������ �<.1=>94�B-0>� CDE;-3-4F13�1G�71,�64-4>�G23/6�,F;;�H>�26>/�41�62EE1.4�47>�E.1=>94����� ����������� ��+44-970>34�I�J�+,-./�@>44>.��K����$�"����"L�M�N���#�!����O�)"����$�� ������#��'��$���"��NP���!���M� ���)"��� ��Q�%��$��("����������RSTN�UVSWSXRV�KUYUZS[XUW��N\�]Ŝ R�_*��R�������M���&���������M� ��#$��"'���'����"�#$�%$����'����!����$(���"��NP���!���*���+44-970>34�5�J�+EE;F9-4F13��K����$�"����"L�M�N���#�!����V�)"����$�� ������#��'��$���"��NP���!���� ���)"��� ��Q�%��$��("����������RSTN�UVSWSXRV�KUYUZS[XUW��N\�]Ŝ R�_*��R�������M���&���������M� ��#$��"'���'����"�#$�%$����'����!����$(���"��NP���!���*�� �

àbc�de�̀fghi�jhkklmnopqrost
uvswsssxss umwyssxssàbc�de�̀fghi�jhkkl

zfk{d|f�̀f}bfif̀ghi�jhkkl�~fal�if�g�fibala}�

243

Item 20.



�����������		
������
��������
���
����������
��������
��� �������������� ������ � !"�#$�%&�� �'(')*+��,,-.(/0(1�#23'(40/.)'� 56789:;<�;89=:>��"�$#�� �??$��@#ABC"�DEEFGGH� �I:;56>�765:�J:K;� �L:;7M�;�9:�I:;56>�;�9:��;5��55>:NN����� =KOO�<6��55>:NN�P6>5:>K;L��L:;7MQ�K6R��:76;69K7�5:I:O6S9:;<��8<T6>K<M�UVWX�=�YY��Z�[�N�����\]]�5���9
���[�K���̂]XÛ� NTKS�<6��55>:NN����<:>9N� J6=� 6>5:>��SS>6I:5�=M� ��L665N�>:7:KI:5_N:>IK7:N�S:>J6>9:5�5�<:� K;K<K�ON��8̀�;<K<M� � I:;56>aN�K;I6K7:�;89=:>�B-b*�$-.)0cE��)*(/�@)-1)*E�N
�����
������� O�������� 7
������������� #23'(40/.)'c�� � � N����O����>�	
���PUQ� S��Z�
���<
��Y��P\Q� 7���Y���Z��:d	���������PUe\Q�f-,*+�?*cg�h*/,g�%.(4c� K����U������ � � � �� K����\������ i]j]]� � � �� � � � � �k/*/'�%.(4c� K����U������� � � � �� K����\������� i]j]]� � � �� %.(4c�A'l.'c/'4� �?Cm$A�?$�m!h #An���)*(/�m.Eo')�"A�p�q�rrrrrs�-t�srrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr� f'ccn�J����>�u��������
�5���� �m#$�A#v!#k$� �7O�K9�;<aN�7:><KJK7�<K6;�K�7:><KJM�<T�<�<T:�K<:9N�J6>�RTK7T�S�M9:;<�KN�7O�K9:5�R:>:�J8>;KNT:5�J6>�N<�<:�=8NK;:NN�8;5:>�<T:��8<T6>K<M�6J�<T:�O�R��;5�<T�<�<T:�7T�>L:N��>:�>:�N6;�=O:[�S>6S:>[��;5�76>>:7<[��;5�;6�S�><�6J�<TKN�7O�K9�T�N�=::;�S�K5j�"�$#� $B$f#� �L:;7M�7:><KJK7�<K6;�K�7:><KJM�<T�<�<T:��=6I:�:wS:;N:N�R:>:�K;78>>:5��;5�<T:��968;<N��>:�76>>:7<��;5�NT68O5�=:�S�K5�J>69�<T:�J8;5N��SS>6S>K�<:5�=Mx�?C"#�CA�?y�@$#A�k#?$BCmDkH�7O�K9�;<aN�NKL;�<8>:� �8<T6>Kz:5�NKL;�<8>:�$y#�%CffCpBm��%B#f"k��A#�%CA�k$�$#��??C!m$Bm��!k#�Cmf&�567�<MS:�PL�wQ�L�w� 567�;89=:>� 567�5�<:� �77<L�S>5� =85L:<�JM�� �7<K6;�;:R_965�� S6�NTKS��K;N<>� L�w�<MS:�� K;<�K;5� K;<�N:OO:>��J8;5� K;<�N:OO:>��L7M�I:;56>�765:�� �55>�6I:>>K5:�� J_��K;5K7�<6>�� :J<�K;5�&��<:w<�{	
a��
Y|�PM_;Q�� <:w<�P	
a��
Y|Q��>:J�567�<MS:� >:J�567�;89=:>� >:J�567�OK;:� 769�O;���I:;5�K;I6K7:�}� 769965K<M�765:� LN�76;<>�7<�OK;:� J8;5� �L7M� 6>L� N8=�6>L� �7<I�� J8;7� 6=~<� N8=�6=~<�~6=�;89=:>� >:S�7�<� 8̀�;<K<M_�8;K<N� K_5� 5:N7>KS<K6;� �968;<� K_5�S_J�]U����s�����?���� � � � �s��� � � � � � � � ��]\� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � ��]X� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"C?!h#m$�$C$�f� ����� ��p�AA�m$�q� �!"B$#"� &� � @�B"�"�$#rrrrrrrrrrrr��

��������������������������������������������� �� �����
���������� ��������������������

����������

���������
��

��
244

Item 20.



245

Item 21.



246

Item 21.



247

Item 21.



248

Item 21.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

  

 

 
 
 

 

 

 TO: Mayor Laudick & City Council  

 FROM: Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: January 29, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Grant Application to Otto Schoitz Foundation for Seerley Park 

 
The College Hill Neighborhood is one of the older, more diverse, and densely populated 
areas within Cedar Falls. Over the past several decades there have been ongoing 
community efforts to stabilize and revitalize this area. During the recent "Imagine 
College Hill" Visioning Project, the public noted the importance of enhancing 
neighborhood open spaces and community gathering places as a top priority to support 
healthy living.  
 
Seerley Park, located in the heart of the neighborhood, is the second oldest park in 
Cedar Falls (est.1893). It has been decades since the last major renovation of the park, 
completed at a time when accessibility was, unfortunately, not considered.  Children 
and adults with mobility issues find it very challenging to access the Park’s playground 
and shelter.  The only access is a steep diagonal sidewalk—and then across grass to 
the playground or shelter. The plan for upgrading the park includes creating an 
accessible route to the playground and shelter for children and adults in wheelchairs, 
using walkers, braces, or dealing with visual challenges.  In addition, stable surfaces 
and smooth (ramp) transitions would be added so all children can “play together” and 
“stay together” on new ADA compliant playground equipment located on a "grass safety 
surface."  A fence would be constructed around the playground for added safety and 
peace of mind for parents. 
 
The City's Capital Improvement Program includes the Seerley Park Renovation in FY24, 
FY25, and FY26, with an estimated cost of $430,000 (not including contingencies). City 
cell tower lease funds will cover $330,000. The City looks to local partners to seek 
private funds to support the remainder of the project. The College Hill Partnership has 
been working diligently to fill the $100,000 gap through fund-raising and grant 
applications.  
 
The College Hill Partnership is requesting a resolution of support for an application to 
the Otto Schoitz Foundation for a $25,000 grant to help fund the accessible playground 
improvements. The Otto Schoitz Foundation favors projects generating significant 
benefit or addressing serious need in the Cedar Valley community that among other 
goals improves residents’ quality of life, meets the needs of the vulnerable, and creates 

249

Item 22.



equitable opportunities. The application must be submitted on behalf of the City and 
requires a resolution of support from the City Council.  
 
Staff recommends the City Council approve a resolution of support for the grant 
application to the Otto Schoitz Foundation for $25,000. The application deadline is 
February 18, 2024.  Awards will be announced later this spring.  
 
 
Attachments:   Concept Images of Proposed Park Improvements to Seerley Park 
   
   

 
xc: Stephanie Sheetz, Community Development Director 
  

 
  

250

Item 22.



 
 

251

Item 22.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-268-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

  

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council  

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, AICP, Planner III 

 DATE: February 5, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Request to Amend the Contract with Iowa Northland Reginal Council of  
  Governments for HOME Investment Partnership Program - Technical  
  Services to FFY22 contract  
 
 
The City has a contract with Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments 
(INRCOG) to support staff with the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) and 
HOME’s administration and technical services. The contract was approved by City 
Council on August 1, 2022. It was based on an estimate of the work and costs that 
would be involved with the adopted FFY22 Annual Action Plan and past contracts.   
 
That contract explained the INRCOG’s services to include technical support for housing 
rehabilitation projects as well as environmental review preparation and processing for 
projects.  The total cost for INRCOG’s services as outlined in the attached contract is 
$20,000.   
 
The projects outlined in the contract are still being competed.  Staff proposes to extend 
the contract to June 30, 2024, to make sure that the projects are completed.  The City 
Attorney has reviewed the contract amendment.   
 
Please contact me with any questions.   Thank you. 
 
 
Xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development  
 Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 

252

Item 23.



253

Item 23.



254

Item 23.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-268-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, AICP, Planner III 

 DATE: February 5, 2024 

 SUBJECT:  Request for Second Amendment to the Contract with Iowa Northland  
   Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) for CDBG funds 

  
  

The City has a contract with Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments 
(INRCOG) to support staff with the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) and 
HOME’s administration and technical services. The contract was approved by City 
Council on August 1, 2022. It was based on an estimate of the work and costs that 
would be involved with the adopted FFY22 Annual Action Plan and past contracts.   
 
The City Council approved a 1st Amendment to the Contract on April 17, 2023, 
expanding the scope of services.  The city is still working with INRCOG on the list of 
projects that were outlined in the contract.  Staff recommend extending the contract 
until June 30, 2024.   
 

Attached is the contract amendment.  The City Attorney has reviewed the Contract 
Amendment.  Staff recommends approval of the Second Amendment as proposed.   

   
Please contact me with any questions.   Thank you. 
 
 
Xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Community Development Director  
 Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

255

Item 24.



256

Item 24.



257

Item 24.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-268-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division  

  

  

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council  

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, AICP, Planner III 

 DATE: February 5, 2024 

SUBJECT: Community Development Block Grant Funds (CDBG) Service Agency 
Contract:  Family & Children Council of Black Hawk County (FCC) 

  
The City of Cedar Falls is committed to obtaining funds every year through federal 
programs like CDBG, HOME, and Section 8 to help serve the needs of low and 
moderate income families and individuals living in Cedar Falls. The City may use up to 
15% of our CDBG to fund local service agencies.   
 
As listed in the Annual Action Plan for this year, the City designated $39,248 to Prevent 
Homelessness through Agency and Organizational Support.      
 
Staff has been working with the service agencies that have responded to the Request 
for Proposals to complete the contracts.  Staff anticipates a total of five contracts. 
Attached is the contract with the Family & Children Council of Black Hawk County 
(FCC) for $5,500.  The FCC proposes the funds to support their Family Services 
Coordinator position for the Partners for Parenting Families which provide information 
and materials to families in Cedar Falls.   
 
At their October 18, 2023, meeting, the Housing Commission reviewed the 
recommended allocation of funds to these agencies and recommends approval.  
 
Xc:  Stephanie Houk-Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development 
       Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager     
 

258

Item 25.



259

Item 25.



260

Item 25.



261

Item 25.



262

Item 25.



263

Item 25.



264

Item 25.



265

Item 25.



266

Item 25.



267

Item 25.



268

Item 25.



269

Item 25.



270

Item 25.



271

Item 25.



272

Item 25.



273

Item 25.



274

Item 25.



275

Item 25.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-268-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division  

  

  

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council  

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, AICP, Planner III 

 DATE: February 5, 2024 

SUBJECT: Community Development Block Grant Funds (CDBG) Service Agency 
Contract:  Salvation Army 

  
The City of Cedar Falls is committed to obtaining funds every year through federal 
programs like CDBG, HOME, and Section 8 to help serve the needs of low and 
moderate income families and individuals living in Cedar Falls. The City may use up to 
15% of our CDBG to fund local service agencies.   
 
As listed in the Annual Action Plan for this year, the City designated $39,248 to Prevent 
Homelessness through Agency and Organizational Support.      
 
Staff has been working with the service agencies that have responded to the Request 
for Proposals to complete the contracts.  Staff anticipates a total of five contracts. 
Attached is the contract with the Salvation Army for $10,000, their requested amount.  
The Salvation Army proposes the funds to support their staff who provide emergency 
shelters.  The positions are the Housing Service Coordinator Assistant Housing 
Services Coordinator and Housing Services Assistants.        
 
At their October 18, 2023, meeting, the Housing Commission reviewed the 
recommended allocation of funds to these agencies and recommends approval.  
 
Xc:  Stephanie Houk-Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development 
       Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager     
 

276

Item 26.



2/17/2022 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

(PARTIES/SUBJECT OF CONTRACT) 

This Agreement Is by and between Salvation Army ("Contractor") and the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa ("City"), and is to 
be effective on the date last signed by the Contractor or the City below. 

1.0. Contractor's Services 

1. 1. Contractor's services shall consist only of those services and/or products provided or supplied by Contractor 
as defined In this Agreement and as listed on Exhibit "A" attached. ("Services" or "Scope of Services") 

1.2. Contractor shall not commence or perform any work outside the Scope of Services unless and until 
authorized in writing by the City. No changes to the Scope of Services shall be valid unless agreed to by both the 
Contractor and the City in writing. Any work performed or expenses Incurred by the Contractor shall be conclusively 
presumed to be part of the Scope of Services unless a written change order covering such work, and the cost of such 
work, has been agreed to in advance. If Exhibit "A" includes provisions for contingent services, such services shall 
not be performed until written authorization is given by the City. 

1.3. Contractor shall assign qualified and experienced personnel to perform the Services, and Contractor hereby 
warrants to the City that Contractor has sufficient experience and financial resources to complete the Services 
required by this Agreement. Where the Scope of Services identifies particular personnel who shall perform the 
Services, such personnel shall remain assigned to provide the Services throughout the tenn of this Agreement, 
unless otherwise approved in writing by the City. In the event that such particular personnel must be replaced, 
Contractor agrees to replace such particular personnel with persons of equivalent or better qualifications, as 
approved by the City. 

1.4. Contractor shall perform the Services In a timely manner and in accordance with any schedule set forth In 
Exhibit "A". The Contractor and the City agree that time Is of the essence with respect to Contractor's performance 
under this Agreement. 

1.5. Contractor warrants that Its fulfillment of this Agreement will not Infringe on or misappropriate the rights of any 
third party, and that the Contractor has the complete right and full authority to convey ownership of the Services to 
the City. Contractor shall obtain all required governmental and third-party licenses, approvals and permits for the 
provision of Services, at Contractor's cost. 

1.6. The person signing this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor represents and warrants that the person has 
full and sufficient authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor. 

2.0. Compensation 

2.1. All bids and prices shall be shown in U.S. Dollars. All prices must remain firm for the duration of this 
Agreement. 

2.2. After Inspection (If applicable) and acceptance by the City of Services, City shall pay Contractor In 
accordance with the payment terms set forth In Exhibit "B". The maximum amount of all payments for Services shall 
be the amount set forth in Exhibit "B", unless additional Services are agreed upon as set forth In Section 1.2, In which 
case the maximum amount of all payments shall be adjusted accordingly. 

2.3. Following acceptance of Services by the City, payment shall be made to the Contractor within thirty (30) days 
of receipt of a proper Invoice. The invoice shall include, at a minimum. The name and address of the Contractor, the 
invoice number, the date services were performed or goods were shipped, a genera! description of the services or 

1 

277

Item 26.



2/17/2022 

goods, total amount to be paid, any discounts or credits, and the net amount to be paid. The invoice shall be malled 
or emailed to the authorized representative of the City listed below, at the address listed below. 

2.4. Expenses shall not be reimbursed to the Contractor unless specifically described in Exhibit "B". 

2.5. If services In addition to the Scope of Services are agreed upon as set forth In Section 1.2, Contractor must 
provide a separate invoice for such add!Uona! services before payment will be made. 

K2.6. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the City may withhold payment to Contractor for 
faulty Services, or if the City Is advised of liens or other claims against any Services, includlng products. 

3.0. Taxes. 

3.1. The City Is exempt from all federal, State of Iowa, and other states' taxes on the purchase of products and 
services used by the City within the State of Iowa. The City shall provide tax exemption certification as required. 

3.2. Any charges for taxes from which the City is exempt will be deducted from invoices before payment is made. 

4.0. Ownership and Use of Documents 

4.1. All Services to be provided under this Agreement, and any invention, improvement, discovery, or innovation 
(whether or not patentable) made, conceived or actually reduced to practice by Contractor In the performance or the 
Scope or Services in this Agreement will be owned exclusively by the City, Including all proprietary and Intellectual 
property rights. To the extent not automatically vested In the City, Contractor hereby assigns to the City all right, title 
and interest in and to the Services, Including, without limitation, copyright, patent and trade secret rights. Upon the 
City's request, Contractor shal! execute any additional documents necessary for the City to perfect such ownership 
rights. 

4.2. Notwithstanding Section 4.1, Contractor retains ownership of its pre~existing and proprietary materials and 
other intellectual property that may be incorporated into the Services. 

4.3. Coples of City furnished data that may be relied upon by Contractor are limited to the printed copies (also 
known as hard copies) that are delivered to the Contractor. Files in electronic media fonnat or text, data, graphics, or 
of other formats that are furnished by the City to the Contractor are only for the convenience of the Contractor. Any 
conclusion or information obtained or derived from such electronic files will be at the Contractor's sole risk, 

4.4. During the term of this Agreement and following completion or termination of the Agreement, the Contractor 
and any authorized Subcontractors shall maintain all accounting records and other documentation generated in 
providing Services under this Agreement. The City or its designee shall be allowed to have access to such 
Information for the purpose of Inspection, audit and copying during normal business hours for a period of five (5) 
years after the final payment by the City, tennination or this Agreement, or resolution or all matters under this 
Agreement, whichever date is latest. No additional compensation shall be paid to Contractor for such retention or 
inspection by the City or deslgnee. 

5.0. Term and Termination. 

5. 1. The tenn of this Agreement shall commence on the effective date and end on May 30. 2024 unless earlier 
terminated under the terms of this Agreement. 

5.2 The City may terminate this Agreement at any time for its convenience by giving written notice to the 
Contractor or such termination and specifying the effective date of the termination, at least thirty (30) calendar days 
before the effective date of tennlnation. In that event, all finished or unfinished Services, reports and materials 
prepared or furnished by the Contractor shall, at the option of the City, become the City's property. If the Agreement 
is terminated by the City as provided herein, the Contractor shall be paid for all Services which have been authorized, 
approved and provided up to the effective date of termination. The City will not be subject to any termination fees 
from the Contractor. 

2 

278

Item 26.



2/17/2022 

5.3. Either party may terminate this Agreement upon seven (7) calendar days written nottce In the event that the 
other party fails to substantially perform in accordance with the tenns of this Agreement through no fault of the party 
Initiating the termination. 

6.0. Warranties. 

6.1. Contractor represents and warrants that Services shall be performed in a manner consistent with the 
standard of care of other professional service providers In a similar industry and app!lcation. 

6.2. Contractor represents and warrants that products delivered as part of the Scope of Services, including each 
component, shall be free of defects and shall confonn to the quality standards of the applicable Industry and shall 
meet In all respects the requirements of the Scope of Services. If any defect or sign of deterioration is identified by 
the City within one year after delivery which Is not due to the acts or omissions of the City, Contractor shall, within 15 
days after notification by the City, at Contractor's expense, repair, adjust or replace such items to the complete 
satisfaction of the City. 

6.3. Contractor shall be responsible for the quality, technical accuracy, completeness and coordination of all 
Services under this Agreement. Contractor shall promptly and without charge, provide all corrective work necessary 
as a result of Contractor's acts, errors or omissions with respect to the quality and accuracy of Contractor's Services. 

6.4. Contractor shall be responsible for any and all damages to property or persons as a result of Contractor's 
acts, errors or omissions In performing the Services under this Agreement, and for any losses or costs to repair or 
remedy any Services undertaken by the City as a result of any such acts, errors or omissions. 

6.5. Contractor's obligations shall exist without regard to, and shall not be construed to be waived by, the 
availability or unavailability of any Insurance, either by the City or by the Contractor. None of the provisions of this 
Agreement shall be construed as a limitation on the City's right to seek recovery of damages it suffers as a result of 
Contractor's fault or breach. 

7.0. Warranties - Intellectual Property. 

7.1. Contractor represents and warrants that the Services produced or provided to the City do not Infringe upon 
any copyright1 trademark, trade name, trade dress patent1 statutory, common !aw or any other right of any person or 
entity. 

7.2. Contractor represents and warrants that the Services, and the City's use of the same, and the exercise by the 
City of the rights granted by this Agreement, shall not infringe upon any other work or violate the rights of publicity or 
privacy of, or constitute a libel or slander against, any person or entity. 

7 .3. Contractor represents and warrants that it is the owner of or otherwise has the right to use and distribute the 
Services contemplated by this Agreement. 

8.0. Disputes. 

8.1. Should any dispute arise with respect to this Agreement, the parties agree to act immediately to resolve such 
dispute. Time Is of the essence In the resolution of disputes. 

8.2. Contractor agrees that, the existence of a dispute notwithstanding, It will continue without delay to carry out 
all of its responsibilities under this Agreement that are not affected by the dispute and the City shall continue to make 
payment for all Services that are performed in conformance with this Agreement. Should the Contractor fail to 
continue to perform its responsibilities regarding all non-disputed Services, without delay, any additional costs 
incurred by the City or the Contractor as a result of such failure to proceed shall be borne by the Contractor. 

8.3. Should any dispute between the parties remain unresolved, the parties mutually agree to engage In 
mediation prior to the filing of suit by either party. The cost of mediation shall be divided equally between the parties 

3 

279

Item 26.



2/17/2022 

except that each party shall be responsible for that party's own expenses and attorney fees associated with 
mediation. The City shall not engage in arbitration of any dispute. 

9.0. Indemnification and Hold Harmless. 

9.1. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor (for purposes of this Section 9.0, Includes employees, 
subcontractors, agents and others working on behalf of Contractor under this Agreement) agrees to defend (for all 
non-professional claims), indemnify, and hold harmless the City (for purposes of this Section 9.0 includes elected and 
appointed officials, employees, and agents working on behalf of the City) against any and all claims, demands, suits 
or loss, including any and all outlay and expense connected therewith, and for damages, which may be asserted, 
claimed or recovered against or from the City, including, but not limited to, damages arising by reason of personal 
injury, Including bodily injury or death, and property damage, which arises out of or is in any way connected or 
associated with the work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City under this Agreement, to the extent 
caused by or arising out of the errors, omissions, negligent or intentional acts of the Contractor. 

9.2. Contractor's duty of indemnification and to hold harmless Includes, but is not limited to, Contractor's breach 
or alleged breach of the warranties found in Sections 6.0 and 7.0 above, and shall survive the termination of th ls 
Agreement. Such duty also includes damage, loss or Injury to the City or City property. 

9.3. Contractor expressly assumes full responsibility for loss, expense, damages or injuries which may result to 
the Contractor by reason of or In connection with the work and/or services provided by Contractor under this 
Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of the errors, omissions, negligent or intentional acts of the 
Contractor. 

9.4. It is specifically agreed between the parties that this Agreement is not intended to create in the public or any 
member of the public third party beneficiary status or to authorize anyone not a party to this Agreement to maintain a 
suit for persona! injuries or property damage. 

10.0. Insurance. 

Contractor shall at all limes during the performance of this Agreement maintain Insurance as set forth In Exhibit 
unless this Insurance requirement is waived by the City in this Section. 

Insurance requirement waived: Insurance is not required per Risk Management Committee Polley #11 __ 
(Signature and title of authorized City employee or officer) 

The City may at any time during the term of this Agreement require proof of such insurance, 

11.0. Compliance with Laws and Regulations. 

11.1. Contractor certifies that in performing this Agreement It will comply with all applicable provisions of federal, 
state and local laws, ordinances, rules, licenses and regulations and shall make reasonable efforts to ensure that its 
employees, agents, subcontractors and others working on behalf of the Contractor under this Agreement do the 
same. 

11.2. Contractor Is responsible for determining which products are considered to be hazardous chemicals under 
applicable standards and to provide the most current Safety Data Sheet ("SDS") with the lnlllal shipment of such 
chemicals. Failure by Contractor lo do so may be considered by the City to be delivery of a defective product and its 
delivery may be refused. It is also the Contractor's responsibility to provide to the City any updated or revised SDS 
as It becomes available for any such hazardous chemicals sold and delivered to the City. 

12.0. Independent Contractor. 

Both parties shall act in their individual capacities in the performance of this Agreement and not as agents, 
employees, partners, joint ventures or associates of one another. The employees or agents of one party shall not be 
deemed or construed to be the employees or agents of the other for any purpose whatsoever. 

4 

280

Item 26.



2/17/2022 

13.0. Non-Collusion. 

13.1. Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has employed any person to solicit or 
procure this Agreement, nor will the Contractor make any payment or agreement for payment of any compensation !n 
connection with the solicitation or procurement of this Agreement. 

13.2. Contractor agrees that there is no agreement, arrangement or understanding expressed or implied, 
contemplating any division of compensation for Services provided under this Agreement, or in the participation in 
such Services, directly or indirectly, by any person or entity, except as provided In this Agreement. 

13.3. Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has either directly or indirectly entered 
into any agreement, arrangement or understanding to collude or otherwise take any action in restraint of free 

competitive procurement In connection with this Agreement. 

14.0. Nondiscrimination and Equal Opportunity. 

14.1. Contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, sex, 
color, creed, national origin, marital or familial status, religion, age, dlsablllty, sexual orientation, gender Identity, 
genetic Information or veteran status, or any other classlflcatlon protected by federal, state, or local law, except where 
age or sex is an essential bona fide occupational requirement1 or where disability is a bona fide occupational 
disqualification. 

14.2. Contractor shall inform all subcontractors and agents performing under this Agreement of this 
nondiscrimination and equal opportunity requirement and shall take reasonable steps to ensure their compliance with 
the same. 

15.0. No Confilct of Interest, 

Contractor represents, warrants and covenants that no relationship exists or will exist during the term of this 
Agreement that is a conflict of interest under Iowa law. No employee, officer or agent of the Contractor shall 
participate In the procurement or performance of this Agreement if a conflict of Interest exists as to such person. 
Should a conflict of Interest arise during the term of this Agreement for Contractor or any employee, officer or agent of 
Contractor, Contractor shall immediately notify the City, in which case this Agreement may be terminated and any 
excess costs incurred by the City due to such termination shall be paid by Contractor or deducted from any sums yet 

due to Contractor. 

16.0. Force Mateure. 

16.1. Force majeure shall be any of the following events: acts of God or the public enemy; compliance with any 
order, rule, regulation, decree, or request of any governmental authority or agency or person purporting to act as 
such; acts of war, public disorder, rebellion, terrorism, or sabotage; floods, hurricanes, or other storms; strikes or 
labor disputes; or any other cause, whether or not of the class or kind specifically named or referred to In this 
Agreement which Is not within the reasonable control of the party affected. A delay In or failure of performance by 
either party shall not constitute a default in performance nor be the basis for, or give rise to, any claim for damages, if 
and to the extent such delay or failure is caused by force majeure. 

16.2. The party who Is prevented from performing by force majeure shall be obligated, within a period not to 
exceed fourteen (14} calendar days after the occurrence or detection of any such event, to provide notice to the other 
party setting forth In reasonable detail the nature thereof and the anticipated extent of the delay, and shall remedy 
such cause as soon as reasonably possible, as mutually agreed between the parties. 

16.3. If a remedy to an event of force majeure cannot be agreed upon within a reasonable amount of time, this 
Agreement may be terminated by either party. 

5 

281

Item 26.



2/17/2022 

17.0. Assignment. 

No rights under this Agreement may be assigned or transferred by Contractor without the prior written consent of the 
City. The benefits of this Agreement may inure to Contractor's assigns, transferees, or successors in interest if 
approved by the City in writing in advance, and if such assignee, transferees or successors agree in writing to be 
bound by the terms of this Agreement. 

18.0. Governing Law. 

18.1. This Agreement shall be governed, Interpreted and enforced in accordance with the Jaws of the State of 
Iowa, regardless of choice of Jaw principles. 

18.2. Venue for any dispute under this Agreement shall be the District Court In and for Black Hawk County, Iowa. 

19.0. Discrepancy. 

In the event that there are any discrepancies or differences between any terms or conditions of the Contractor's bid or 
quote and this Agreement, this Agreement shall prevail, even if the Contractor's bid or quote is incorporated into this 
Agreement. 

20.0 Public Record. 

20.1. This Agreement as well as Contractor's bid or quote and all documents submitted with any such bid or quote 
shall become public documents subject to Iowa Code Chapter 22, the Iowa Open Records Law. By submitting the 
bid or quote or any document to the City In connection with such bid or quote, the submitting party recognizes this 
and waives any cla!m against the City, its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and agents working on 
behalf of the City, relating to the release of any bid or document submitted. 

20.2. Each submitting party shall hold the City and its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and 
agents working on behalf of the City, harmless from any claims arising from the release of any document or 
information made available to the City related to or arising from the bidding or quoting process. 

20.3. Notwithstanding Sections 20.1 and 20.2, protection from disclosure may apply to those elements of any 
submittal that may be a trade secret, or confidential or proprietary Information. Should the submitting party wish to 
designate submittals as such, they must be clearly and promlnently marked. The City shall make no determination as 
to whether or not such documents are protected from disclosure under Iowa Code Chapter 22. Rather, the City shall 
endeavor to notify the submitter of any request for such information and the submitter shall be solely responsible for 
asserting exemption from disclosure by obtaining a court order. As long as the City makes a good faith effort to notify 
the submitter of a request for such Information, the City and the City's elected and appointed officers, the City's 
employees, and agents working on behalf of the City, shall not be liable for any damages resulting from such 
disclosure, whether such disclosure is deemed required by law, by an order of court or administrative agency, or 
occurs through inadvertence, mistake, or negligence. 

21.0. Debarment. 

21.1. Contractor hereby certifies, pursuant to 48 CFR Part 9, that neither it nor its principals are presently 
debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared Ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this 
Agreement by any federal agency. 

21.2. Contractor further certifies that it Is not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared 
ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in any contracts with the City or with the State of Iowa. 

22.0 Confidentialitv of Shared Information. 

No Information shared between Contractor and the City in the performance of this Agreement shall be deemed 
confidential unless clearly designated as such in writing by the party seeking confidentiality at the time of sharing. If 

6 

282

Item 26.



2/17/2022 

designated as confidential the parties agree to maintain the confldent!al!ty of such Information except as necessary 
for performance under this Agreement, unless or until written authorization for disclosure ls given by the designating 
party, or as required by law, or by an orQ§r of a court or administrative agency. In the event of a dispute over the 
confidentiality of shared information, the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of the designated information 
until the Issue of confidentiality Is resolved. The duty to maintain the confidentiality of such Information shall survive 
the termination of this Agreement. 

23.0. Entire Agreement. 

23.1. This Agreement, and Exhibits, which are incorporated into this Agreement by this reference, contains the 
entire agreement and understanding by and between the parties with respect to the subject matter, and no 
representations, promises, agreements, or understandings, written or verbal, not contained ln this Agreement, shall 
be of any force or effect. 

23.2. No change, modification or waiver of this Agreement shall be valid or binding unless the same is in writing 
and signed by the party against whom such change, modification or waiver Is sought to be enforced. 

24.0. Additional Terms. 

24.1 Single Audit. The contractor shall ensure that an audit Is performed In accordance with the Single Audit 
Amendment of 1996; OMB 2 CFR, Part 200, subpart F, as applicable. Reference: Assistance Listing (formerly known 
as the Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA)) 14.218, Community Development Block GranUEntitlement 
Grants. 

24.2 The City will review Contractor files to determine if adequate information is being maintained to be in compliance 
with Exhibit B of this Agreement. The City will provide the Contractor with a monitoring report outlining any deficiencies 
In record keeping procedures and any corrective action to be implemented after any on-site monitoring visit. 

24.3 See Exhibit C - Federal Contract Requirements 

24.4 See Exhibit D - Quarterly Report Template 

25.0. Notices. 

Any notice required to be given under this Agreement and any authorization required to be provided shall be given or 
provided to: 

City: Contractor: 

Name: Michelle Pezley 

Title: _Planner Ill __ _ Title: ____________ _ 

Address: _220 Clay Street. ___ _ Address: 89 Franklin Street 

_Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 __ Waterloo, IA 50704 

Telephone: _(319) 2685194 _______ _ Telephone: (319) 235-9358_ 

Email: _mlchelle.pezley@cedarfalls.com_ Email: ___________ _ 

7 

283

Item 26.



Daniel A. Laudick

284

Item 26.

Major Scott A. Shelbourn



1. Scope of Services 

Exhibit A 
Services 

The Salvation Army will be using CDBG grant funds to support the staff of the three shelters and the employees 
positions as listed below: 

Housing Service Coordinator 
Assistant Housing Services Coordinator 
Housing Services Assistants 

2. Schedule for Performance of Contract 

The Contractor will submit quarterly progress reports providing all Information requested on Exhibit 0. Quarterly 
reports will be due January 15, March 15; and May 15 as applicable based on the contract date. 

285

Item 26.



Exhibit B 
Budget & Payment for Services 

1. Budget 

Salvation Army will be using the CDBG funds to support the staff of three shelters that operate 365 days per year, 
which include: 
-The Men's Shelter Is located at 149 Argyle Street, Waterloo, and provides up to 18 beds per night. 
-The Women & Children's Shelter, located at 603 South Hackett, Waterloo, has 32 beds. 
-The Family Shelter, located at 229 Logan Street In Waterloo, can house 6 individuals. 

Employee positions are: 
Housing Service Coordinator 
Assistant Housing Services Coordinator 
Housing Services Assistants 

2. Agreement Sum 
The Contractor shall be compensated for the scope of its services under this contract according to the annual 
appropriation by the City not to exceed $10,000 of CDBG funds. 

3. Method of Payment 
The method of payment shall be on a quarterly reimbursable basis. Each quarterly request by the Contractor for 
reimbursement shall be supported by a completed "Direct Benefit Activity" form herein attached as Exhibit D, bills, 
Invoices, and/or other appropriate documentation. The Contractor shall submit requests for payment and maintain 
adequate source documentation In accordance with the applicable provisions as specified !n this Agreement. 

4. Invoice Timing 
Invoices that are not submitted on a timely basis and after the term of this agreement, shall not be paid. 

5. Records and Reports 
A. The Contractor will maintain a list of all citizens assisted with CDBG funds. Each Contractor, as a condition 

of resident participation, shall supply complete information regarding head of household's name, race, 
ethnicity, address, age, sex, household size, household income and date(s) of service. This information wlll 
be made available to the City upon request. If the Contractor is unable to provide the client's name and 
address due to the confidential nature of the project, an Identifying code number will be substituted for the 
name and address. 

B. The Contractor will submit quarterly progress reports providing all information requested on Exhibit D. 
Quarterly reports will be due January 15, March 15; and May 15 as applicable based on the contract date. 
Reports shall be submitted to the City project manager as noted In paragraph 25 of the Contract unless 
directed otherwise In writing. 

C. The Contractor will submit to the City the names and job descriptions for project managers that clearly set 
out responsibilities for contra! and compliance. 

D. The Contractor will maintain all applicable project documentation for a period of three (3) years following 
completion of this project. .This documentation will Include but not be limited to: eligibility verification 
information, intake and application files, job site time sheets, schedules, and work performance logs. 

286

Item 26.



Exhibit C 
Federal Contract Requirements 

1. RECORDS AND AUDITS 
The Contractor shall maintain accounts and records, including personnel, property and financial records, adequate to 
Identify and account for all costs pertalnlng to the Contract and such other records as may be deemed necessary by 
the City to assure proper accounting for all project funds, both Federal and nonfederal shares. These records will be 
made available for audit purposes to the City or any authorized representative and will be retained for three years after 
the expiration of this Contract unless permission to destroy them is granted by the City. 

2. FINDINGS CONFIDENTIAL 
All of the reports, information, data, etc., prepared or assembled by the Contractor under this Contract are confidential 
and the Contractor agrees that they shall not be made available to any Individual or organization without the prior written 
approval of the City. 

3. COPYRIGHT 
No report, maps or other documents produced In whole or in part under this Contract shall be the subject of an applica
tion for copyright by or on behalf of the Contractor. 

4. COMPLIANCE WITH LOCAL LAWS 
The Contractor shall comply with all applicable laws, ordinances and codes of the State of Iowa and the City of Cedar 
Falls, and the Contractor shall save the City harmless with respect to any damages arising from any tort done in 
performing any of the work embraced by this Contract. 

5. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYMENT 
During the performance of this Contract, the Contractor agrees as follows: 

1. The Contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of age, race, 
creed, sex, sexual orientation, gender Identity, religion, color, disability, or national origin. The Contractor will 
take affirmative action to ensure that applicants are employed, and that employees are treated equally during 
employment, without regard to their age, race, creed, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, religion, color, 
disability, or national origin. Such action shall Include, but not be limited to, the following: Employment, 
upgrading, demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay or 
other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. The Contractor agrees to 
post in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for employment, notices to be provided by 
the City setting forth the provisions of this non-discrimination clause. 

2. The Contractor will, In all solicitation or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of the Contractor, 
state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration for employment without regard to age, race, creed, 
sex, sexual orientation, gender ldentity, religion, color, disability, or national origin. 

3. The Contractor wlll, cause the foregoing provisions to be inserted In all subcontracts for any work covered by 
this Contract so that such provisions will be binding upon each subcontractor, provided that the foregoing 
provisions shall not apply to contracts or subcontracts for standard commercial supplles or raw materials. 

4. The Contractor will comply with all provisions of Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, and of the 
rules, regulations and relevant orders of the Secretary of Labor. 

5. The Contractor will furnish all information and reports required by Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 
1965, and by the rules, regulations and orders of the Secretary of Labor, or pursuant thereto, and will permit 
access to his books, records and accounts by the City's Department of Community Development and the 
Secretary of Labor for purposes of investigation to ascertain compliance with such rules, regulations and 
orders. 

6. In the event of the Contractor's noncompliance with the noncompliance clauses of this Agreement or with any 
of such rules, regulations or orders, this Agreement may be canceled, terminated or suspended In whole or In 
part and the Contractor may be declared Ineligible for further Government contracts In accordance with procew 
du res authorized in Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, and such other sanctions may be imposed 
and remedies invoked as provided in Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, or by rule, regulation or 
order of the Secretary of Labor, or as otherwise provided by law. 

7. The Contractor will include the provisions of paragraphs 11 (1) through 11 (7) in every subcontract or purchase 

287

Item 26.



order unless exempted by rules, regulations or orders of the Secretary of Labor issued pursuant to Section 
204 of Executive 11246 of September 24, 1965, so that such provisions will be binding upon each 
subcontractor or vendor. The Contractor will take such action with respect to any subcontract or purchase 
order as the City's Department of Community Development may direct as a means of enforcing such 
provisions including sanctions for noncompliance: Provided, however, that in the event the Contractor 
becomes Involved In, or is threatened with, litigation with a subcontractor or vendor as a result of such direction 
by the City's Department of Community Development, the Contractor may request the United States to enter 
into such litigation to protect the Interests of the United States. 

8. CIVIL RIGHTS ACTS OF 1964 
Under Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, no person shall, on the grounds of race, color or national origin, be 
excluded from participation In, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity 
receiving Federal financial assistance. 

9. SECTION 309 OF THE HOUSING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT ACT OF 1974 

No person in the United States shall on the grounds of race, color, national origin, or sex be excluded from participation 
In, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity funded in whole or in part 
with funds made available under this title. 

10. "SECTION 3" COMPLIANCE IN THE PROVISION OF TRAINING, EMPLOYMENT AND BUSINESS 
OPPORTUNITIES 

1. The work to be performed under this contract is on a project assisted under a program providing direct Federal 
financial assistance from the Department of Housing and Urban Development and is subject to the 
requirements of Section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, as amended, 12 U.S.C. 1701 u. 
Section 3 requires that to the greatest extent feasible opportunities for training and employment be given 
lower income residents of the project area and contracts for work In connection with the project be awarded 
to business concerns which are located in, or owned in substantial part by persons residing In the area of the 
project. 

2. The parties to this contract will comply with the provisions of said Section 3 and the regulations issued pursuant 
thereto by the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development set forth In 24 CFR 135 and all applicable rules 
and orders of the Department Issued thereunder prior the execution of this contract. The parties to this contract 
certify and agree that they are under no contractual or other disability which would prevent them from 
complying with these requirements. 

3. The contractor will send to each labor organization or representative of workers with which he has a collective 
bargaining agreement or other contract or understanding, If any, a notice advising the said labor organization 
or workers' representative of his commitments under this Section 3 clause and shall post copies of the notice 
in conspicuous places available to employees and applicants for employment or training. 

4. The contractor wlH Include this Section 3 clause in every subcontract for work in connection with the project 
and will, at the direction of the applicant for or recipient of Federal financial assistance, take appropriate action 
pursuant to the subcontract upon a finding that the subcontractor is ln violation of regulations issued by the 
Secretary of Housing and Urban Development, 24 CFR Part 135. The contractor will not subcontract with any 
subcontractor where It has notice or knowledge that the latter has been found in violation of regulations under 
24 CFR Part 135 and will not let any subcontract unless the subcontractor has first provided it with a 
preliminary statement of ability to comply with the requirements of these regulations. 

5. Compliance with the provisions of Section 3, the regulations set forth in 24 CFR Part 135, and all applicable 
rules and orders of the Department issued hereunder prior to the execution of the contract, shall be a condition 
of Federal financial assistance provided to the project, binding upon the applicant or recipient for such 
assistance, Its successors and assigns. Failure to fulfill these requirements shall subject the applicant or 
recipient, its contractors and subcontractors, Its successors and assigns to those sanctions specified by the 
grant or loan agreement or contract through which Federal assistance is provided, and to such sanctions as 
are specified by 24 CFR Part 135. 

6. INTEREST OF MEMBERS OF A CITY 
No member of the governing body of the City and no other officer, employee, or agent of the City who exercises any 
functions or responsibilities In connection with the planning and carrying out of the program, shall have any personal 
financial Interest, direct or Indirect, In this Contract; and the Contractor shall take appropriate steps to assure 
compliance. 

288

Item 26.



7. INTEREST OF OTHER LOCAL PUBLIC OFFICIALS 
No member of the governing body of the locality and no other public official of such locality, who exercises any functions 
or responsibilities In connection with the plannlng and carrying out of the program, shall have any personal financial 
interest, direct or indirect, in this Contract; and the Contractor shall take appropriate steps to assure compliance. 

8. INTEREST OF CONTRACTOR AND EMPLOYEES 
The Contractor covenants that they presently have no interest and shall not acquire interest, direct or indirect, In the 
study area or any parcels therein or any other interest which would conflict In any manner or degree with the 
performance of their services hereunder. The Contractor further covenants that in the performance of this Contract, no 
person having any such interest shall be employed. 

9. AFFIRMATIVE ACTION STEPS 
The Contractor agrees to implement the following specific affirmative action steps directed at Increasing the utilization 
of lower Income residents and businesses within the Waterloo-Cedar Falls SMA. 

A. To ascertain from the locality's CDBG program official the exact boundaries of the Section 3 covered project 
area and where advantageous, seek the assistance of local officials In preparing and implementing the 
affirmative action plan. 

B. To attempt to recruit from within the necessary number of lower income residents through: Local advertising 
media, signs placed at the proposed site for the project, and community organizations and public or private 
institutions operating withfn or serving the project area such as Service Employment and Redevelopment 
(SER), Opportunities Industrialization Center (OIC), Urban League, Concentrated Employment Program, 
Hometown Plan, or U.S. Employment Service. 

C. To maintain a list of all lower income area residents who have applied either on their own or on referral from 
any source, and to employ such persons, if otherwise eligible and if a vacancy exists. 

D. *To insert this Section 3 plan in all bid documents, and to require all bidders on subcontractors to submit a 
Section 3 affirmative action plan Including utilization goals and the specific steps planned to accomplish these 
goals. 

E. *To ensure that subcontractors which are typically let on a negotiated rather than a bld basis In areas other 
than Section 3 covered project areas, are also let on a negotiated basis, whenever feaslble, when let in a 
Section 3 covered project area. 

F. To formally contact union, subcontractors and trade associations to secure their cooperation for this program. 

G. To ensure that all appropriate project area business concerns are notified of pending subcontractual 
opportunities. 

H. To maintain records, including copies of correspondence, memoranda, etc., which document that all of the 
above affirmative action steps have been taken. 

I. To appoint or recruit an executive official of the company or Contractor as an Equal Opportunity Officer to 
coordinate the imp!ementation of the Section 3 plan. 

J. To list all projected work force needs for all phases of this project by occupation, trade, skill level, and number 
of positions. 

*Loans, grants, contracts and subsidies for less than $10,000 will be exempt. 

289

Item 26.



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT 
CERTIFICATION OF CONTRACTOR REGARDING EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY INSTRUCTIONS 

This certification Is required pursuant of Executive Order 11246(30 F.R. 12319-25). The implementing rules and 
regulations provide that any bidder or prospective contractor, or any of their proposed subcontractors, shall state as an 
initial part of the bid or negotiations of the contract whether it has participated ln any previous contract or subcontract 
subject to the Equal Opportunity clause; and if so, whether it has filed all compliance reports due under applicable 
instructions. 

Where the certification indicates that the Contractor has not filed a compliance report due under applicable instructions, 
such Contractor shall be required to submit a compliance report within seven calendar days after bid opening. No 
contract shall be awarded unless such report is submitted. 

CERTIFICATION BY CONTRACTOR 

NAME AND ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR: lh'e. Sa. lvo.-f-rur> Arrnd 
Sc/ h•"k/;n St c.,Jc.fe-<lo::> I,\. 50703 

) J 

1. Contractor has participated in a previous contract or subcontract subject to the Equal Opportunity clause. 
Yes No 

2. Compliance reports were required to be filed in connection with such contract or subcontract. 
Yes No 

3. Contractor has filed all compliance reports due under applicable instructions, Including SF-100. 
Yes No 

4. Have you ever been or are you being considered for sanction due to violation of Executive Order 11246, as 
amended? 

Yes No 

PRINTED NAME: ____________ _ 

TITLE: 

SIGNATURE: 

DATE: 

290

Item 26.

Major Scott A. Shelbourn

Divisional Commander



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

  

 

 

  

 
  

 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 

 FROM: Thom Weintraut, Planner III 
 

 DATE: February 5, 2024 

SUBJECT: Approval of Property Purchase Offers for the Northern Cedar Falls Flood 
Buyout Program, Project No. FL-000-3198 

 
The City actively works with the Iowa Homeland Security and Emergency Management to 
obtain FEMA Hazard Mitigation Grants to purchase flood damaged properties. When the City 
purchases the property, as part of the agreement, the deeds are restricted from any future 
development to limit potential future property loss.   
 
On October 16, 2023, City Council approved a grant agreement amendment between Iowa 
Homeland Security and Emergency Management and the City of Cedar Falls for the Cedar 
Falls Property Acquisition and Demolition Project. This grant requires no matching funds from 
the City. The purpose of this amendment was to allow two (2) additional property owners the 
opportunity to sell their properties through the grant to the City. Only one owner chose to 
move forward with the sale and the address and name are listed below.  
 

1218 Cottage Row Road – Owner Steven L. Rieger Revocable Trust  
 

The appraised value for the property is $261,000 and a copy of the purchase offer is included. 
 
Once the City approves the Purchase Offer, we will begin the closing process on the properties. 
Staff has set the tentative closing dates for the properties as March 1, 2024. After the City 
takes over possession of the property, the necessary steps will be taken to remove the 
structures from the property. The close-out date for the grant is June 27, 2024. 
 
The Department of Community Development recommends that the City Council adopt a 
resolution approving the Purchase Offer for the property listed above.  If you have any 
questions, please contact the Community Development Department.  
 

 
 

 
xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development  
 Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance and Business Operations 
 Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 

291

Item 27.



292

Item 27.



293

Item 27.



294

Item 27.



295

Item 27.



296

Item 27.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

16  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 

             TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
 
 FROM: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), AICP, City Planner I 
 
 DATE: February 5, 2024  
 
 SUBJECT: Certified Local Government Annual Report 
                       
 

In order to be eligible for the Certified Local Government (CLG) grant programs the City 
of Cedar Falls must have and maintain a Certified Local Government Agreement with 
the State of Iowa and the National Park Service. Under the CLG Agreement with the 
State, Historic Preservation Commissions are responsible for submitting an annual 
report summarizing the city or county's historic preservation work during the calendar 
year.  
 
This report documents that the City of Cedar Falls’ Historic Preservation Commission has 
met the requirements of the CLG program and would like to continue its CLG status. 
During this year, the Historic Preservation Commission hosted a guided walking tour of 
the “Seerley Park Neighborhood”. The Commission partnered with UNI Entrepreneurial 
class students who helped the commission with designing brochure, poster and also 
developing a digital map for the tour that could be accessed with a QR code, making it 
more user-friendly for attendees. The Commission mapped eight historic houses around 
Seerley Park with unique architectural styles and planned routes to each house for event 
attendees. Among eight houses, one of the homeowners also participated in the event to 
share their experience of living in historic homes and shared historical information they 
possessed with all event attendees, and another homeowner shared historical information 
with event attendees and provided an in-house tour to all event attendees making the 
event more interactive and exciting. This event was highly successful and was very well 
attended. We had over 100 people on this walking tour and most of the people enjoyed 
the tour and provided positive feedback to the commission to conduct more such events. 
In addition, the commission also presented the Seerley Park Neighborhood walking tour 
contents to Cedar Valley Historical Society at Grout Museum in Waterloo, which was 
attended by about 40 attendees (who were not part of the walking tour educational event) 
were able to learn about the historic facts of Seerley Park Neighborhood and Historic 
Preservation Commission’s work in conducting an educational event for historic 
preservation in general.    

297

Item 28.



 
Besides, the commission also worked with the city staff liaison to submit a CLG grant 
application to the State Historic Preservation Office for a possible grant to conduct a recon 
survey of the Overman Park neighborhood. If the grant is received from the State Historic 
Preservation Office, then the commission will be pursuing the project in the year 2024 as 
per the prepared project timeline.   
 
The Commission has also been working on a long-term project for digitizing historical 
resources that the Commission has access to and making it available for the public on 
the Historic Preservation Commission webpage on the city website. So far, the 
commission has compiled information on a couple of historic facts and past educational 
events, which is available on the Historic Preservation Commission webpage. City staff 
is also working to get links to the Historic Preservation Commission webpage on the 
Visitor and Tourism website and Hearst Center website to attract more traffic to the 
Commission’s webpage. This is a long-term project, so the commission will be working 
regularly to update things on the City’s website, and once all things are digitized, they will 
be planning to launch the webpage, informing the people about historic preservation 
resources.  
 
With full commission this year, the commission was able to successfully complete two of 
the three projects that were planned for the year 2023 and is also working on the third 
project, which is a long-term project, to which the commission will be making regular 
updates until the project is finished. The Commission has also put up a 2024 Work Plan 
for the current year identifying projects that the commission will be doing this year. See 
attached pictures from the event and work done by the commission for more reference. 
 
The Community Development Department recommends that City Council adopt the 
following: 
 

1. Resolution approving and authorizing the submittal of the 2023 Certified Local 
Government (CLG)/Historic Preservation Commission annual report to the State 
Historic Preservation Office. 

 
 
Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions.  
XC: Stephanie Sheetz, Director of Community Development 

Karen Howard, Planning & Community Service Manager 
 Julie Etheredge, Chair, Historic Preservation Commission         

 

298

Item 28.



CLG Annual Report 2023 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

IOWA CERTIFIED LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
2023 ANNUAL REPORT (January 2023 - December 2023) 

 
NAME OF THE CITY, COUNTY, OR LAND USE DISTRICT: City of Cedar Falls 
 

 Under the CLG Agreement with the State, local governments and their 
historic preservation commissions are responsible for submitting an annual 
report documenting the commission’s preservation work and that they have 
met the requirements of the CLG program. 

 This annual report is also an important tool for your commission to evaluate 
its own performance and to plan for the coming year. 

 
Name of the city, county or land use district: 
Cedar Falls Historic Preservation Commission 
 
Did your commission undertake any projects for historic identification/survey, 
evaluation and or registration/nomination projects in this calendar year? 

CLG Standards are in your local government's Certified Local Government (CLG) 
Agreement and the National Historic Preservation Act: 
1) The CLG shall maintain a system for the survey and inventory of historic and 
prehistoric properties in a manner consistent with and approved by the STATE. 
2) The CLG will review National Register nominations on any property that lies in the 
jurisdiction of its historic preservation commission. Please upload any Iowa Site 
Inventory Forms or other survey materials produced during the year. Please do not 
upload any projects that were funded with a CLG or HRDP grant, mandated by the 

[For SHPO use only] 
 
Received ______________________________ 
 
Minimum no. of meetings?               yes       no 
Required training?                               yes       no 
Fully appointed commission?                 yes       no 
Has the commission been active?         yes       no 
Has the commission accomplished  
at least one project?  yes       no 
Comments: 
____________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________ 
 
Approved/CLG in good standing      yes    no 
 
More information requested _________________________ 
_________________________________________________ 

 
Entered into database _________/___________ 

299

Item 28.



CLG Annual Report 2023 2 

Section 106 review and compliance process, or National Register nominations as we 
already have these documents in our files. 
The Historic Preservation Commission did not undertake any projects for Historic 
identification/survey, evaluation and or registration/nomination projects in this 
calendar year. However, the Commission submitted a CLG grant application for a 
reconnaissance level survey of the Overman Park neighborhood to the State Historic 
Preservation Office by application deadline 15th December 2023. 
 
Were any National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) properties in your City, County, 
or LUD were altered, moved, or demolished in this calendar year? 

No 
 
Does your local government designate local landmarks or local districts? 

IMPORTANT: Most local governments do not have a program for local designation. If 
you have questions about whether you have a local designation program or not, please 
contact Paula Mohr before you complete this section. 

No 
 

In this calendar year, what were the actions to revise, amend, change, or de-list a 
locally designated property? Please provide the name and address of the property(ies) 
and the action. If no action was taken, enter N/A    

N/A 
 
Has your city or county passed other ordinances that directly or indirectly affect 
historic preservation?   
No 
 
Did your city, county, LUD or its historic preservation commission undertake any of 
the following activities in this calendar year? Please think broadly about this question 
and include any activity (small or large) that facilitated historic preservation in your 
community. This is your opportunity to boast about your accomplishments and get 
credit for the great work you do! 

CLG Standards found in CLG Agreement and National Historic Preservation Act: 
1) The CLG will enforce all appropriate state and local ordinances for designating and 
protecting historic properties. 
2) The CLG shall provide for adequate public participation in the local historic 
preservation programs. 

a. Historic preservation planning. Examples include the development or revision of 
an preservation plan, development of a work plan for your commission, etc. 

300

Item 28.



CLG Annual Report 2023 3 

b. Provided technical assistance on historic preservation issues or projects. 
Examples include working with individual property owners, business owners, institutions 
to identify appropriate treatments and find appropriate materials, research advice, etc. 

c. Sponsored public educational programming in historic preservation. Examples 
include training sessions offered to the public, walking tours, open houses, lectures, 
Preservation Month activities, etc. 

d. Design guidelines/standards 
 
During this year, the Historic Preservation Commission was working on a couple of 
educational projects to share the history and preservation knowledge with the 
community. The commission worked on gathering historical information for the Seerley 
Park neighborhood. The commission then identified a few houses around Seerley Park 
with significant architectural styles and mapped them to create an interactive walking 
tour. For the walking tour event of the Seerley Park neighborhood, the commission 
mapped 8 houses in the neighborhood and contacted homeowners by mail inviting 
them to participate in the event by sharing their experience of living in a historic house. 
Out of 8 houses, 2 of the homeowners also decided to participate in the event and share 
their experiences, which made the event more interactive. One of the participating 
homeowners also provided a walk-through of the main floor of their historic homes, 
thus creating a unique experience for all event attendees. Both the participating 
homeowners shared family stories about their homes and some interesting design 
features with all event attendees. For the event, the commission partnered with UNI 
Entrepreneurial class students, who helped the commission by designing posters, tri-
fold brochures, and an interactive map of the walking tour to be able to offer interactive 
media to event attendees. The commission named the event “Seerley Park 
Neighborhood Walking Tour”, and the event was a massive success. We had over 100 
people on this walking tour and most of the people enjoyed the tour and provided 
positive feedback to the commission to conduct more such events. See the attached 
pictures from the event, the trifold brochures, and the event poster for more reference.  
Later, in the summer, the commission also published an article on the event to 
encourage more future participants and provide resources for this event on the 
commission’s webpage. In addition, upon receiving a request from the Cedar Valley 
Historical Society (a regional organization with enthusiastic people in Cedar Valley), the 
commission presented the contents of the Seerley Park neighborhood walking tour. 
Over 40 people attended this presentation (these attendees were not part of the 
original conducted event by the Commission). This was the first time, that the 
commission was able to share their work and experience with people beyond city limits, 
thus encouraging more participants and also to share historic preservation knowledge 
with people beyond the City.  
 
 

301

Item 28.



CLG Annual Report 2023 4 

Besides “The Seerley Park neighborhood walking tour”, the commission also worked on 
successfully submitting a CLG grant application to State Historic Preservation Office 
(SHPO) for a reconnaissance-level survey of the “Overman Park neighborhood”. As per 
the commission’s initial research, the Overman Park neighborhood is built around the 
park (which was the City’s first public park) and has identified several houses and 
properties in the area with unique architectural styles and historical significance. This 
neighborhood is one of the original residential neighborhoods in the City developed in 
the late 19th and early 20th century. The Commission is very excited about this project 
and if the project is awarded a grant from SHPO, then the Commission will proceed with 
working and completing the project as per the proposed project timeline. The grant 
application was successfully submitted by December 15th, 2023. 
 
In addition, the Historic Preservation Commission also worked on developing a digital 
library of historic preservation resources to make resources available on a digital 
platform. This project is a long-term project, as it involves finding things and getting 
them into presentable content for the commission’s webpage. So far, the Commission 
has made some great progress by adding materials from the Commission's past 
educational events on the Historic Preservation Commission webpage. The commission 
has included pictures from the events too, to be able to encourage more participants. 
Since this is a long-term project, the commission will be continuously working on this 
project and making gradual updates to the commission’s webpage throughout the year 
2024. Once significant data is updated, the commission will be doing a soft launch of the 
webpage to highlight information to people.  
 
The Historic Preservation Commission has also worked on developing a 2024 Work Plan 
for developing a timeline for upcoming events and plans for the year 2024. See the 
attached 2024 Work Plan for more reference. 
 
Are there any particular issues, challenges, and/or successes your preservation 
commission has encountered or accomplished this year?  
 

Throughout the year, the commission completed an educational event that was well 
attended and greatly successful and also worked with City staff to submit a CLG grant 
application to the State Historic Preservation Office for conducting a reconnaissance-
level survey of the Overman Park neighborhood. Besides this, the commission was also 
able to showcase the contents of the educational event to Cedar Valley Historic Society, 
thus spreading historical insights and knowledge beyond City limits. And the 
Commission is also working on a long-term project of digitizing historical resources to 
provide access to resources through a digital medium thus enhancing accessibility to 
historic information and resources for the public.  
 

1. The Historic Preservation Commission conducted a successful educational 
event in the community, wherein the event was a guided walking tour of “The 
Overman Park Neighborhood”. The Commission mapped about 8 houses around 

302

Item 28.



CLG Annual Report 2023 5 

Seerley Park in the neighborhood with distinctive architectural styles and 
developed a walking map and trifold-interactive brochure for event attendees as 
a handout. For this event, the Commission partnered the event with the UNI 
Entrepreneurial class, certain city organizations, and Historical Societies to 
conduct the event. The event was also interactive as 2 of the homeowners on 
the tour decided to participate in the event and shared their experience of living 
in a historic home. Of the two homeowners who participated in the event, one 
of the homeowners also allowed an in-house tour of the main floor of their 
historic homes to all attendees. The homeowners showcased photo albums, 
shared stories of the house design, and also shared some family memories with 
event attendees. The whole event was a massive success with over 100 event 
attendees. Attendees provided some great positive feedback about the event 
and enjoyed the interactive nature of the tour, as it provided a chance for 
attendees to ask questions and have a unique experience of walking through one 
of the homes on the tour. See the attached pictures from the event, the trifold 
brochures, and the event poster for more reference.   
 
2. The Historic Preservation Commission, with assistance from City staff 
successfully submitted a CLG grant application for a reconnaissance-level survey 
of the Overman Park neighborhood. As per the commission’s study, the 
proposed survey area includes 465 properties and has houses with unique 
architectural styles and properties with location significance. If the grant is 
awarded (sometimes at the end of February or the first week of March), the 
commission will be working on this project as per the proposed project timeline 
of the project. 
  
3.   The Historic Preservation Commission was also able to present the details of 
the “Seerley Park Neighborhood Tour” to Cedar Valley Historical Society, upon 
receiving a request from the organization. This was the first time the commission 
was able to present the content of the “Seerley Park Neighborhood Tour” to 
people beyond city limits. Over 40 people were able to attend this event (which 
were not part of the attendance when the Commission hosted the “Seerley Park 
Neighborhood Tour” event in Spring 2023. See the attached presentation for 
more reference.   
  
4.   The Historic Preservation Commission also has been working on a long-term 
project of developing a digital library of historic preservation resources, the 
commission has made good progress by making the brochures and information 
about the educational events available on the City’s Historic Preservation 
Commission webpage. The Commission has also started to work on adding 
pictures of the event to encourage more participants. But the commission is also 
wanting to make more historic resources digitally available including adding 
names of significant people in the city, significant places in the city, etc. This 

303

Item 28.



CLG Annual Report 2023 6 

project will be continued, as the commission is gradually making updates to the 
webpage every meeting. 

 
This year, the commission did not face any difficulty or challenge as the commission was 
able to host all scheduled monthly meetings and was able to accomplish more than the 
things that were listed as part of the Work Plan 2023. The Commission has drafted Work 
Plan 2024 for the current year to continue working on the commission’s role of 
providing historic preservation knowledge within the community. 

 
All project work including presentation, pamphlet designs, article and successful 
outcomes of event are attached for more information with the report. 
 

What partnerships did your commission form or continue with other entities? 
(Examples include local main street office, historical society, library, museum, service 
club, etc.) If none, enter N/A  
We continue to work with the Cedar Falls Historical Society, Community Main Street, 
College Hill Partnership, Cedar Falls Tourism and other City of Cedar Falls departments. 
 
Did your historic preservation commission receive any grants (other than CLG or 
HRDP) this year? If so, please describe. If none, enter N/A.  
N/A 
 

Does your commission have a website? 
Yes 
 
What is the website address?  
There is a link to the Cedar Falls Historic Preservation Commission on the city’s website 
(www.cedarfalls.com ) under Government, Boards, and Commissions. 
 
Does your commission have a Facebook page? 
No 
 
List dates of public commission meetings held (please note these are meetings 
actually held with a quorum, not just those that were scheduled).  
CLG Standards found in CLG Agreement and National Historic Preservation Act: 
1) The CLG will organize and maintain a historic preservation commission, which must 
meet at least three (3) times per year. 
2) The commission will be composed of community members with a demonstrated 
positive interest in historic preservation, or closely related fields, to the extent available 
in the community. 
3) The commission will comply with Iowa Code Chapter 21 (open meetings) in its 
operations. 
4) Commission members will participate in state-sponsored or state-approved historic 
preservation training activities. 

304

Item 28.

http://www.cedarfalls.com/


CLG Annual Report 2023 7 

Meetings (with a quorum) were scheduled on following dates: 

1/10/23, 2/14/23, 3/14/23, 4/11/23, 5/9/23, 6/13/23, 7/11/23, 8/08/23, 9/12/23, 
10/10/23, 11/14/23 and 12/12/23, These meetings were publicized and open to the 
public.  

We recommend that the local government provide the commission a budget with a 
minimum of $750 to pay for training and other commission expenses. In this calendar 
year, what was the dollar amount for the historic preservation commission’s annual 
budget? 

The Commission does not have its own budget. Funding and staff support for 
Commission activities (including attending conferences) and meetings is covered under 
the City’s Community Services Division budget and is well over $750 per year. 

 

Where are your official CLG files located? 

Certified Local Government files must be stored at city hall (for city commissions) or the 
county courthouse (for county commissions). 

Files are electronically saved in the City’s Planning and Community Services computers 
in a CLG folder dedicated to Historic Preservation activities. Paper copies are also kept 
by the City’s staff liaison to the Commission, Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD) 

Please list the names of the Historic Preservation Commissioners who served during 
this calendar year. 

Julie Etheredge, Sally Timmer, Michael Mahncke, Lindi Roelofse, and Jim O’Loughlin. 
 

Each CLG was asked to provide a work plan last year. Please provide a self-assessment 
of your progress on the initiatives and programs you identified last year. Were you 
able to accomplish much of what you set out to do? If not, what would help you fulfill 
this next year’s work plan?  

The commission had a great year by accomplishing most of everything that was 

identified on the work plan for the year 2023. In the work plan 2023, the Commission 

identified three projects including a walking tour of the Seerley Park neighborhood, a 

CLG grant application to conduct a recon survey of the Overman Park neighborhood, and 

the development of a digital library of the historic preservation resources. The 

Commission had a great attendance throughout the year, which helped them accomplish 

their plans as stated on the work plan 2023. The commission managed to conduct a 

highly successful educational event “The Seerley Park Neighborhood Walking Tour”, 

which was a guided walking tour of the 8 houses with significant architectural style 

around Seerley Park. The walking tour also had a few interactive elements, as 2of the 

homeowners out of 8 houses participated to share the facts about the historic homes they 

live in and share their experiences with event attendees. One of these homeowners also 

allowed event attendees to walk through the main floor of the house and experience the 

historic character of the house in person. The Commission was also able to successfully 

305

Item 28.



CLG Annual Report 2023 8 

submit a CLG grant application to conduct a reconnaissance-level survey of the Overman 

Park neighborhood to the State Historic Preservation Office by the application deadline in 

December 2023. The Commission is hoping to hear positive news on the grant award for 

the proposed project. For the third project about developing a digital library of historic 

preservation resources, the Commission has made good progress by making brochures 

and information about past events on the Historic Preservation Commission webpage. 

The Commission has also started adding pictures on the webpage of the events, to be able 

to encourage more participants. But this is a big project, so the commission is planning to 

continue making updates to their webpage and advertise the webpage informing people 

about the available resources.  

 

In addition, the Commission was able to present the contents of the “Seerley Park 

Neighborhood Walking Tour” to Cedar Valley Historical Society upon their request. The 

presentation was attended, and this was the first time, where the commission was able to 

share their work and historic preservation knowledge beyond city limits. This was not a 

planned event, but upon receiving the invitation, the commission was able to present. See 

the attached posters, presentation, and article pieces for more reference on project work. 

 

Each commission should develop a work plan for the coming year. This work plan 
should include the project(s), initiatives and programs you plan to begin or complete. 
Also discuss your plan for obtaining historic preservation training in 2023. Please 
attach your work plan to your annual report. 

Please find the attached work plan for the year 2024. 

Please complete the Commission Training Table.  

An important requirement of the Certified Local Government program is annual state-

sponsored (such as the Preserve Iowa Summit) or state-approved training undertaken by 

at least one member of the historic preservation commission and/or staff liaison. In this 

table, provide information about the commissioners’ involvement in historic preservation 

training, listing the name of the conference, workshop or meeting (including online 

training opportunities); the sponsoring organization; the location and date when the 

training occurred. Be sure to provide the names of commissioners, staff, and elected 

officials who attended. 

 

Name of Event Sponsor 

Organization 

Location Date Name of 

Attendees 

Preserve Iowa 

Summit 

 Sioux City June 1-3, 2023 Julie Etheredge 

 

 
Who of your commission members, staff, and/or elected officials attended the 
Preserve Iowa Summit? If so, please provide their names. 
Please note this must be completed. If no one attended, enter none. 

306

Item 28.



CLG Annual Report 2023 9 

Julie Etheredge attended the Preserve Iowa Summit in 2023. 
 
Signature page 
 
Please find the attached Signature Page. 

 
CLG Personnel Table 
 
A. Please list the names of the Historic Preservation Commissioners who served during 
calendar year 2023: 
Julie Etheredge, Sally Timmer, Michael Mahncke, Lindi Roelofse, and Jim O’Loughlin. 
 
B. CHIEF ELECTED OFFICIAL 2023 
Name of Mayor, Chairman of Board of Supervisors, or President of LUD Trustees:  
First Name:  Robert 
Last Name: Green  
Mailing Address:  220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA, 50613 
Phone Number: (319) 268-5118 
Email Address:  Rob.Green@cedarfalls.com 
 
C. STAFF PERSON FOR THE HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
First Name:  Jaydevsinh (JD) 
Last Name: Atodaria 

Job Title: Planner I  
Mailing Address:  220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 
Phone Number: (319) 268-5185 
Email Address: JDA@cedarfalls.com 
 
2022 HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION:  Please note that this is for 2023 

 
Please complete the following and provide information about your new 2023 
commission.   
 
If the commissioner represents a locally designated district, provide the name of the 
district (Representative, Name of Historic District).  Specify the month, day, and year 
that the commissioner's term will end (Term Ends).  If a commission member serves 
as contact with the State Historic Preservation Office for the Commission, please 
circle yes.   Electronic and mailed communication will be sent to the staff person 
for the commission and the contact.  

 
CHAIRPERSON/COMMISSIONER 
First Name Julie 
Last Name: Etheredge 

307

Item 28.

mailto:JDA@cedarfalls.com


CLG Annual Report 2023 10 

 
Mailing Address (please provide full mailing address including city and zip code): 322 W. 
6th St. Cedar Falls IA 50613 
 
Home Phone Number: (319) 269-5710 
Work Phone Number: (319) 233-8419 
 
Email Address: juliee@invisionarch.com 
 
Representative, Name of Local Historic District: N/A 
 
Term Ends:   Month   3 Day  31  Year2026  
 
Please indicate if this person serves as the Contact with the State Historic Preservation 
Office for the Commission.  Circle       Yes                         No 
 
VICE CHAIRPERSON/ COMMISSIONER 
 
First Name Sally  
Last Name: Timmer 
 
Mailing Address (please provide full mailing address including city and zip code): 203 
Tremont St., Cedar Falls, IA 50613 
 
Home Phone Number: Cell: (319) 269-1870 
Work Phone Number: (319) 833-3015 
 
Email Address: sallykleisstimmer@gmail.com    
 
Representative, Name of Local Historic District: N/A 
 
Term Ends:   Month   3 Day  31  Year2026  
 
Please indicate if this person serves as the Contact with the State Historic Preservation 
Office for the Commission.  Circle       Yes                         No 
 
COMMISSIONER 
 
First Name: Michael  
 
Last Name: Mahncke 
 
Mailing Address (please provide full mailing address including city and zip code): 1228 
Rainbow Drive, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

308

Item 28.

mailto:juliee@invisionarch.com


CLG Annual Report 2023 11 

 
Home Phone Number: (319)-231-8514 
Work Phone Number: (319) 266-6576 
 
Email Address: bubba316@hotmail.com 
 
Representative, Name of Local Historic District: N/A 
 
Term Ends:   Month   3 Day  31  Year 2025  
 
Please indicate if this person serves as the Contact with the State Historic Preservation 
Office for the Commission.  Circle       Yes                         No 
 
COMMISSIONER 
 
First Name: Lindi  
 
Last Name: Roelofse 
 
Mailing Address (please provide full mailing address including city and zip code): 4815 
Algonquin Drive #3, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 
 
Home Phone Number: (319)-464-0752 
Work Phone Number: (319)-464-0752 
 
Email Address: lindi.roelofse@uni.edu 
 
Representative, Name of Local Historic District: N/A 
 
Term Ends:   Month   3 Day  31  Year 2025  
 
Please indicate if this person serves as the Contact with the State Historic Preservation 
Office for the Commission.  Circle       Yes                         No 
 

COMMISSIONER 
 
First Name: Jim  
 
Last Name: O’Loughlin 
 
Mailing Address (please provide full mailing address including city and zip code): 815 
State Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 
 
Home Phone Number: (319)-273-2821 

309

Item 28.



CLG Annual Report 2023 12 

Work Phone Number: (319)-504-5273 
 
Email Address: jim.oloughlin@uni.edu 
 
Representative, Name of Local Historic District: N/A 
 
Term Ends:   Month   3 Day  31  Year 2025  
 
Please indicate if this person serves as the Contact with the State Historic Preservation 
Office for the Commission.  Circle       Yes                         No 
 

310

Item 28.



1-5-24 

Cedar Falls Historic Preservation Commission 
Work Plan 2024 

 
Project Title:  Educational event in North Cedar Neighborhood 

Project Scope of work: 
 

Researching several historic public parks and historic significant 
structures in the North Cedar Neighborhood area. The idea is to 
develop a presentation showing the documentation of the 
researched area to people followed by self-guided walking/biking 
tour of the areas researched. The Commission will be partnering with 
the local North Cedar Neighborhood Association for this event and is 
planning to share and promote the history of North Cedar and 
significance parks and other historic significant structures in North 
Cedar Neighborhood to the Community.   

Persons responsible: 
 

Michael Mahncke (Lead Commissioner), Julie Etheredge, Sally 
Timmer, Lindi Roelofse, and Jim O’Loughlin 

Timeline: 
 

 Jan – March – Research and put together materials and 
identify possible homes to be on the tour. 

 April – Put together all the researched contents including 
maps and the design the brochure and develop a presentation 
and start reaching out to surrounding residents by mail. 

 May-June – Host the event with several partners. (Target is to 
host the event in Preservation Month or to possibly tie in with 
any possible college hill event) 

Expected outcome: 
 

A brochure designed for self-guided tour and a presentation on 
significance of public parks and structures of the North Cedar 
Neighborhood  

Project Title: CLG grant project to conduct a recon survey of the Overman Park 
Neighborhood  

Project Scope of work: 
 

The CLG grant application has been submitted to SHPO for review. If 
the Commission can get the grant for the proposed project of recon 
survey, the commission will be working on the project as per the 
project timeline. The goal is to complete part of the project done by 
the end of this year including hiring a consultant, project kick-off 
meeting, actual survey and documentation of the Overman Park area 
(approx. 153 acres and 465 properties) by end of this year. The entire 
Historic Preservation Commission with the help of student volunteers 
from UNI and other volunteers will be working on this project as per 
the project timeline. This project will be continued in the early half of 
the following year as well, to ensure its completion.    

Persons responsible: 
 

Sally Timmer (Lead Commissioner), Julie Etheredge, Michael 
Mahncke, Lindi Roelofse, and Jim O’Loughlin 

Timeline:  Feb-March – Get updates from SHPO on grant results.   

311

Item 28.



1-5-24 

  March – Receive notice to proceed and grant in Aid 
Agreement and submit draft RFP for consultant services to 
SHPO for review and approval.  

 March-April – Send out RFP. 

 May – Receive proposals from consultants and select a 
consultant. 

 June – Submit draft contract to SHPO. 

 June-July – Council contract approval, notify the selected 
consultant, and send out copy of the executed contract to 
SHPO. 

 July-August – Send out postcards to all property owners in the 
project boundary. 

 August – Host a project kick-off meeting. 

 August- September – Coordinate volunteers, assign duties and 
host a training session for volunteers. 

 September-December – Field work/photography, property 
research, and research history of the Overman Park 
Neighborhood.   

Expected outcome: 
 

If the grant is awarded, the commission will work on conducting 
recon survey of the Overman Park Neighborhood with the hired 
consultant and complete the documentation part of the project 
before the end of the year. The project will be continued in first half 
of the following year as well, wherein we would obtain the final 
survey report of the recon survey of the Overman Park 
Neighborhood.  

Project Title: Develop a digital library of the historic preservation resources  

Project Scope of work: 
 

To create a digital library of historical resources for developing a 
digital medium for the community to access information efficiently. 

Persons responsible: 
 

Lindi Roelofse. (Lead Commissioner), Sally Timmer, Julie Etheredge, 
Michael Mahncke, and Jim O’Loughlin. 

Timeline: 
 

 January - October– Research and put together materials and 
identify possible content. Start arranging the resources in the 
designed template, add credits, and check user accessibility 
and continue update incrementally on the webpage.   

 November – Finalize the content, get needed approval for the 
developed page, and make it live to the public through a 
promotion. 

Expected outcome: 
 

A digital library of useful historic preservation resources completed 
by the Historic Preservation Commission   

 

312

Item 28.



CEDAR FALLS HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
2023 Annual Summary.  

 
January 10, 2023 

 Commission discussed that they are currently working on gathering information 
about the Author’s tour and Historical Society to come up with possible content 
for an educational project around Seerley Park on College Hill.  

 Commission discussed involving UNI strategy class students to help them 
prepare for a possible event, developing posters or presentations for attracting 
more people for the educational event around Seerley Park. 

 Commission identified and discussed that they are planning to do a walking tour 
of the Seerley Park Neighborhood and will be working on the CLG grant 
application to conduct a recon survey of the Overman Park neighborhood.  

 Commission discussed the possibility of getting a historic tax credit for the 
property at 121 Franklin Street as per request from a new owner of the property.  
  

February 14, 2023 

 Public attendee suggested that the commission may work on a project of 
republishing historical books of Cedar Falls including historical places in Black 
Hawk County or 101 places in Cedar Falls by compressing them into postcards 
or small booklets for spreading education on preservation.  

 Commission discussed updates on the Seerley Park Neighborhood walking tour 
including their plan to have 8 houses with unique architectural styles around the 
park on tour. 

 Commission discussed sending out notifications to all property owners of the 
selected 8 properties on tour to see if they have any objections and to see if they 
can somehow participate in this tour.  

 The Commission discussed and approved the drafted annual CLG report and its 
supplemental materials including Work Plan 2023 with minor corrections before it 
is submitted to City Council approval. 

 Commission elected Julie Etheredge as Chair and Sally Timmer as the Vice 
Chair for the commission for this year.   
 

March 14, 2023 

 The public attendee asked the commission if the Commission can support the 
destination grant application to pursue College Hill arches, which was recently 
denied. The commission discussed that their role is to provide education about 
preservation in general and that is the best they can do citing examples of 
upcoming events. 

 The Commission discussed that the UNI students have been working on the 
upcoming event poster and brochure design and the draft design will be shared 
with everyone before the next meeting to be able to discuss and finalize it. 

 Commission discussed that they are planning to host the Seerley Park 
Neighborhood Walking Tour on May 25th, 2023, at 6:00 pm and expressed 
interest in a TV interview to attract more attendees. 

313

Item 28.



April 11, 2023 

 A public attendee shared the handbook that was recently found, outlining the 
history of churches in the City, and it could be a good resource for a possible 
educational event in the future. 

 UNI Student representative presented the draft work on developing a brochure 
and the poster for the upcoming event “Seerley Park Neighborhood Walking 
Tour” and discussed the draft designs with the commission and received 
feedback. 

 The commission discussed changes to be made in the draft poster and brochure 
designs. The commission was also updated that they will not be able to do a TV 
interview because of time constraints but will be able to conduct a live social 
media feed to be able to promote the upcoming event. 

 The commission discussed the possibility of sending a pre-application for the 
CLG grant application for the recon survey of the Overman Park District in June, 
to be able to get needed feedback before submitting the actual application.  

 The commission discussed that the UNI students have also created a digital 
version of the tour to provide event attendees with an e-map of the tour on their 
phones and to engage a younger audience. Also, the digital version would allow 
the commission to get feedback for the event and create a digital contact library 
for future events. 
 

May 09, 2023 

 The public attendee shared a book “Historical Tour of Black Hawk County” which 
provides information on 99 places to visit in Cedar Valley with the hope of seeing 
a possible public event about the resources at a later date.   

 The commission discussed specifics of the upcoming “Seerley Park 
Neighborhood Walking Tour” event and discussed event marketing strategies.  

 Commission discussed that the app prepared by the UNI student for the 
upcoming “Seerley Park Neighborhood Walking Tour” event will be a great 
addition to providing digital access to brochure information as well as encourage 
younger generations to be able to attend such events and learn about preserving 
the historical character of the neighborhood. 
 

June 13, 2023 

 The Commission discussed the success of the Seerley Park Neighborhood 
Walking Tour event and selected a gift card winner from the event as mentioned 
at the event. 

 Commission brainstormed ideas about other educational projects that they are 
planning to work on including the pending digital platform project and possible 
new educational events. 

 City staff updated the commission about a recent courier article that was going to 
be published about the recent “Seerley Park Neighborhood Walking Tour” 
success and encouraging more participants for future events. 

 The Commission shared the experience of attending the Preserve Iowa Summit 
in Sioux City and highlighted learnings. 
 

314

Item 28.



July 11, 2023 

 Representative from Cedar Valley Historic Society invited the commission to 
present an educational project to the Cedar Valley Historic Society, which is a 
group of 50-60 people that meets regularly to learn about historical facts in Cedar 
Valley. 

 The Commission brainstormed several ideas for new educational projects in 
North Cedar, the downtown area, and also possibly visiting multiple buildings on 
the UNI campus. 

 City staff updated the commission that a new website for the commission will not 
be a possibility as all boards and commissions have a webpage through the 
City’s website. So, compiling resources into digital format may continue on the 
City’s webpage and possible adjustments can be made on the commission’s 
webpage to provide easy access to people. Staff asked the commission to 
provide information at every meeting for city staff to make updates regularly, as it 
is a big project. 
 

August 08, 2023 

 The City Attorney gave a presentation about the Commission’s role, and the 
resources available for commission members from the City and introduced the 
City’s DEI Specialist, who is also available as a resource for the commission as 
part of the Commission training initiative.  

 Commission discussed that SHPO is yet to update the CLG application but the 
commission has started to fill out the application questionnaire based on the last 
year’s application to be able to get ready with the information, as soon as the 
updated application is available online. 

 Commission discussed that they will be giving a presentation on the recently 
completed “Seerley Park Tour” to the Cedar Valley Historic Preservation group 
on November 28th, 2023 at the Grout Museum, Waterloo upon the invitation that 
was received at the last meeting. 
 

September 12, 2023 

 The Commission discussed possibly getting a paid internship from UNI to help 
them digitize resources or develop a platform and about sharing the link of the 
Historic Preservation Commission’s webpage on the Visitor and Tourism Bureau 
website, this way the webpage can attract more traffic. 

 Commission discussed the possibility of the next educational project in different 
areas of town including touring some of the historical houses on 2nd Street, 
developing a “Main Street 360” style digital page that shows a timeline of 
different eras like the Fortepan Iowa website but limited to the City, looking at 
North Cedar Neighborhood area and Sartori Park area for possible new tours.  

 Commission discussed that the West Gym on the UNI campus may be torn down 
based on the recent article. 
 
 
 
 

315

Item 28.



October 10, 2023 

 City staff updated the commission that they have been working with staff at the 
Visitor and Tourism office to revise a couple of brochures for past educational 
tours, once revised, they will be able to upload the same on the webpage.  

 The commission discussed updates from their research on the next educational 
project including the possibility of doing a bike tour in North Cedar Neighborhood 
based on their conversation from the North Cedar Neighborhood association with 
older houses in the area and some restored parks.  

 The Commission also discussed that they were able to narrow down to 8-10 
houses on 2nd Street with unique architectural styles and different housing types 
that would make up a walking tour of the areas as a possible educational event. 

 City staff asked the commission to provide a draft presentation for the “Seerley 
Park Tour” that they plan to present to Cedar Valley Historical Society next 
month. 

 
November 14, 2023  

 Public attendee shared his recent project of designing an interactive tour of black 
history on the UNI campus (a UNI project) which was very impactful in 
highlighting African American history. He also mentioned that according to his 
research, the Seerley House was a cultural interpretation center in the past and it 
should be restored as a multi-cultural center rather than being torn down. 

 Public attendees shared that recently they were contacted by the Historic 
Preservation Commission for a possible historic preservation educational project 
in the North Cedar area and they are thrilled about the same as the North Cedar 
neighborhood association’s primary goal is to preserve the history and character 
of the neighborhood. She also mentioned that with ongoing efforts to preserve 
the natural resource area and park, it could be a great opportunity for both the 
association and the commission to showcase ongoing efforts. 

 City staff updated that the CLG application for recon survey of the Overman Park 
neighborhood is almost finalized to be sent for pre-review to SHPO. City staff 
discussed the final drafted budget, project timeline, and project scope with the 
commission to get their final thoughts before submission. City staff and the 
commission also discussed their role in maintaining the project pace to keep up 
with the deadline and following the timeline will be crucial.  

 Commission approved the application with all supplemental materials with a few 
minor adjustments, this way it is submitted for pre-review, and also a memo is 
submitted to seek City Council approval of submitting the application to SHPO. 

 Commission discussed updating Eddie Bowle’s write-up and resources on the 
webpage as part of updating digital records of historical resources. 

 Commission discussed that they have found few resources for a possible 
educational event in the North Cedar Neighborhood area and finalized that the 
next educational event will be done in the North Cedar neighborhood area. 
Commission also discussed researched information including phone surveys. 
County records, Eddie Bowles’s presence in the area. 

316

Item 28.



 Representatives from the North Cedar Neighborhood Association mentioned that 
they will be happy to help with any resources that the commission needs to 
execute the educational event in the North Cedar neighborhood area. 
 

December 12, 2023 

 Public attendees mentioned that Riverview Park could be a good historical spot 
for showcasing its significance and could be an educational project. 

 Commission discussed updating the webpage with Eddie Bowles's information 
and links that can be shared with the Visitors and Tourism website. 

 Representative from North Cedar Neighborhood Association shared several 
possible projects including Hillside Cemetery which has a history from 1800’s 
and early founders of the Cedar Falls, Tall Grass Prairie area that has recently 
restored 16 acres of the park area and native plantings, Island Park, which is one 
of the best recreation spot in the City and Eddie Bowle’s cabin where he lived on 
the water in 70’s.  

 The Commission discussed that all these ideas could be part of one educational 
project which can have several self-guided tours and the Commission will be 
looking at more details for each suggested area and come up with contents for 
the educational tour. The Commission also discussed that they want to plan this 
event in May 2024.  

 City staff discussed compiling the annual CLG report and work plan for 2024 that 
will have to be submitted to SHPO. Staff asked the commission to review the 
report, form a work plan, and finalize the same at their next meeting. 

 
 
Chair: Julie Etheredge  
Vice Chair: Sally Timmer  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

317

Item 28.



 
HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION 

ATTENDANCE JANUARY 2023 THROUGH DECEMBER 2023 

 

J
a

n
. 

2
0

2
3
 

F
e

b
. 

2
0

2
3
 

M
a

r.
 2

0
2

3
 

A
p

r.
 2

0
2

3
 

M
a

y
 2

0
2

3
 

J
u

n
e

 2
0

2
3
 

J
u

ly
 2

0
2

3
 

 

A
u

g
. 

2
0

2
3
 

S
e

p
t.

 2
0
2

3
 

O
c

t.
 2

0
2

3
 

N
o

v
. 

2
0

2
3
 

D
e

c
. 

2
0
2

3
 

T
o

ta
l 

R
a

ti
o

 

%
 A

tt
e

n
d

. 

Sally Timmer X X X X X X X X X X X X 12/12 100% 

Julie Etheredge X X X O X X X O X O X X 9/12 75% 

Michael 
Mahncke  

O X X X X X O X O X X X 9/12 75% 

Lindi Roelofse  X X X X X X X O O O O X 8/12 67% 

Jim O’Loughlin  X X O O X X X X X X X X 10/12 83% 

X =  Present 
O =  Not Present `` 

318

Item 28.



319

Item 28.



#CFPreservation #CFPreservation

CEDAR FALLS HISTORIC 
PRESERVATION COMMISSION 

PRESENTS: 

The Seerley Park Neighborhood

The Seerley Park Neighborhood 
District is significant because it calls 

attention to the upbuilding of  
Cedar Falls’ central residential 

neighborhood.

https://www.cedarfalls.com/956/Hi
storic-Preservation-Commission

Sign up for future events and resources 
from Cedar Falls Historic Preservation 
Commission. Share your contact details at 
https://forms.gle/5DC2QcVik9ivbPbV8 

Overview of the four featured historic 
architectural styles in the Seerley Park 
Neighborhood.

Queen Anne Victorian (1880–1910) 
Identifying features-Asymmetrical facade, 
steeply pitched roof, patterned shingles, 
bay windows, turrets/towers, full-width 
front porch.

Colonial Revival (1880–1955) 
Identifying features-Symmetrical facade, 
one-story, full width front porch, classical 
front porch columns, hipped or gabled 
dormers usually present, two-story 
pilasters.

Craftsman (1905–1930) 
Low-pitched gable roof, deep eaves, full-
width front porch, exposed roof rafters, 
decorative beams or braces under roofline, 
full or partial width front porch.

Prairie Style (1872 – 1925) 
Emerged in the United States in the late 
19th and early 20th century, and is 
characterized by its emphasis on horizontal 
lines, low-pitched roofs with broad 
overhanging eaves, and integration with the 
surrounding landscape.

Information provided by 
Cedar Falls Historical Society.

Special thank you to the Cedar Falls 
Historic Preservation Commission 

Collaborators:

a

TRIVIA QUESTION
How many neighborhood houses can you spot 

in each of the four architecture styles?
a

Walking Tour e Brochure

320

Item 28.

https://forms.gle/5DC2QcVik9ivbPbV8


#CFPreservation

MAP
2321 Iowa Street

       2309 Iowa Street

       2303 Iowa Street

       2221 Tremont Street   

Get a chance to hear historical 
information and living experience 
from homeowners. 

NOTE: This tour is intended to be a street 
side tour. Please do not enter any private 
property unless advised by guides.

2300 Tremont Street

     
              
       2310 Tremont Street 

        2316 Tremont Street

            

       
        422 W. Seerley Blvd.

Built in early 1900, this small 
house has a no. of Queen 
Anne-style distinguishing 
features. From the steeply 
pitched hipped roof with 
asymmetrical cross gables,

This home is in the Prairie 
Style popularized by Frank 
Lloyd Wright. The home’s 
low-pitched hipped roof with 
wide overhanging eaves 
immediately identifies it as

This lot was purchased in 
May 1900 and the home 
was built  that summer.  This 
home was built in the Queen 
Anne style. It has a steeply 
pitched roof and cutaway

Built between 1896-1900, 
this house has been 
heavily modified. But it has 
many of the Queen Anne 
style. Like many larger 
homes In the Normal

Addition, this serves as a boarding house for 
students attending Iowa State Normal School.

bay window, as well as wall surfaces and 
cutaways and angles.

Prairie Style. Other features of the style on 
this home are the stucco and brick exterior,  
the built-in window boxes on  both stories.

to the front-facing gable to the right of the 
entrance porch. 

1

3

2

4

1

2

3

4

5

6

8

7

This home was built 
between 1914 – 1918 in 
the Craftsman style. It 
has exposed rafter tails 
under the eaves and 
decorative scrollwork on

Built around 1924 in the 
Craftsman tradition, the 
home retains many 
signature features, 
including the tapered 
square columns supporting 

Built around 1919, this is 
classic example of Colonial 
Revival Style. This home 
has a front-facing gambrel 
roof with outward flaring 
eaves, small shed dormers, 

Built around 1915, it is a 
classic example of 
Craftsman architecture.  It 
has tapered columns at 
the corners of the porch 
and decorative knee

braces under the wide eaves. 

bands of symmetrical double-hung windows, 
and shingled gable surface.

the roof of the full-width front porch and 
the low-pitched roof with its deep eaves.

the bargeboards.

5

6

7

8

TRIVIA QUESTION
In Nancy Price’s 1987 novel Sleeping with the 

Enemy (turned movie staring Julia Roberts 
1991), in which Cedar Falls, Iowa house did 

the protagonist hide?

321

Item 28.



Seerley Park Neighborhood
Cedar Falls Historic Preservation 

Commission

322

Item 28.



Seerley Park Tour-May 25, 2023

323

Item 28.



Seerley Park Tour-May 25, 2023

324

Item 28.



Seerley Park Overview
● -Central residential neighborhood
● -Strong connection to the 

University of Northern Iowa
● -Centered around Seerley Park

○ -Second oldest park in Cedar Falls
○ -Named after Homer Seerley,    

President of UNI

● Originally called the Normal 
Addition

325

Item 28.



2221 Tremont Street
● Queen Anne, pre-1900

○ Steeply pitched roof
○ Cross gabled
○ Palladian windows

● Owners
○ Silas and Ellen Hartshorn
○ John and Dora Brier, house carpenter

■ Daughter, son-in-law and grand 
daughter also lived with them

■ Purchased in 1905 and family lived 
here until 1932

326

Item 28.



2300 Tremont Street
● Craftsman, built 1915

○ Tapered columns on porch
○ Decorative knee braces

● Built by James F. and Sarah Porter
○ House next door at 2222 Tremont built by 

brother John R. Porter. 
○ James son, Robert, continued living after their 

death. James other son Frank, moved in next 
door in John’s house. 

○ Frank and Robert established 2 important 
Cedar Falls businesses
■ Porter’s Camera Store
■ Porter’s Sporting Goods

327

Item 28.



2310 Tremont Street
● Dutch Colonial, Built 1919

○ Front facing gambrel roof
○ Outward flaring eaves
○ Shed dormers
○ Shingled gable surface

● Frank Rugg, house carpenter
● 1923 purchased by Richard W. and Cora 

Gibson
○ Grocery store business

● Described by one of the characters in 
Sleeping with the Enemy
○ Situated directly across from Nancy Price’s house

328

Item 28.



2316 Tremont Street
● Craftsman, 1924

○ Tapered square columns
○ Full-width front porch
○ Low-pitched roof, deep eaves

● Emma and Samuel McKitrick
○ Samuel retired from teaching 
○ Son, Reuben, head of Economics Department at 

ISTC
○ Daughter, Clara, principal at Washington Irving 

School in Waterloo
○ McKitrick family owned many properties around 

Seerley Park
○ Clara continued to live here until 1968

329

Item 28.



2303 Iowa Street
● Prairie, 1914

○ Frank Lloyd Wright, horizontality
○ Low-pitched roof
○ Wide, overhanging eaves
○ Stucco and brick
○ Built-in window boxes, square porch supports
○ Side entryway

● Professor Reuben McKitrick-Head of Dept. of 
Economics at ISTC
○ Wife, Louise
○ Moved from Madison, WI
○ Degrees from Northwestern State Normal and Oklahoma 

University, post grad at UW
○ 1918 contracted influenza, died of tuberculosis in 1919
○ Louise worked as secretary of the Extension Service at ISTC

330

Item 28.



2309 Iowa Street
● Queen Anne Free Classic, 1900

○ Cutaways and angles
○ Wide front porch, front gable
○ Classic porch columns
○ Steeply pitched roof
○ Sunburst above attic windows in front gable

● Built by John Baptist and Emma Gundry Knoepfler
○ John born in Germany, emigrated at 2 with family
○ Superintendant in many Iowa school districts, state 

superintendent
○ Came to ISTC in 1900 as head of German Dept. 
○ Emma born in England and emigrated as infant with family

● Home of Nancy Price, author of Sleeping with the 
Enemy 
○ Painted mural in dining room

331

Item 28.



2321 Iowa Street
● Queen Anne, built 1896-1900

○ Wide porch
○ Second story balcony 
○ Cutaway bay

● Built as a boarding house
● 1900 J.C. and Emma Burnett owned
● 1903 Thomas E. and Elizabeth Mathews 

moved family here to educate their 9 children 
in CF
○ Ran it as a boarding house for students and 

professors
○ In 1905 there were 21 boarders were living here
○ Was in Mathews family until 1926

332

Item 28.



422 Seerley Blvd
● Craftsman, 1914-1918

○ Exposed rafter tails
○ Decorative scrollwork on bargeboards
○ Double hung windows, multi-pane lights over 

single pane of glass

● 1918 Rev. W. Roland and Rachel Williams
○ Presbyterian minister
○ Both born in Wales

● 1934 Reno R. and Vesta Reeve
○ Lawyer, helped arrange “marriage” of Cedar 

Heights and Cedar Falls

333

Item 28.



Contact Us
Visit our website at: 

www.cedarfalls.com/956/historic-preservation-commission

Email JD at jda@cedarfalls.com

Email Sally at sallykleisstimmer@gmail.com

Call JD at 319-268-5185

334

Item 28.

http://www.cedarfalls.com/956/historic-preservation-commission
mailto:jda@cedarfalls.com
mailto:sallykleisstimmer@gmail.com


335

Item 28.



336

Item 28.



337

Item 28.



338

Item 28.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

PUBLIC WORKS & PARKS DIVISION 
2200 TECHNOLOGY PARKWAY 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8629 
FAX 319-273-8632 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Daniel Laudick and Cedar Falls City Council 

 FROM: Chase Schrage, Director, Public Works Department 

 DATE: January 26, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Hwy 57/West 1st Street Parcels 49 & 52 

 
 Enclosed are documents from the Iowa Department of Transportation regarding 
excess right-of-way that was purchased or condemned for highway purposes during the 
reconstruction of Highway 57/West 1st Street. Now that the project is completed, the 
Iowa DOT has offered the property back to the City at fair market value. The parcels 
considered are parcel 49 ($34,000) and parcel 52 ($32,000).  
 
The agreement between the Iowa DOT and the City outlines a 50/50 cost share on any 
right-of-way purchased as part of the project. After the purchase of these parcels, the 
City would receive half of the parcel costs back in reimbursement. 
 
The City is working with Habitat for Humanity to potentially utilize these lots for building 
affordable housing, utilizing HOME funds.  Work will follow adopted Annual Action 
Plans.  Future agreements would come forward on a project-specific basis with Habitat.   
 
The Department of Public Works recommends that the City Council approve this 
resolution for the purchase of parcels 49 & 52 from the Iowa Department of 
Transportation. Let me know if you have any questions. 
 
 
  
 

339

Item 29.



340

Item 29.



341

Item 29.



342

Item 29.



343

Item 29.



344

Item 29.



345

Item 29.



346

Item 30.



347

Item 30.



348

Item 30.



349

Item 30.



350

Item 30.



351

Item 30.



352

Item 30.



353

Item 30.



354

Item 30.



355

Item 30.



356

Item 31.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS  

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
  
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: February 5th, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement 
  Foth Infrastructure & Environmental, LLC 
  2024 Bridge Inspection Project 
  City Project Number: BR-000-3259 
  Supplemental Agreement No. 1 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval is the Supplemental Agreement No. 1 to the 
Professional Services Agreement between the City of Cedar Falls and Foth 
Infrastructure & Environmental, LLC for the 2024 Bridge Inspection Project. This 
Supplemental Agreement provides for provides for the detail work, services, materials, 
equipment, and supplies necessary to complete the 2024 biannual National Bridge 
Inventory (NBI) inspections for the City of Cedar Falls. Of the sixty-five (65) bridges 
within the City of Cedar Falls, thirty-eight (38) of those are on the National Bridge 
Inventory. The alternating year inspection program is required by the Iowa Department 
of Transportation and must be completed by a qualified firm. Compensation for the 
services shall be on an hourly basis and in a total amount not to exceed $60,975.00. 
 
The City of Cedar Falls entered into a Professional Services Agreement with Foth 
Infrastructure & Environmental, LLC for the 2022 Bridge Inspection Project on February 
21, 2022. The project will be funded by Street Construction Fund. 
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department requests your consideration 
and approval of this Supplemental Agreement No. 1 with Foth Infrastructure & 
Environmental, LLC for the 2024 Bridge Inspections Project.  
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Public Works Director 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 

357

Item 32.



 
 
 
 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

 
OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE DIVISION 

2200 TECHNOLOGY PKWY 
319-273-8629 
FAX 319-273-8632 
 

 

ENGINEERING DIVISION 

220 CLAY STREET 
319-268-5161 

FAX 319-268-5197 

  
  
  
     
 

 

WATER RECLAMATION DIVISION 
501 E. 4TH STREET 

319-273-8633 
FAX 319-268-5566 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT NO. 1 
 

2024 Bridge Inspections Project 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number BR – 000 – 3259 

 

 

WHEREAS, a Professional Services Agreement was entered into by the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

(Client), and Foth Infrastructure & Environmental, LLC, (Consultant), of Johnston, Iowa, dated February 

21, 2022 for the required detail work, services, materials, equipment and supplies necessary to 

complete the biannual National Bridge Inventory (NBI) inspections of 38 structures and the safety 

inspection of 27 additional structures for the City of Cedar Falls; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Client and Consultant desire to amend the previous agreement to include engineering 

services required to complete the 2024 biannual National Bridge Inventory inspection,  

 

NOW THEREFORE, it is mutually agreed to amend the original Professional Services Agreement as 

follows:  

 

I.  SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 

 See attached Exhibit A-Scope of Services and Exhibit B-Schedule 

 

II.  COMPENSATION 

 

 Compensation for the Services shall be on an hourly basis in accordance with the hourly 

fees and other direct expenses in effect at the time the services are performed.  Total 

compensation is a not to exceed fee of Sixty Thousand Nine Hundred Seventy-Five Dollars 

($60,975.00). The compensation for this supplemental agreement is to be segregated from 

the original agreement.  

 

III. In all other aspects, the obligations of the Client and Consultant shall remain as specified in 

the Professional Services Agreement dated February 21, 2022.  
 
  

358

Item 32.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this agreement on the day and year written below. 
 
APPROVED FOR CLIENT  APPROVED FOR CONSULTANT 
 
 
By:  By:  
 
 
Printed Name:  __Daniel Laudick_______  Printed Name: Aaron Moniza                 
 
 
Title: __Mayor of Cedar Falls  Title: Senior Client Manager                              
 
 
Date:  Date:  

359

Item 32.

APM
Image

APM
Text Box
1/26/24



Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC  2022 Bridge Inspection Project 
Project No. 24C017.01  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project Number BR-000-3259 
   

  
 

Page 1 of 3 

Exhibit A – Scope of Services 

 
2024 Bridge Inspection Project 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
City Project Number BR-000-3259 

 

 
The work to be performed by the CONSULTANT under this agreement shall encompass and include all 
detail work, services, materials, equipment and supplies necessary to complete the 2024 biannual 
National Bridge Inventory (NBI) inspections of 38 structures and the safety inspection of 29 additional 
structures for the City of Cedar Falls. 
 
The project includes conducting the bridge safety inspections by a qualified Team Leader, recording of 
inspection data in Structure Inventory and Inspection Management System (SIIMS), bridge load rating, 
compiling a bridge inspection report, and assisting the City in managing their bridge inspection records. 
 
The scope of services to be performed by the CONSULTANT shall be completed in accordance with 
generally accepted standards of practice and shall include the services to complete the following tasks: 
 

TASK A - Basic Services of the Engineer: 
 
1.0 CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 
 
1.1 Project Management 
The project manager shall be responsible for the development and tracking of the project plan for the 
project development.  This includes task identification, staff scheduling and coordination, project 
communications, monthly progress reporting and invoicing and other important elements of the project.  
The project design duration is assumed to be three (3) months. 
 
1.2 Project Development Team Meetings 
Maintain communications with the Project Development Team and various other designated 
representatives.  The project development team will include the City of Cedar Falls and Foth.  Meet to 
review progress and to discuss specific elements of the project design (assume one (1) meeting).  The 
meetings will also serve to establish schedules, develop project goals, establish initial design parameters, 
promote a dialog between the various entities, improve the decision-making process, and expedite design 
development.  Prepare minutes of meetings and keep documentation of other communications.  For 
budget purposes, it is assumed that the meetings will be attended by one (1) staff member of the 
CONSULTANT. 
 
The following project meetings are included with the scope of work: 
Review of Bridge Inspection Report - one (1) meeting 
 
1.3 Quality Control Plan 
Establish review and checking procedures for project deliverables. Designate responsibility for 
implementation of the plan. 
 
 
2.0 PROJECT COORDINATION 
 
2.1 Public Information Meeting – (Task Not Included). 
 
2.2 Individual Property Owner Meetings – (Task Not Included). 
 
2.3 Utility Coordination Meeting – (Task Not Included). 
 
2.4 Periodic Meetings with Local Elected Officials – (Task Not Included). 

360

Item 32.



Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC  2024 Bridge Inspection Project 
Project No. 24C017.01  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project Number BR-000-3259 

 

 
 

Page 2 of 3 

 
2.5 Exhibit Preparation for Council Meetings – (Task Not Included). 
 
 
3.0 ROUTINE BRIDGE INSPECTION 
 
3.1 Prepare for Bridge Inspections 
The CONSULTANT shall review the previous inspection reports and electronic files uploaded to SIIMS.   
Plans for bridge construction and repair work completed since the 2022 inspections will be uploaded to 
SIIMS.  New reports for the current inspection cycle will be created in SIIMS and copies of these reports 
with the prior inspection data will be printed for use in the field during the inspection.  Arrangements will 
be made to rent or otherwise secure any specialized equipment not owned by the CONSULTANT and 
required to complete the inspections. 
 
3.2 In-Field Bridge Inspections 
The CONSULTANT shall perform a safety inspection of each NBI bridge conducted by a qualified Team 
Leader.  In addition to assessing all structural elements, the channel cross section will be measured and 
recorded as required by the Iowa DOT Instructional Memorandum (IM) No. 7.020.  Underwater 
inspections are not required for this inspection cycle and therefore not included in this scope.  Any 
deficiencies observed will be noted and photographed and any significant section loss will be measured.  
Existing element ratings on the Structure Inventory and Appraisal (SI&A) form will be reviewed and 
adjusted if necessary. 
 
In general, the inspection and evaluation process for the non-NBI structures will adhere to the approach 
outlined for the NBI structures, however information will not be reported in SIIMS since the Iowa DOT only 
maintains data on the NBI structures.  Therefore, the information gathered during the inspections will be 
recorded in a database maintained by the CONSULTANT in a format that mimics the SIIMS format. 
 
Traditional inspection techniques will be supplemented with the use of small unmanned aerial systems 
(sUAS) to visually inspect portions of a bridge over a larger body of water than cannot be seen from the 
ground. The sUAS will be operated by a licensed sUAS pilot following applicable airspace regulations. 
 
3.3 Bridge Load Rating 
Existing load rating calculations will be reviewed by a licensed Professional Engineer (PE) in the State of 
Iowa employed by the CONSULTANT.  Updates to the calculations will be made when necessary and 
any new or revised load rating calculations will be sealed by the PE and uploaded to SIIMS.  Each NBI 
bridge will be evaluated for Emergency Vehicle (EV) and All Systems Permit load rating requirements and 
load rated for applicable EV’s as required by the City will be advised if load rating calculations indicate a 
bridge requires load posting. 
 
3.4 SIIMS Data Entry 
Information collected during the inspection will be uploaded to SIIMS by the CONSULTANT including all 
photographs taken, the channel cross section sketch, and any changes to existing SI&A data.  Other 
items that will be completed following the safety inspection and uploaded to SIIMS includes critical finding 
reports when applicable and the various master lists required by IM No. 7.020.  The CONSULTANT will 
also verify the bridge files are in conformance with the AASHTO Manual for Bridge Evaluation and make 
additions and/or revisions to the bridge files when necessary.   
 
3.5 Scour Plans of Action 
Review scour plans of action (POA) for the NBI bridges deemed scour critical (approximately three (3) 
bridges).  The POA should outline the monitoring plan for each bridge and provide guidelines and 
practical information pertaining to each bridge for the purpose of monitoring foundation scour during flood 
events.   
 
3.6 Report Preparation 
The CONSULTANT shall prepare a bridge inspection report for submittal to the City.  The report will 
contain a brief description of the bridge condition documenting any observed deficiencies with 

361

Item 32.



Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC  2024 Bridge Inspection Project 
Project No. 24C017.01  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project Number BR-000-3259 

 

 
 

Page 3 of 3 

recommendations to address each deficiency, and applicable photographs.  The report will also include 
copies of the updated SI&A forms and the local agency field data collection forms.  A tabular summary of 
the inspections will be presented and will include current and recommended load postings, sufficiency 
rating, indication if the bridge is structurally deficient and/or functionally obsolete, and recommendations 
for further action.  Three (3) copies of the bridge inspection report will be provided to the City. 
 

PROJECT DELIVERABLES 
 

The scope of services shall be considered complete upon completion and delivery of the following items 
to the satisfaction of the City Engineer: 

• Three (3) copies of the Routine Bridge Inspection Report 
 
 

362

Item 32.



Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC  2022 Bridge Inspection Project 
Project No. 24C017.01  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project Number BR-000-3259 
   

  
 

Page 1 of 1 

Exhibit B – Schedule 

 
2024 Bridge Inspection Project 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
City Project Number BR-000-3259 

 

 
The CONSULTANT shall complete the following phases of the Project in accordance with the schedule 
shown, assuming notice to proceed is issued by the City on or before February 6, 2024. 
 

Consultant Contract Approval     February 6, 2024  

Bridge File Review     March 8, 2024 

Routine Bridge Inspections    March 31, 2024 

Routine Inspection Data Reported to SIIMS  March 31, 2024 

Load Rating Calculations    April 19, 2024 

Draft Routine Inspection Report and QA/QC  April 26, 2024 

Final Routine Inspection Report Submittal  May 10, 2024 

 

If notice to proceed is given at a later date, time of completion shall be extended accordingly. 

 

363

Item 32.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
  
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: February 5, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: 2024 CDBG Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project 
  City Project Number: SA-000-3325 
  Bid Opening 
   

On Friday, January 19, 2024 at 10:00 a.m. bids were received and opened for the 2024 
CDBG Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project. A total of two (2) bids were received, with 
Municipal Pipe Tool Company as the low bidder: 
 

 Base Bid 

Engineering Estimate $141,109.00 

Municipal Pipe Tool Company $151,712.00 

Insituform Technologies $156,165.48 

 
The Engineer's Estimate for this project was $141,109.00. Municipal Pipe Tool Company 
of Hudson, Iowa submitted the low bid in the amount of $151,712.00. Attached is a bid 
tabulation for your reference. 
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends acceptance of 
the lowest bid from Municipal Pipe Tool Company in the amount of $151,712.00. Contract, 
Bonds, and Insurance Certificate have been submitted and will also be for consideration 
for City Council approval on February 5, 2024. 
 
Xc: Chase Schrage, Public Works Director 
 David Wicke, P.E., City Engineer   
 
 

364

Item 33.



2024 CDBG SANITARY SEWER REHABILITATION PROJECT (#8891383)

Owner: Cedar Falls IA, City of

01/19/2024 10:00 AM CST

Line Item Item Code Item Description UofM Quantity Unit Price Extension Unit Price Extension Unit Price Extension

1 4050-108-A-0 Pipe Lining, 8 Inch Ln Ft 2873 $33.00 $94,809.00 $34.00 $97,682.00 $37.07 $106,502.11

2 4050-108-B-0 Building Sanitary Sewer Service Reconnection Ea 66 $100.00 $6,600.00 $75.00 $4,950.00 $74.36 $4,907.76

3 4050-180-B-0 Grouting Service Laterals Ea 66 $450.00 $29,700.00 $630.00 $41,580.00 $375.00 $24,750.00

4 11020-108-A-0 Mobilization LS 1 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $7,500.00 $7,500.00 $20,005.61 $20,005.61

Engineer Estimate
Municipal Pipe Tool 

Company
Insituform Technologies

$141,109.00 $151,712.00 $156,165.48

365

Item 33.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: February 5, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: 2024 CDBG Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project 
  City Project Number: SA-000-3325 
  Contract Documents 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Form of Contract; the Performance, 
Payment, and Maintenance Bonds; Certificates of Insurance; and Form of Proposal with 
Municipal Pipe Tool Company for the construction of the 2024 CDBG Sanitary Sewer 
Project. 
 
This project consists of installing a cured in place liner within the existing 8-inch 
diameter sewer lines in selected areas of the City. The total project involves 
approximately 2,873 linear feet and 66 sewer service taps. 
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends approving and 
executing the contract with Municipal Pipe Tool Company for the construction of the 
2024 CDBG Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project. 
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, P.E., City Engineer 
  
  

 
 
 

366

Item 34.



367

Item 34.



368

Item 34.



369

Item 34.



370

Item 34.



371

Item 34.



372

Item 34.



373

Item 34.



374

Item 34.



375

Item 34.



376

Item 34.



377

Item 34.



378

Item 34.



379

Item 34.



380

Item 34.



381

Item 34.



382

Item 34.



383

Item 34.



384

Item 34.



385

Item 34.



386

Item 34.



387

Item 34.



388

Item 34.



389

Item 34.



390

Item 34.



391

Item 34.



392

Item 34.



FORM OF PROPOSAL
2024 CDBG SANITARY SEWER REHABILITATION PROJECT

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA
PROJECT NO. SA-000-3325

To the Mayor and City Council
City of Cedar Falls, lowa

The undersigned hereby certifies that
Municipal Pipe Tool Go Llfi"r"

examined the specifications, general conditions, and form of contract annexed hereto. Having

made such examination, the undersigned hereby proposes to construct the improvements for the

2024 CDBG SANITARY SEWER REHABILITATION PROJECT in accordance with the plans and

speciflcations on file in the office of the City Clerk, the published Notice to Bidders and the Form of

Contract, herewith, complying with all the laws of the State of lowa, and the Rules, Regulations and

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, and to the satisfaction of the City Council of the City of Cedar

Falls, lowa, including the guaranteeing of this Project for a period of two (2) years from the date of

final acceptance thereof at the following prices, to-wit:

Bidders may not independently bid on selective items of work. ln this project, all items constitute
one indivisible work that will be let to one bidder. Bids shall be submitted for all of the items. The
successful bidder will be determined by evaluating the Total Bid shown above. Failure to submit a
bid on any item shall be just cause for disqualification of the entire proposal. U n it bids must be filled

Item
No.

Item Code Description Item Quantity
and Units

Unit Price Amount
Dollars Cenls Dollafs Cents

1 Pipe Lining, 8 lnch 2,873 LF 3q Ql,wz
2

4050-108-B-0 Building Sanitary Sewer
Service Reconnection

66 Each 1e 4q50, -
3 Grouting Service Laterals 66 Each (oZO Ltt'5f
4 '11020-108-A-0 Mobilization 1LS 1sw 1w

Total Bid \5rJlz

11

personally and carefully

4050-108-A-0

4050-108-B-0

393

Item 34.



in ink, typed or computer generated, or the bid will be rejected. The Owner reserves the right to
delete any part or all of any item.

The Owner reserves the right to reject any and all bids, including without limitation, nonconforming,
nonresponsive, unbalanced, or conditional bids. The Owner further reserves the right to reject the
bid of any bidderwhom it finds, after reasonable inquiry and evaluation, to be non-responsible. The
Owner may also reject the bid of any bidder if the Owner believes that it would not be in the best
interest of the project to make an award to that bidder. The Owner also reserves the right to waive
all informalities not involving price time or changes in the work.

lf written notice of approval of award is mailed, telegraphed or delivered to the undersigned within
thirty (30) calendar days after the opening thereof, or any time thereafter before this bid is
withdrawn, the undersigned agrees to execute and deliver an agreement in the prescribed form and
furnish the required bond within ten (10) calendar days after the Contract is presented to him for
signature, and start work within ten (10) calendar days after "Notice to Proceed" is issued.

Bid Securitv
t1,)

the um of tr>bt" h brJ
is submitted herewith in accordance with

in the form r:f
the

tn

lnstructions to Bidders.

The bidder is prepared to submit a financial and experience statement upon request.

The bidder has received the following Addendum or Addenda:

Addendum No.
Addendum No.
Addendum No.

The bidder has filled in all blanks on this Proposal.

Munici Pi Tool Co LLC
By

Official Address Title

Date otloq lzoltl

olqs is prescribed in 18 U.S.A., Section 1001.

>kAlivl hUa-t c/-k/.*

Date
Date

+tr
5t

r}r
sYu*. A) BoL
lA d>t'o4Z AD

12

Note: The Penalty for making false statements in
Name of bidder

394

Item 34.



NTENT TO COMPLY WITH SECTION 3 REQUIREMENTS

(fo be provided with procutement documen.s and returned with att submitted bidst

Section 3 ofthe Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968 [12 U.S.C. 1701u and 24 CFR
Part 75] is HUD's legislative directive for ensuring that economic oppo(unities resulting from
HUD financial assistance, including employment, iob training, and contracting are, to the
greatest extent feasible, directed to low- and very low-income persons. The regulalions seek to
ensure that public housing residents and low
and very low- income persons, and the businesses that employ these individuals, are notified
about the expenditure of HUD funds in their community and encouraged to seek
opportunities, if created.

A Section 3 Worker is defined as any worker who currenlly lits or whsn hired within the past five years fit
at least one of the following categories, as documented:

1 . The worke/s income for the previous or annualized calendar year is below the
applicable income limit established by HUD;

2. The worker is employed by a Section 3 Business Concern; or
3. The worker is a YouthBuild participant.

A Taroeted Section 3 worker is defined as a Section 3 worker who fits one of the following categories:1. a worker employed by a Section 3 business concern; or
2- a worker r rho currently fits or when hired ft at least one ofthe following categories,

as dootmenled wilhin lhe past five years:
a. Living within one mile of the project. or if fewer than 5,000 people live

within one mile of the proiect, within a circte centered on the project that is
surfcient to encompass a population of 5,000 pBople; or

b. a YouthBuild participant

A Section 3 Business Concern is defined as a business in wh ich
At least 51y. owned by low- or very low-incrme pe6ons;
Over 75 percent of the labor hours performed for the businsss over the prior
three-month period are performed by Section 3 workers; or
At least 51% owned and controlled by cunent public housing residents or
residents who currently live in Section 8-assisted housing

2

3

Note: lf vour business meets the defnition of a Section 3 business. vou are encouraqed to reqister as a
Section 3 Business throuqh HUD's Business
Req istrv here: httos:l/portalaoDs.hud.qov/Sec3Bu sReq/BReqistrv/ReaisterBusiness

Businesses who self-certify lhat they meet one of lhe regulatory definitions of a Section
3 Business Concern will be included in a searchable online database. The database can be used by
agencies that receive HUD funds, developers, contraclors, and others to facilitate the award of covered
construction and non-construction contracts to Section 3 Business Concems.

Please comolets the followinq:

.1. lf awarded a contract for this CDBG funded projscl, do you anticipate being abls
to determine employees' hourly wages and addresses?

IOWA 2022 GDBG MAI{AGEMENT GUIDE- APPENDIX 8 PAGE: 13

("* J *o

[ff:J,::&)P'ate 
lhe number or houts to be complet6d on the proiect bv all

395

Item 34.



2 ls your business a Section 3 Business?
,l
--J tgs

No

3. ls.the bidder willing to consider hiring Sec{bn 3 Wo*ers for tuturs employment
opportunities that are a direcl result of this CDBG tunded proj€ct?

N
Il """ J *o

4. ls the bidder willing to consider subcontracting with Section 3 Businesses for thisow;*

M*"

5. ls the baddsr willing lo provide information on hours worked by Section 3 Workers and

*{sstod 
Saclion 3 Workers on this project?

.\Dtyes -_JNo

I undeEtand that this contracting opportunity is subject to HUD Section 3 requiraments (24 CFR
Part 75). I have read and understand the section 3 requirements as genaraily describei above and
presented in the Seclion 3 contract language included in the proGirement documents for this project. lf
awarded a contract, the businoss commits to follol ring section 3 requirements, as they apply io tiris
proiec{. lf swarded a contract for this proFct, the business agrees to provide reports to (rns6rt
City/County) on Section 3 efiorts and accomplishments.

Mun Pi
Name of Address

P

s
l^fucoJ.er-

Ti!e

Oate

IOWA2O2' CDBC MATTAGEMEI{T GUIOE - APP!I{O!X 8 PAGE: 14

396

Item 34.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
 
 FROM: Ben Claypool, Principal Engineer, PE, PhD 
 
 DATE: February 5, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: Maintenance and Repair Agreement  
  Post-Construction Stormwater Management Plan 
  Cedar Falls High School 
 
 
The Post-Construction Stormwater Control Ordinance requires a formal Maintenance 
and Repair Agreement for the stormwater management plan. The Maintenance and 
Repair Agreement will require the benefited property to undergo, at a minimum, an 
annual inspection and to maintain records of installation, maintenance and repair 
activities of the stormwater control devices. The agreement will also create an 
easement for the City to inspect and repair the stormwater control devices if the 
property owners fail or refuse to meet the requirements of the Maintenance and Repair 
Agreement. The Maintenance and Repair Agreement is attached for your review.  
 
The Engineering Division has reviewed the stormwater management plan and 
Maintenance and Repair Agreement for the new Cedar Falls High School and finds it in 
accordance with City Code. The Engineering Division recommends the agreement be 
accepted by the City Council and recorded at the Black Hawk County Recorder’s Office.  
 
 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, City Engineer 
 

397

Item 35.



398

Item 35.



399

Item 35.



400

Item 35.



401

Item 35.



402

Item 35.



403

Item 35.



404

Item 35.



405

Item 35.



406

Item 35.



407

Item 35.



408

Item 35.



409

Item 35.



410

Item 35.



411

Item 35.



412

Item 35.



413

Item 35.



414

Item 35.



415

Item 35.



416

Item 35.



417

Item 35.



418

Item 35.



419

Item 35.



420

Item 35.



421

Item 35.



422

Item 35.



423

Item 35.



424

Item 35.



425

Item 35.



    ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 

 TO: Mayor Laudick and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: January 25, 2024 

SUBJECT:      Proposed Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development 
between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa and CV Commercial, L.L.C. 

    
 
Staff would like to request that a public hearing be scheduled for February 19, 2024 to 
address a proposed Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development 
between the City of Cedar Falls and CV Commercial, L.L.C. The project consists of the 
construction of a 31,200 square foot commercial/residential mixed-use building located 
on College Street and W 22nd Street. The proposed Amended and Restated Agreement 
will update the anticipated completion date of the project, and update the maximum 
amount of tax rebates that the project can receive. Additional information pertaining to 
the Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development will be provided to City 
Council prior to the public hearing. 
 
If you have any questions about this project, please feel free to let me know. 
 
xc:  Ron Gaines, P.E., City Administrator 
        
        
 
 
 

426

Item 36.



W 22nd St

W 21st St

Co
lle

ge
 S

t

Ol
ive

 St

W 20th St

W 23rd St

Project Location

CV Commercial, LLC
2119 College Street
New Mixed Use Building I

427

Item 36.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, (319) 268-5160 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. ______ 

 

RESOLUTION SETTING DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING TO 

CONSIDER ENTERING INTO A PROPOSED AMENDED AND 

RESTATED AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND CV 

COMMERCIAL, L.L.C. 

 

WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 17,348, adopted February 14, 2011, and amended by Amendment 

No. 1, approved by Resolution 21,832 on January 6, 2020, this Council found and determined that certain 

areas located within the City are eligible and should be designated as an urban renewal area under Iowa 

law, and approved and adopted the College Hill Urban Renewal Plan (the "Plan") for the College Hill 

Urban Renewal Area (the "Urban Renewal Area" or "Area") described therein, which Plan is on file in the 

office of the Recorder of Black Hawk County; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is desirable that properties within the Area be redeveloped as part of the overall 

redevelopment area covered by said Plan; and 

 

WHERAS, the City has received a proposal from CV Commercial, L.L.C. (the "Developer"), in 

the form of a proposed Amended and Restated Development Agreement (the "Amended Agreement") by 

and between the City and the Developer, pursuant to which, among other things, the Developer would 

agree to construct certain Minimum Improvements (as defined in the Amended Agreement) on certain 

real property located within the College Hill Urban Renewal Area at 2119 College Street in Cedar Falls, 

Iowa as further defined and legally described in the Agreement and consisting of the construction of an 

approximately 31,200 square foot commercial/residential mixed use building on the Development 

Property, together with all related site improvements, as outlined in the proposed Amended Agreement; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the Amended Agreement further proposes that the City will make up to five (5) 

consecutive annual payments of Economic Development Grants to Developer in the form of a percentage 

of Tax Increments generated from the construction of the Minimum Improvements, the cumulative total 

for all such payments not to exceed the lesser of $717,087, or the amount accrued under the formula 

outlined in the proposed Amended Agreement, under the terms and following satisfaction of the conditions 

set forth in the Amended Agreement; and 

 

428

Item 36.



WHEREAS, Iowa Code Chapters 15A and 403 (the "Urban Renewal Law") authorize cities to 

make grants for economic development and blight remediation in furtherance of the objectives of an urban 

renewal project and to appropriate such funds and make such expenditures as may be necessary to carry 

out the purposes of said Chapter, and to levy taxes and assessments for such purposes; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Council has determined that the Amended Agreement is in the best interests of 

the City and the residents thereof and that the performance by the City of its obligations thereunder is a 

public undertaking and purpose and in furtherance of the Plan and the Urban Renewal Law and, further, 

that the Amended Agreement and the City's performance thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate 

economic development activities and objectives of the City within the meaning of Chapters 15A and 403 

of the Iowa Code, taking into account the factors set forth therein; and 

 

WHEREAS, neither the Urban Renewal Law nor any other Code provision sets forth any 

procedural action required to be taken before said economic development activities can occur under the 

Amended Agreement, and pursuant to Section 364.6 of the Code of Iowa, it is deemed sufficient if the 

action hereinafter described be taken and the City Clerk publish notice of the proposal and of the time and 

place of the meeting at which the Council proposes to take action thereon and to receive oral and/or written 

objections from any resident or property owner of said City to such action.   

 

 WHEREAS, as required by law, a hearing is to be held by the City Council of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, to consider entering into the proposed Amended and Restated Agreement for Private 

Development with the Developer pursuant to the terms of said Amended Agreement.  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, IOWA, that a hearing be held on the 19th day of February, 2024, at 7:00 p.m., in the Council 

Chambers of the City Hall of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, to consider 

entering into a proposed Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development between the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, and CV Commercial, L.L.C., on certain terms as set forth in the proposed Amended 

Agreement.  A copy of the proposed Amended Agreement is on file in the Office of the Cedar Falls City 

Clerk.  The City Clerk is hereby directed to publish said notice of said public hearing. 

 

ADOPTED this _____ day of _____________, 2024. 

 

 

 

  

  Daniel Laudick, Mayor 
   

ATTEST:   
   

   

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk   

 

  

429

Item 36.



CERTIFICATE 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK, SS.    

 

 

I, Kim Kerr, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby certify that the above and foregoing 

is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution No. _______________ duly and legally adopted by 

the City Council of said City on the _____ day of ____________________, 2024. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the official seal of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of ____________________, 2024. 

  

 

 

  

Kim Kerr 

City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

430

Item 36.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

––  

  

 

 

 
 
  
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
 
 FROM: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 
 DATE: February 5th, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: North Cedar Heights Area Reconstruction Phase II 
  City Project Number: RC-092-3271 
  Request for PS&E Approval 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of 
Costs and Quantities for the North Cedar Heights Area Reconstruction Phase II. 
 

We recommend setting Monday, February 19, 2024 at 7:00 p.m. as the date and time for 
the public hearing on this project, and Tuesday, February 27, 2024 at 2:00 p.m. as the 
date and time for receiving and opening bids. We also request that the Notice to Bidders 
be published by Thursday, February 8, 2024. The Plans and Specifications will be ready 
for distribution to contractors on Tuesday, February 6, 2024 via QuestCDN (reference 
#8944570), allowing more than two (2) weeks of review before contract letting. 
 

This project consists of reconstructing Timber Drive from Grand Avenue to Greenwood 
Avenue, East Ridgewood Drive from Greenwood Avenue to Cherry Lane and Woodland 
Drive to East Ridgewood Avenue. Work includes reconstruction of water main, storm and 
sanitary sewers, installation of new 8” subdrain, asphalt pavement with concrete curb 
and/or edging, and concrete intersections.   
 

The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $4,520,727.07. The project 
will be funded by Local Option Sales Tax, Street Construction Fund, Sanitary Sewer 
Rental Fund, and General Obligation Bond.   
 

The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends approving the 
Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities for the North Cedar Heights 
Area Reconstruction Phase II.  
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 

431

Item 37.



 Engineer's 

Estimate  

Division 1 Division 2 Division 3 Total Unit Price Division 1 Division 2 Division 3 Total

1 2010-108A CLEARING AND GRUBBING UNIT 150.9 150.9 165.00$             24,898.50$              -$                     -$                          24,898.50$                   

2 2010-108B CLEARING AND GRUBBING ACRE 0.4 0.4 70,000.00$        28,000.00$              -$                     -$                          28,000.00$                   

3 2010-108D TOPSOIL, CONTRACTOR PROVIDED CY 832.00 832 35.00$               29,120.00$              -$                     -$                          29,120.00$                   

4 2010-108E EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, WASTE CY 3757.00 3757 20.00$               75,140.00$              -$                     -$                          75,140.00$                   

5 2010-108E EXCAVATION, CLASS 13 CY 10.00 10 125.00$             1,250.00$                -$                     -$                          1,250.00$                     

6 2010-108G SUBGRADE PREPARATION, 12 IN. SY 100 100 2.75$                 275.00$                   -$                     -$                          275.00$                        

7 2010-108I SUBGRADE TREATMENT, GEOGRID SY 3798.5 3798.5 8.50$                 32,287.25$              -$                     -$                          32,287.25$                   

8 2010-108J SUBBASE, MODIFIED 6 IN. SY 633.5 633.5 23.50$               14,887.25$              -$                     -$                          14,887.25$                   

9 2010-108J SUBBASE, MODIFIED 12 IN. SY 3798.5 3798.5 19.00$               72,171.50$              -$                     -$                          72,171.50$                   

10 2010-108K REMOVALS, SIGN STRUCTURE EACH 1 1 500.00$             500.00$                   -$                     -$                          500.00$                        

11 3010-108D REPLACEMENT OF UNSUITABLE BACKFILL CY 100 100 37.00$               3,700.00$                -$                     -$                          3,700.00$                     

12 2501-8400172 TEMPOARY SHORING LS 1 1 200,000.00$     -$                          200,000.00$            200,000.00$                 

13 4010-108A SANITARY SEWER GRAVITY MAIN, TRENCHED, PVC, 8 IN. LF 1923 1923 200.00$             -$                          -$                     384,600.00$            384,600.00$                 

14 4010-108C

SANITARY SEWER FORCE MAIN, DUCTILE IRON PIPE (DIP), 

POLY WRAPPED, 8 IN. LF 756 756 150.00$             -$                          -$                     113,400.00$            113,400.00$                 

15 2501-8400172 SEWER MAIN, 2 INCH, HDPE, SDR-11, PPRESSURE RATED LF 400 400 60.00$               24,000.00$              -$                     -$                          24,000.00$                   

16 4010-108E SANITARY SEWER SERVICE LF 533 533 270.00$             -$                          -$                     143,910.00$            143,910.00$                 

17 4010-108E

SEWER SERVICE, 1.5 INCH, HDPE, SDR-11, PRESSURE 

RATED LF 70 70 85.00$               5,950.00$                -$                     -$                          5,950.00$                     

18 4010-108E

FLUSHING VALVE, 2 INCH, W/ MANHOLE FRAME & LID, 10 

INCH EACH 1 1 2,500.00$          2,500.00$                -$                     -$                          2,500.00$                     

19 4010-108 SANITARY SEWER PIPE INSULATION LF 445 445 15.00$               -$                          -$                     6,675.00$                6,675.00$                     

20 4010-108H REMOVAL OF SANITARY SEWER LF 1857 1857 28.00$               51,996.00$              -$                     -$                          51,996.00$                   

21 4010-108K SANITARY SEWER ABANDONMENT, PLUG, 8 IN. EACH 6 6 1,900.00$          11,400.00$              -$                     -$                          11,400.00$                   

22 4020-108A STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, RCP, CLASS III, 15 IN. LF 872 872 125.00$             109,000.00$            -$                     -$                          109,000.00$                 

23 4020-108A STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, RCP, CLASS III, 18 IN. LF 251 251 135.00$             33,885.00$              -$                     -$                          33,885.00$                   

24 4020-108A STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, RCP, CLASS III, 24 IN. LF 59 59 235.00$             13,865.00$              -$                     -$                          13,865.00$                   

25 4020-108A STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, RCP, CLASS III, 30 IN. LF 145 145 245.00$             35,525.00$              -$                     -$                          35,525.00$                   

26 4020-108D REMOVAL OF STORM SEWER, RCP, LESS THAN 36 IN. LF 274 274 27.00$               7,398.00$                -$                     -$                          7,398.00$                     

27 4030-108B 15" RCP APRON 4030.222 EACH 3 3 2,000.00$          6,000.00$                -$                     -$                          6,000.00$                     

28 4030-108B 18" RCP APRON 4030.222 EACH 1 1 2,000.00$          2,000.00$                -$                     -$                          2,000.00$                     

29 4030-108B 30" RCP APRON 4030.222 EACH 2 2 2,500.00$          5,000.00$                -$                     -$                          5,000.00$                     

30 4030-108C RCP APRON FOOTINGS 4030.221 EACH 6 6 1,600.00$          9,600.00$                -$                     -$                          9,600.00$                     

31 4030-108D PIPE APRON GUARD, 18 IN. EACH 1 1 1,600.00$          1,600.00$                -$                     -$                          1,600.00$                     

32 4030-108D PIPE APRON GUARD, 30 IN. EACH 2 2 1,800.00$          3,600.00$                -$                     -$                          3,600.00$                     

33 4040-108A SUBDRAIN, PERFORATED PLASTIC PIPE, TYPE SP, 8 IN. DIA. LF 5066.5 5066.5 20.00$               101,330.00$            -$                     -$                          101,330.00$                 

34 CFD.01 SUBDRAIN OUTLETS, CFD.01 EACH 27 27 600.00$             16,200.00$              -$                     -$                          16,200.00$                   

35 4040-108E SUBDRAIN TAP, 6" EACH 34 34 800.00$             27,200.00$              -$                     -$                          27,200.00$                   

36 5010-108A

WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, DIP, 4 IN., POLY WRAPPED, 

NITRILE GASKETS, INTEGRAL RESTRAINED JOINTS LF 56.9 56.9 233.00$             -$                          13,257.70$         -$                          13,257.70$                   

37 5010-108A

WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, DIP, 8 IN., POLY WRAPPED, 

NITRILE GASKETS, INTEGRAL RESTAINED JOINTS LF 2905 2905 205.00$             -$                          595,525.00$       -$                          595,525.00$                 

38 5010 TEMPORARY WATER MAIN LS 1 1 30,000.00$        -$                          30,000.00$         -$                          30,000.00$                   

39 5010-108C FITTINGS BY WEIGHT, DUCTILE IRON LBS 5424 710 6134 10.00$               -$                          54,240.00$         7,100.00$                61,340.00$                   

40 5010-108E WATER SERVICE, 1 IN. LF 552 552 220.00$             -$                          121,440.00$       -$                          121,440.00$                 

41 5010-108F WATERMAIN ABANDONMENT, CAP EACH 5 5 1,100.00$          -$                          5,500.00$            -$                          5,500.00$                     

42 5010-108H WATER MAIN REMOVAL LF 2204 2204 60.00$               -$                          132,240.00$       -$                          132,240.00$                 

43 5020-108A ISOLATION VALVE, 2 INCH W/ VALVE BOX EACH 4 4 2,000.00$          8,000.00$                -$                     -$                          8,000.00$                     

44 5020-108A ISOLATION VALVE, 1.5 INCH W/ VALVE BOX EACH 1 1 1,800.00$          1,800.00$                -$                     -$                          1,800.00$                     

45 5020-108A VALVE, GATE, DIP, 4 IN. EACH 1 1 3,300.00$          -$                          3,300.00$            -$                          3,300.00$                     

46 5020-108A VALVE, GATE, DIP, 8 IN. EACH 9 9 2,400.00$          -$                          21,600.00$         -$                          21,600.00$                   

47 5020-108C FIRE HYDRANT ASSEMBLY EACH 7 7 7,000.00$          -$                          49,000.00$         -$                          49,000.00$                   

48 5020-108J FIRE HYDRANT ASSEMBLY REMOVAL EACH 4 4 600.00$             -$                          2,400.00$            -$                          2,400.00$                     

49 6010-108A MANHOLE, 6010.301, 48 IN. EACH 17 17 6,000.00$          -$                          -$                     102,000.00$            102,000.00$                 

50 6010-108A MANHOLE, 6010.301, 60 IN. EACH 1 1 15,000.00$        -$                          -$                     15,000.00$              15,000.00$                   

51 6010-108A MANHOLE, 6010.303, 48 IN. EACH 1 1 15,000.00$        -$                          -$                     15,000.00$              15,000.00$                   

52 6010-108A MANHOLE, 6010.401, 48 IN. EACH 3 3 7,800.00$          23,400.00$              -$                     -$                          23,400.00$                   

53 6010-108B INTAKE, 6010.501 EACH 2 2 6,300.00$          12,600.00$              -$                     -$                          12,600.00$                   

54 6010-108B INTAKE, 6010.502, 60 IN. EACH 1 1 8,000.00$          8,000.00$                -$                     -$                          8,000.00$                     

55 6010-108B INTAKE, 6010.502, 72 IN. EACH 1 1 8,000.00$          8,000.00$                -$                     -$                          8,000.00$                     

56 6010-108B INTAKE, 6010.505 EACH 13 13 7,000.00$          91,000.00$              -$                     -$                          91,000.00$                   

57 6010-108B INTAKE, 6010.509 EACH 2 2 8,600.00$          17,200.00$              -$                     -$                          17,200.00$                   

58 6010-108B INTAKE, 6010.513 (4'x4') EACH 3 3 8,200.00$          24,600.00$              -$                     -$                          24,600.00$                   

59 6010-108C DROP CONNECTION SANITARY SEWER, 8 IN., EXTERNAL EACH 1 1 6,000.00$          -$                          -$                     6,000.00$                6,000.00$                     

60 6010-108G CONNECTION TO EXISTING MANHOLE EACH 1 1 1,700.00$          1,700.00$                -$                     -$                          1,700.00$                     

61 6010-108H REMOVALS, MANHOLE OR INTAKE EACH 16 16 1,500.00$          24,000.00$              -$                     -$                          24,000.00$                   

62 7010-108A PCC PAVEMENT, CLASS C-4, CLASS 3 DURABILITY, 7 IN. SY 446 446 75.00$               33,450.00$              -$                     -$                          33,450.00$                   

63 7010-108E CURB AND GUTTER, SLOPED, 4 IN. LF 3116.4 3116.4 35.00$               109,074.00$            -$                     -$                          109,074.00$                 

64 7010-108E CURB AND GUTTER, DROPPED, 0 IN. LF 2475.2 2475.2 30.00$               74,256.00$              -$                     -$                          74,256.00$                   

65 2304-0101000 TEMPORARY PAVEMENT, 6 IN. PCC SY 110.9 110.9 100.00$             11,090.00$              -$                     -$                          11,090.00$                   

66 7020-108B HMA PAVEMENT, ST, 7 IN. SY 3609.1 3609.1 70.00$               252,637.00$            -$                     -$                          252,637.00$                 

67 7030-108A REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY SY 708 708 14.00$               9,912.00$                -$                     -$                          9,912.00$                     

68 7030-108H DRIVEWAYS, PCC, 6 IN. SY 633.5 633.5 100.00$             63,350.00$              -$                     -$                          63,350.00$                   

69 7030-108H CLASS A ROADSTONE TON 40 40 90.00$               3,600.00$                -$                     -$                          3,600.00$                     

70 7040-108H REMOVAL OF PAVEMENT SY 5866.2 5866.2 12.00$               70,394.40$              -$                     -$                          70,394.40$                   

71 7040-108I REMOVAL OF CURB AND GUTTER LF 114 114 16.50$               1,881.00$                -$                     -$                          1,881.00$                     

72 2505-4008120 REMOVAL OF GUARDRAIL LF 76 76 17.00$               1,292.00$                -$                     -$                          1,292.00$                     

73 2401-6745765 LIGHT POLES, REMOVE EACH 2 2 650.00$             1,300.00$                -$                     -$                          1,300.00$                     

74 2523-0000100

LIGHT POLES, 28' METAL POLE W/ DIRECT BURIED AND 6' 

MAST ARM EACH 2 2 5,500.00$          11,000.00$              -$                     -$                          11,000.00$                   

75 2523-0000200 ELECTRICAL CIRCUITS LF 30 30 55.00$               1,650.00$                -$                     -$                          1,650.00$                     

76 8030-108A TRAFFIC CONTROL LS 1 1 40,000.00$        40,000.00$              -$                     -$                          40,000.00$                   

77 2528-2518000 SAFETY CLOSURE EACH 14 14 250.00$             3,500.00$                -$                     -$                          3,500.00$                     

78 8040 INTERSECTION MARKERS, TYPE "A" EACH 4 4 7,000.00$          28,000.00$              -$                     -$                          28,000.00$                   

79 8040 INTERSECTION MARKERS, TYPE "B" EACH 2 2 5,000.00$          10,000.00$              -$                     -$                          10,000.00$                   

80 8040-108B TYPE A SIGNS, SHEET ALUMINUM SF 81 81 45.00$               3,645.00$                -$                     -$                          3,645.00$                     

81 8040-108D PERFORATED SQUARE STEEL TUBE POSTS LF 150 150 50.00$               7,500.00$                -$                     -$                          7,500.00$                     

82 8040-108G PERFORATED SQUARE STEEL TUBE ANCHOR EACH 15 15 160.00$             2,400.00$                -$                     -$                          2,400.00$                     

83 8040-108I REMOVE & REINSTALL OF TYPE A SIGN ASSEMBLY EACH 7 7 300.00$             2,100.00$                -$                     -$                          2,100.00$                     

84 2524-6765210 REMOVAL OF TYPE A SIGN ASSEMBLY EACH 6 6 275.00$             1,650.00$                -$                     -$                          1,650.00$                     

85 9010-108D WATERING MGAL 100 100 160.00$             16,000.00$              -$                     -$                          16,000.00$                   

86 9010-108B

SEEDING, FERTILIZING, AND MULCHING FOR HYDRO-

SEEDING, TYPE 4 ACRE 0.1 0.1 5,000.00$          500.00$                   -$                     -$                          500.00$                        

87 9010-108B

SEEDING, AND MULCHING FOR HYDRAULIC SEEDING, 

WILDFLOWER SEED ACRE 0.3 0.3 10,000.00$        3,000.00$                -$                     -$                          3,000.00$                     

88 9020-108A SOD SQ 307 307 100.00$             30,700.00$              -$                     -$                          30,700.00$                   

89 9030 LANDSCAPING LS 1 1 35,000.00$        35,000.00$              -$                     -$                          35,000.00$                   

90 9040-108E TEMPORARY RECP, TYPE 3B SY 804 804 2.00$                 1,608.00$                -$                     -$                          1,608.00$                     

91 9040-108F PERIMETER AND SLOPE SEDIMENT CONTROL DEVICE, 9 IN. LF 5329.5 5329.5 2.50$                 13,323.75$              -$                     -$                          13,323.75$                   

92 9040-108F

REMOVAL OF PERIMETER AND SLOPE SEDIMENT CONTROL 

DEVICE LF 5329.5 5329.5 1.00$                 5,329.50$                -$                     -$                          5,329.50$                     

UnitItem Description Item CodeItem No.

Engineer's Estimate of Costs
North Cedar Heights Area Reconstruction Project Phase 2

Cedar Falls Project No.: RC-092-3271

AECOM Project No.: 60672593

1/26/2024

 Estimated Quantities  Estimated Costs 

432

Item 37.



93 9040-108J

REVETMENT, CLASS E RIP RAP APRON (& ENG. FABRIC) 

FOR PIPE OUTLET, 9040.111 TON 22 22 65.00$               1,430.00$                -$                     -$                          1,430.00$                     

94 9040-108N SILT FENCE OR SILT FENCE DITCH CHECK, INSTALLATION LF 674 674 2.50$                 1,685.00$                -$                     -$                          1,685.00$                     

95 9040-108N

SILT FENCE OR SILT FENCE DITCH CHECK, REMOVAL OF 

DEVICE LF 674 674 0.75$                 505.50$                   -$                     -$                          505.50$                        

96 9040-108R TURF REINFORCEMENT MATTING (TYPE 2) SQ 1 1 150.00$             150.00$                   -$                     -$                          150.00$                        

97 9040-108T INTAKE PROTECTION, SEDIMENT CONTROL DEVICE, 9 IN. EACH 22 22 80.00$               1,760.00$                -$                     -$                          1,760.00$                     

98 9040-108T

MAINTENANCE OF INTAKE PROTECTION, SEDIMENT 

CONTROL DEVICE EACH 22 22 55.00$               1,210.00$                -$                     -$                          1,210.00$                     

99 9070-108 REMOVE AND REINSTALL RETAINING WALL, AS PER PLAN SF 275 275 150.00$             41,250.00$              -$                     -$                          41,250.00$                   

100 9070-108 REMOVAL OF EXISTING LANDSCAPING, AS PER PLAN LS 1 1 15,000.00$        15,000.00$              -$                     -$                          15,000.00$                   

101 9070-108A MODULAR BLOCK RETAINING WALL SF 259 259 55.00$               14,245.00$              -$                     -$                          14,245.00$                   

102 2602-0000500 OPEN-THROAT CURB INTAKE SEDIMENT FILTER LF 18 18 80.00$               1,440.00$                -$                     -$                          1,440.00$                     

103 2602-0000510

MAINTENANCE OF OPEN-THROAT CURB INTAKE SEDIMENT 

FILTER EACH 2 2 55.00$               110.00$                   -$                     -$                          110.00$                        

104 2602-0000520

REMOVAL OF OPEN-THROAT CURB INTAKE SEDIMENT 

FILTER EACH 2 2 55.00$               110.00$                   -$                     -$                          110.00$                        

105 2602-0000530 GRATE INTAKE SEDIMENT FILTER BAG EACH 30 30 195.00$             5,850.00$                -$                     -$                          5,850.00$                     

106 2602-0000540 MAINTENANCE OF GRATE INTAKE SEDIMENT FILTER BAG EACH 30 30 55.00$               1,650.00$                -$                     -$                          1,650.00$                     

107 2602-0000550 REMOVAL OR GRATE INTAKE SEDIMENT FILTER BAG EACH 30 30 55.00$               1,650.00$                -$                     -$                          1,650.00$                     

108 11020-108A MOBILIZATION LS 1 1 350,000.00$     350,000.00$            -$                     -$                          350,000.00$                 

109 11030-108A MAILBOX, REMOVE AND REINSTALL EACH 31 31 500.00$             15,500.00$              -$                     -$                          15,500.00$                   

110 11050-108A CONCRETE WASHOUT LS 1 1 10,000.00$        10,000.00$              -$                     -$                          10,000.00$                   

Division 1 Division 2 Division 3 Total

2,283,266.65$         1,028,502.70$    993,685.00$            4,305,454.35$              

Contingency (5%) 215,272.72$                 

Engineer's Estimate of Construction Costs 4,520,727.07$              

433

Item 37.



434

Item 38.



435

Item 38.



436

Item 38.



437

Item 38.



438

Item 38.



439

Item 38.



440

Item 38.



441

Item 38.



442

Item 38.



443

Item 38.



444

Item 38.



445

Item 38.



446

Item 38.



447

Item 38.



448

Item 38.



449

Item 38.



450

Item 38.



451

Item 38.



452

Item 38.



453

Item 38.



454

Item 38.



455

Item 38.



456

Item 38.



457

Item 38.



458

Item 38.



459

Item 38.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council  
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: February 5, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: Updates to City Code Section 23-300  
  Lawful Speed Limits Established 
  W 27th Street 
 
The newly designed and constructed portion of W 27th Street between Hudson and 
Union Road near the new high school has been completed. The intended speed limit 
through the updated corridor has been adjusted with the new roundabouts. The 
adjustments will shift to a 25mph zone from Hudson Road to Greenhill road, a 35mph 
zone from Greenhill road to the westerly high school roundabout, and the existing 
corridor West of the high school will remain as currently posted at 45 mph.   
 
The Engineering Division is proposing changes to City Code Section 23-300, Lawful 
Speed Limits Established, to match what has been designed and constructed. Please 
see the attached redline changes for City Code Section 23-300, Lawful Speed Limits 
Established.  
 
The Engineering Division recommends approval of setting the speed limits in the 
corridor on the attached redline through the corridor from Hudson Road to the west City 
limits.  
 
If you have any questions or concerns, please feel free to ask. 
 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer  
 

460

Item 39.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared By: Matthew Tolan, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, Phone: (319) 268-5161 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 
 

AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING THE ENUMERATED SPEED LIMIT ON 27TH 
STREET AS 25 MILES PER HOUR FROM HUDSON ROAD WEST 2,700 FEET 
AND AS 35 MILES PER HOUR FROM 2,700 FEET WEST OF HUDSON ROAD 
TO 4,700 FEET WEST OF HUDSON ROAD AND AS 45 MILES PER HOUR 
FROM 4,700 FEET WEST OF HUDSON ROAD TO THE WEST CITY LIMITS, IN 
SECTION 23-300, LAWFUL SPEED LIMITS ESTABLISHED, OF DIVISION 5, 
SPEED, OF ARTICLE III, OPERATION, OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND 
MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, BY REPEALING SUBSECTION 8(A), AND ENACTING A 
NEW SUBSECTION 8(A) IN LIEU THEREOF; AND REPEALING SUBSECTION 
10(C) AND ENACTING A NEW SUBSECTION 10(C) IN LIEU THEREOF; AND 
REPEALING SUBSECTION 12(E) AND ENACTING A NEW SUBSECTION 
12(E) IN LIEU THEREOF. 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
Section 1. Subsection 8(a) and Subsection 10(c) and Subsection 12(e) of Section 23-

300, Lawful Speed Limits Established, of Division 5, Speed, of Article III, Operation, of Chapter 
23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, are 
hereby amended by repealing said Subsections in their entirety and enacting in lieu thereof new 
Subsections 8(a) and 10(c) and 12(e), as follows: 

 
Sec. 23-300. - Lawful speed limits established. 

Unless otherwise provided by this chapter or other city ordinances and appropriately 
posted, the speed limits established in this section shall be the lawful speed, and any speed in 
excess thereof shall be unlawful. 

[unchanged provisions omitted] 

   (8) Twenty-five miles per hour. 25 miles per hour on any of the following streets as 
indicated: 
 

[unchanged provisions omitted] 

461

Item 39.



2 

 

 

 a. 27th Street (west), from its intersection with Hudson Road west a distance of 
2,700 feet. 

 
[unchanged provisions omitted] 

 
(10) 35 miles per hour.  35 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated: 
 
                                   [unchanged provisions omitted] 
 
      c. 27th Street (West), from a point 2,700 feet west of Hudson Road west to a 

point 4,700 feet west of Hudson Road.  
 
                                  [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 
(12) 45 miles per hour.  45 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated: 
 
                                   [unchanged provisions omitted] 
 
      e. 27th Street (West), from a point 4,700 feet west of Hudson Road west to the 

west City limits. 
 
                                  [unchanged provisions omitted] 
 
 
 

 
INTRODUCED:     ____________    
 
PASSED 1st CONSIDERATION:   ____________    
 
PASSED 2nd CONSIDERATION:   ____________    
 
PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:   ____________    
 
ADOPTED:      ____________    
 
 

_____________________________ 
                                                                             Daniel Laudick, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________ 
Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

462

Item 39.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-11-14 11:03:41 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 17) 

 
Page 1 of 4 

Sec. 23-300. Lawful speed limits established. 

Unless otherwise provided by this division or other city ordinances and appropriately posted, the speed 
limits established in this section shall be the lawful speed, and any speed in excess thereof shall be unlawful.  

(1) Parks, cemeteries and alleys. 15 miles per hour in any park, cemetery or public alley.  

(2) Business districts. 20 miles per hour in any business district.  

(3) Industrial districts. 25 miles per hour in any industrial district.  

(4) Residence districts; school districts. 25 miles per hour in any residence or school district.  

(5) Suburban districts. 45 miles per hour in any suburban district.  

(6) Fifteen miles per hour. 15 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

a. Clay Street, from West Third Street north to West Second Street.  

b. Pheasant Drive, for a distance of 210 feet east of the centerline of the jog in Pheasant Drive and 
for a distance of 200 feet west of the centerline of the jog in Pheasant Drive.  

(7) Twenty miles per hour. 20 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

Waterloo Road, from its intersection with 14th Street northwesterly to the intersection of Bluff Street 
and East 13th Street.  

(8) Twenty-five miles per hour. 25 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

a. 27th Street (West), from its intersection with Hudson Road west a distance of 1,8002,700 feet.  

b. Brandilynn Boulevard, from 400 feet east of Wal-Mart Drive west to the west end of the street.  

c. Center Street, from its intersection with First Street to a point 300 feet north of First Street.  

d. Center Street, from a point 200 feet south of its intersection with Green Avenue north to a point 
200 feet north of its intersection with Lantz Avenue.  

e. Chancellor Drive, from Viking Road south to Ridgeway Avenue.  

f. Cottage Row Road, from Center Street south to a point 800 feet west of the south end of the 
Snag Creek Bridge.  

g. Technology Parkway, from Hudson Road east to Chancellor Drive.  

h. Wal-Mart Drive, from Brandilynn Boulevard south to Viking Road.  

i. Westminster Drive, from Viking Road north and east to Nordic Drive.  

(9) 30 miles per hour. 30 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

a. First Street (East) eastbound, from Main Street east to a point 850 feet east of Main Street.  

b. First Street (East) westbound, from a point 520 feet east of Main Street west to Main Street.  

c. First Street (West), from Main Street west to Highland Drive.  

d. Brandilynn Boulevard, from 400 feet east of Wal-Mart Drive east to the east end of the street.  

e. Main Street (South), from University Avenue south to Orchard Drive.  

f. Prairie Parkway, from Brandilynn Boulevard south to Viking Road.  

g. Winterberry Drive, from Brandilynn Boulevard south to Viking Road.  

463

Item 39.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-11-14 11:03:41 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 17) 

 
Page 2 of 4 

(10) 35 miles per hour. 35 miles per hour on any of the following streets as indicated:  

a. 12th Street (West), from a point 425 feet west of the Carriage Lane intersection with West 12th 
Street to a point 125 feet west of the intersection of Barnett Drive with West 12th Street.  

b. 18th Street (East), from Main Street to Waterloo Road.  

c. 27th Street (West), from a point 1,8002,700 feet west of Hudson Road west to a point 4,0004,700 
feet west of Hudson Road.  

d. Big Woods Road, from Lake Street north to the north city limits.  

e. Cedar Heights Drive, from its intersection with University Avenue to a point 1,200 feet south of 
University Avenue.  

f. Center Street, from a point 300 feet north of First Street north to a point 200 feet south of its 
intersection with Green Avenue, and from a point 200 feet north of its intersection with Lantz 
Avenue north to the north city limits.  

g. Cottage Row Road, from 800 feet west of the south end of the Snag Creek Bridge west to the end 
of said road.  

h. Dunkerton Road, from its intersection with Center Street east to its intersection with U. S. 
Highway 218.  

i. Greenhill Road, from Hudson Road west and north to West 27th Street.  

j. Hudson Road, from its intersection with the south line of University Avenue north to its 
intersection with First Street.  

k. Independence Avenue, from Lincoln Street north to Big Woods Road.  

l. Lake Street, from a point 600 feet east of Central Avenue east to U.S. Highway 218.  

m. Lincoln Street, from its intersection with Jefferson Street east to its intersection with Vermont 
Street.  

n. Lone Tree Road, from its intersection with Ford Road to Center Street.  

o. Main Street, from 13th Street to University Avenue, inclusive.  

p. Main Street (South), from Orchard Drive south to the end of the street.  

q. Production Drive, from Viking Road west and south to Technology Parkway.  

r. Rainbow Drive, from its intersection with Waterloo Road east to the city limits.  

s. Technology Parkway, from Hudson Road west to the west end of the street.  

t. University Avenue, from Hudson Road east to the east city limits.  

u. Viking Road, from its intersection with the west line of Prairie Parkway west to the west city 
limits.  

v. Waterloo Road, from its intersection with East 14th Street southeasterly to its intersection of 
University Avenue.  

w. Ridgeway Avenue, from Hudson Road east to Iowa Highway 58.  

(11) 40 miles per hour. 40 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

Reserved.  

(12) 45 miles per hour. 45 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

464

Item 39.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-11-14 11:03:41 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 17) 

 
Page 3 of 4 

a. First Street (East) eastbound, from a point 850 feet east of Main Street to a point 1,520 feet east 
of Main Street.  

b. First Street (East) westbound, from a point 1,200 feet east of Main Street west to a point 520 feet 
east of Main Street.  

c. First Street (West), from Highland Drive west to a point 340 feet west of Lake Ridge Drive.  

d. 12th Street (West), from a point 125 feet west of the intersection of Barnett Drive with West 
12th Street to the west city limits.  

e. 27th Street (West), from a point 4,0004,700 feet west of Hudson Road west to the west city 
limits.  

f. Cedar Heights Drive, from a point 1,200 feet south of University Avenue south to the city limits.  

g. Center Street, from a point 300 feet north of First Street to Cottage Row Road.  

h. Dunkerton Road, from its intersection with U. S. Highway 218 east to the east city limits.  

i. Fitkin Road, from its intersection with Ford Road to Center Street.  

j. Ford Road, from its intersection with Fitkin Road south to Lone Tree Road.  

k. Greenhill Road, from its intersection with Hudson Road to the east city limits.  

l. Hudson Road, from its intersection with the south line of University Avenue south to the south 
city limits.  

m. Iowa Highway 58, from its intersection with Ridgeway Avenue south to the south city limits.  

n. Lake Street, from U.S. Highway 218 east to the east city limits.  

o. Leversee Road (West half), from a point one-quarter mile north of Lincoln Street to the north city 
limits.  

p. Lincoln Street, from its intersection with Vermont Street easterly to the city limits.  

q. Lone Tree Road, from its intersection with Center Street to Leversee Road.  

r. Main Street (South), from Viking Road south to the city limits.  

s. Ridgeway Avenue, from Hudson Road west to the western city limits.  

t. Union Road, from the south city limits to West 1st Street.  

u. Viking Road, from the east line of Prairie Parkway east to its intersection with Cedar Heights 
Drive.  

v. Ridgeway Avenue, from Iowa Highway 58 east to the eastern city limits.  

(13) 50 miles per hour. 50 miles per hour on the following streets and/or highways as indicated:  

a. First Street (West), from a point 340 feet west of Lake Ridge Drive west to Union Road.  

b. Union Road, from West First Street north to the north city limits.  

(14) 55 miles per hour. 55 miles per hour on the following streets and/or highways as indicated:  

a. First Street (East) eastbound, from a point 1,520 feet east of Main Street east to a point 700 feet 
east of the midpoint between the Iowa Highway 58 northbound overpass and the Iowa Highway 
58 southbound overpass.  

465

Item 39.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-11-14 11:03:41 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 17) 

 
Page 4 of 4 

b. First Street (East) westbound, from a point 600 feet west of the midpoint between the Iowa 
Highway 58 northbound overpass and the Iowa Highway 58 southbound overpass west to a point 
1,200 feet east of Main Street.  

c. First Street (West), from Union Road west to the west city limits.  

d. Iowa Highway 58, from a point 1,300 feet north of its intersection with Greenhill Road south to 
its intersection with Ridgeway Avenue.  

e. University Avenue, from a point 3,100 feet west of its intersection with Hudson Road to the west 
city limits.  

(15) 60 miles per hour. 60 miles per hour on the following streets and/or highways as indicated:  

a. First Street (East), from its intersection with the midpoint between the Iowa Highway 58 
northbound overpass and the Iowa Highway 58 southbound overpass east a distance of 700 feet.  

b. Iowa Highway 58, from its intersection with First Street south to a point 1,300 feet north of its 
intersection with Greenhill Road.  

c. U.S. Highway 218 southbound, from a point 2,000 feet north of its intersection with Lincoln 
Street south to its intersection with First Street.  

d. U.S. Highway 218 northbound, from its intersection with First Street north to a point 410 feet 
north of its intersection with Lincoln Street.  

(16) 65 miles per hour. 65 miles per hour on the following streets and/or highways as indicated:  

a. First Street (East) eastbound, from a point 700 feet east of its intersection with the midpoint 
between the Iowa Highway 58 northbound overpass and the Iowa Highway 58 southbound 
overpass east to the east city limits.  

b. First Street (East) westbound, from the east city limits west to a point 600 feet east of its 
intersection with the midpoint between the Iowa Highway 58 northbound overpass and the Iowa 
Highway 58 southbound overpass.  

c. U.S. Highway 218 southbound, from the north city limits south to a point 2,000 feet north of its 
intersection with Lincoln Street.  

d. U.S. Highway 218 northbound, from a point 410 feet north of its intersection with Lincoln Street 
north to the north city limits.  

(Code 2017, § 26-207; Ord. No. 1935, §§ 2, 3, 2-25-1991; Ord. No. 1981, §§ 1—5, 7-13-1992; Ord. No. 1982, § 1, 7-
13-1992; Ord. No. 2002, §§ 1, 2, 1-11-1993; Ord. No. 2005, §§ 1, 2, 2-22-1993; Ord. No. 2116, §§ 2, 3, 9-11-1995; 
Ord. No. 2199, § 1, 8-11-1997; Ord. No. 2238, §§ 1, 2, 6-22-1998; Ord. No. 2244, § 2, 10-12-1998; Ord. No. 2314, §§ 
1, 2, 11-13-2000; Ord. No. 2315, §§ 1—5, 11-13-2000; Ord. No. 2325, §§ 1—3, 2-12-2001; Ord. No. 2358, §§ 1—3, 
11-26-2001; Ord. No. 2402, §§ 1, 2, 11-25-2002; Ord. No. 2403, §§ 1, 2, 11-25-2002; Ord. No. 2440, §§ 1, 2, 7-14-
2003; Ord. No. 2451, §§ 1—3, 9-22-2003; Ord. No. 2543, §§ 1, 2, 8-22-2005; Ord. No. 2589, §§ 1—6, 7-10-2006; 
Ord. No. 2601, §§ 1, 2, 9-25-2006; Ord. No. 2704, §§ 1—3, 2-22-2010; Ord. No. 2732, § 1, 2-28-2011; Ord. No. 
2767, §§ 1—4, 6-11-2012; Ord. No. 2772, §§ 1, 2, 7-23-2012; Ord. No. 2835, §§ 1, 2, 2-2-2015; Ord. No. 2898, §§ 1, 
2, 3-20-2017; Ord. No. 2917, §§ 1, 2, 2-19-2018; Ord. No. 2927, 6-18-2018; Ord. No. 2957, §§ 1—3, 11-4-2019; Ord. 
No. 2991, 8-2-2021) 

 

466

Item 39.



467

Item 40.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
DAILY INVOICES FOR 02/05/24 COUNCIL MEETING



468

Item 40.



469

Item 40.



470

Item 40.



471

Item 40.



472

Item 40.



473

Item 40.



474

Item 40.



475

Item 40.



476

Item 40.



477

Item 40.



478

Item 40.



479

Item 40.



480

Item 40.



481

Item 40.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
COUNCIL INVOICES FOR 02/05/24 MEETING



482

Item 40.



483

Item 40.



484

Item 40.



485

Item 40.



486

Item 40.



487

Item 40.



488

Item 40.



489

Item 40.



490

Item 40.



491

Item 40.



492

Item 40.



493

Item 40.



494

Item 40.



495

Item 40.



496

Item 40.



497

Item 40.



498

Item 40.



499

Item 40.



500

Item 40.



501

Item 40.



502

Item 40.



503

Item 40.



504

Item 40.



505

Item 40.



506

Item 40.



507

Item 40.



508

Item 40.



509

Item 40.



510

Item 40.



511

Item 40.



512

Item 40.



513

Item 40.


	Top
	Item 1.	Minutes 01-16-24
	240116MINUTES

	Item 2.	PH-Land Use Map Amendment-Panther West
	0. CC memo for Panther West
	1. CC Staff Report Rezoning Panther West
	2. ZoningLocationMap
	3. Map exhibits prepared by staff
	8. CC Resolution Panther West land use amendment

	Item 3.	PH-Rezone-Panther West
	4. PantherWestAddn - RezoningPlatExhibit updated
	5. 2024_0125 - RP MasterPlan(Rezoning)
	6. Signed Development Agreement
	7. public correspondence
	9. Ord-Rezoning-Panther West

	Item 4.	Ord. 3047-Local Option Sales Tax
	1.LOST Memo (1)
	2. Local Option Tax

	Item 5.	Work Session Minutes - 01/16/24
	01-16-2024_Worksession Minutes

	Item 6.	Legislators Minutes 1-26-24
	leg session minutes Jan. 2024

	Item 7.	Resignation-Human Rights Commission
	Resignation letter Kliegl

	Item 8.	Public Safety-Lieutenant & Captain - Civil Service Certified List
	PublicSafetySupr-Capt CertList1-2024
	PublicSafetySupr-Lt CertList1-2024 (1)

	Item 9.	Departmental Monthly Report-December
	12 - December 2023 Departmental Monthly Report

	Item 10.	Temporary Sign-Coin Show
	Coin Club cc memo temporary sign permit 2-5-24

	Item 11.	Retail Alcohol 2-5-24
	Retail alcohol 02-05-24

	Item 13.	CFD 1121: Council Policy
	Memo_Council Meeting Procedures Changes_1-30-24 (1)
	CFD 1121 council procedures

	Item 14.	Courier Advertising Agreement 2024-2025
	WlooCourierAgreeMemo1-2024 #1
	Wloo Courier Ad Agreement 2024-2025 #2
	Waterloo Courier Employ Rate Card 1-2024 #3

	Item 15.	MercyOne-Lease Amendment
	516 Division Street Memo
	City of Cedar Falls-Northest Iowa Real Estate Inv-CHS-Amendment to Ground Lease PMOB-01-08-24-PE

	Item 16.	Vector Solutions
	Check It-memo
	3864_001

	Item 17.	Imagine College Hill
	Vision Plan Memo_1-30-241
	Adopted College Hill Plan high res

	Item 18.	Approval of Asbestos Testing Contract
	1_CC Memo Approving Asbestos Testing Agreement 02-05-24
	2_Signed Contract - Iowa Environmental Services Inc
	3_Ind. Park Demolition Properties

	Item 19.	Artist Agreement-Richard Bardle
	ArtistAgreement-RBardle

	Item 20.	Iowa Tourism Grant-V&T
	IEDATourismGrantFunds _011924

	Item 21.	Economic Development Authority-V&T
	IEDA-Agreement_Cedar Falls Tourism

	Item 22.	Otto Schoitz Foundation grant for Seerley Park Improvements
	Council memo.Otto Schoitz grant for Seerley Park

	Item 23.	Amendment - INRCOG Contract
	1. CC memo HOME 1st amend
	2 FFY 2022 First Amendment-HOME

	Item 24.	Second Amendment-INRCOG
	1. INRCOG 2 amendment to FFY22
	2 FFY 2022 Second Amendment-CDBG

	Item 25.	Contract:  Family & Children Council
	1 FCC FFY2024 contract
	2. contract from FCC

	Item 26.	CDBG Service Agency Contract:  Salvation Army
	1 Salvation Army FFY2024 contract
	Waterloo City of Cedar Falls Agreement

	Item 27.	North Cedar Buyout Purchase Agreement
	1_Memo Approving Purchase Offers 1-5-24
	Signed Purchase Agreement

	Item 28.	2023 Annual Report-Historic Preservation Commission
	1. Memo to Council - 2023 CLG annual report
	2. 2023 CLG report
	3. 2024 - Work Plan
	5. HPC Annual Summary 2023h
	6. Seerley Walking Tour poster
	7. Seerley Walking Tour Tri-Fold 2x 8.5x11 2023.05.16 web
	8. Presentation to Cedar Valley Historical Society
	9. event picture 1
	10. event picture 2
	11. event picture 3
	12. event picture 4

	Item 29.	Hwy 57/West 1st Street Vacant Parcels
	1.Hwy 57 Parcels
	2. Parcel 49
	3. Parcel 52

	Item 30.	Belz Trust Farm Lease Agreement
	2925_001

	Item 31.	Columbarium Purchase
	Columbarium 2 5 24

	Item 32.	PSA-2024 Bridge Inspection Project
	1. SA Memo - 2024 Bridge Inspection
	2.Supplemental Agreement 1

	Item 33.	Low Bid - 2024 CDBG Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project
	1. Memo Low Bid - 2024 CDBG San
	2. BidWorksheet_8891383_Eval

	Item 34.	Contract Documents - 2024 CDBG Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project
	1. Memo Contracts - 2024 CDBG San
	2. Form of Contract - 2024 CDBG San
	3. Insurance - 2024 CDBG San
	4. Maintenance Bond - 2024 CDBG San
	5. Form of Proposal - 2024 CDBG San
	6. CEDAR FALLS SECTION 3 INTENT TO COMPLY

	Item 35.	Maintenance and Repair Agreement - Post Construction Stormwater Management Plan Cedar Falls High School
	1. Memo - MRA Highschool
	2. MRA

	Item 36.	Set PH-CV Commercial, L.L.C.
	1_Memo to Council Setting Date of PH 02-05-24
	2_Location Map
	3_Resolution Setting Date of PH - CV Commercial, LLC

	Item 37.	Set PH-North Cedar Heights Area Reconstruction Phase 2
	1. Memo PSE - North Cedar Heights Area Phase II
	4. Final Cost Estimate Ph2 N Cedar Heights 1-26-2024

	Item 38.	Ord.-Cemetery Section
	Cem Ord 2 5 24

	Item 39.	Ord.-Speed Limits-W 27th Street
	1. Memo - 27th Road Speed Limit Ordinance
	2. 27th Road Speed Limit Ordinance
	3. Sec._23_300.___Lawful_speed_limits_established REDLINE

	Item 40.	Bills and Claims
	1 Daily Invoices 020524
	2 Council Invoices 020524

	Bottom

